
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
Monday, November 14, 2022 

*********** 
6:30 p.m. 

(Scheduled to be broadcast on Channel 16) 

City Council: Mayor Rafferty, Councilmembers Cavegn, Lyden, Ruhland and Stoesz 
City Administrator:  Sarah Cotton 

COUNCIL WORK SESSION, 6:00 P.M. 

Council Chambers (not televised) 

1. Review Regular Agenda

CITY COUNCIL MEETING, 6:30 P.M. 

 Call to Order and Roll Call

 Pledge of Allegiance

 Open Mike / Public Comment (in person or received in writing prior to meeting)

 Setting the Agenda: Addition or Deletion of Agenda Items

1. CONSENT AGENDA

A) Consider Approval of Expenditures for November 14, 2022 (Check No. 117461 
through 117583) in the Amount of  $933,375.49

B) Consider Approval of  October 24, 2022 Work Session Minutes

C) Consider Approval of  October 24, 2022 Council Meeting Minutes

D) Consider Approval of October 19, 2022 Jt. Council and P&Z Minutes

E) Consider Approval of October 3, 2022 Work Session Minutes

F) Consider Approval of Resolution No. 22-135, Special Event Permit for Centerville 
Lions Christmas in the Park

G) Consider Approval of 3rd Quarter 2022 Financial Report

H) Consider Approval of Resolution No. 22-136, Authorizing the Certification of 
Delinquent Utility Charges for Collection with the 2022 Property Taxes Payable in 
2023

I) Consider Approval of the Hiring of Part-Time Staff for The Rookery

J) Consider Resolution No. 22-134, Submitting a List of Eligible Nominees to Anoka 
County for the Open Manager Position on the Rice Creek Watershed District 
Board of Managers

K) Consider Approval of Application for Aquinas Roman Catholic Home Education 
Services to Conduct Excluded Bingo Event



Council Agenda -2- November 14, 2022  
 

 

2. FINANCE DEPARTMENT REPORT 

A)  2023 Fee Schedule, Hannah Lynch 

i) Consider 2nd Reading and Adoption of Ordinance No. 07-22, Establishing the 2023 
City Fee Schedule 

*Council may vote to dispense with the full reading of the ordinance 

*Roll call vote is required for adoption of the ordinance 

ii) Consider Approval of Resolution No. 22-137, Approving Summary Publication of 
Ordinance No. 07-22  

3. ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT REPORT 

 No report  

4. PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT REPORT 

 No report 

5. PUBLIC SERVICES DEPARTMENT REPORT 

 No report 

6. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT REPORT 

A) Consider 1st Reading of Ordinance No. 08-22 Zoning Ordinance Text and Map 
Amendment, Kendra Lindahl and Kevin Shay, Landform 

B) Consider Resolution No. 22-138, Authorize Preparation of Plans and Specifications, 
Pheasant Run Reconstruction Project, Diane Hankee 

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

  None 

8. NEW BUSINESS 

  None 

 Adjournment 
 

Economic Development Authority Meeting to follow the Regular City Council Meeting  
(See separate agenda)   

 
 

Community Calendar – A Look Ahead 
November 14, 2022 through November 28, 2022 

 
 Monday, November 28  6:00 pm, Community Room Council Work Session 
 Monday, November 28  6:30 pm, Council Chambers City Council Meeting  

 
 



+  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Expenditures 
November 14, 2022 

 
 
 

 

Check #117461 to #117583 

$933,375.49 

 









































































































Electronic Funds Transfer
    MN Statute 471.38 Subd. 3

Council Meeting November 14, 2022 Transfer In/(Out)

10/14/2022 Payroll Return - Ricci (256.31)                
10/17/2022 Payroll Replacement - Ricci 256.31                 
10/26/2022 Transfer from FRB Money Market 200,000.00          
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 (190,422.21)         
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 Federal Deposit (52,907.79)           
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 PERA (54,159.18)           
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 State (11,869.82)           
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 Child Support (856.06)                
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 H.S.A. Bank Pretax (2,557.33)             
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 TASC Pretax (1,475.17)             
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 ICMA 457 Def. Comp #301596 (2,945.00)             
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 ICMA Roth IRA #706155 (905.75)                
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 MSRS HCSP #98946-01 (2,146.90)             
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 MSRS Def. Comp #98945-01 (4,057.00)             
10/28/2022 Payroll #22 MSRS Roth IRA #98945-01 (834.00)                

11/1/2022 HSA Bank ER Contribution (6,249.84)             
11/4/2022 Council #11 Payroll (3,486.69)             
11/4/2022 Council #11 Federal Deposit (202.30)                
11/4/2022 Council #11 PERA (387.16)                
11/4/2022 Council #11 State (45.08)                  



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION   
DRAFT 

 1 

CITY OF LINO LAKES 1 
MINUTES 2 

 3 
DATE         :  October 24, 2022 4 
TIME STARTED       :  6:00 p.m. 5 
TIME ENDED       :  6:25 p.m. 6 
MEMBERS PRESENT                     :  Councilmember Stoesz, Lyden, Ruhland,  7 
      Cavegn and Mayor Rafferty 8 
MEMBERS ABSENT      :   9 

Staff members present:  City Administrator Sarah Cotton; Finance Director Hannah 10 
Lynch; Community Development Director Michael Grochala; City Planner Katie Larsen; 11 
Director of Public Safety John Swenson; City Engineer Diane Hankee; City Clerk Julie 12 
Bartell  13 

1. Liquor License Fee Research – Finance Director Lynch reported. 14 
 15 
The council proposed no changes to the liquor fees. 16 
 17 
Director Swenson indicated that the fee proposed for a cannabinoid license is $200.   He 18 
noted fees proposed for other cities which vary quite a lot. 19 

2. Review Regular Agenda of October 24, 2022. 20 

Item 2A, 1st Reading of Fee Schedule Ordinance – This is first reading of the 21 
ordinance.  It was verified that an increase in water rates is included. 22 
 23 
Item 4A, Cannabinoid Ordinance – Public Safety Director Swenson noted that an 24 
individual may be present to talk about his interest in operating in the community; his 25 
main concern is the prohibition of internet sales under the ordinance.   Director Swenson 26 
added that selling over the internet is very hard to police.  Councilmember Cavegn asked 27 
how other cities are handling that question.  Director Swenson noted that most cities he 28 
knows of do not plan to allow internet sales.    29 
 30 
A councilmember noted concern about having the product available but recognizing that 31 
the City has limited control and this is what can be done to regulate.. 32 
 33 
Item 6A, Assessments for Weed Abatement – Community Development Director 34 
Grochala reviewed the process of notification of violation, time for correction and 35 
ultimately an assessment for city costs incurred in correcting weed issues.    The 36 
notification is provided by certified mail.   37 
 38 
Councilmember Lyden asked if all violations are complaint driven and Mr. Grochala 39 
indicated yes.   Councilmember Lyden indicated that he has concerns about how this is 40 



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION   
DRAFT 

 2 

interpreted; there are different types of grass and it’s not one size fits all for yards.  He 41 
will not be supporting the resolution. 42 
 43 
Item 6B, 2023 Street Rehabilitation Project Plans and Specification – City Engineer 44 
Hankee noted this year’s program, it’s background and ratings foundation, and the 45 
preparation of projects for inclusion in the coming year’s project.  She noted how 46 
specifics will be handled including replacement of valves where appropriate.  The 47 
recommendation includes a contract for WSB project assistance.  48 
 49 
Item 6C, 2021 Street Improvement Project Payment – City Engineer Hankee reviewed 50 
the elements of the completed 2021 Street Improvement Project.  Staff is recommending 51 
payment on the project. 52 
 53 
Item 6D, Birch Street Speed Study Request to Anoka County – City Engineer Hankee 54 
noted that recent road work on Birch Street calls for review of speeds in the area to guide 55 
future decisions about such items as speed limits. 56 
 57 
Item 6E, Belland Farms 2nd Addition – City Planner Larsen noted the location and 58 
plans.   59 
 60 
Item 6F, 2nd Reading of Ordinance No. 04-22, Market Place PDO Amendment, 61 
Apollo Drive Retail – City Planner Larsen noted the location and the request for 2nd 62 
Reading of the related ordinance. 63 
 64 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:25 p.m.   65 
  66 
These minutes were considered, corrected and approved at the regular Council meeting held on 67 
November 14, 2022. 68 
 69 
 70 
 71 
                 72 
Julianne Bartell, City Clerk     Rob Rafferty, Mayor 73 
 74 



COUNCIL MINUTES                      
DRAFT 

1 

 1 
LINO LAKES CITY COUNCIL 2 

REGULAR MEETING 3 
MINUTES 4 

  5 
DATE      :  October 24, 2022 6 
TIME STARTED    :  6:30 p.m. 7 
TIME ENDED    :  7:50 p.m. 8 
MEMBERS PRESENT              :  Councilmember Stoesz, Lyden,    9 
      Ruhland, Cavegn and Mayor Rafferty  10 
MEMBERS ABSENT   :   11 

Staff members present:  City Administrator Sarah Cotton; Finance Director Hannah Lynch; 12 
Community Development Director Michael Grochala; City Planner Katie Larsen; City Engineer 13 
Diane Hankee; Director of Public Safety John Swenson; City Clerk Julie Bartell 14 
 15 
PUBLIC COMMENT 16 

Jeff Johnson, 6965 Sunrise Drive, representing people on his block.  He lives across the street from 17 
Sunrise Park and he understands that there will be an organics dumpster installed at the park.   He 18 
doesn’t think it’s a good idea to put it where proposed and suggests finding a better location.  Mayor 19 
Rafferty said the City has received Mr. Johnson’s comments and will take a look at the proposal.   20 

Kelly Gunderson 135 Ulmer Drive.   She is a few blocks from Sunrise Park and is just hearing about 21 
this dumpster plan for the park.   She noted another bin location at Marshan Park, where the 22 
dumpster is handled well and she doesn’t see how it could be so at Sunrise Park.  The two sites are 23 
quite close so perhaps the Sunrise Park site isn’t needed.  Also she feels there are enough issues 24 
with the park without adding a dumpster.    25 

Barbara Schmidt, 6949 Sunrise Drive, she doesn’t feel the proposal to place an organics dumpster at 26 
the park is appropriate.   The park is heavily used and there are enough issues already.   27 

SETTING THE AGENDA 28 

The agenda was approved as presented. 29 

CONSENT AGENDA 30 

Councilmember Lyden moved to approve the Consent Agenda, Items 1A through 1E as presented.  31 
Councilmember Stoesz seconded the motion.  Motion carried on a voice vote. 32 
 33 
ITEM          ACTION 34 

Consideration of Expenditures: 35 

A) Consider Approval of Expenditures for October 24, 2022  36 
(Check No. 117366 through 117460) in the Amount of  37 
$846,474.23        Approved 38 

B) Consider Approval of October 10, 2022 Council 39 
Work Session Minutes      Approved 40 

C) Consider Approval of October 10, 2022 Council 41 
Minutes        Approved 42 



COUNCIL MINUTES                      
DRAFT 

2 

FINANCE DEPARTMENT REPORT 43 

2A) Consider 1st Reading of Ordinance No. 07-22, Establishing the 2023 City Fee Schedule 44 
– Finance Director Lynch reviewed her written staff report.   Staff brings forward a proposed fee 45 
schedule annually in the form of an ordinance.   Changes are noted in red in the ordinance. 46 

Councilmember Lyden moved to approve the 1st reading of Ordinance No. 07-22 as presented.  47 
Councilmember Ruhlan dseconded the motion.  Motion carried on a voice vote. 48 

 ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT REPORT 49 

There was no report from the Administration Department. 50 

PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT REPORT 51 

4A) Cannabinoid Ordinance:  i. Consider 2nd Reading of Ordinance No. 03-22, 52 
Enacting Ordinance Regulating Edible Cannabinoid Products;  ii.  Consider Resolution No. 53 
22-133, Authorizing Summary Publication – Public Safety Director Swenson reviewed his 54 
written staff report.   Staff is recommending the final adoption of this ordinance that will 55 
establish regulations in the City relative to the sale of edible cannabinoids.   He noted that the 56 
City’s moratorium remains in place only until December; moving forward with this ordinance 57 
will mean that it will take effect prior to expiration of the moratorium.  He noted that there is one 58 
business in the City that is “grandfathered” as far as the moratorium; they  have been informed of 59 
regulations coming forward. 60 
 61 
John Hanselman, E & E Foods (d/b/a/Edwins Edibles) addressedt the council.  He is under 62 
contract to purchase the former Hammarheart building where he plans to operate a manufacturing 63 
facility including for cannabinoids.   He has no intention that his company will ever be selling 64 
retail but only wholesale.  His sales include on line sales.   He would argue that the prohibition in 65 
the ordinance for online sales doesn’t apply to him because he is not retail.   He would like to see 66 
the ordinance change to ensure that he can sell on line as a wholesaler. 67 
 68 
Mayor Rafferty noted that manufacturing will be allowed but he doesn’t believe that online can 69 
be allowed.   Director Swenson explained that the City Attorney has opined that it wouldn’t be 70 
allowed with this ordinance.  Director Swenson noted that the City’s biggest interest in regulating 71 
this product is to make sure it is kept out of the hands of underaged and he has concern with how 72 
that goal aligns with online sales. 73 

Councilmember Cavegn asked if the fact that this person wouldn’t be a license holder exempts 74 
him from the regulations of the ordinance.   Director Swenson explained that the City is not 75 
allowing internet sales first and, if it were to, those sales would be covered by the ordinance.   76 

Mr. Hanselman noted that it’s just a matter of him setting up his online sales in another 77 
community – the end result will be the same. 78 

Councilmember Ruhland remarked that he would probably support taking a look at the regulation 79 
in the future to make sure it makes sense; he sees the online restriction is easily circumvented.   80 

Mayor Rafferty noted that he hears council members may want to discuss some elements of the 81 
ordinance further but in order to keep the ordinance on track, the council should consider it 82 
without delay.   83 



COUNCIL MINUTES                      
DRAFT 

3 

Councilmember Lyden moved to waive the full reading of the Ordinance as presented.   84 
Councilmember Cavegn seconded the motion.  Motion carried on a voice vote. 85 

Councilmember Lyden moved to approve the 2nd Reading and Adoption of Ordinance No. 03-22 86 
as presented.   Councilmember Ruhland seconded the motion.   Motion carried:  Yeas, 5; Nays 87 
none. 88 

Councilmember Cavegn moved to approve Resolution No. 22-133 as presented.   89 
Councilmember Ruhland seconded the motion.  Motion carried on a voice vote. 90 

PUBLIC SERVICES DEPARTMENT REPORT 91 

There was no report from the Public Services Department. 92 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT REPORT 93 

6A) Public Hearing, Consider Resolution No. 22-132, Adopting Assessments, 2022 Weed 94 
Abatement – Community Development Director Grochala reviewed his written staff report.  Based 95 
on process, staff is recommending the adoption of assessments as noted. 96 

Mayor Rafferty opened the public hearing. 97 

Kelly Gunderson, 135 Ulmer Drive.   As background, Ms. Gunderson explained that in the last three 98 
years, she has received letters from the City.   She admits that she’s had some lawn mowing problems 99 
but in the past she’s worked successfully in the past with staff in dealing with the issues.   This year, 100 
however, she got a letter and was confused so she called staff.   She explained that she had had some 101 
circumstances impacting her ability to get the work done including with her equipment and with the 102 
location of her work preventing her from getting all the work done (some of the work has done).   She 103 
felt she had an agreement with staff to hold off as she worked things out.   She noted the point when 104 
staff came and mowed areas that were already done (twice).   She spoke about conversations with 105 
environmental staff and the inability of staff to verify the height of the grass. 106 

Community Development Director Grochala verified that the City’s process was followed.  This is a 107 
complaint driven process and there are regulations that are in place.  He feels that every opportunity is 108 
made to have the property owner cure any issues/violations.   109 

Ms. Gunderson contended that she did not receive a letter from the City prior to the second mowing.  110 
She would also like to know if there is any documentation on inspections of the property.   111 

Councilmember Lyden noted that there are real problems in life but tall grass isn’t on that list.   He 112 
asked how many complaints (including separate) were received.   Mr. Grochala remarked that the 113 
records suggest there have been issues for three years.   Councilmember Lyden remarked that he 114 
would rather see community members helping each other than reporting each other.    115 

When Councilmember Cavegn asked Ms. Gunderson what she is asking from the council, she 116 
suggested not having the assessment on her taxes which are very high already.   117 

Community Development Director Grochala reviewed the notification process.   There are photos on 118 
file for the first violation.    119 

Councilmember Ruhland suggested that the City should always take pictures.   He also suggests a 120 
door hanger to make sure the communication occurs.   121 

Councilmember Cavegn suggested that there seems to be some ambiguity about the circumstances 122 
surrounding the second instance. 123 



COUNCIL MINUTES                      
DRAFT 

4 

Councilmember Cavegn moved to approve Resolution No. 22-132 as amended to remove charges for 124 
the second correction of the property on Ulmer Drive.   Councilmember Ruhland seconded the 125 
motion. 126 

Councilmember Lyden remarked that he was going to move to impose a $1 assessment for each of 127 
the properties. 128 

Mayor Rafferty remarked that staff has done their job.   He would like people to be considerate and 129 
responsible.  Ms. Gunderson argued against those words. 130 

Motion carried on a voice vote; Lyden voted no. 131 

6B) Consider Approval of Resolution No. 22-124, Authorize the Preparation of Plans and 132 
Specs, 2023 Street Rehabilitation Project – City Engineer Hankee provided a view of the proposed 133 
2023 Street Rehabilitation Project and reviewed the work proposed for each element.  She reviewed 134 
the estimated cost of the project and the funding sources.    135 

Councilmember Stoesz asked if the street lights in this area are updated to LED and Ms. Hankee 136 
remarked that, if updating were to be planned, that would be a separate project. 137 

Councilmember Stoesz moved to approve Resolution No. 22-124 as presented.   Councilmember 138 
Lyden seconded the motion.   Motion carried on a voice vote. 139 

6C) Consider Resolution 22-128, Approving Payment No. 12 and Final, 2021 Street 140 
Improvement Project – City Engineer Hankee reviewed her written report which provided 141 
background on the completed 2021 Street Improvement Project.   She reviewed the final cost for the 142 
project and recommended that the council approve this payment. 143 

Councilmember Lyden moved to approve Resolution No. 22-128 as presented.   Councilmember 144 
Ruhland seconded the motion.   Motion carried on a voice vote. 145 

6D) Consider Resolution No. 22-131, Requesting Anoka County Conduct a Speed Study on 146 
County State Aid Highway 34 (Birch Street), – City Engineer Hankee reviewed her written report 147 
that included background and a recommendation to ask Anoka County to engage in a speed study on 148 
Birch Street.   She added that Anoka County led the recent roadway improvements on Birch Street 149 
and staff has found that the changes now call for a review of speeds.  Councilmember Lyden asked if 150 
there is any cost to the City for such a study and Ms.  Hankee said she doesn’t believe so. 151 

Councilmember Cavegn moved to approve Resolution No. 22-131 as presented.   Councilmember 152 
Ruhland seconded the motion.   Motion carried on a voice vote. 153 

6E) Belland Farms Second Addition:  i. Consider Resolution No. 22-129 Approving Final Plat;  154 
ii.  Consider Resolution No. 22-130 Approving Development Agreement – City Planner Larsen 155 
reviewed her written staff report that includes information on the history of the site and the 1st 156 
Addition, the plans for the 2nd Addition, and the recommmended council actions. 157 

Councilmember Cavegn moved to approve Resolution No. 22-129 and Resolution No. 22-130 as 158 
presented.   Councilmember Ruhland seconded the motion.   Motion carried on a voice vote. 159 

6F) Consider 2nd Reading of Ordinance No. 04-22 Marketplace PDO Amendment #3 related 160 
to 601 Apollo Retail – City Planner Larsen explained that the council is being requested to approve the 161 
2nd reading and adoption of an amendment to guidelines that will allow for a development. 162 

Councilmember Cavegn moved to waive the full reading of the Ordinance as presented.   163 
Councilmember Lyden seconded the motion.  Motion carried on a voice vote. 164 



COUNCIL MINUTES                      
DRAFT 

5 

Councilmember Cavegn moved to approve the 2nd Reading and Adoption of Ordinance No. 04-165 
22 as presented.   Councilmember Lyden seconded the motion.   Motion carried:  Yeas, 5; Nays 166 
none. 167 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS  168 

There was no Unfinished Business. 169 
 170 
NEW BUSINESS  171 

There was no New Business. 172 
 173 
COMMUNITY EVENTS 174 

There were no events announced. 175 

COMMUNITY CALENDAR 176 

Community Calendar – A Look Ahead 177 
October 24, 2022 through November 14, 2022 178 

 Wednesday, October 26  6:30 pm, Council Chambers Environmental Board 179 
 Thursday, October 27  6:30 pm, Community Room Charter Commission 180 
 Wednesday, November 2  6:00 pm, Council Chambers Park Board 181 
 Thursday, November 3  8:00 am, Community Room EDAC  182 
 Monday, November 7  6:00 pm, Community Room Council Work Session 183 
 Wednesday, November 9  6:30 pm, Council Chambers Planning & Zoning Board 184 
 Monday, November 14  6:00 pm, Community Room Council Work Session 185 
 Monday, November 14  6:30 pm, Council Chambers City Council Meeting 186 

 187 
ADJOURN 188 
 189 
There being no further business, Councilmember Ruhland moved to adjourn at 7:50 p.m.  190 
Councilmember Stoesz seconded the motion.  Motion carried on a voice vote. 191 
 192 
These minutes were considered and approved at the regular Council Meeting on November 14, 193 
2022. 194 
 195 
 196 
 197 
              198 
Julianne Bartell, City Clerk     Rob Rafferty, Mayor 199 
 200 



 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 
MINUTES 

CITY OF LINO LAKES 
CITY COUNCIL & PLANNING & ZONING JOINT MEETING 

  
I. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL:  

Mayor Rafferty called the Lino Lakes Joint City Council & Planning and Zoning Board 
meeting to order at 6:04 p.m. on October 19, 2022. 

 
II. ACTION ITEMS 

A. Gateway Design Charrette with WSB and Associates  
 

Mr. Grochala explained the purpose of the Gateway Design plan and introduced Candace 
Amberg and Jordan Gedrose of WSB and Associates.   
 
Ms. Amberg identified the area’s under review and provided and overview of the planning 
process.  She explained that WSB take the input from the group and developer a set design 
guide for elements for use at each of the identified gateway locations. 
 
Ms. Amberg then led the group through a goals and vision discussion and reviewed possible 
treatment levels at each location.   She identified three design levels with level one the most 
decorative. 
 
The group discussed treatment options and design levels for each location.    Ms. Amberg  
compiled the information and discussed next steps. 
 
She explained that WSB will develop a preliminary design for the locations and bring 
those back for review by the group.    

 

III. ADJOURNMENT 

Meeting was adjourned at 7:35 p.m. 
 
 Respectfully submitted, 
 Julie Whitney, Community Development Administrative Assistant 

  
DATE:   October 19, 2022 

 TIME STARTED:  6:00 P.M. 
 TIME ENDED:  7:35 P.M. 
 MEMBERS PRESENT: Rob Rafferty, Tony Cavegn, Dale Stoesz, Michael 
  Ruhland, Michael Root, Neil Evenson, Isaac 
  Wipperfurth, Nathan Vojtech, Perry Laden 
 MEMBERS ABSENT:  
 STAFF PRESENT: Michael Grochala, Julie Whitney 
    
    



CITY COUNCIL WORK 
SESSION 
  

DRAFT 

 1 

CITY OF LINO LAKES 1 
MINUTES 2 

 3 
DATE         :  October 3, 2022 4 
TIME STARTED       :  6:00 p.m. 5 
TIME ENDED       :  9:30 p.m. 6 
MEMBERS PRESENT                     :  Councilmember Stoesz, Lyden, Ruhland,  7 
      Cavegn and Mayor Rafferty 8 
MEMBERS ABSENT      :   9 

Staff members present:  City Administrator Sarah Cotton; Finance Director Hannah 10 
Lynch; Community Development Director Michael Grochala; City Planner Katie Larsen; 11 
City Engineer Diane Hankee; Director of Public Safety John Swenson; Public Services 12 
Director Rick DeGardner 13 

1. Clearwater Creek TIF Plan District 1-14 – Community Development Director 14 
Grochala and Mikala Huot, Baker Tilly, reported.   Mr. Grochala noted that the council 15 
has reviewed this proposal at previous meetings.   At this time staff is presenting a 16 
recommendation that the City authorize tax increment financing assistance to the 17 
proposed project in the amount of $2.9 million.   18 
 19 
Ms. Huot reviewed a presentation including a financial analysis on the tax increment plan 20 
before the council.   She reviewed terms, proposed boundaries of the district, total budget 21 
for the project ($67 million project), financial needs analysis, and extraordinary site cost 22 
estimate, and total request and recommended tax increment financing.  Ms. Huot 23 
explained the “but for” criteria under which tax increment should be considered, and she 24 
also reviewed revenue estimates for the term of the district.  The findings supporting 25 
establishment of a district were reviewed.  26 
 27 
Councilmember Lyden asked about the annual tax revenue to the City after the district 28 
decertifies.   Ms. Huot said beginning in 2033, the captured tax capacity would be 29 
$415,000 with the City share roughly a third of that; that includes valuation increase 30 
consideration. 31 
 32 
Councilmember Stoesz asked what makes this project unique that requires aggregate 33 
piers.  Community Development Director Grochala explained that the soil conditions 34 
require full use of those piers.   Councilmember Stoesz asked if job creation can be 35 
locked in; Mr. Grochala said there will be a minimum number of jobs (benchmark) 36 
created under contract.  Ms. Huot added that there are minimums that will be required but 37 
the City could increase those.  38 
 39 
Mayor Rafferty asked if there will be some architectural features for these buildings.  Mr. 40 
Grochala said that process will be included as the project moves ahead; the new zoning 41 
regulations could impact those elements. 42 
 43 



CITY COUNCIL WORK 
SESSION 
  

DRAFT 

 2 

The council had no further questions and Community Development Director Grochala 44 
noted that a public hearing will be held on the subject at the next council meeting, 45 
followed by the Economic Development Agency (EDA) meeting to consider the tax 46 
increment financing plan.   47 

2. Robinson Sod Farm EAW – Community Development Director Grochala 48 
reviewed the written staff report outlining the Environment Assessment Worksheet 49 
process for the Robinson Farm area.  He introduced Alison Harwood of WSB & 50 
Associates who has assisted the City on the process.  He noted the information gathering 51 
nature of the EAW process and the City’s role for using the information gained through 52 
the document. 53 
 54 
Ms. Harwood reviewed a presentation outlining the EAW process and findings (included 55 
in council packet).  The City’s Environmental Board will be reviewing this subject at 56 
their meeting and forwarding any comments to the City Council. 57 
 58 
Councilmember Lyden noted certain communications received on this matter, including 59 
from governmental agencies and individuals.   He asked about the downside of doing an 60 
Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) and Ms. Harwood suggested it would be a 61 
detailed process that would expand time and expense needed for the project.  Staff is not 62 
recommending an EIS.  Councilmember Lyden noted his interest in seeing development 63 
of a real community.    64 
 65 
Mayor Rafferty received confirmation that all comments submitted have received a 66 
response, with staff explaining the responses are a part of the official report. 67 
 68 
Councilmember Stoesz asked about infrastructure needs (i.e., sewer, water, broadband) 69 
and Director Grochala explained that those are generally considerations covered by the 70 
City’s comprehensive plan.   71 
 72 
There was no public comments taken but staff was available for questions. 73 
 74 
Mr. Grochala noted that comments of the Environmental Board will be forwarded to the 75 
council in their weekly update. 76 
 77 
3.  Villas on Vicky, PUD Discussion – City Planner Larsen noted the council’s previous 78 
review of concept plans related to this proposed development.  The goal for the developer 79 
is to understand more about the council’s interest. 80 
 81 
Planner Larsen reviewed a presentation that included information on the concept 82 
(included in packet).   Project developer Jon Blattman was present and responded to 83 
questions. 84 
 85 
Councilmember Lyden applauded the positive changes coming forward.  He confirmed 86 
that the community gardens would have a water supply.   87 



CITY COUNCIL WORK 
SESSION 
  

DRAFT 

 3 

 88 
The council posed some questions about the roadway radius and size.  It was pointed out 89 
that this development is at a concept level only so that detail of review is not yet 90 
included. 91 
 92 
Councilmember Ruhland expressed support for the changes and the manner in which the 93 
developer is responding to council concerns.   He asked about including 3 car garages and 94 
the developer suggested that could be discussed except for a few fixed sites.    95 
 96 
Councilmember Cavegn said he likes the plan a lot.  It gets to the necessary density, set 97 
backs are good and it includes some benefit to the community.  98 

4. M/I Homes PUD Discussion – City Planner Larsen noted that two individuals 99 
will be presenting information on a potential (prelude) development of the Leibel 100 
property (west of Watermark).   101 
 102 
John Rask of M/I Homes and David Newman of The Bancor Group were present.   Mr. 103 
Newman explained the nature of The Bancor Group work – they develop communities, 104 
not homes.   He noted his relationship with John Rask as a high quality builder.   Mr. 105 
Rask explained M/I Homes background and work.  The purpose of addressing the council 106 
is to get feedback on housing types, mix and land use.    A presentation was reviewed (on 107 
file in the council packet).  He noted that they are seeking council input on the concept -  108 
doing all townhomes or including single family.   109 
 110 
Mayor Rafferty remarked that the homes are nice but the lots are too small. 111 
 112 
Councilmember Stoesz asked why one area is designated as high density.   City Planner 113 
Larsen explained that it allows the density spread over the entire site.   Councilmember 114 
Stoesz said he isn’t sure he likes that density. 115 
 116 
Councilmember Cavegn asked what other development style could fit into the density 117 
requirements of the site?   Ms. Larsen suggested a small multi-family and townhouses.  118 
Councilmember Cavegn said he likes the look of the cottage homes rather than 119 
townhomes and with the zoning that seems to be the option. 120 
 121 
Councilmember Ruhland said he doesn’t like the row home look.   He wonders if there 122 
are other five foot set back areas in the City.   Staff noted NorthPointe included some five 123 
foot setbacks.    124 
 125 
Community Development Director Grochala commented on the importance of the lot 126 
depth of 125 feet being maintained and the ability to require certain architectural 127 
standards for buildings on smaller lots.  He feels the developers presenting have a good 128 
history of good projects including with architecture.    129 
 130 
Mayor Rafferty suggested it would be beneficial to look at other M/I projects.  The 131 



CITY COUNCIL WORK 
SESSION 
  

DRAFT 

 4 

developer will provide a list. 132 
 133 
Councilmember Lyden said he concurs with council comments.   He doesn’t feel the high 134 
density fits in that area of the city.   He added that the townhomes in rows is not 135 
appropriate.   The developer clarified that townhomes will be a part of any development. 136 

5. Zoning Ordinance Update – City Planner Katie Larsen and Kevin Shay, 137 
Landform, presented a report on the work of the past two or more years to update the 138 
zoning ordinance.   The mayor noted that a letter was sent out to the public regarding this 139 
subject and he’d like a copy.   City Planner noted that the letter relates to zoning map 140 
changes and it was sent to property owners whose zoning could change; that element, the 141 
map changes, will be coming forward at a later date.  142 
 143 
Mr. Shay reviewed the list of proposed updates and amendments (as included in the 144 
written staff report).   The process relates to implementation of the 2040 Comprehensive 145 
Plan.   The Planning and Zoning Board has reviewed all sections over the past year plus.     146 
 147 
Mayor Rafferty remarked that the document is large and he would encourage council 148 
members, as they review the information, to reach out to staff with questions. 149 

6. 601 Apollo Drive Retail PDO Amendment – City Planner Larsen reviewed the 150 
written staff report and findings.   Her presentation is included in the council packet 151 
record.  The developer was present.   The presentation included a review of the land use 152 
application, site plan, exterior materials, and agency and board review results.  An 153 
ordinance amendment (PDO Amendment) and resolutions for PDO amendment and site 154 
improvement performance will be brought to the council for consideration. 155 
 156 
When the council asked questions about access in consideration of current conditions, 157 
staff reiterated the importance of good planning for access.    158 

7. Rookery Scholarship Program – Public Services Director DeGardner reviewed 159 
his written staff report recommending establishment of a scholarship program for The 160 
Rookery Activity Center.  Short term, staff proposes the scholarship program be funded 161 
by the City and longer term by a local 5013c group.   162 
 163 
Councilmember Stoesz asked if staff has considered a match program to encourage other 164 
businesses to participate and could double the impact.   Director DeGardner noted that 165 
staff anticipates the program will grow.   166 
 167 
One question that has come up is whether or not the program should be available to 168 
people not residing in the city.   The council generally expressed that the City’s 169 
contribution steers this program in the direction of City residents only.   170 
 171 
Councilmember Cavegn remarked that he’d like to see some type of tracking for 172 
scholarship membership to make sure people actually use them. 173 



CITY COUNCIL WORK 
SESSION 
  

DRAFT 

 5 

 174 
Councilmember Ruhland asked about the possibility of offering discounts to people who 175 
work in the City.   Director DeGardner explained plans are in place to consider a large 176 
employer situation. 177 

8. Ordinance No. 03-22, Enacting Ordinance Chapter 619 Regulating Edible 178 
Cannabinoid Products – Public Safety Director Swenson reviewed his written staff 179 
report.   In response to a recent change in state law, cities across the state are putting 180 
regulations in place to regulate edible cannabinoid.   Staff is bringing forward an 181 
ordinance that is heavily based on one enacted by the City of Coon Rapids.   The 182 
ordinance has been reviewed by staff and the city attorney.    183 
 184 
Director Swenson added that, in looking at violations, penalties and compliance areas, he 185 
sees it is important to align other regulatory ordinances (tobacco and liquor); ordinance 186 
amendments to accomplish that are being prepared for council consideration.   187 
 188 
Councilmember Stoesz suggested raising the fee for a cannabinoid license.   Director 189 
Swenson explained that staff set the fee based on other license fees (off-sale intoxicating 190 
liquor).  If the council wishes to change, the fee schedule will be before the council soon. 191 
 192 
Councilmember Ruhland asked if the City could notify license holders (liquor and 193 
tobacco) of the changes proposed.   That could impact the timeline for passing the 194 
ordinances. 195 
 196 
Councilmember Stoesz suggested adding daycare to the list of operations that cannot be 197 
within 1,000 feet of edible cannabinoid sales.   198 

9. Anoka County Attorney Funding – Public Safety Director Swenson reviewed 199 
the written staff report outlining an opportunity to receive forfeiture funds from the 200 
County Attorney’s Office.   He is proposing the purchase of the equipment outlined in the 201 
report.   No council action is needed but staff wanted the council to understand the 202 
background on the purchases as they show up on the expenditures list. 203 

10. 2023 Budget & Tax Levy – Finance Director Lynch noted that she has recently 204 
provided the council with a new budget book.  There were not many changes but enough 205 
that an update was called for; they are outlined in the work session report.   These 206 
changes were not included in the preliminary budget adopted by the Council in 207 
September.   208 
 209 
The council scheduled a special work session for budget review for October 24, 2022, 210 
following the regular council meeting that evening. 211 

11. Council Updates on Boards/Commissions, City Council – There were no 212 
updates. 213 



CITY COUNCIL WORK 
SESSION 
  

DRAFT 

 6 

Community Development Director Grochala polled the council on their availability to 214 
attend a joint meeting with the Planning and Zoning Board to discuss gateway designs.  215 
He is proposing October 19th.  The council concurred with that date. 216 
 217 
Community Development Director Grochala also spoke on the possibility of scheduling a 218 
tour of a water treatment facility in the area.    219 
 220 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:30 p.m.   221 
  222 
These minutes were considered, corrected and approved at the regular Council meeting held on 223 
October 24, 2022. 224 
 225 
 226 
 227 
                 228 
Julianne Bartell, City Clerk     Rob Rafferty, Mayor 229 
 230 
 231 



 
CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA ITEM 1F 
 
STAFF ORIGINATOR: Julie Bartell, City Clerk 
 
MEETING DATE:  November 14, 2022 
 
TOPIC:  Consider Resolution No. 22-135, Approving an Application 

for a Special Permit for the Centerville Lions  
Christmas in the Park Event 

      
VOTE REQUIRED:   Simple Majority (3/5 Vote Required) 
 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
Nancy Johnson of the Centerville Lions has applied for a Special Event Permit related to 
the groups upcoming Christmas in the Park event on December 10, 2022.  Most of the 
event will be held at LaMotte Park in Centerville but the group proposes to have a horse 
drawn trailer procession on LaMotte Drive in Lino Lakes. 
 
The application has been reviewed by staff, including the Public Safety Department and 
no public safety concerns have been identified.   
 
Therefore, staff is presenting for city council consideration of a resolution authorizing the 
issuance of a Special Event Permit to the Centerville Lions for the event.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Approve Resolution No. 22-135 authorizing issuance of a Special Event Permit to 
Centerville Lions, Christmas in the Park 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 
Resolution No. 22-135 

 



CITY OF LINO LAKES 
RESOLUTION NO. 22-135 

 
APPROVING AN APPLICATION FOR A SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT  

FOR THE CHRISTMAS IN THE PARK EVENT ON DECEMBER 10, 2022 
 

WHEREAS, Nancy Johnson, Centerville Lions, has submitted an application for a special event 
permit; and   
 
WHEREAS, most of the event will be held in the City of Centerville but a horse drawn trailer is 
proposed to proceed on LaMotte Drive in Lino Lakes; and 
 
WHEREAS, applicant will ensure that event is compliant with City Ordinance 901.03 (4a) Public 
Nuisances Affecting Peace and Safety; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Public Safety Department has reviewed the application and event plans; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Lino Lakes, 
Minnesota:  
 
That the City Council authorizes issuance of a Special Event Permit to Nancy Johnson 
representing the Centerville Lions for an event on December 10, 2022.. 
 
Adopted by the Council of the City of Lino Lakes this 14th day of November, 2022. 
 
 
The motion for the adoption of the foregoing resolution was introduced by Councilmember 
_____________and was duly seconded by Councilmember _____________ and upon vote being 
taken thereon, the following voted in favor thereof: 
 
The following voted against same: 

_____________________          
Rob Rafferty, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
________________________                                     
Julianne Bartell, City Clerk 

 
 



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA ITEM 1G 

 
 
STAFF ORIGINATOR: Hannah Lynch, Finance Director  
  
MEETING DATE: November 14, 2022 
 
TOPIC:  3rd Quarter 2022 Financial Report 
 
VOTE REQUIRED: 3/5 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Staff has reconciled all bank and investment accounts through September 30, 2022. The 
Quarterly Financial Report contains unaudited information as follows: 
 

• Investments Summary 
• Cash Balance by Fund 
• General Fund Budget to Actual 
• Rookery Activity Center Fund Budget to Actual 
• Water Fund Budget to Actual 
• Sewer Fund Budget to Actual 
• Storm Water Fund Budget to Actual 

 
Each Budget to Actual analysis provides a summary of significant activity. Full general ledger 
detail can be found on pages 9-24.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Consider approval of the 3rd Quarter 2022 Financial Report. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
3rd Quarter 2022 Financial Report 



3rd Quarter 2022 Financial Report



City of Lino Lakes
Investments Summary

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2022

Portfolio Characteristics YTD Performance
Book Value $50,526,571 Interest Earnings $514,361
Market Value $47,889,438 Unrealized Gain (Loss) -$2,629,123 (1)
Unrealized Gain (Loss) -$2,637,133
Years to Effective Maturity 1.92
Years to Final Maturity 5.84

Notes
(1) An unrealized loss is a decrease in the value of an investment that an investor holds.  A gain or loss
becomes realized when the investment is sold. The City's investments are not intended to be sold, but
instead held to maturity. The unrealized loss is a function of rising interest rates.

1



City of Lino Lakes
Cash Balance by Fund

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2022

Cash Balance
101 General Fund 5,753,406$         
201 Recreation Programming 20,626 
202 Rookery Activity Center (440,367)             
203 Economic Development Authority 224,848              
204 Cable TV and Communications 253,531              
205 Blue Heron Days 11,701 
206 Federal Forfeiture - Justice 25,212 
207 State Narcotics Forfeiture 38,407 
208 DUI Forfeitures 67,268 
209 Forfeitures - Other 1,309 
210 Federal Forfeiture - Treasury 35,872 
211 K9 Unit 15,664 
213 American Rescue Plan Funds 845,092              
301 Closed Bond 564,317              
315 Certificates Of Indebtedness 412,346              
332 G.O. Tax Increment Bonds 2007A 139,396              
333 G.O. Improvement Note 2009A 273,599              
335 G.O. Bonds 2012A 138,924              
336 G.O. Bonds 2013A 294,519              
337 G.O. Bonds 2014A 334,276              
338 G.O. Bonds 2015A 511,229              
339 EDA Lease Revenue Bonds 2015B 186,838              
340 G.O. Capital Note 2016A 38,606 
341 G.O. Utility Revenue Bonds 2016A 251,579              
342 G.O. Improvement Refunding Bonds 2016B - 
343 G.O. Tax Abatement Refunding Bonds 2016C 289,569              
344 G.O. Bonds 2018A 1,429,787           
345 G.O. Bonds 2020A 217,216              
346 G.O. Bonds 2021A 85,659 
401 Municipal Bldgs & Facilities 759,635              
402 Capital Equip Revolving 578,759              
403 Office Equip Revolving 34,527 
405 Dedicated Parks 2,270,772           
406 Area And Unit Trunk 8,420,668           
411 T.I.F. District 1-5 26,093 
417 T.I.F. District 1-10 66,480 
418 T.I.F. District 1-11 (217,486)             
419 T.I.F. District 1-12 205,398              
420 Municipal State Aid 3,223,718           
421 Pavement Management 201,450              
422 Surface Water Management 2,062,208           
423 Street Reconstruction 551,252              
424 Surface Water Maintenance 76,717 
425 Park & Trail Improvements 142,307              
484 2040 Comp Plan Update (22,040)               
601 Water Operating 5,104,013           
602 Sewer Operating 9,135,389           
603 Storm Water Operating 159,324              
801 Contractor's Deposits 2,954,883           
810 Foxborough Environmental Trust Fund 124,415              
811 Preserve Stewardship 10,528 

47,889,438$       

Fund

2



City of Lino Lakes
General Fund Budget to Actual (Unaudited)
For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2022 Percent

Received or
Expended

Budget Actuals Variance - Based on
Annual Thru Thru Favorable Budget Thru
Budget 09/30/2022 09/30/2022 (Unfavorable) 09/30/2022

Revenues
Property Taxes 8,789,119$       6,591,839$       4,678,865$       (1,912,974)$      * 71.0 %
Licenses and Permits 1,032,802         774,602            1,002,444         227,842 (1) 129.4 
Intergovernmental Revenue 668,512 501,384            618,152 116,768 (2) 123.3 
Charges For Services 292,172 219,129            266,601 47,472 (3) 121.7 
Fines & Forfeits 101,100 75,825              46,010 (29,815)             (4) 60.7 
Investment Income 30,000 22,500              (228,953)           (251,453)           (5) (1,017.6)           
Miscellaneous Revenue** 211,057 158,293            167,580 9,287 105.9 
Transfers In 40,000 30,000              40,000 10,000 133.3 
     Total Revenues 11,164,762       8,373,572         6,590,697         (1,782,874)        78.7 

Expenditures
Mayor & Council 93,373 70,030              84,362              (14,332)             120.5 
Administration 653,362 490,022            459,718            30,303 93.8 
Elections 34,550 25,913              17,653              8,260 68.1 
Charter Administration 7,463 5,597 - 5,597 - 
Finance 653,689 490,267            502,473            (12,206) 102.5 
Legal Consultants 138,000 103,500            83,915              19,585 81.1 
Economic Development 113,669 85,252              52,168              33,084 (6) 61.2 
Planning & Zoning 168,116 126,087            95,813              30,274 (7) 76.0 
Engineering 97,365 73,024              48,891              24,133 (8) 67.0 
Community Development 196,508 147,381            137,675            9,706 93.4 
Police 4,562,016         3,421,512         3,282,288         139,224 95.9 
Fire 886,099 664,574            622,884            41,690 93.7 
Building Inspections 464,251 348,188            301,684            46,504 86.6 
Streets 1,033,976         775,482            701,828            73,654 90.5 
Fleet Management 588,940 441,705            525,995            (84,290)             119.1 
Government Buildings 544,520 408,390            432,978            (24,588)             106.0 
Parks 842,211 631,658            480,117            151,542 (9) 76.0 
Recreation 42,438 31,829              39,432              (7,603)               123.9 
Environmental 59,620 44,715              37,593              7,122 84.1 
Solid Waste 77,809 58,357              40,702              17,655 (10) 69.7 
Forestry 60,037 45,028              101,013            (55,985)             (11) 224.3 
Other 346,750 260,063            286,750            (26,688)             110.3 
     Total Expenditures 11,664,762       8,748,572         8,335,932         412,640 95.3 

Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures (500,000)$         (375,000)$         (1,745,234)$      (1,370,234)$      

* Property taxes are received in July and December.
**General fund reserves budget of $500,000 is represented on the Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures line.

Item Explanation of items with variance greater than $15,000 and percentage less than 80% or greater than 120%

(1) Favorable variance due to permit revenue collected for the Lyngblomsten Senior Housing Development partially offset by an
unfavorable variance for liquor license fees. Liquor license fees are typically collected in full in July, but Council waived the
on-sale liquor license fees for the 2022-2023 licensing period due to the remaining impacts on restaurant liquor license holders
in the city from the COVID-19 Pandemic.

3



City of Lino Lakes
General Fund Budget to Actual (Unaudited)
For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2022

(2) Municipal State Aid (MSA) for street maintenance has been received in full and is $26K over the annual budget amount. Police State
Aid also contributed to the favorable variance as the revenue was received in full at the end of September. Partially offsetting the
favorable variances from state aid is the solid waste grant from Anoka County which is paid out in one-half increments. The first half
 was received in Q3 2022 and the second half will not be received until Q1 2023.

(3) Favorable variance within development activity charges as Land Use Administration, Aerial Map Fee, and Engineering/Planning fees
are over budget.

(4) Unfavorable variance driven by trial court fines received from Anoka County.

(5) Due to rising interest rates unrealized losses on investments are greater than interest earnings.

(6) Variance due to Economic Development Intern vacancy (from January to June) and lodging tax remittance. August & September 
lodging tax  was passed through in Quarter 4 (timing difference).

(7) Variance primarily due to zoning ordinance updates. The expense is incurred in the 2040 Comp Plan Update Fund; the General Fund
dollars are transferred in Quarter 4.

(8) August & September engineering services were paid in Quarter 4 (timing difference).

(9) Favorable variance due to new Maintenance Worker position vacancy (from January to mid-August), reallocation of Public Services 
Administrative Assistant, and cost savings realized on trail maintenance within contracted services. 

(10) Variance due to Recycling Intern vacancy (from January to May) and contracted services. Solid waste expenditures are reimbursed 
from Anoka County so less expenditures than expected are offset by less grant revenue received.

(11) Emerald ash borer grant reimbursable tree removal costs incurred which are not reflected in the contracted services budget. 
In addition, more diseased trees removed than anticipated.

4



City of Lino Lakes
Rookery Activity Center Fund Budget to Actual (Unaudited)

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2022 Percent
Received or

** Expended
* Budget Actuals Variance - Based on

Annual Thru Thru Favorable Budget Thru
Budget 09/30/2022 09/30/2022 (Unfavorable) 09/30/2022

Revenues
Intergovernmental Revenue 500,000$          312,500$          4,485$              (308,015)$         (1) 1.4 %
Charges For Services 506,202 316,376            290,339 (26,037)             91.8 
Miscellaneous Revenue 33,918 21,199              14,167 (7,031)               66.8 
     Total Revenues 1,040,120         650,075 308,992 (341,083)           47.5 

Expenditures
Personal Services 915,494 572,184            502,338 69,846 87.8 
Supplies 68,250 42,656              23,048 19,608 (2) 54.0 
Services & Charges 229,167 143,229            117,834 25,396 82.3 
Contractual Services 205,525 128,453            133,561 (5,108)               104.0 
     Total Expenditures 1,418,436         886,523 776,781 109,742 87.6 

Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures (378,316)$         (236,448)$         (467,789)$         (231,342)$         

*The budget was adopted by Council on 6/13/2022 and took into consideration that the facility was not fully operational until late April.
**Budget Thru 9/30/2022 has been modified to identify the applicable budget for five out of the eight fully operational months in 2022.

Item Explanation of items with variance greater than $15,000 and percentage less than 80% or greater than 120%

(1) American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) grant dollars will be receipted to the Rookery at the end of the year once final budget to actuals
are known.

(2) Supplies consists of office supplies, maintenance supplies, and small tools and equipment. Many supplies for start-up and prior
to opening were purchased with ARPA grant dollars.

5



City of Lino Lakes
Water Fund Budget to Actual (Unaudited)
For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2022

Budget Actuals Prior Year Variance - 
Annual Thru Thru Thru Favorable
Budget 09/30/2022 09/30/2022 09/30/2021 (Unfavorable)

Revenues
Penalties & Interest -$                  -$                  23$                   171$                 (149)$                
Water Hook Up Charge 41,250              30,938              28,270              62,250              (33,980)             (1)
Water Meter Sales 78,260              58,695              61,113              120,003            (58,890)             (1)
Irrigation Controller Sales 5,000                3,750                3,420                4,750                (1,330)               
Interest On Investments 50,000              37,500              (287,035)           (9,959)               (277,076)           (2)
Miscellaneous Revenue 2,500                1,875                919                   1,268                (349)                  
Refunds & Reimbursements -                    -                    10,894              -                    10,894              
Flat Water Charge 287,680            215,760            215,643            -                    215,643            (3)
Water Sales 1,268,772         951,579            929,385            1,024,211         (94,826)             (4)
Penalty 22,000              16,500              20,809              13,080              7,729                
     Total Revenues 1,755,462         1,316,597         983,441            1,215,774         (232,333)           

Expenditures
Personal Services 391,147            293,360            233,861            214,608            (19,253)             
Supplies 285,000            213,750            250,919            221,633            (29,286)             (5)
Services & Charges 306,007            229,505            250,188            166,451            (83,737)             (6)
Contractual Services 10,258              7,694                7,007                11,299              4,292                
Depreciation 783,605            587,704            -                    -                    -                    *
Capital Outlay 1,765,015         1,323,761         1,049,841         86,928              (962,913)           (7)
Transfers Out 407,680            305,760            -                    -                    -                    
     Total Expenditures 3,948,712         2,961,534         1,791,816         700,919            (1,090,897)        

Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures (2,193,250)$      (1,644,938)$      (808,375)$         514,855$          (1,323,230)$      

*Depreciation is factored out of contractual services. Depreciation is a non-cash expense calculated at year end.

Item Explanation of items with variance greater than $20,000

(1) Roughly 115 new customers YTD in 2022 compared to 249 in 2021.

(2) Due to rising interest rates unrealized losses on investments are greater than interest earnings.

(3) Previously accounted for in the Area and Unit Fund, the Flat Water Charge was moved to the Water Fund in 2022 as a result of
the rate study performed by Baker Tilly in 2021.

(4) While customers and rates have increased in 2022, the unfavorable variance is a result of higher than average consumption in 
Q3 2021 were a 37% increase in consumption was mainly driven by irrigation.

(5) Variance due to the purchase of fire hydrants within maintenance supplies and more water meters purchased YTD in 2022.

(6) Variance due to an increase in watermain break repair professional service expenses, IT services & support, and electricity.
Payment processing fees for utility billing payments was accounted for within contracted services in 2021.

(7) Variance from prior year due to timing of capital projects and purchases. Utilities vehicle (50% charged to Sewer) was replaced in
both years, while final expenses for Well House No. 1 Rehabilitation were incurred in 2021, and Water Tower #2 Rehabilitation
expenses have been incurred in 2022.

6



City of Lino Lakes
Sewer Fund Budget to Actual (Unaudited)
For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2022

Budget Actuals Prior Year Variance - 
Annual Thru Thru Thru Favorable
Budget 09/30/2022 09/30/2022 09/30/2021 (Unfavorable)

Revenues
Penalties & Interest -$  -$  23$  171$  (149)$                
Sewer Hook Up Charge 33,000              24,750              23,060              51,167              (28,107)             (1)
Interest On Investments 80,000              60,000              (463,198)           (15,691)             (447,507)           (2)
Refunds & Reimbursements - - 22 15,276              (15,254)             
Sewer Sales 1,762,586         1,321,940         1,405,917         1,339,127         66,790              (3)
Penalty 26,000              19,500              21,383              17,165              4,219 
     Total Revenues 1,901,586         1,426,190         987,207 1,407,214         (420,007)           

Expenditures
Personal Services 400,372            300,279            242,133            221,393            (20,740)             (4)
Supplies 60,000              45,000              51,783              7,419 (44,364)             (5)
Services & Charges 301,997            226,498            185,245            136,834            (48,411)             (6)
Contractual Services 1,094,501         820,876            910,322            749,693            (160,629)           (7)
Depreciation 574,323            430,742            - - - *
Capital Outlay 115,015            86,261              202,875            57,430              (145,445)           (8)
     Total Expenditures 2,546,208         1,909,656         1,592,359         1,172,769         (419,590)           

Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures (644,622)$         (483,467)$         (605,152)$         234,445$          (839,597)$         

*Depreciation is factored out of contractual services. Depreciation is a non-cash expense calculated at year end.

Item Explanation of items with variance greater than $20,000

(1) Roughly 115 new customers YTD in 2022 compared to 255 in 2021.

(2) Due to rising interest rates unrealized losses on investments are greater than interest earnings.

(3) Increase in sales primarily due to the Watermark Residential Development.

(4) Increase primarily due to the reallocation of staff and increase in workers compensation insurance in 2022.

(5) Variance primarily due to more maintenance supplies expense incurred for lift station pump repairs and replacements.

(6) Variance due to an increase in engineering for the East Shadow Lake Drive Sanitary Replacement project and IT
services & support. Payment processing fees for utility billing payments was accounted for within contracted services in 2021.

(7) Met Council Environmental Services Sewer Charges increased 10% in 2022. The increase was budgeted.

(8) Variance from prior year due to timing of capital projects and purchases. Utilities vehicle (50% charged to Water) was replaced in
both years, while expenses for a new lift station generator were also incurred in 2021, and East Shadow Lake Drive Sanitary
Replacement project expenses have been incurred in 2022.

7



City of Lino Lakes
Storm Water Fund Budget to Actual (Unaudited)

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2022

Budget Actuals Prior Year Variance - 
Annual Thru Thru Thru Favorable
Budget 09/30/2022 09/30/2022 09/30/2021 (Unfavorable)

Revenues
Interest On Investments -$  -$  (3,125)$             -$  (3,125)$             
Penalty - - 3,564 - 3,564 
Storm Water Utility 583,000            437,250            366,429 - 366,429 (1)
     Total Revenues 583,000 437,250 366,868 - 366,868 

Expenditures
Personal Services 188,043            141,032            85,156              - (85,156) (2)
Supplies 24,000              18,000              11,467              - (11,467) 
Services & Charges 63,877              47,908              22,691              - (22,691) (3)
Contractual Services 238,493            178,870            11,794              - (11,794) 
Capital Outlay 68,587              51,440              - - - 
     Total Expenditures 583,000 437,250 131,108 - (131,108) 

Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures -$  -$  235,760$          -$  235,760$          

Item Explanation of items with variance greater than $20,000

(1) In 2022 the City Council approved the establishment of a Storm Water Utility to fund the operation and management of the
City's Storm Water Infrastructure. The fee for single family residential is $12 per quarter. The fee for multi-family residential,
commercial, institutional, and industrial properties is $175 per acre of impervious per quarter. Residents currently not connected
to city water and sewer received an annual storm water utility bill due in May 2022.

(2) A General Maintenance Worker was budgeted for the full year, but not hired until July 2022. Other city staff are partially
allocated  to the fund resulting in additional 0.75 full-time equivalent.

(3) Contractual services is primarily driven by engineering services and IT services & support.

8



General Ledger
Budget to Actual

User: hannah.lynch
Printed: 11/2/2022 9:58:34 AM
Period 01 - 09
Fiscal Year 2022

Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var

101 General Fund
Taxes

101-000-3010-000 Current Taxes -8,748,619.00 -6,561,464.25 -4,660,678.31 -1,900,785.94
101-000-3020-000 Delinquent Taxes -40,000.00 -30,000.00 -16,009.25 -13,990.75
101-000-3060-000 Tax Forfeits 0.00 0.00 -80.74 80.74
101-000-3150-000 Penalties & Interest -500.00 -375.00 -2,096.56 1,721.56

Taxes -8,789,119.00 -6,591,839.25 -4,678,864.86 -1,912,974.39
Licenses & Permits

101-000-3201-000 Liquor License - Bar -32,000.00 -24,000.00 -3,719.87 -20,280.13
101-000-3202-000 Liquor License - Beer -1,000.00 -750.00 0.00 -750.00
101-000-3203-000 Off Sale Liquor License -2,000.00 -1,500.00 -1,600.00 100.00
101-000-3204-000 Sunday Liquor License -1,900.00 -1,425.00 -190.30 -1,234.70
101-000-3205-000 Club Liquor License -300.00 -225.00 0.00 -225.00
101-000-3206-000 Beer Permit 0.00 0.00 -28.05 28.05
101-000-3208-000 Investigation Fee -1,000.00 -750.00 -1,223.00 473.00
101-000-3209-000 Garbage Removal License -1,700.00 -1,275.00 -2,200.00 925.00
101-000-3210-000 Temporary Consumption Permi -300.00 -225.00 -200.00 -25.00
101-000-3211-000 Tobacco License -600.00 -450.00 -650.00 200.00
101-000-3213-000 Contractor's License -16,291.00 -12,218.25 -7,195.00 -5,023.25
101-000-3215-000 Rental Housing License -5,934.00 -4,450.50 -4,743.00 292.50
101-000-3219-000 Dance -35.00 -26.25 -105.00 78.75
101-000-3220-000 Fireworks License -200.00 -150.00 -200.00 50.00
101-000-3222-000 Massage License -1,100.00 -825.00 -902.28 77.28
101-000-3223-000 Peddler's License -2,500.00 -1,875.00 -605.00 -1,270.00
101-000-3225-000 Lodging Tax -76,315.00 -57,236.25 -58,019.00 782.75
101-000-3250-000 Building Permits -515,731.00 -386,798.25 -466,300.55 79,502.30
101-000-3251-000 Plan Inspection Fee -202,771.00 -152,078.25 -265,328.82 113,250.57
101-000-3252-000 Erosion Control Permit -29,600.00 -22,200.00 -17,120.00 -5,080.00
101-000-3253-000 Plumbing Permit -31,710.00 -23,782.50 -37,387.60 13,605.10
101-000-3254-000 Heating & Air Conditioning -66,093.00 -49,569.75 -86,786.38 37,216.63
101-000-3255-000 Septic Plumbing Permit -5,577.00 -4,182.75 -3,330.00 -852.75
101-000-3256-000 Septic System Permit -6,867.00 -5,150.25 -5,750.00 599.75
101-000-3259-000 Fence Permit -4,478.00 -3,358.50 -6,003.00 2,644.50
101-000-3260-000 Dog License -1,250.00 -937.50 -780.00 -157.50
101-000-3262-000 Sign Permit -926.00 -694.50 -1,095.00 400.50
101-000-3264-000 Underground Utility Permit -18,624.00 -13,968.00 -26,995.90 13,027.90
101-000-3266-000 Miscellaneous Permits -6,000.00 -4,500.00 -3,986.00 -514.00

Licenses & Permits -1,032,802.00 -774,601.50 -1,002,443.75 227,842.25
Intergovernmental Revenues

101-000-3314-000 TZD Safe Roads Grant -25,000.00 -18,750.00 -10,835.80 -7,914.20
101-000-3341-000 Market Value Credit -4,000.00 -3,000.00 0.00 -3,000.00
101-000-3345-000 Municipal State Aid (MSA) -250,000.00 -187,500.00 -276,074.00 88,574.00
101-000-3346-000 Police State Aid -260,000.00 -195,000.00 -258,907.08 63,907.08
101-000-3348-000 Other State Revenue -10,000.00 -7,500.00 -29,619.77 22,119.77
101-000-3349-000 Fire State Aid -21,703.00 -16,277.25 0.00 -16,277.25
101-000-3351-000 Other Fire Aid -20,000.00 -15,000.00 -11,727.50 -3,272.50
101-000-3360-000 Solid Waste (Anoka County) -77,809.00 -58,356.75 -30,987.55 -27,369.20

Intergovernmental Revenues -668,512.00 -501,384.00 -618,151.70 116,767.70
Charges for Service

101-000-3265-000 Land Use Administration Fee -10,023.00 -7,517.25 -17,160.00 9,642.75
101-000-3404-000 Sales Of Supplies (MapsEtc) -100.00 -75.00 -12.26 -62.74
101-000-3405-000 Assessment Searches -9,000.00 -6,750.00 -6,580.00 -170.00
101-000-3414-000 SACSurcharge Fee -8,000.00 -6,000.00 -6,429.01 429.01
101-000-3417-000 Aerial Map Fee -12,000.00 -9,000.00 -23,580.00 14,580.00

GL - Budget to Actual (11/02/2022 - 09:58 AM) Page 19



Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var

101-000-3420-000 Police Reports -800.00 -600.00 -563.75 -36.25
101-000-3422-000 Police Other Revenues -165,000.00 -123,750.00 -123,703.88 -46.12
101-000-3433-000 Public Works Fees -7,500.00 -5,625.00 -5,750.26 125.26
101-000-3470-000 Other Park Revenues -750.00 -562.50 -5,498.92 4,936.42
101-000-3492-000 EngineeringPlanning Fees -28,999.00 -21,749.25 -39,822.94 18,073.69
101-000-3494-000 Investment Management Fees -50,000.00 -37,500.00 -37,500.03 0.03

Charges for Service -292,172.00 -219,129.00 -266,601.05 47,472.05
Fines & Forfeits

101-000-3510-000 Fines & Forfeits -100,000.00 -75,000.00 -45,909.55 -29,090.45
101-000-3512-000 Driving Diversion Prog (DDP) -1,100.00 -825.00 -100.00 -725.00

Fines & Forfeits -101,100.00 -75,825.00 -46,009.55 -29,815.45
Investment Income

101-000-3620-000 Interest On Investments -30,000.00 -22,500.00 228,953.23 -251,453.23
Investment Income -30,000.00 -22,500.00 228,953.23 -251,453.23
Miscellaneous Revenues

101-000-3350-000 Circle Pines Gas Franchise -55,000.00 -41,250.00 -55,723.95 14,473.95
101-000-3640-000 Building Rents 0.00 0.00 -200.00 200.00
101-000-3720-000 ContributionsDonations -500.00 -375.00 -200.00 -175.00
101-000-3730-000 Refunds & Reimbursements -35,000.00 -26,250.00 -13,142.24 -13,107.76
101-000-3740-000 Lease Revenue -118,557.00 -88,917.75 -96,228.47 7,310.72
101-000-3800-000 Cash OverShort 0.00 0.00 -5.00 5.00
101-000-3810-000 Miscellaneous Revenue -2,000.00 -1,500.00 -2,080.05 580.05
101-000-3900-000 General Fund Reserves -500,000.00 -375,000.00 0.00 -375,000.00

Miscellaneous Revenues -711,057.00 -533,292.75 -167,579.71 -365,713.04
Other Financing Sources

101-000-3920-000 Operating Transfers -40,000.00 -30,000.00 -40,000.00 10,000.00
Other Financing Sources -40,000.00 -30,000.00 -40,000.00 10,000.00

101 General Fund -11,664,762.00 -8,748,571.50 -6,590,697.39 -2,157,874.11

GL - Budget to Actual (11/02/2022 - 09:58 AM) Page 210



General Ledger
Budget to Actual

User: hannah.lynch
Printed: 11/2/2022 10:01:59 AM
Period 01 - 09
Fiscal Year 2022

Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var

101 General Fund
401 MayorCouncil
101-401-4101-000 Salaries - MayorCouncil 46,858.00 35,143.50 34,843.50 300.00
101-401-4121-000 PERA 2,343.00 1,757.25 1,742.22 15.03
101-401-4122-000 FICA 679.00 509.25 505.35 3.90
101-401-4151-000 Worker's Compensation 203.00 152.25 80.00 72.25
101-401-4200-000 Office Supplies-MayorCouncil 0.00 0.00 20.00 -20.00
101-401-4300-000 Professional Services 4,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00
101-401-4330-000 TravelTuition-MayorCouncil 1,500.00 1,125.00 1,011.62 113.38
101-401-4340-000 Advertising 200.00 150.00 0.00 150.00
101-401-4343-000 Newsletter - MayorCouncil 13,000.00 9,750.00 23,142.28 -13,392.28
101-401-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues 19,090.00 14,317.50 19,107.00 -4,789.50
101-401-4900-000 Marketing & Education 5,500.00 4,125.00 3,909.78 215.22
401 MayorCouncil 93,373.00 70,029.75 84,361.75 -14,332.00
402 Administration
101-402-4101-000 Salaries - Administration 480,789.00 360,591.75 341,036.64 19,555.11
101-402-4106-000 Temporaries - Admin 16,500.00 12,375.00 8,770.00 3,605.00
101-402-4108-000 Wellness Program-Admin 720.00 540.00 0.00 540.00
101-402-4121-000 PERA 37,297.00 27,972.75 26,917.89 1,054.86
101-402-4122-000 FICA 38,043.00 28,532.25 26,762.01 1,770.24
101-402-4123-000 Def Comp Employer Contribution 1,970.00 1,477.50 1,724.52 -247.02
101-402-4131-000 Health Insurance 22,249.00 16,686.75 16,386.54 300.21
101-402-4133-000 Life Insurance 1,277.00 957.75 847.89 109.86
101-402-4134-000 Dental Insurance 2,696.00 2,022.00 898.80 1,123.20
101-402-4151-000 Workers Compensation 3,161.00 2,370.75 2,950.00 -579.25
101-402-4300-000 Professional Services-Admin 15,000.00 11,250.00 11,787.27 -537.27
101-402-4310-000 Other Consultant-Admin 9,000.00 6,750.00 1,247.25 5,502.75
101-402-4321-000 Telephone 360.00 270.00 765.00 -495.00
101-402-4330-000 TravelTuition-Admin 8,500.00 6,375.00 7,092.71 -717.71
101-402-4340-000 Advertising-Admin 2,500.00 1,875.00 1,542.63 332.37
101-402-4410-000 Contracted Services-Admin 10,300.00 7,725.00 8,830.58 -1,105.58
101-402-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Admin 3,000.00 2,250.00 2,158.61 91.39
402 Administration 653,362.00 490,021.50 459,718.34 30,303.16
403 Elections
101-403-4101-000 Salaries - Elections 26,000.00 19,500.00 12,175.38 7,324.62
101-403-4121-000 PERA 0.00 0.00 37.72 -37.72
101-403-4122-000 FICA 100.00 75.00 46.87 28.13
101-403-4151-000 Workers Compensation 150.00 112.50 30.00 82.50
101-403-4200-000 Office Supplies-Elections 1,000.00 750.00 744.61 5.39
101-403-4330-000 TravelTuition-Elections 0.00 0.00 139.17 -139.17
101-403-4340-000 Advertising-Elections 800.00 600.00 53.76 546.24
101-403-4410-000 Contracted Services-Elections 6,500.00 4,875.00 4,425.01 449.99
403 Elections 34,550.00 25,912.50 17,652.52 8,259.98
405 Charter
101-405-4300-000 Professional Services-Charter 1,000.00 750.00 0.00 750.00
101-405-4300-999 Professional Services-Charter 6,463.00 4,847.25 0.00 4,847.25
405 Charter 7,463.00 5,597.25 0.00 5,597.25
407 Finance
101-407-4101-000 Salaries - Finance 254,127.00 190,595.25 177,746.00 12,849.25
101-407-4102-000 Overtime - Finance 0.00 0.00 464.40 -464.40
101-407-4108-000 Wellness Program-Finance 720.00 540.00 203.48 336.52
101-407-4121-000 PERA 19,060.00 14,295.00 13,774.32 520.68
101-407-4122-000 FICA 19,441.00 14,580.75 12,959.33 1,621.42
101-407-4131-000 Health Insurance 34,078.00 25,558.50 23,653.10 1,905.40

GL - Budget to Actual (11/02/2022 - 10:01 AM) Page 111



Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var

101-407-4133-000 Life Insurance 695.00 521.25 449.04 72.21
101-407-4134-000 Dental Insurance 1,672.00 1,254.00 876.34 377.66
101-407-4151-000 Workers Compensation 1,616.00 1,212.00 1,600.00 -388.00
101-407-4200-000 Office Supplies-Finance 1,000.00 750.00 987.34 -237.34
101-407-4300-000 Professional Services-Finance 0.00 0.00 500.00 -500.00
101-407-4308-000 Auditor 15,000.00 11,250.00 14,666.48 -3,416.48
101-407-4310-000 Other Consultant-Finance 201,220.00 150,915.00 154,132.65 -3,217.65
101-407-4330-000 TravelTuition-Finance 6,000.00 4,500.00 747.00 3,753.00
101-407-4340-000 Advertising-Finance 1,100.00 825.00 886.88 -61.88
101-407-4342-000 Truth In Taxation 2,060.00 1,545.00 2,079.03 -534.03
101-407-4345-000 Payment Processing 2,000.00 1,500.00 718.84 781.16
101-407-4410-000 Contracted Services-Finance 92,500.00 69,375.00 94,937.00 -25,562.00
101-407-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Finance 1,400.00 1,050.00 1,092.00 -42.00
407 Finance 653,689.00 490,266.75 502,473.23 -12,206.48
414 Legal Consultants
101-414-4301-000 Consultants Municipal Atto 30,000.00 22,500.00 5,226.00 17,274.00
101-414-4303-000 Consultants Criminal Attor 108,000.00 81,000.00 78,689.00 2,311.00
414 Legal Consultants 138,000.00 103,500.00 83,915.00 19,585.00
415 Economic Development
101-415-4106-000 Temporaries - Econ Dev 22,620.00 16,965.00 5,985.00 10,980.00
101-415-4121-000 PERA 0.00 0.00 50.40 -50.40
101-415-4122-000 FICA 1,730.00 1,297.50 457.87 839.63
101-415-4151-000 Workers Compensation 144.00 108.00 139.00 -31.00
101-415-4300-000 Professional Services-Econ Dev 15,350.00 11,512.50 4,573.25 6,939.25
101-415-4330-000 TravelTuition-Econ Dev 300.00 225.00 315.00 -90.00
101-415-4340-000 Advertising-Econ Dev 300.00 225.00 59.13 165.87
101-415-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Econ Dev 725.00 543.75 545.00 -1.25
101-415-4900-000 Marketing 72,500.00 54,375.00 40,043.00 14,332.00
415 Economic Development 113,669.00 85,251.75 52,167.65 33,084.10
416 Planning & Zoning
101-416-4101-000 Salaries - P&Z 95,025.00 71,268.75 69,448.80 1,819.95
101-416-4121-000 PERA 7,127.00 5,345.25 5,470.20 -124.95
101-416-4122-000 FICA 7,269.00 5,451.75 5,067.58 384.17
101-416-4131-000 Health Insurance 7,849.00 5,886.75 6,457.17 -570.42
101-416-4133-000 Life Insurance 253.00 189.75 189.45 0.30
101-416-4134-000 Dental Insurance 539.00 404.25 449.40 -45.15
101-416-4151-000 Workers Compensation 604.00 453.00 624.00 -171.00
101-416-4200-000 Office Supplies-P&Z 200.00 150.00 0.00 150.00
101-416-4300-000 Professional Services-P&Z 7,950.00 5,962.50 1,573.83 4,388.67
101-416-4330-000 TravelTuition-P&Z 1,450.00 1,087.50 119.00 968.50
101-416-4331-000 Stipend P&Z Board 6,600.00 4,950.00 2,675.00 2,275.00
101-416-4340-000 Advertising-P&Z 250.00 187.50 0.00 187.50
101-416-4410-000 Contracted Services-P&Z 32,300.00 24,225.00 3,045.00 21,180.00
101-416-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-P&Z 700.00 525.00 694.00 -169.00
416 Planning & Zoning 168,116.00 126,087.00 95,813.43 30,273.57
417 Engineering
101-417-4300-000 Professional Services-Engineer 44,500.00 33,375.00 16,750.50 16,624.50
101-417-4410-000 Contracted Services-Engineer 52,865.00 39,648.75 32,140.25 7,508.50
417 Engineering 97,365.00 73,023.75 48,890.75 24,133.00
418 Comm Dev
101-418-4101-000 Salaries - Comm Dev 151,496.00 113,622.00 105,428.52 8,193.48
101-418-4108-000 Wellness Program-Comm Dev 720.00 540.00 0.00 540.00
101-418-4121-000 PERA 11,362.00 8,521.50 8,336.36 185.14
101-418-4122-000 FICA 11,589.00 8,691.75 7,983.44 708.31
101-418-4123-000 Def Comp Employer Contribution 46.00 34.50 0.00 34.50
101-418-4131-000 Health Insurance 10,369.00 7,776.75 8,503.21 -726.46
101-418-4133-000 Life Insurance 409.00 306.75 241.46 65.29
101-418-4134-000 Dental Insurance 917.00 687.75 404.46 283.29
101-418-4151-000 Workers Compensation 875.00 656.25 1,136.00 -479.75
101-418-4200-000 Office Supplies-Comm Dev 100.00 75.00 124.74 -49.74
101-418-4300-000 Professional Services-Comm Dev 7,000.00 5,250.00 4,670.25 579.75
101-418-4330-000 TravelTuition-Comm Dev 900.00 675.00 145.00 530.00
101-418-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Comm Dev 725.00 543.75 702.00 -158.25
418 Comm Dev 196,508.00 147,381.00 137,675.44 9,705.56
420 Police
101-420-4101-000 Salaries - Police 3,058,939.00 2,294,204.25 2,056,641.65 237,562.60

GL - Budget to Actual (11/02/2022 - 10:01 AM) Page 212



Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var

101-420-4102-000 Overtime - Police 90,000.00 67,500.00 91,771.32 -24,271.32
101-420-4106-000 Temporaries - Police 0.00 0.00 11,523.75 -11,523.75
101-420-4108-000 Wellness Program-Police 2,027.00 1,520.25 240.00 1,280.25
101-420-4121-000 PERA 529,572.00 397,179.00 383,205.08 13,973.92
101-420-4122-000 FICA 62,552.00 46,914.00 43,477.31 3,436.69
101-420-4123-000 Def Comp Employer Contribution 3,226.00 2,419.50 4,132.84 -1,713.34
101-420-4131-000 Health Insurance 342,502.00 256,876.50 237,153.31 19,723.19
101-420-4133-000 Life Insurance 8,112.00 6,084.00 5,015.28 1,068.72
101-420-4134-000 Dental Insurance 17,554.00 13,165.50 11,129.66 2,035.84
101-420-4151-000 Workers Compensation 170,369.00 127,776.75 208,498.00 -80,721.25
101-420-4200-000 Office Supplies-Police 8,100.00 6,075.00 4,364.08 1,710.92
101-420-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Police 15,450.00 11,587.50 14,487.18 -2,899.68
101-420-4213-000 Youth Program 3,100.00 2,325.00 2,295.34 29.66
101-420-4214-000 Crime Prevention 7,400.00 5,550.00 2,177.57 3,372.43
101-420-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Police 15,000.00 11,250.00 5,988.95 5,261.05
101-420-4300-000 Professional Services-Police 8,740.00 6,555.00 7,622.99 -1,067.99
101-420-4321-000 Telephone-Police 23,360.00 17,520.00 15,381.43 2,138.57
101-420-4322-000 Postage-Police 1,000.00 750.00 513.92 236.08
101-420-4330-000 TravelTuition-Police 45,250.00 33,937.50 38,460.30 -4,522.80
101-420-4360-000 Insurance 52,818.00 39,613.50 52,897.00 -13,283.50
101-420-4370-000 Uniforms-Police 37,770.00 28,327.50 30,212.32 -1,884.82
101-420-4381-000 Electricity-Police 420.00 315.00 277.95 37.05
101-420-4386-000 Police Reserves 2,000.00 1,500.00 283.20 1,216.80
101-420-4410-000 Contracted Services-Police 55,305.00 41,478.75 53,324.58 -11,845.83
101-420-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Police 1,450.00 1,087.50 1,213.45 -125.95
420 Police 4,562,016.00 3,421,512.00 3,282,288.46 139,223.54
421 Fire
101-421-4101-000 Salaries - Fire 250,574.00 187,930.50 191,636.47 -3,705.97
101-421-4102-000 Overtime - Fire 3,000.00 2,250.00 0.00 2,250.00
101-421-4102-421 Overtime - Fire Stipend 0.00 0.00 206.44 -206.44
101-421-4103-000 Part-time Wages - Fire 127,547.00 95,660.25 54,020.74 41,639.51
101-421-4104-000 Paid On Call Firefighters 83,000.00 62,250.00 73,933.12 -11,683.12
101-421-4106-000 Temporaries - Fire 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
101-421-4108-000 Wellness Program-Fire 133.00 99.75 0.00 99.75
101-421-4109-000 Fire Stipend 16,057.00 12,042.75 0.00 12,042.75
101-421-4109-421 Fire Stipend 0.00 0.00 7,705.51 -7,705.51
101-421-4121-000 PERA 56,343.00 42,257.25 37,196.29 5,060.96
101-421-4121-421 PERA 0.00 0.00 1,468.90 -1,468.90
101-421-4122-000 FICA 20,593.00 15,444.75 13,501.45 1,943.30
101-421-4122-421 FICA 0.00 0.00 92.76 -92.76
101-421-4131-000 Health Insurance 34,309.00 25,731.75 19,661.95 6,069.80
101-421-4133-000 Life Insurance 701.00 525.75 428.57 97.18
101-421-4134-000 Dental Insurance 1,231.00 923.25 644.86 278.39
101-421-4151-000 Workers Compensation 70,646.00 52,984.50 58,575.00 -5,590.50
101-421-4200-000 Office Supplies-Fire 1,000.00 750.00 1,637.34 -887.34
101-421-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Fire 7,675.00 5,756.25 2,470.09 3,286.16
101-421-4213-000 Youth Program 1,700.00 1,275.00 0.00 1,275.00
101-421-4214-000 Fire Prevention 3,000.00 2,250.00 2,592.59 -342.59
101-421-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Fire 12,500.00 9,375.00 9,168.76 206.24
101-421-4300-000 Professional Services-Fire 5,500.00 4,125.00 4,954.17 -829.17
101-421-4321-000 Telephone-Fire 3,850.00 2,887.50 1,786.33 1,101.17
101-421-4322-000 Postage-Fire 500.00 375.00 1,333.37 -958.37
101-421-4330-000 TravelTuition-Fire 38,050.00 28,537.50 24,628.72 3,908.78
101-421-4340-000 Advertising-Fire 500.00 375.00 500.00 -125.00
101-421-4370-000 Uniforms-Fire 97,700.00 73,275.00 79,382.66 -6,107.66
101-421-4410-000 Contracted Services-Fire 40,000.00 30,000.00 34,217.87 -4,217.87
101-421-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Fire 1,390.00 1,042.50 1,140.00 -97.50
101-421-5000-000 Capital Outlay Fire 8,600.00 6,450.00 0.00 6,450.00
421 Fire 886,099.00 664,574.25 622,883.96 41,690.29
422 Building Inspections
101-422-4101-000 Salaries - Building 320,509.00 240,381.75 206,215.95 34,165.80
101-422-4102-000 Overtime - Building 500.00 375.00 201.20 173.80
101-422-4108-000 Wellness Program-Bldg Insp 720.00 540.00 0.00 540.00
101-422-4121-000 PERA 24,076.00 18,057.00 16,251.79 1,805.21
101-422-4122-000 FICA 24,557.00 18,417.75 14,882.15 3,535.60
101-422-4131-000 Health Insurance 40,708.00 30,531.00 33,959.00 -3,428.00

GL - Budget to Actual (11/02/2022 - 10:01 AM) Page 313



Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var

101-422-4133-000 Life Insurance 861.00 645.75 556.88 88.87
101-422-4134-000 Dental Insurance 2,157.00 1,617.75 1,123.55 494.20
101-422-4151-000 Workers Compensation 1,798.00 1,348.50 2,105.00 -756.50
101-422-4200-000 Office Supplies-Building 2,000.00 1,500.00 835.01 664.99
101-422-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Bldg 150.00 112.50 240.65 -128.15
101-422-4300-000 Professional Services-Bldg 5,000.00 3,750.00 5,738.00 -1,988.00
101-422-4321-000 Telephone-Building Inspections 2,200.00 1,650.00 1,364.70 285.30
101-422-4330-000 TravelTuition-Bldg 3,300.00 2,475.00 961.06 1,513.94
101-422-4370-000 Uniforms-Building 1,140.00 855.00 451.87 403.13
101-422-4410-000 Contracted Services-Bldg 34,250.00 25,687.50 16,667.30 9,020.20
101-422-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Bldg Insp 325.00 243.75 130.00 113.75
422 Building Inspections 464,251.00 348,188.25 301,684.11 46,504.14
430 Streets
101-430-4101-000 Salaries - Streets 420,534.00 315,400.50 310,757.83 4,642.67
101-430-4102-000 Overtime - Streets 14,000.00 10,500.00 7,613.05 2,886.95
101-430-4105-000 On CallPager 5,000.00 3,750.00 14,969.15 -11,219.15
101-430-4106-000 Temporaries - Streets 30,000.00 22,500.00 36,329.25 -13,829.25
101-430-4121-000 PERA 32,965.00 24,723.75 26,354.98 -1,631.23
101-430-4122-000 FICA 35,919.00 26,939.25 26,641.95 297.30
101-430-4123-000 Def Comp Employer Contribution 577.00 432.75 101.49 331.26
101-430-4131-000 Health Insurance 38,235.00 28,676.25 34,346.49 -5,670.24
101-430-4133-000 Life Insurance 1,154.00 865.50 853.89 11.61
101-430-4134-000 Dental Insurance 3,182.00 2,386.50 1,869.52 516.98
101-430-4141-000 Reemployment Insurance 0.00 0.00 844.50 -844.50
101-430-4151-000 Workers Compensation 35,860.00 26,895.00 38,975.00 -12,080.00
101-430-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Streets 12,000.00 9,000.00 7,886.08 1,113.92
101-430-4223-000 Street Signs 12,000.00 9,000.00 5,962.82 3,037.18
101-430-4224-000 Patching Materials 50,000.00 37,500.00 12,328.61 25,171.39
101-430-4228-000 SaltSand 55,000.00 41,250.00 56,499.64 -15,249.64
101-430-4229-000 GravelMisc 7,000.00 5,250.00 5,138.04 111.96
101-430-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Streets 4,000.00 3,000.00 1,840.36 1,159.64
101-430-4300-000 Professional Services-Streets 12,450.00 9,337.50 12,300.00 -2,962.50
101-430-4321-000 Telephone-Streets 1,000.00 750.00 773.63 -23.63
101-430-4330-000 TravelTuition-Streets 2,000.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00
101-430-4370-000 Uniforms-Streets 2,600.00 1,950.00 561.91 1,388.09
101-430-4385-000 Street Lights-Streets 82,000.00 61,500.00 66,184.51 -4,684.51
101-430-4410-000 Contracted Services-Streets 47,000.00 35,250.00 31,956.80 3,293.20
101-430-4415-000 Rental Equipment 1,000.00 750.00 738.88 11.12
101-430-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Streets 3,500.00 2,625.00 0.00 2,625.00
101-430-5000-000 Capital Outlay Streets 125,000.00 93,750.00 0.00 93,750.00
430 Streets 1,033,976.00 775,482.00 701,828.38 73,653.62
431 Fleet
101-431-4101-000 Salaries - Fleet 163,887.00 122,915.25 123,132.89 -217.64
101-431-4102-000 Overtime - Fleet 2,000.00 1,500.00 1,964.03 -464.03
101-431-4121-000 PERA 12,442.00 9,331.50 9,827.30 -495.80
101-431-4122-000 FICA 12,690.00 9,517.50 8,339.23 1,178.27
101-431-4123-000 Def Comp Employer Contribution 570.00 427.50 101.49 326.01
101-431-4131-000 Health Insurance 25,323.00 18,992.25 22,011.46 -3,019.21
101-431-4133-000 Life Insurance 455.00 341.25 333.64 7.61
101-431-4134-000 Dental Insurance 1,186.00 889.50 970.83 -81.33
101-431-4151-000 Workers Compensation 5,422.00 4,066.50 6,244.00 -2,177.50
101-431-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Fleet 9,300.00 6,975.00 6,989.80 -14.80
101-431-4212-000 Vehicle Fuel 110,000.00 82,500.00 154,830.67 -72,330.67
101-431-4221-000 Shop Parts 65,000.00 48,750.00 38,313.30 10,436.70
101-431-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Fleet 7,000.00 5,250.00 4,058.51 1,191.49
101-431-4300-000 Professional Services-Fleet 44,300.00 33,225.00 40,291.71 -7,066.71
101-431-4321-000 Telephone-Fleet 0.00 0.00 15.75 -15.75
101-431-4330-000 TravelTuition-Fleet 500.00 375.00 48.00 327.00
101-431-4363-000 Auto Insurance 40,795.00 30,596.25 41,266.00 -10,669.75
101-431-4370-000 Uniforms-Fleet 570.00 427.50 69.94 357.56
101-431-4410-000 Contracted Services-Fleet 53,500.00 40,125.00 67,186.40 -27,061.40
101-431-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Fleet 6,000.00 4,500.00 0.00 4,500.00
101-431-5000-000 Capital Outlay Fleet 28,000.00 21,000.00 0.00 21,000.00
431 Fleet 588,940.00 441,705.00 525,994.95 -84,289.95
432 Government Buildings
101-432-4101-000 Salaries - Gov't Bldgs 2,080.00 1,560.00 1,200.00 360.00

GL - Budget to Actual (11/02/2022 - 10:01 AM) Page 414



Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var

101-432-4106-000 Temporaries - Gov't Bldgs 8,400.00 6,300.00 6,930.00 -630.00
101-432-4121-000 PERA 156.00 117.00 96.00 21.00
101-432-4122-000 FICA 802.00 601.50 616.93 -15.43
101-432-4151-000 Workers Compensation 803.00 602.25 328.00 274.25
101-432-4200-000 Office Supplies-Govt Buildings 10,000.00 7,500.00 6,087.99 1,412.01
101-432-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Govt Bldg 35,000.00 26,250.00 11,756.45 14,493.55
101-432-4211-500 Maintenance Supplies-PW Bldg 0.00 0.00 3,880.90 -3,880.90
101-432-4211-501 Maintenance Supplies-Fire #1 0.00 0.00 52.19 -52.19
101-432-4211-502 Maintenance Supplies-Fire #2 0.00 0.00 254.68 -254.68
101-432-4211-503 Maintenance Supplies-Civ Comp 0.00 0.00 9,253.00 -9,253.00
101-432-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Govt Bldg 2,400.00 1,800.00 6,545.38 -4,745.38
101-432-4300-000 Professional Services-Govt Bld 59,000.00 44,250.00 550.10 43,699.90
101-432-4300-500 Professional Services-PW Bldg 0.00 0.00 3,424.14 -3,424.14
101-432-4300-501 Professional Services-Fire #1 0.00 0.00 7,373.95 -7,373.95
101-432-4300-502 Professional Services-Fire #2 0.00 0.00 7,938.75 -7,938.75
101-432-4300-503 Professional Services-Civ Comp 0.00 0.00 9,758.40 -9,758.40
101-432-4321-000 Telephone-Govt Buildings 6,864.00 5,148.00 1,790.05 3,357.95
101-432-4321-502 Telephone-Fire Station #2 0.00 0.00 3,289.71 -3,289.71
101-432-4321-503 Telephone-Civic Complex 0.00 0.00 423.64 -423.64
101-432-4322-000 Postage-Gov't Buildings 5,000.00 3,750.00 3,798.01 -48.01
101-432-4330-000 TravelTuition-Govt Bldg 0.00 0.00 479.00 -479.00
101-432-4361-000 Building Insurance 138,315.00 103,736.25 125,409.00 -21,672.75
101-432-4381-000 Electricity-Gov't Bldgs 96,500.00 72,375.00 6.62 72,368.38
101-432-4381-500 Electricity-Public Works Bldg 0.00 0.00 8,608.63 -8,608.63
101-432-4381-501 Electricity-Fire Station #1 0.00 0.00 4,946.82 -4,946.82
101-432-4381-502 Electricity-Fire Station #2 0.00 0.00 9,902.66 -9,902.66
101-432-4381-503 Electricity-Civic Complex 0.00 0.00 55,526.37 -55,526.37
101-432-4382-000 Utilities-Gov't Bldgs 21,000.00 15,750.00 14,218.98 1,531.02
101-432-4383-000 Heat-Gov't Buildings 48,000.00 36,000.00 0.00 36,000.00
101-432-4383-500 Heat-Public Works Bldg 0.00 0.00 8,034.10 -8,034.10
101-432-4383-501 Heat-Fire Station #1 0.00 0.00 3,549.12 -3,549.12
101-432-4383-502 Heat-Fire Station #2 0.00 0.00 6,221.55 -6,221.55
101-432-4383-503 Heat-Civic Complex 0.00 0.00 20,415.80 -20,415.80
101-432-4384-000 Sanitation-Gov't Bldgs 12,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 9,000.00
101-432-4384-500 Sanitation-Public Works Bldg 0.00 0.00 2,782.71 -2,782.71
101-432-4384-501 Sanitation-Fire Station #1 0.00 0.00 885.73 -885.73
101-432-4384-502 Sanitation-Fire Station #2 0.00 0.00 1,619.40 -1,619.40
101-432-4384-503 Sanitation-Civic Complex 0.00 0.00 3,895.36 -3,895.36
101-432-4410-000 Contracted Services-Govt Bldg 98,000.00 73,500.00 0.00 73,500.00
101-432-4410-500 Contracted Services-PW Bldg 0.00 0.00 13,423.24 -13,423.24
101-432-4410-501 Contracted Services-Fire #1 0.00 0.00 8,341.26 -8,341.26
101-432-4410-502 Contracted Services-Fire #2 0.00 0.00 8,338.24 -8,338.24
101-432-4410-503 Contracted Services-Civic Comp 0.00 0.00 50,681.15 -50,681.15
101-432-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Gov't Bldgs 200.00 150.00 344.00 -194.00
432 Government Buildings 544,520.00 408,390.00 432,978.01 -24,588.01
450 Parks
101-450-4101-000 Salaries - Parks 419,795.00 314,846.25 236,848.97 77,997.28
101-450-4102-000 Overtime - Parks 2,000.00 1,500.00 304.85 1,195.15
101-450-4106-000 Temporaries - Parks 42,000.00 31,500.00 29,635.50 1,864.50
101-450-4121-000 PERA 31,635.00 23,726.25 18,789.43 4,936.82
101-450-4122-000 FICA 35,480.00 26,610.00 19,622.64 6,987.36
101-450-4123-000 Def Comp Employer Contribution 1,719.00 1,289.25 1,413.10 -123.85
101-450-4131-000 Health Insurance 45,866.00 34,399.50 22,357.29 12,042.21
101-450-4133-000 Life Insurance 1,154.00 865.50 627.16 238.34
101-450-4134-000 Dental Insurance 3,182.00 2,386.50 1,548.31 838.19
101-450-4151-000 Workers Compensation 19,730.00 14,797.50 20,944.00 -6,146.50
101-450-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Parks 73,000.00 54,750.00 44,231.32 10,518.68
101-450-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Parks 3,000.00 2,250.00 5,588.96 -3,338.96
101-450-4300-000 Professional Services-Parks 7,150.00 5,362.50 4,530.76 831.74
101-450-4321-000 Telephone-Parks 2,000.00 1,500.00 459.62 1,040.38
101-450-4330-000 TravelTuition-Parks 2,000.00 1,500.00 861.90 638.10
101-450-4331-000 Stipend Park Board 2,750.00 2,062.50 950.00 1,112.50
101-450-4370-000 Uniforms-Parks 1,500.00 1,125.00 836.57 288.43
101-450-4381-000 Electricity-Parks 3,500.00 2,625.00 2,404.84 220.16
101-450-4382-000 Utilities-Parks 25,000.00 18,750.00 13,015.29 5,734.71
101-450-4383-000 Heat-Parks 5,000.00 3,750.00 3,394.09 355.91
101-450-4384-000 Sanitation-Parks 1,800.00 1,350.00 788.58 561.42

GL - Budget to Actual (11/02/2022 - 10:01 AM) Page 515



Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var

101-450-4410-000 Contracted Services-Parks 112,250.00 84,187.50 46,897.14 37,290.36
101-450-4415-000 Rental Equipment 500.00 375.00 134.20 240.80
101-450-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Parks 200.00 150.00 105.89 44.11
101-450-5000-000 Capital Outlay Parks 0.00 0.00 3,826.27 -3,826.27
450 Parks 842,211.00 631,658.25 480,116.68 151,541.57
451 Recreation
101-451-4101-000 Salaries - Recreation 22,713.00 17,034.75 13,952.34 3,082.41
101-451-4106-000 Temporaries - Recreation 15,855.00 11,891.25 7,040.00 4,851.25
101-451-4121-000 PERA 0.00 0.00 1,041.51 -1,041.51
101-451-4122-000 FICA 2,950.00 2,212.50 1,581.37 631.13
101-451-4123-000 Def Comp Employer Contribution 0.00 0.00 202.99 -202.99
101-451-4131-000 Health Insurance 0.00 0.00 1,299.84 -1,299.84
101-451-4133-000 Life Insurance 0.00 0.00 31.72 -31.72
101-451-4134-000 Dental Insurance 0.00 0.00 78.62 -78.62
101-451-4141-000 Reemployment Insurance 0.00 0.00 13,664.99 -13,664.99
101-451-4151-000 Workers Compensation 920.00 690.00 513.00 177.00
101-451-4321-000 Telephone-Recreation 0.00 0.00 25.50 -25.50
101-451-4330-000 TravelTuition-Rec 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
451 Recreation 42,438.00 31,828.50 39,431.88 -7,603.38
461 Environmental
101-461-4101-000 Salaries - Environmental 24,237.00 18,177.75 17,647.22 530.53
101-461-4102-000 Overtime - Environmental 500.00 375.00 0.00 375.00
101-461-4106-000 Temporaries - Environmental 15,600.00 11,700.00 9,270.00 2,430.00
101-461-4121-000 PERA 1,855.00 1,391.25 1,409.16 -17.91
101-461-4122-000 FICA 3,086.00 2,314.50 2,042.02 272.48
101-461-4131-000 Health Insurance 2,355.00 1,766.25 1,937.20 -170.95
101-461-4133-000 Life Insurance 76.00 57.00 49.14 7.86
101-461-4134-000 Dental Insurance 162.00 121.50 134.70 -13.20
101-461-4151-000 Workers Compensation 219.00 164.25 280.00 -115.75
101-461-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Env 700.00 525.00 0.00 525.00
101-461-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Env 300.00 225.00 65.98 159.02
101-461-4300-000 Professional Services-Env 1,000.00 750.00 187.50 562.50
101-461-4321-000 Telephone-Environmental 730.00 547.50 232.83 314.67
101-461-4330-000 TravelTuition-Env 1,100.00 825.00 1,242.50 -417.50
101-461-4331-000 Stipend Environmental Board 6,600.00 4,950.00 2,150.00 2,800.00
101-461-4410-000 Contracted Services-Env 1,000.00 750.00 919.00 -169.00
101-461-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Env 100.00 75.00 25.56 49.44
461 Environmental 59,620.00 44,715.00 37,592.81 7,122.19
462 Solid Waste
101-462-4101-000 Salaries - Solid Waste 16,158.00 12,118.50 11,764.81 353.69
101-462-4102-000 Overtime - Solid Waste 1,600.00 1,200.00 0.00 1,200.00
101-462-4106-000 Temporaries - Solid Waste 22,620.00 16,965.00 10,652.00 6,313.00
101-462-4121-000 PERA 1,332.00 999.00 1,239.04 -240.04
101-462-4122-000 FICA 3,089.00 2,316.75 1,703.47 613.28
101-462-4131-000 Health Insurance 1,570.00 1,177.50 1,291.53 -114.03
101-462-4133-000 Life Insurance 55.00 41.25 32.70 8.55
101-462-4134-000 Dental Insurance 108.00 81.00 89.90 -8.90
101-462-4151-000 Workers Compensation 257.00 192.75 272.00 -79.25
101-462-4200-000 Office Supplies-Solid Waste 1,100.00 825.00 909.14 -84.14
101-462-4300-000 Professional Services-S. Waste 0.00 0.00 125.00 -125.00
101-462-4330-000 TravelTuition-Solid Waste 220.00 165.00 316.65 -151.65
101-462-4340-000 Advertising-Solid Waste 7,000.00 5,250.00 2,327.34 2,922.66
101-462-4410-000 Contracted Services-So. Waste 22,700.00 17,025.00 9,978.07 7,046.93
462 Solid Waste 77,809.00 58,356.75 40,701.65 17,655.10
463 Forestry
101-463-4101-000 Salaries - Forestry 20,197.00 15,147.75 14,705.97 441.78
101-463-4121-000 PERA 1,515.00 1,136.25 1,187.82 -51.57
101-463-4122-000 FICA 1,545.00 1,158.75 1,110.76 47.99
101-463-4131-000 Health Insurance 1,962.00 1,471.50 1,614.27 -142.77
101-463-4133-000 Life Insurance 65.00 48.75 40.86 7.89
101-463-4134-000 Dental Insurance 135.00 101.25 112.40 -11.15
101-463-4151-000 Workers Compensation 988.00 741.00 1,474.00 -733.00
101-463-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Forestry 3,000.00 2,250.00 1,663.66 586.34
101-463-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Forestry 250.00 187.50 329.22 -141.72
101-463-4370-000 Uniforms-Forestry 380.00 285.00 372.72 -87.72
101-463-4410-000 Contracted Services-Forestry 30,000.00 22,500.00 78,212.87 -55,712.87

GL - Budget to Actual (11/02/2022 - 10:01 AM) Page 616



Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var

101-463-4415-000 Rental Equipment 0.00 0.00 188.24 -188.24
463 Forestry 60,037.00 45,027.75 101,012.79 -55,985.04
499 Other
101-499-4905-000 Contingency 60,000.00 45,000.00 0.00 45,000.00
101-499-4910-000 Operating Transfers 286,750.00 215,062.50 286,750.00 -71,687.50
499 Other 346,750.00

         
260,062.50

         
286,750.00

         
-26,687.50

         
101 General Fund 11,664,762.00 8,748,571.50 8,335,931.79 412,639.71

GL - Budget to Actual (11/02/2022 - 10:01 AM) Page 717



General Ledger
Budget to Actual

User: hannah.lynch
Printed:  11/9/2022 12:54:44 PM
Period  01 - 09
Fiscal Year 2022

Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var
202 The Rookery Activity Center

Intergovernmental Revenues
202-000-3319-000 Other Federal Revenue (500,000.00)$      (312,500.00)$   -$                 (312,500.00)$   
202-000-3372-000 Other Grants -$                    -$                 (4,485.00)$       4,485.00$        

Intergovernmental Revenues (500,000.00)$      (312,500.00)$   (4,485.00)$       (308,015.00)$   
Charges for Service

202-000-3470-000 Annual Membership Fees (61,374.00)$        (38,358.75)$     (101,172.20)$   62,813.45$      
202-000-3471-000 Monthly Membership Fees (260,653.00)$      (162,908.13)$   (123,850.83)$   (39,057.30)$     
202-000-3472-000 Daily Use Fees (11,453.00)$        (7,158.13)$       (12,156.45)$     4,998.33$        
202-000-3473-000 EF Basic Classes/Programs (1,000.00)$          (625.00)$          -$                 (625.00)$          
202-000-3474-000 EF Personal & Specialty Train (29,600.00)$        (18,500.00)$     (15,429.00)$     (3,071.00)$       
202-000-3475-000 EF Spinning Classes (8,500.00)$          (5,312.50)$       -$                 (5,312.50)$       
202-000-3476-000 Gym Rentals (11,667.00)$        (7,291.88)$       (960.00)$          (6,331.88)$       
202-000-3477-000 Pool Rentals (21,240.00)$        (13,275.00)$     -$                 (13,275.00)$     
202-000-3478-000 Room Rentals (500.00)$             (312.50)$          (825.00)$          512.50$           
202-000-3479-000 Birthday Party Rentals (10,000.00)$        (6,250.00)$       (2,085.00)$       (4,165.00)$       
202-000-3480-000 Retail (3,500.00)$          (2,187.50)$       -$                 (2,187.50)$       
202-000-3481-000 Enrollment Fees (11,750.00)$        (7,343.75)$       (8,463.00)$       1,119.25$        
202-000-3485-000 Program Revenue -$                    -$                 (150.00)$          150.00$           
202-000-3485-601 Child Watch (6,160.00)$          (3,850.00)$       (565.49)$          (3,284.51)$       
202-000-3485-602 Towel Service (4,363.00)$          (2,726.88)$       (596.97)$          (2,129.91)$       
202-000-3485-603 Swim Lessons (53,242.00)$        (33,276.25)$     (23,761.40)$     (9,514.85)$       
202-000-3485-604 Youth Programs (3,600.00)$          (2,250.00)$       (128.00)$          (2,122.00)$       
202-000-3485-605 Gym Programs (4,000.00)$          (2,500.00)$       -$                 (2,500.00)$       
202-000-3485-606 Adult/Family Programs (3,600.00)$          (2,250.00)$       (5.00)$              (2,245.00)$       
202-000-3485-608 Community Programs -$                    -$                 (191.00)$          191.00$           

Charges for Service (506,202.00)$      (316,376.25)$   (290,339.34)$   (26,036.91)$     
Miscellaneous Revenues

202-000-3730-000 Refunds & Reimbursements -$                    -$                 -$                 -$                 
202-000-3731-000 Silver Sneakers (17,234.00)$        (10,771.25)$     (7,150.00)$       (3,621.25)$       
202-000-3732-000 Renew Active/One Pass (16,684.00)$        (10,427.50)$     (7,044.00)$       (3,383.50)$       
202-000-3800-000 Cash Over/Short -$                    -$                 26.53$             (26.53)$            

Miscellaneous Revenues (33,918.00)$        (21,198.75)$     (14,167.47)$     (7,031.28)$       
202 The Rookery Activity Center (1,040,120.00)$   (650,075.00)$   (308,991.81)$   (341,083.19)$   

18



General Ledger
Budget to Actual

User: hannah.lynch
Printed:  11/9/2022 1:27:12 PM
Period  01 - 09
Fiscal Year 2022

Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal YTD Bgt Var
202 The Rookery Activity Center

Personal Services
202-451-4101-000 Salaries - RAC 433,606.00$      271,003.75$      229,606.24$      41,397.51$          
202-451-4103-000 Part-time Wages - RAC 270,000.00$      168,750.00$      158,080.79$      10,669.21$          
202-451-4103-601 Part-time Wages RAC Child Wa -$                   -$                   12,244.75$        (12,244.75)$        
202-451-4103-603 Part-time Wages RAC Swim Less 19,946.00$        12,466.25$        9,024.63$          3,441.62$           
202-451-4103-604 Part-time Wages RAC Youth Prog 700.00$             437.50$             -$                   437.50$              
202-451-4103-606 Part-time Wages RAC A/F Prog 700.00$             437.50$             -$                   437.50$              
202-451-4106-000 Temporaries - RAC -$                   -$                   3,802.50$          (3,802.50)$          
202-451-4121-000 PERA 42,645.00$        26,653.13$        21,236.18$        5,416.95$           
202-451-4121-603 PERA RAC Swim Less -$                   -$                   148.08$             (148.08)$             
202-451-4122-000 FICA RAC 53,826.00$        33,641.25$        28,758.49$        4,882.76$           
202-451-4122-601 FICA RAC Child Watch -$                   -$                   946.86$             (946.86)$             
202-451-4122-603 FICA RAC Swim Less -$                   -$                   692.75$             (692.75)$             
202-451-4123-000 Def Comp Employee Contribution -$                   -$                   1,014.93$          (1,014.93)$          
202-451-4131-000 Health Insurance 67,176.00$        41,985.00$        28,225.05$        13,759.95$          
202-451-4133-000 Life Insurance 1,234.00$          771.25$             554.67$             216.58$              
202-451-4134-000 Dental Insurance 3,028.00$          1,892.50$          1,164.05$          728.45$              
202-451-4151-000 Workers Compensation 22,633.00$        14,145.63$        6,838.00$          7,307.63$           

Personal Services 915,494.00$      572,183.75$      502,337.97$      69,845.78$          
Supplies

202-451-4200-000 Office Supplies-RAC 5,500.00$          3,437.50$          4,380.45$          (942.95)$             
202-451-4200-603 Office Supplies RAC Swim Less 500.00$             312.50$             812.44$             (499.94)$             
202-451-4200-604 Office Supplies RAC Youth Prog 500.00$             312.50$             -$                   312.50$              
202-451-4200-605 Office Supplies RAC Gym Prog 500.00$             312.50$             -$                   312.50$              
202-451-4200-606 Office Supplies RAC A/F Prog 500.00$             312.50$             -$                   312.50$              
202-451-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-RAC 46,500.00$        29,062.50$        6,606.54$          22,455.96$          
202-451-4222-000 Chemicals 5,250.00$          3,281.25$          1,183.93$          2,097.32$           
202-451-4240-000 Small Tools/Equip-RAC 9,000.00$          5,625.00$          10,064.95$        (4,439.95)$          

Supplies 68,250.00$        42,656.25$        23,048.31$        19,607.94$          
Services & Charges

202-451-4300-000 Professional Services-RAC 5,000.00$          3,125.00$          13,446.30$        (10,321.30)$        
202-451-4301-000 Municipal Attorney 3,333.00$          2,083.13$          -$                   2,083.13$           
202-451-4310-000 Other Consultant 2,750.00$          1,718.75$          1,593.56$          125.19$              
202-451-4321-000 Telephone- RAC 2,750.00$          1,718.75$          1,443.61$          275.14$              
202-451-4322-000 Postage-RAC -$                   -$                   153.50$             (153.50)$             
202-451-4330-000 Travel/Tuition-RAC 3,000.00$          1,875.00$          4,335.99$          (2,460.99)$          
202-451-4340-000 Advertising-RAC 667.00$             416.88$             139.11$             277.77$              
202-451-4345-000 Payment Processing 38,997.00$        24,373.13$        5,806.22$          18,566.91$          
202-451-4361-000 Building Insurance-RAC 10,000.00$        6,250.00$          14,372.02$        (8,122.02)$          
202-451-4370-000 Uniforms-RAC 2,000.00$          1,250.00$          1,574.00$          (324.00)$             

19



202-451-4381-000 Electricity-RAC 88,000.00$        55,000.00$        44,428.11$        10,571.89$          
202-451-4382-000 Utilities-RAC 10,920.00$        6,825.00$          7,300.52$          (475.52)$             
202-451-4383-000 Heat-RAC 55,750.00$        34,843.75$        18,668.84$        16,174.91$          
202-451-4384-000 Sanitation-RAC 6,000.00$          3,750.00$          4,571.82$          (821.82)$             

Services & Charges 229,167.00$      143,229.38$      117,833.60$      25,395.78$          
Contractual Services

202-451-4410-000 Contracted Services-RAC 12,500.00$        7,812.50$          13,771.58$        (5,959.08)$          
202-451-4411-000 Cont Srvs - Fitness Provider 172,775.00$      107,984.38$      114,111.75$      (6,127.38)$          
202-451-4418-000 Special Projects 8,750.00$          5,468.75$          -$  5,468.75$  
202-451-4452-000 Subscriptions/Dues-RAC 500.00$             312.50$             446.99$             (134.49)$             
202-451-4900-000 Marketing 11,000.00$        6,875.00$          5,230.77$          1,644.23$           

Contractual Services 205,525.00$      128,453.13$      133,561.09$      (5,107.97)$          
202 The Rookery Activity Center 1,418,436.00$   886,522.50$      776,780.97$      109,741.53$        

20



General Ledger
Budget to Actual

User: hannah.lynch
Printed: 11/9/2022 1:42:21 PM
Period 01 - 09
Fiscal Year 2022

Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal One Year Prior
Actual

601 Water Operating
601-000-3150-000 Penalties & Interest 0.00 0.00 -22.56 -171.07
601-000-3248-000 Water Hook Up Charge -41,250.00 -30,937.50 -28,270.00 -62,250.00
601-000-3406-000 Water Meter Sales -78,260.00 -58,695.00 -61,112.85 -120,002.50
601-000-3407-000 Irrigation Controller Sales -5,000.00 -3,750.00 -3,420.00 -4,750.00
601-000-3620-000 Interest On Investments -50,000.00 -37,500.00 287,034.50 9,958.96
601-000-3714-000 Miscellaneous Revenue -2,500.00 -1,875.00 -919.00 -1,268.00
601-000-3730-000 Refunds & Reimbursements 0.00 0.00 -10,893.74 0.00
601-000-3850-000 Flat Water Charge -287,680.00 -215,760.00 -215,642.81 0.00
601-000-3855-000 Water Sales -1,268,772.00 -951,579.00 -929,384.85 -1,024,211.16
601-000-3858-000 Penalty -22,000.00 -16,500.00 -20,809.47 -13,080.25
601 Water Operating -1,755,462.00 -1,316,596.50 -983,440.78 -1,215,774.02
602 Sewer Operating
602-000-3150-000 Penalties & Interest 0.00 0.00 -22.55 -171.08
602-000-3249-000 Sewer Hook Up Charge -33,000.00 -24,750.00 -23,060.00 -51,167.00
602-000-3620-000 Interest On Investments -80,000.00 -60,000.00 463,198.02 15,691.45
602-000-3730-000 Refunds & Reimbursements 0.00 0.00 -21.77 -15,276.00
602-000-3856-000 Sewer Sales -1,762,586.00 -1,321,939.50 -1,405,917.15 -1,339,126.92
602-000-3858-000 Penalty -26,000.00 -19,500.00 -21,383.23 -17,164.54
602 Sewer Operating -1,901,586.00 -1,426,189.50 -987,206.68 -1,407,214.09
603 Storm Water Operating
603-000-3620-000 Interest On Investments 0.00 0.00 3,124.93 0.00
603-000-3858-000 Penalty 0.00 0.00 -3,564.21 0.00
603-000-3859-000 Storm Water Utility -583,000.00 -437,250.00 -366,428.90 0.00
603 Storm Water Operating -583,000.00 -437,250.00 -366,868.18 0.00

GL - Budget to Actual (11/09/2022 - 01:42 PM) Page 121



General Ledger
Budget to Actual

User: hannah.lynch
Printed: 11/9/2022 1:53:11 PM
Period 01 - 09
Fiscal Year 2022

Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal One Year Prior
Actual

601 Water Operating
Personal Services

601-494-4101-000 Salaries - Water 276,285.00 207,213.75 171,346.12 154,309.89
601-494-4102-000 Overtime - Water 7,000.00 5,250.00 5,105.72 4,905.31
601-494-4105-000 On CallPager 5,000.00 3,750.00 -344.35 -201.22
601-494-4106-000 Temporaries - Water 9,900.00 7,425.00 3,610.50 5,988.62
601-494-4108-000 Wellness Program-Water 0.00 0.00 26.77 0.00
601-494-4121-000 PERA 21,621.00 16,215.75 13,477.53 12,610.76
601-494-4122-000 FICA 22,811.00 17,108.25 13,141.54 11,954.45
601-494-4123-000 Def Comp Employer Contribution 428.00 321.00 101.49 0.00
601-494-4131-000 Health Insurance 37,844.00 28,383.00 18,272.33 17,742.74
601-494-4133-000 Life Insurance 871.00 653.25 445.62 618.32
601-494-4134-000 Dental Insurance 2,076.00 1,557.00 1,274.12 1,284.21
601-494-4151-000 Workers Compensation 7,311.00 5,483.25 7,404.00 5,395.00

Personal Services 391,147.00 293,360.25 233,861.39 214,608.08
Supplies

601-494-4200-000 Office Supplies-Water 2,500.00 1,875.00 1,234.84 1,484.98
601-494-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Water 45,000.00 33,750.00 38,769.55 29,082.34
601-494-4212-000 Vehicle Fuel 10,000.00 7,500.00 0.00 0.00
601-494-4215-000 Water Meters 80,000.00 60,000.00 76,912.99 64,691.60
601-494-4216-000 Irrigation Controllers 20,000.00 15,000.00 19,798.90 18,999.00
601-494-4222-000 Chemicals 125,000.00 93,750.00 110,767.54 105,473.00
601-494-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Water 2,500.00 1,875.00 3,435.12 1,901.84

Supplies 285,000.00 213,750.00 250,918.94 221,632.76
Services & Charges

601-494-4300-000 Professional Services-Water 100,300.00 75,225.00 94,657.09 49,045.49
601-494-4301-000 Municipal Attorney 0.00 0.00 4,137.00 1,100.00
601-494-4304-000 Municipal Engineer 25,000.00 18,750.00 14,170.82 13,540.75
601-494-4310-000 Other Consultant-Water 24,375.00 18,281.25 19,030.69 9,415.30
601-494-4321-000 Telephone-Water 5,000.00 3,750.00 2,564.39 2,607.34
601-494-4322-000 Postage-Water 5,500.00 4,125.00 2,934.53 4,142.42
601-494-4330-000 TravelTuition-Water 3,000.00 2,250.00 1,000.00 1,614.99
601-494-4340-000 Advertising-Water 10,000.00 7,500.00 3,238.07 4,045.42
601-494-4345-000 Payment Processing 9,262.00 6,946.50 6,967.61 0.00
601-494-4360-000 Insurance 11,850.00 8,887.50 16,303.00 10,111.00
601-494-4363-000 Auto Insurance 960.00 720.00 951.00 941.00
601-494-4370-000 Uniforms-Water 760.00 570.00 535.97 510.75
601-494-4381-000 Electricity-Water 90,000.00 67,500.00 76,501.90 64,468.04
601-494-4382-000 Utilities-Water 15,000.00 11,250.00 4,727.07 3,377.57
601-494-4383-000 Heat-Water 5,000.00 3,750.00 2,468.66 1,530.57

Services & Charges 306,007.00 229,505.25 250,187.80 166,450.64
Contractual Services

601-494-4410-000 Contracted Services-Water 9,258.00 6,943.50 6,368.87 9,811.88
601-494-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Water 1,000.00 750.00 637.87 1,487.00
601-494-4510-000 Purchased Assets Dep 783,605.00 587,703.75 0.00 0.00

Contractual Services 793,863.00 595,397.25 7,006.74 11,298.88
Capital Outlay

601-494-5000-000 Capital Outlay 1,765,015.00 1,323,761.25 1,049,840.91 86,928.32
Capital Outlay 1,765,015.00 1,323,761.25 1,049,840.91 86,928.32
Operating Transfers

601-494-4910-000 Operating Transfers 407,680.00 305,760.00 0.00 0.00
Operating Transfers 407,680.00 305,760.00 0.00 0.00

GL - Budget to Actual (11/09/2022 - 01:53 PM) Page 122



Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal One Year Prior
Actual

601 Water Operating 3,948,712.00 2,961,534.00 1,791,815.78 700,918.68
602 Sewer Operating

Personal Services
602-495-4101-000 Salaries - Sewer 276,285.00 207,213.75 171,346.56 154,309.46
602-495-4102-000 Overtime - Sewer 7,000.00 5,250.00 5,105.59 4,905.15
602-495-4105-000 On CallPager 5,000.00 3,750.00 -344.35 -201.22
602-495-4106-000 Temporaries - Sewer 9,900.00 7,425.00 3,610.50 5,988.62
602-495-4108-000 Wellness Program-Sewer 0.00 0.00 26.77 0.00
602-495-4121-000 PERA 21,621.00 16,215.75 13,477.73 12,610.80
602-495-4122-000 FICA 22,811.00 17,108.25 13,142.02 11,954.74
602-495-4123-000 Def Comp Employer Contribution 428.00 321.00 101.49 0.00
602-495-4131-000 Health Insurance 37,844.00 28,383.00 18,271.99 17,743.28
602-495-4133-000 Life Insurance 871.00 653.25 444.91 618.80
602-495-4134-000 Dental Insurance 2,076.00 1,557.00 1,274.12 1,284.21
602-495-4151-000 Workers Compensation 16,536.00 12,402.00 15,676.00 12,179.00

Personal Services 400,372.00 300,279.00 242,133.33 221,392.84
Supplies

602-495-4200-000 Office Supplies-Sewer 2,500.00 1,875.00 1,234.85 1,457.68
602-495-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Sewer 45,000.00 33,750.00 47,326.38 5,132.09
602-495-4212-000 Vehicle Fuel 10,000.00 7,500.00 0.00 0.00
602-495-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Sewer 2,500.00 1,875.00 3,221.87 829.00

Supplies 60,000.00 45,000.00 51,783.10 7,418.77
Services & Charges

602-495-4300-000 Professional Services-Sewer 165,300.00 123,975.00 53,463.06 58,068.90
602-495-4304-000 Municipal Engineer 25,000.00 18,750.00 11,818.06 14,556.25
602-495-4304-146 Municipal Engineer 0.00 0.00 33,858.00 0.00
602-495-4310-000 Other Consultant-Sewer 24,375.00 18,281.25 19,030.69 9,415.30
602-495-4321-000 Telephone-Sewer 1,500.00 1,125.00 1,254.56 775.97
602-495-4322-000 Postage-Sewer 5,000.00 3,750.00 2,934.52 3,879.89
602-495-4330-000 TravelTuition-Sewer 3,000.00 2,250.00 1,680.00 1,000.00
602-495-4340-000 Advertising-Sewer 500.00 375.00 0.00 381.41
602-495-4340-146 Advertising 0.00 0.00 478.93 0.00
602-495-4345-000 Payment Processing 9,262.00 6,946.50 6,967.62 0.00
602-495-4360-000 Insurance 17,540.00 13,155.00 18,454.00 17,627.00
602-495-4363-000 Auto Insurance 960.00 720.00 951.00 941.00
602-495-4370-000 Uniforms-Sewer 760.00 570.00 535.97 510.72
602-495-4381-000 Electricity-Sewer 32,000.00 24,000.00 23,875.48 21,538.07
602-495-4382-000 Utilities-Sewer 15,000.00 11,250.00 8,686.68 7,173.27
602-495-4383-000 Heat-Sewer 1,800.00 1,350.00 1,256.25 966.34

Services & Charges 301,997.00 226,497.75 185,244.82 136,834.12
Contractual Services

602-495-4405-000 MCES Sewer Charges 1,087,743.00 815,807.25 906,449.10 741,366.18
602-495-4410-000 Contracted Services-Sewer 5,758.00 4,318.50 3,629.78 8,202.54
602-495-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Sewer 1,000.00 750.00 243.09 124.37
602-495-4510-000 Purchased Assets Dep 574,323.00 430,742.25 0.00 0.00

Contractual Services 1,668,824.00 1,251,618.00 910,321.97 749,693.09
Capital Outlay

602-495-5000-000 Capital Outlay 115,015.00 86,261.25 44,139.90 57,430.12
602-495-5000-146 Capital Outlay - 2022 ESLD 0.00 0.00 158,735.51 0.00

Capital Outlay 115,015.00 86,261.25 202,875.41 57,430.12

602 Sewer Operating 2,546,208.00 1,909,656.00 1,592,358.63 1,172,768.94
603 Storm Water Operating

Personal Services
603-496-4101-000 Salaries - Storm 136,793.00 102,594.75 66,608.17 0.00
603-496-4102-000 Overtime - Storm 0.00 0.00 1,400.63 0.00
603-496-4121-000 PERA 10,259.00 7,694.25 5,100.89 0.00
603-496-4122-000 FICA 10,465.00 7,848.75 5,088.04 0.00
603-496-4123-000 Def Comp Employer Contribution 285.00 213.75 101.49 0.00
603-496-4131-000 Health Insurance 20,516.00 15,387.00 2,551.77 0.00
603-496-4133-000 Life Insurance 417.00 312.75 166.38 0.00
603-496-4134-000 Dental Insurance 944.00 708.00 269.72 0.00
603-496-4151-000 Workers Compensation 8,364.00 6,273.00 3,869.00 0.00

GL - Budget to Actual (11/09/2022 - 01:53 PM) Page 223



Account Number Description Budget YTD Budget End Bal One Year Prior
Actual

Personal Services 188,043.00 141,032.25 85,156.09 0.00
Supplies

603-496-4200-000 Office Supplies-Storm 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
603-496-4211-000 Maintenance Supplies-Storm 17,000.00 12,750.00 11,467.16 0.00
603-496-4212-000 Vehicle Fuel 4,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 0.00
603-496-4240-000 Small ToolsEquip-Storm 3,000.00 2,250.00 0.00 0.00

Supplies 24,000.00 18,000.00 11,467.16 0.00
Services & Charges

603-496-4300-000 Professional Services-Storm 7,000.00 5,250.00 0.00 0.00
603-496-4304-000 Municipal Engineer 35,000.00 26,250.00 14,500.86 0.00
603-496-4310-000 Other Consultant-Storm 8,550.00 6,412.50 6,413.49 0.00
603-496-4321-000 Telephone-Storm 350.00 262.50 12.75 0.00
603-496-4322-000 Postage-Storm 955.00 716.25 764.41 0.00
603-496-4330-000 TravelTuition-Storm 2,500.00 1,875.00 637.48 0.00
603-496-4345-000 Payment Processing 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
603-496-4360-000 Insurance 0.00 0.00 14.00 0.00
603-496-4363-000 Auto Insurance 260.00 195.00 0.00 0.00
603-496-4382-000 Utilities-Storm Water 0.00 0.00 348.31 0.00

Services & Charges 54,615.00 40,961.25 22,691.30 0.00
Contractual Services

603-496-4410-000 Contracted Services-Storm 247,255.00 185,441.25 11,454.16 0.00
603-496-4452-000 SubscriptionsDues-Storm 500.00 375.00 339.75 0.00

Contractual Services 247,755.00 185,816.25 11,793.91 0.00
Capital Outlay

603-496-5000-000 Capital Outlay 68,587.00 51,440.25 0.00 0.00
Capital Outlay 68,587.00 51,440.25 0.00 0.00

603 Storm Water Operating 583,000.00 437,250.00 131,108.46 0.00

GL - Budget to Actual (11/09/2022 - 01:53 PM) Page 324



 

 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA ITEM 1H 
 
 
STAFF ORIGINATOR: Hannah Lynch 
 
MEETING DATE:  November 14, 2022 
 
TOPIC: Consider Resolution No. 22-136, Authorizing the Certification of 

Delinquent Utility Charges for Collection with 2022 Property Taxes 
Payable in 2023 

 
VOTE REQUIRED:  3/5 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Staff annually brings before the City Council delinquent utility charges for certification to the County 
Auditor for collection with the following year property taxes.  Delinquent charges include water, 
sewer, and storm water utility fees. Effected property owners received mailed notice of this 
proceeding and have been allowed ample time to pay the delinquent charges.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends approval of Resolution No. 22-136. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Resolution No. 22-136 
2. Listing of Delinquent Utility Accounts 



 
 
 

CITY OF LINO LAKES 
RESOLUTION NO. 22-136 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CERTIFICATION OF DELINQUENT UTILITY 
CHARGES FOR COLLECTION WITH 2022 PROPERTY TAXES PAYABLE IN 2023 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to City Code Section 401.30, Section 402.14, Subd. 6, and Section 404.10 
a list of properties having delinquent water, sewer, and storm water charges has been prepared to 
be certified to the Anoka County Auditor for collection with 2022 property taxes, payable in 
2023, and 
 
WHEREAS, notice of such certification was mailed to effected property owners, and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has met to consider the certification of such delinquent utility 
charges. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Lino Lakes 
authorization of the certification of delinquent water, sewer, and storm water charges as indicated 
on the attached listing to the Anoka County Auditor to be collected with the 2022 property taxes, 
payable in 2023 at an interest rate of 5.00% per annum. 
 
Adopted by the City Council of the City of Lino Lakes this 14th day of November, 2022. 
 
The motion for the adoption of the foregoing resolution was introduced by Councilmember 
_______________and was duly seconded by Councilmember ________________ and upon vote 
being taken thereon, the following voted in favor thereof: 
 
The following voted against same: 
 
 
 

_______________________________          
Rob Rafferty, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________                                     
Julianne Bartell, City Clerk 
 

 



11/9/2022
CITY OF LINO LAKES
2022 CERTIFICATION LIST

***Certification fee and interest to be added
***

Account Customer Name PIN Property Address Mailing Address Mailing City, State, Zip Total

021776-000 ACCOUNT MEDICAL, LLC 08-31-22-14-0009 790 LOIS LN 790 LOIS LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 35.99
023273-000 ANTHONY JOSEPH FLAHERTY 19-31-22-22-0028 7108 SUNSET AVE 7108  SUNSET AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1237 38.76
023173-000 DOMINIC LEVI RAU 19-31-22-33-0022 6880 LAKEVIEW DR 6880  LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 44.85
021312-000 NOUKOU THAO & GER YANG 01-31-22-22-0003 8289 20TH AVE 8289 20TH AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
021315-000 DANIEL J ROBINSON 01-31-22-23-0002 8232 20TH AVE 8232 20TH AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
021317-000 PAO CHANG 01-31-22-24-0002 8218 20TH AVE 8218 20TH AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
021324-000 NENG YANG 01-31-22-43-0001 2295 80TH ST 2295 80TH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
021330-000 PAUL & ANNA DARDIS 02-31-22-32-0003 8134 E RONDEAU LAKE RD 8134 RONDEAU LAKE RD E LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
021333-000 MARK T & STACY L URBAN 02-31-22-33-0006 1624 E 81ST ST 1624 81ST ST E LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
021335-000 KOU & NENG HER 02-31-22-44-0005 8075 20TH AVE 928 LAKE ELMO AVE N LAKE ELMO, MN 55042 52.80
021351-000 SANDY KUCHENMEISTER & MICHELLE VINING 03-31-22-32-0007 8170 W RONDEAU LAKE RD 8170 RONDEAU LAKE RD W LINO LAKES, MN 55025 52.80
021352-000 KEVIN MADISON 03-31-22-32-0008 8150 W RONDEAU LAKE RD 8150 RONDEAU LAKE RD W LINO LAKES, MN 55025 52.80
021354-000 BRIAN & KRISTINE MAIDL 03-31-22-32-0011 8194 W RONDEAU LAKE RD 8194 RONDEAU LAKE RD W LINO LAKES, MN 55025 52.80
021358-000 STEVEN BIRKHOLZ & JILL MOE 03-31-22-33-0005 1220 W 81ST ST 1220 81ST ST W LINO LAKES, MN 55025 52.80
021359-000 STANLEY A & V M BERGERSON 03-31-22-33-0006 8082 W RONDEAU LAKE RD 8082 RONDEAU LAKE RD W LINO LAKES, MN 55025 52.80
021364-000 TODD D ANDERSON & ANNA MAE CASTLE 03-31-22-33-0011 8050 W RONDEAU LAKE RD 8050 RONDEAU LAKE RD W LINO LAKES, MN 55025 52.80
021365-000 DEANNA L REHBEIN 03-31-22-33-0012 8042 W RONDEAU LAKE RD 8042 RONDEAU LAKE RD W LINO LAKES, MN 55025 52.80
021371-000 2015-3 IH2 BORROWER LP 03-31-22-33-0018 1209 MAIN ST 1717 MAIN ST STE 2000 DALLAS, TX 75201 52.80
021375-000 TIMOTHY D & KRISTAN N TROUNCE 04-31-22-13-0002 1007 EVERGREEN TRL 10458 ASH RIVER TRL ORR, MN 55771 52.80
021383-000 JOSEPH L ROSIER & LOIS M TUCKE 04-31-22-13-0012 1030 EVERGREEN TRL 1030 EVERGREEN TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021394-000 KENNETH E II & LAURIE L HALLIN 04-31-22-21-0002 900 MAPLE ST 900 MAPLE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021402-000 TREVOR JOHNSON 04-31-22-21-0017 909 ORANGE ST 909 ORANGE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021408-000 MARK & KIMBERLY THOMAS 04-31-22-21-0074 8311 LAKE DR 8311 LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021419-000 MATTHEW & ASHLEY WINDISCH 04-31-22-22-0022 868 OLIVE ST 868 OLIVE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021421-000 JARROD BAADSGAARD & TIANNA KELLEY 04-31-22-22-0024 860 OLIVE ST 860 OLIVE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021422-000 VINCENT MONTEZ 04-31-22-22-0025 861 ORANGE ST 861 ORANGE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021423-000 JEENENG VANG & HOLLY MOUA 04-31-22-22-0028 877 ORANGE ST 877 ORANGE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021425-000 CHRISTOPHER & BEVERLY RUSS 04-31-22-22-0032 842 OLIVE ST 842 OLIVE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021429-000 KATHRYN L JOHNSON 04-31-22-22-0036 818 OLIVE ST 818 OLIVE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021432-000 ANDREW & KIMBERLY MICAELUM 04-31-22-22-0039 806 OLIVE ST 806 OLIVE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021433-000 TREVOR & TANYA GOLDBLOOM 04-31-22-22-0040 802 OLIVE ST 802 OLIVE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021435-000 NATHAN MARTIN BURGAU 04-31-22-22-0042 807 ORANGE ST 807 ORANGE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021438-000 LUCIO CASAS 04-31-22-22-0045 819 ORANGE ST 819 ORANGE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021439-000 JERRY GJERDAHL 04-31-22-22-0048 843 ORANGE ST 843 ORANGE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021447-000 STEVEN T WEINKE 04-31-22-22-0060 822 ORANGE ST 822 ORANGE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021448-000 CORY BEACH 04-31-22-22-0061 818 ORANGE ST 818 ORANGE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021460-000 MICHAEL JERECZEK 04-31-22-22-0075 884 OLIVE ST 884 OLIVE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021470-000 DOUGLAS JOSEPH MALSOM 04-31-22-23-0007 8210 DIANE ST 8210 DIANE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021472-000 MITCH FERGUSON 04-31-22-24-0001 8281 LAKE DR 8281 LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021477-000 STEPHEN K & LAURENE E WITZEL 04-31-22-24-0008 925 EVERGREEN TRL 925 EVERGREEN TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021479-000 ALEKSEY, TATYANA, VALERIY & MARIYA BURLAKOV 04-31-22-24-0010 965 EVERGREEN TRL 965 EVERGREEN TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021480-000 MARK GORDH 04-31-22-24-0011 985 EVERGREEN TRL 985 EVERGREEN TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021482-000 GREGG PLOCHOCKI 04-31-22-24-0015 990 EVERGREEN TRL 990 EVERGREEN TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021492-000 DALE A MOORE 04-31-22-32-0002 8181 LAKE DR 8181 LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021497-000 BRIANNA LAROCQUE & BRANDON MAKI 04-31-22-32-0007 8117 DIANE ST 8117 DIANE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021513-000 DARREN LEE KOHLER 04-31-22-32-0023 8117 LAKE DR 8117 LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021522-000 MARY KOHEL TRUSTEE 04-31-22-33-0016 8074 LAKE DR 8074 LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021533-000 KAREN FREDERICKSON 04-31-22-33-0031 8102 DIANE ST 8102 DIANE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021538-000 ANDREAS D & B J MATIATOS 04-31-22-34-0003 897 MAIN ST 897 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021542-000 MICHAEL & CAROLYN BERNFELD 04-31-22-34-0007 8024 ELBE ST 8024 ELBE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021543-000 JERRINE & JESSE FREDRICKSON 04-31-22-34-0008 8028 ELBE ST 8028 ELBE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021557-000 STEVEN MOSER 04-31-22-34-0022 953 W 81ST ST 953 81ST ST W LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021573-000 DONEE PAPENHEIM 05-31-22-23-0003 407 ANDALL ST PO BOX 2754 PADRE BLVD SOUTH PADRE ISLAND, TX 78597 52.80
021574-000 RICHARD S & KIMBERLY J FOSS 05-31-22-23-0004 402 ANDALL ST 402 ANDALL ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021583-000 TYLER LIVINGSTON 05-31-22-23-0014 470 ANDALL ST 470 ANDALL ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021592-000 PHILLIP CHWIALKOWSK TRUSTEE 05-31-22-23-0023 430 ANDALL ST 430 ANDALL ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80

1



Account Customer Name PIN Property Address Mailing Address Mailing City, State, Zip Total

021595-000 MICHELLE MORSE-KROLL 05-31-22-24-0004 535 ANDALL ST 535 ANDALL ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021602-000 JASON & SHELLY DONAHUE 05-31-22-24-0011 8204 WOODDUCK TRL 8204 WOODDUCK TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021611-000 MICHAEL CARPENTER 05-31-22-24-0020 8284 WOODDUCK TRL 8284 WOODDUCK TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021612-000 PHILLIP HALLSTROM 05-31-22-24-0021 620 ANDALL ST 620 ANDALL ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021650-000 CHAD D & TINA M BRUNER 05-31-22-34-0009 8056 BLUEBILL LN 8056 BLUEBILL LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021660-000 JEFFREY S & RHONDA J GREEN 05-31-22-44-0005 787 MAIN ST 787 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021672-000 CASANDRA MCCRAE 06-31-22-11-0006 340 PINE ST 340 PINE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021676-000 JASON PULCZINSKI 06-31-22-12-0001 330 PINE ST 330 PINE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021680-000 STEPHANIE FALKERS 06-31-22-21-0002 154 PINE ST 154 PINE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021681-000 JOANN E FALKERS 06-31-22-21-0003 166 PINE ST 166 PINE ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021688-000 CLARK & HEATHER ROBINSON 06-31-22-32-0002 5 MAIN ST 5 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021693-000 SIBET RENOVATIONS LLC 06-31-22-44-0009 8015 4TH AVE 21928 DURANT ST NE EAST BETHEL, MN 55011 52.80
021699-000 STEVEN & MOUA VUE 07-31-22-11-0003 350 MAIN ST 350 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021707-000 TRIPLE S ENTERPRISES LLC 07-31-22-14-0007 7801 4TH AVE 4560 FABLE HILL PKWY N HUGO, MN 55038 52.80
021720-000 JOHN F & AMY L VANBERGEN 07-31-22-33-0008 31 LILAC ST 31 LILAC ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021732-000 LAURA SCHROEDER 07-31-22-41-0005 368 CARL ST 368 CARL ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021740-000 JAMES H & BARBARA J KLEIN 07-31-22-41-0013 367 THOMAS ST 367 THOMAS ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021759-000 SANDRA L GUSTAFSON 07-31-22-44-0020 339 LILAC ST 339 LILAC ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021762-000 ERICA MORALES 08-31-22-11-0018 785 VICKY LN 785 VICKY LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021773-000 KENNETH L & GAIL M JUDD 08-31-22-13-0178 670 ARLO LN 670 ARLO LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021779-000 THOMAS & CLORISSA PETERSON 08-31-22-14-0015 765 OAK LN 765 OAK LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021791-000 TYLER & AMANDA MICHIENZI 08-31-22-22-0004 450 MAIN ST 450 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021792-000 DENNIS BABCOCK JR 08-31-22-22-0005 442 MAIN ST 442 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021795-000 KEVIN T LUGER 08-31-22-22-0008 7942 4TH AVE 7942 4TH AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021808-000 TERRI A DUFFNEY 08-31-22-23-0010 423 SHERWOOD LN 423 SHERWOOD LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021809-000 DAVID R & DARLA S JOHN 08-31-22-23-0011 7840 4TH AVE 7840 4TH AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021817-000 ANDREW PAGE 08-31-22-23-0020 7859 NOTTINGHAM LN 7859 NOTTINGHAM LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021850-000 MARK & SAMANTHA AARDAHL 08-31-22-31-0012 7779 COUNTRY LN 7779 COUNTRY LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021857-000 RYAN & HEATHER PETERSON 08-31-22-31-0019 7769 MEADOW VIEW TRL 7769 MEADOW VIEW TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021860-000 DAVID, PATRICIA & MICHAEL MILLER 08-31-22-31-0022 548 PRAIRIE VIEW PL 548 PRAIRIE VIEW PL LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021862-000 JAMES BAKER & ASHLEE OLIVEIRA 08-31-22-32-0001 7810 LOIS LN 7810 LOIS LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021866-000 STEPHANIE MOORE 08-31-22-32-0005 7779 LOIS LN 7779 LOIS LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021883-000 ROBERT HOUSH 08-31-22-41-0001 7782 LAKE DR 7782 LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021895-000 ROBERT E & DANA SEDERBERG 08-31-22-41-0019 762 OAK LN 762 OAK LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021897-000 NICHOLAS & JENNIFER EASTMAN 08-31-22-41-0021 7768 CAROLE DR 7768 CAROLE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021903-000 MARK KRAMER 08-31-22-41-0027 7708 CAROLE DR 7708 CAROLE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021905-000 PAT & STEPHANIE DEVANEY 08-31-22-41-0030 750 OAK LN 750 OAK LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021915-000 ROCHELLE MILLER 08-31-22-42-0009 7725 MARILYN DR 7725 MARILYN DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 48.00
021916-000 MARK P BUDGE 08-31-22-42-0010 7713 MARILYN DR 7713 MARILYN DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021922-000 JOHN BUSAKOWSKI 08-31-22-42-0016 640 BARBARA LN 640 BARBARA LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021923-000 RYAN LANDMEIER 08-31-22-42-0017 628 BARBARA LN 628 BARBARA LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021943-000 GENE CROTTY 09-31-22-11-0006 1174 MAIN ST 1174 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021946-000 BARRY D & MICHELLE L TRIMBLE 09-31-22-11-0015 1160 MAIN ST 4470 ROSEMARY WAY UNIT 1 HUGO, MN 55038 52.80
021947-000 ASHLEY RACUTT 09-31-22-11-0017 1204 MAIN ST 1204 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021954-000 COREY & KELLY MINER 09-31-22-13-0006 1051 OAK LN 1051 OAK LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021975-000 JAMES & LYNN DORNER 09-31-22-21-0017 940 JAMES ST 940 JAMES ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021981-000 JEROME MATIATOS 09-31-22-22-0005 874 MAIN ST 874 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021983-000 JAMES PEAKE 09-31-22-22-0007 898 MAIN ST 898 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
021992-000 QWEST CORPORATION 09-31-22-22-0023 820 JAMES ST 1025 EL DORADO BLVD BROOMFIELD, CO 80021 52.80
022010-000 LAJOS JOHN & ANITA MIHO 09-31-22-23-0021 858 LOIS LN 858 LOIS LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022016-000 MICHAEL P WEHR 09-31-22-23-0027 867 OAK LN 867 OAK LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022018-000 KAREN L BLACKBIRD 09-31-22-23-0029 855 OAK LN 855 OAK LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022021-000 SAMANTHA & JUSTIN SHANDA 09-31-22-23-0032 839 OAK LN 839 OAK LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1118 52.80
022025-000 NICHOLAS & KIRSTEN FERNSTROM 09-31-22-24-0001 907 LOIS LN 907 LOIS LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022036-000 MITCHELL WARD 09-31-22-24-0014 906 LOIS LN 906 LOIS LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022042-000 BETH & JAMES DAGASTINO 09-31-22-24-0020 7851 KNOLL DR 7851 KNOLL DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022047-000 ANDREA LUECK & CHAD PRATER 09-31-22-24-0027 917 OAK LN 917 OAK LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022067-000 COREY LUND & STEPHANIE BEACH LUND 09-31-22-32-0004 882 OAK LN 882 OAK LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022074-000 YOSYP VASYLEV 09-31-22-33-0009 826 77TH ST 826 77TH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022083-000 WANGCHOU, TOU CHER, & TANG YANG & YER LEE 11-31-22-14-0001 7905 20TH AVE 7905 20TH AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022085-000 ROSA VILLEDA 11-31-22-14-0005 7841 20TH AVE 7841 20TH AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022129-000 PETER & SALINA YANG 12-31-22-14-0002 7801 24TH AVE PO BOX 326 WYOMING, MN 55092 52.80

2



Account Customer Name PIN Property Address Mailing Address Mailing City, State, Zip Total

022133-000 RICHARD DIAZ 12-31-22-22-0002 7958 20TH AVE 498 3RD AVE NEWPORT, MN 55055 52.80
022134-000 JOHN CARTIER 12-31-22-22-0003 2088 80TH ST 2088 80TH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022135-000 HUSSEIN & MUSTAFA TAMEEMI 12-31-22-31-0002 7720 20TH AVE 7720 20TH AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022142-000 PELTIER LAKE LLC 14-31-22-13-0002 7482 PELTIER LAKE DR 7482 PELTIER LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022169-000 LARRY A & C D STROMBERG 18-31-22-21-0007 7599 PATTI DR 7599 PATTI DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022208-000 TOM BUI 18-31-22-23-0009 7404 SUNSET AVE 7056 SUNSET AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022218-000 JASON PEDERSON 18-31-22-24-0003 7482 PATTI DR 7481 PATTI DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022225-000 SUSAN BUCCI & ANTONIO RODRIGUEZ 18-31-22-24-0012 7465 PATTI DR 7465 PATTI DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022232-000 ALAN LOOSBROCK 18-31-22-24-0019 148 CONNIE LN 148 CONNIE LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 48.00
022247-000 DAVID & KATHLEEN FLOREK 18-31-22-31-0003 141 MARVY ST 141 MARVY ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022248-000 CHRISTOPHER & LINDA KOLAR 18-31-22-31-0004 159 MARVY ST 159 MARVY ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022255-000 THOMAS J MADSEN 18-31-22-31-0017 179 MARVY ST 179 MARVY ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022262-000 LEAH ELLIOTT 18-31-22-32-0006 7392 LEONARD AVE 7392 LEONARD AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022268-000 MELISSA CARLSON 18-31-22-32-0014 46 MARVY ST 46 MARVY ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022301-000 MATTHEW HORTON 19-31-22-13-0001 7032 RICE LAKE CT 1612 W CRONE AVE ANAHEIM, CA 92802 52.80
022310-000 ADAM & KELLI HERVEY 19-31-22-13-0049 7072 RICE LAKE LN 7072 RICE LAKE LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022315-000 PAUL R FLOREK 19-31-22-22-0003 7164 LAKEVIEW DR 7164 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022318-000 MICHAEL NELSON 19-31-22-22-0006 7140 LAKEVIEW DR 7140 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022335-000 SHARON K BURNQUIST 19-31-22-22-0037 7165 LAKEVIEW DR 7165 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022336-000 MUKESH & SHANTELLE DHARAM 19-31-22-22-0038 7173 LAKEVIEW DR 7173 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022339-000 ROBERT E VEHE & CHERYL DIAL 19-31-22-23-0009 31 GLADSTONE DR 31 GLADSTONE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022344-000 DUSTIN RADZIEJ 19-31-22-23-0017 7057 LAKEVIEW DR 7057 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022346-000 DEREK & MARK WRICH 19-31-22-23-0019 7073 LAKEVIEW DR 7073 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022348-000 JOHN R WEISS 19-31-22-23-0021 7080 LAKEVIEW DR 7080 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022355-000 SARAH MACKAY & JASON POTTS 19-31-22-23-0029 7016 LAKEVIEW DR 7016 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022365-000 JOHN WOLNEY 19-31-22-32-0005 6956 LAKEVIEW DR 6956 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022369-000 MARY T KONU 19-31-22-32-0009 6924 LAKEVIEW DR 6924 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022376-000 ANGEL & XIMENA PACHECO-OREA 19-31-22-32-0016 6941 SUNRISE DR 6941 SUNRISE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022389-000 REBECCA COUILLARD & RANDY QUIMBY 19-31-22-32-0039 6949 LAKEVIEW DR 6949 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022395-000 NATHAN MCGINN 19-31-22-33-0001 6880 SUNSET AVE 6880 SUNSET AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022399-000 JOSEPH & JENNIFER WOLD 19-31-22-33-0016 6833 LAKEVIEW DR 6833 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022402-000 MASON WOMACK 19-31-22-33-0019 6857 LAKEVIEW DR 6857 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022403-000 STEVEN & ROCHELLE WISDORF 19-31-22-33-0020 6865 LAKEVIEW DR 6865 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022406-000 ROBERT L & SHARON R HALE 19-31-22-33-0023 6872 LAKEVIEW DR 6872 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022412-000 EINAR G LAITALA 19-31-22-33-0029 6824 LAKEVIEW DR 6824 LAKEVIEW DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022416-000 CHRISTOPHER & LESLIE ERICKSON 19-31-22-33-0038 6857 SUNRISE DR 6857 SUNRISE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022417-000 RONALD J NAGY 19-31-22-33-0039 6865 SUNRISE DR 6865 SUNRISE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022419-000 SARAH WILLETT 19-31-22-33-0047 6873 SUNRISE DR 6873 SUNRISE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022422-000 HEATHER E & JASON E T ANDERSON 19-31-22-34-0005 6872 SUNRISE DR 6872 SUNRISE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022463-000 2015-3 IH2 BORROWER LP 21-31-22-23-0006 7015 W SHADOW LK DR 1717 MAIN ST STE 2000 DALLAS, TX 75201 52.80
022484-000 DEBRA CROUCH 25-31-22-14-0003 6609 24TH AVE 15692 FAIROAKS AVE N HUGO, MN 55038 52.80
022494-000 MARY & ROLLO STRAND TRUSTEE 25-31-22-23-0002 6620 20TH AVE 1801 77TH ST E LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022503-000 JOSHUA & SHANNON HENRIKSEN 25-31-22-33-0011 2057 64TH ST 2057 64TH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022531-000 JOSEPH HOULE 27-31-22-23-0002 1221 BIRCH ST PO BOX 162 HUGO, MN 55038 52.80
022535-000 DONALD & CYNTHIA CASANOVA 27-31-22-31-0004 6514 JOYER LN 6514 JOYER LN LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022539-000 AARON & NICOLE DEMOTTS 27-31-22-31-0008 6594 JOYER LN 6594 JOYER LN LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022559-000 SHARI HONEYCUTT 27-31-22-42-0006 6564 GAAGE LN 6564 GAAGE LN LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022568-000 LYNN M & KAY J ZWIERS 27-31-22-43-0010 6432 KARTH RD 6432 KARTH RD LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022573-000 JEREMY LARSON 28-31-22-14-0004 1199 BIRCH ST 855 ASH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55126 52.80
022588-000 DAVID AUBIN & JENNIFER KENNEY 28-31-22-32-0014 889 OLD BIRCH ST 889 OLD BIRCH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022593-000 COMCAST 28-31-22-33-0013 876 OLD BIRCH ST ONE COMCAST CENTER-32ND FLOOR PHILADELPHIA, PA 19103 52.80
022594-000 HPA BORROWER 2018-1 ML LLC 28-31-22-42-0002 1034 BIRCH ST 120 S RIVERSIDE PLZ STE 2000 CHICAGO, IL 60606 52.80
022619-000 MATTHEW SIGRIST 30-31-22-43-0004 6433 HODGSON RD 6433 HODGSON RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022620-000 DANIEL HUDSON 30-31-22-43-0005 6445 HODGSON RD 6445 HODGSON RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022652-000 SUMMIT COMMONS LLC 31-31-22-13-0015 6297 HODGSON RD 6770 STILLWATER BLVD N STE 110 STILLWATER, MN 55082 52.80
022653-000 ARTHUR E THOM INC 31-31-22-13-0018 6241 HODGSON RD PO BOX 4158 ST. PAUL, MN 55104 52.80
022672-000 FRANCIS & JULIE CROWLEY 31-31-22-33-0004 75 ASH ST 1769 SNELLING AVE N ST. PAUL, MN 55113 52.80
022681-000 SANDRA J THILL 31-31-22-33-0019 6030 BALDWIN LAKE RD 6030 BALDWIN LAKE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022701-000 DAVID & KELSEY SCHREINER 31-31-22-42-0011 6165 OAKWOOD DR 6432 FAWN LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022708-000 PATRICK ROSENTHAL 31-31-22-42-0018 288 ROHAVIC LN 288 ROHAVIC LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022725-000 SUSANNE HUGHES 31-31-22-44-0011 6065 WARE RD 6065 WARE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022749-000 CARRIE MEIS 32-31-22-14-0023 6292 RED MAPLE LN 6292 RED MAPLE LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80

3



Account Customer Name PIN Property Address Mailing Address Mailing City, State, Zip Total

022762-000 RICHARD WILLIAMS 32-31-22-32-0003 498 62ND ST 498 62ND ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022763-000 STEVEN L & E K WEISNER 32-31-22-32-0004 430 62ND ST 430 62ND ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022767-000 JACOB MELQUIST 32-31-22-32-0009 420 62ND ST 420 62ND ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014 52.80
022771-000 ROSE STEWART & JAMES METROS 32-31-22-33-0004 435 ASH ST 435 ASH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55126 52.80
022775-000 MARGO POLTA 32-31-22-34-0007 575 ASH ST 575 ASH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55126 52.80
022794-000 CHRISTOPHER RYAN & SARAH KARALUS 33-31-22-31-0004 6201 HOLLY DR 6201 HOLLY DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022797-000 JEREMY & AMY LARSON 33-31-22-33-0009 855 ASH ST 855 ASH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55126 52.80
022821-000 JERRY WOODSTROM 34-31-22-41-0001 1591 ASH ST 1591 ASH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022829-000 WILLIAM SHEAREN 34-31-22-43-0013 1458 ASH ST 1458 ASH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022830-000 BRANDON & SANDRA PRIOR 35-31-22-11-0004 6351 20TH AVE 6351 20TH AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022840-000 KYLE & MARIE KRAEMER 35-31-22-14-0001 2008 OTTER LAKE DR 2008 OTTER LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022863-000 ALEC BIRCHER 35-31-22-32-0008 1613 ASH ST 1613 ASH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022864-000 SCOTT & JENNIFER KASTEN 35-31-22-32-0009 6151 CENTERVILLE RD 6151 CENTERVILLE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55038 52.80
022874-000 KURT N & LOIS E SPETEN 35-31-22-41-0009 6230 OTTER LAKE RD 6230 OTTER LAKE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022885-000 ROBERT & KARA JANSSEN 36-31-22-13-0008 2236 REILING RD 2236 REILING RD LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022914-000 PATRICK & JODI MOORE 36-31-22-22-0004 6398 OTTER LAKE RD 6398 OTTER LAKE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022916-000 MICHAEL GORDON SMITH 36-31-22-22-0006 6382 OTTER LAKE RD 6382 OTTER LAKE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022925-000 MURY JOHNSON 36-31-22-23-0009 6334 OTTER LAKE RD 6334 OTTER LAKE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022943-000 TYLER SAFRANEK & JORDAN HAIGHT 36-31-22-34-0017 2197 ASH ST 2197 ASH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022946-000 MAJID & HODA ZIA 36-31-22-34-0021 6042 N SARGENT CT 6042 SARGENT CT N LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022947-000 MATTHEW & TINA CLEARY 36-31-22-34-0022 6046 N SARGENT CT 6046 SARGENT CT N LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022964-000 TODD & ERIN BURSCH 36-31-22-41-0009 6175 WOODCHUCK CIR 289 5TH ST E UNIT 610 ST. PAUL, MN 55101 52.80
022981-000 ROLF D & SANDRA G IVERSON 36-31-22-43-0005 2215 FOXTAIL CT 2215 FOXTAIL CT LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022982-000 JOHN VOJTECH 36-31-22-43-0006 2205 FOXTAIL CT 2205 FOXTAIL CT LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
022997-000 STEVEN R & CHARLOTTE S LARSEN 36-31-22-43-0021 6048 FOXTAIL DR 6048 FOXTAIL DR LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
023004-000 JOHN E KULAS 36-31-22-44-0004 6110 W BALD EAGLE BLVD 6110 BALD EAGLE BLVD W LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
023013-000 MATHEW & HOLLY AVE'LALLEMANT 36-31-22-44-0014 6091 WOODCHUCK CIR 6091 WOODCHUCK CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
023018-000 RAINER LINK 36-31-22-44-0019 6107 W BALD EAGLE BLVD 6107 BALD EAGLE BLVD W LINO LAKES, MN 55110 52.80
011022-000 SHANE R ERICKSON 29-31-22-33-0021 6482 HOKAH DR 6482 HOKAH DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1424 71.13
023344-000 TENG ZHANG & LEE VANG 30-31-22-44-0151 395 OJIBWAY PATH 395  OJIBWAY PATH LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7007 81.00
006357-000 MICHAEL CLOUTIER 08-31-22-24-0038 595 LOIS LN 595 LOIS LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1069 98.21
020141-000 MARTA BOKA 17-31-22-12-0088 691 VILLAGE DR 691  VILLAGE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5000 98.21
020288-000 LUCAS UNDERDAHL 07-31-22-31-0034 7778 ARABIAN CIR 7778  ARABIAN CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7003 98.21
022481-000 NORTHERN STATES POWER CO 24-31-22-41-0004 0 414 NICOLLET MALL MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55402 98.97
019157-000 KATHRYN ANDERSON 32-31-22-11-0057 6396 DEERWOOD LN 6396  DEERWOOD LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5427 102.47
008740-000 KARYN ELSE 20-31-22-22-0155 505 AQUA CIR 505 AQUA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2717 102.47
018585-000 ILDIKO MCCLOSKEY-LINI 07-31-22-24-0103 162 SHETLAND LN 162  SHETLAND LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5516 102.47
019406-000 JORDAN CASPER 20-31-22-22-0132 532 AQUA CIR 532  AQUA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2717 103.68
006328-000 NEIL KRENZ 07-31-22-24-0129 7874 CENTURY TRL 7874 CENTURY TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7015 104.61
018177-000 JAKE & JENNA SORNSEN 29-31-22-44-0049 771 DEERWOOD CIR 771  DEERWOOD CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5433 108.88
023356-000 KEVIN G & ABBY M PULLMAN 19-31-22-24-0049 136 GREEN BRIAR DR 3428 168TH AVE NE HAM LAKE, MN 55304 109.06
007430-000 ROBIN DUNBAR 19-31-22-31-0041 6922 GLENVIEW LN 6922 GLENVIEW LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1297 110.09
017471-000 CARLY NELSON 18-31-22-43-0007 221 ELM ST 221  ELM ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1270 110.09
006718-000 DARLENE NEWMAN 18-31-22-34-0046 7299 SAVANNA CT 7299 SAVANNA CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1198 111.01
008354-000 YVONNE R MCCLURE 19-31-22-23-0012 7028 SUNSET AVE 7028 SUNSET AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1220 111.01
008862-000 LYNDA BANTA 20-31-22-22-0116 541 AQUA CIR 541 AQUA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2717 111.01
006591-000 DANIEL ALTMAN 08-31-22-13-0131 7885 OAK CT 7885 OAK CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5504 111.30
023292-000 ANDREW NESS & KRISTIN SLAUGHTER 19-31-22-13-0008 7065 RICE LAKE LN 7065  RICE LAKE LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1215 114.57
008271-000 AMY WEBB & THEUNIS CROUZER 19-31-22-21-0050 7132 SUNRISE DR 7132 SUNRISE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1274 115.28
020982-000 JAIME KUDAK 08-31-22-13-0074 664 LOIS LN 664  LOIS LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5498 115.28
020989-000 S A M PROPERTIES OF LINO LAKES LLC 09-31-22-22-0011 7997 LAKE DR 1990 MAIN ST CENTERVILLE, MN 55038 117.16
007072-000 ADAM & ANGELA PETERSON 07-31-22-24-0095 169 SHETLAND LN 169 SHETLAND LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5516 117.70
019236-000 TRACY N SULLIVAN 17-31-22-12-0138 674 TOWN CENTER PKWY 674  TOWN CENTER PKWY LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1182 118.23
020395-000 JENNIFER & ROMAINE POGREBA 08-31-22-13-0166 7815 OAK CT 7815  OAK CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5504 120.12
007951-000 JOSEPH & MICHELLE NELSON 17-31-22-33-0026 461 POST RD 461 POST RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1997 125.60
008753-000 DAWN & ALEX ONCHANGU 20-31-22-22-0159 509 AQUA CIR 509 AQUA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2717 127.09
005703-000 ERIC & LYNETTE ENGELBRETSON 08-31-22-14-0040 712 79TH ST 712 79TH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1161 130.50
016177-000 KEDIR KURFESSA 07-31-22-24-0066 178 STALLION LN 178  STALLION LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7016 132.92
011126-000 DARREN MICHAEL & SARAH KRISTIN OLSON 29-31-22-43-0012 6489 KINGFISHER CT 6489 KINGFISHER CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1954 133.85
020866-000 VICTOR M HERNANDEZ LOZADA 08-31-22-21-0015 523 HENRY LN 523  HENRY LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2460 138.36
020130-000 CYNTHIA NICKELSON 20-31-22-22-0108 558 AQUA CIR 558  AQUA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2715 144.45
007040-000 NANCY A & WILLIAM L STEPHAN 07-31-22-24-0098 153 SHETLAND LN 7000 EAGLE TRL CENTERVILLE, MN 55038 147.65

4



Account Customer Name PIN Property Address Mailing Address Mailing City, State, Zip Total

020772-000 BENJAMIN THOMAS & KIRSTI MARIE MAUTHE 30-31-22-41-0029 358 SIOUX CT 358  SIOUX CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2429 147.90
023102-000 DANIEL SALO 18-31-22-34-0041 7287 SAVANNA CT 4800 EXCELSIOR BLVD APT 500 MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55416 151.58
010296-000 MARK DEBRAAL 29-31-22-34-0046 569 ARROWHEAD DR 569 ARROWHEAD DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1486 176.80
019402-000 JOHN & JENNIFER PARENTEAU 29-31-22-33-0071 450 ARROWHEAD DR 450  ARROWHEAD DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1402 181.95
023330-000 TRACY KAPLAN 13-31-22-34-0199 7252 FALL DR 7252  FALL DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4693 187.22
011481-000 WENDY LYNN MORRISETTE 29-31-22-33-0006 6474 TOTEM TRL 6474 TOTEM TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1410 198.65
010293-000 AMANDA L NYGAARD 29-31-22-34-0061 564 ARROWHEAD CT 564 ARROWHEAD CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1487 200.60
008413-000 JENNIFER THORSTAD & IAN NASH 19-31-22-24-0076 184 ULMER DR 184 ULMER DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1200 212.15
018613-000 DONALD S SYBRANDT 29-31-22-43-0022 6499 W SHADOW LAKE DR 6499  W SHADOW LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1982 215.62
011989-000 MARK & DEANNA KUHNS 28-31-22-42-0007 6599 BLACK DUCK DR S 6599 BLACK DUCK DR S LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5404 217.82
005302-000 DANIEL J DEYO 09-31-22-22-0047 820 KELLY ST 820 KELLY ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2478 223.10
008050-000 TRENT & CATHERINE LANDIS 19-31-22-21-0075 191 SMOKETREE LN 191 SMOKETREE LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-3211 123.28
019113-000 KLI PROPERTIES LLC 30-31-22-44-0113 6454 LAKOTA TRL 12421 UPLANDER ST NW COON RAPIDS, MN 55448-2688 231.60
006847-000 THOMAS E JR & JENNIFER NIEMAN 07-31-22-32-0021 5 PALOMINO LN 5 PALOMINO LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2916 243.91
019938-000 MICHAEL KIMMEL 29-31-22-33-0016 432 BIRCH ST 432  BIRCH ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1377 247.90
021040-000 NICHOLAS HUBERS 07-31-22-24-0169 154 MORGAN LN 5200 34TH AVE S MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55417 253.75
012605-000 ALLISON J FRASIER 33-31-22-11-0039 1120 HUDSON TRL 1120 HUDSON TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55038-9139 254.97
020031-000 SARA MILLER 20-31-22-22-0137 512 AQUA CIR 512  AQUA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2717 258.03
008697-000 MELISSA A COSENTINO & KENNETH G & MARY K DUFRESNE 20-31-22-22-0083 474 AQUA CIR 474 AQUA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2714 260.30
020153-000 PETER CHRISTIANS 19-31-22-33-0012 51 NORTH RD 51  NORTH RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1225 260.49
009967-000 THOMAS M & BRANDY M FAST 31-31-22-32-0029 124 WHITE PINE RD 124 WHITE PINE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5472 261.32
011791-000 CHRIS REFF & KELLY WEHNER 28-31-22-13-0134 1050 BLACK DUCK CT 1050 BLACK DUCK CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1380 269.35
010281-000 MICHAEL J WELSH 29-31-22-34-0070 548 ARROWHEAD DR 548 ARROWHEAD DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1451 269.40
013317-000 WILLIAM G & LISA M OLINGER 27-31-22-32-0067 6490 WHITE OAK RD 6490 WHITE OAK RD LINO LAKES, MN 55038-9623 272.06
010980-000 MICHAEL J & JENNIFER A RESCH 32-31-22-21-0014 585 HAWTHORN RD 585 HAWTHORN RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1972 275.05
006074-000 LAURA HARRINGTON 08-31-22-12-0079 658 HIGHLAND TRL 658 HIGHLAND TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2447 276.94
006824-000 JOSEPH SOCKEL 07-31-22-32-0033 7701 MUSTANG LN 7701 MUSTANG LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-9403 127.45
019095-000 NICHOLAS HUBERS 07-31-22-24-0183 7872 GOTLAND LN 5200 34TH AVE S MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55417 277.79
013742-000 JONATHAN A & KIMBERLY M RASCH 25-31-22-42-0056 6531 CLEARWATER CRK DR 6531 CLEARWATER CREEK DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7717 278.47
008447-000 CHRISTOPHER & CYNTHIA LEMIRE 19-31-22-11-0038 7144 WHIPPOORWILL LN 7144 WHIPPOORWILL LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1945 282.60
016292-000 JULIE SCHUMACHER 30-31-22-44-0060 6415 OJIBWAY PATH 6415  OJIBWAY PATH LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7008 286.51
018785-000 TRISTAN PROZA 19-31-22-24-0057 188 GREEN BRIAR DR 188  GREEN BRIAR DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1259 289.03
012734-000 PATRICK T & JODY A LARSON 27-31-22-24-0006 1376 PHEASANT HILLS DR 1376 PHEASANT HILLS DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-9637 251.19
015881-000 THOMAS R OLSON 08-31-22-11-0004 740 MAIN ST 740  MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5922 303.13
007496-000 GINA RADECK 19-31-22-11-0013 7158 GRAY HERON DR 7158 GRAY HERON DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1946 128.36
006067-000 NICHOLAS & JENNIFER PALMER 08-31-22-12-0082 634 HIGHLAND TRL 634 HIGHLAND TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2447 144.46
012564-000 TODD & JULIE PEHRSON 33-31-22-12-0021 6350 CRIPPLE CREEK CT 6350 CRIPPLE CREEK CT LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4602 314.24
011381-000 JAMES P MAROLT 32-31-22-12-0027 615 RIVER BIRCH PL 615 RIVER BIRCH PL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1952 314.76
012171-000 LONNIE ANDERSON 28-31-22-13-0044 1031 LANTERN CIR 1031 LANTERN CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1323 324.63
020584-000 BRADLEY SCOTT & ABBY LOUISE HAUGEN 13-31-22-32-0004 2039 DIAMOND LN 2039  DIAMOND LN LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4702 325.98
021978-000 DOUGLAS ELLIMAN-BEITLER 09-31-22-22-0001 7984 LAKE DR PO BOX 460169 HOUSTON, TX 77056 332.90
020612-000 DAVID ENYART & SAMANTHA HOY 27-31-22-32-0049 1223 BUCKTHORN LN 1223  BUCKTHORN LN LINO LAKES, MN 55038-9622 334.28
018870-000 JOSEPH & LAURA LOFGREN 32-31-22-11-0013 6404 DEERWOOD LN 6404  DEERWOOD LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5427 347.72
009429-000 DEREK & MICHELLE RILEY 30-31-22-44-0120 6472 LAKOTA TRL 6472 LAKOTA TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7006 351.65
016289-000 ANTONIA M & BLAKE C E PATRAW 20-31-22-22-0105 555 AQUA CIR 555  AQUA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2715 129.41
018253-000 ALICIA MARIE CARLSON 18-31-22-33-0020 7294 MEADOW CT 7294  MEADOW CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1166 216.02
019125-000 JEFFREY MICHAEL FRID 25-31-22-23-0045 2051 CYPRESS ST 2051  CYPRESS ST LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4101 60.66
010216-000 NATHANIEL & WEISS A G TRUSTY 29-31-22-34-0058 570 ARROWHEAD CT 570 ARROWHEAD CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1487 365.60
011070-000 BRUCE H MILLER 29-31-22-32-0029 6598 HOKAH DR 6598 HOKAH DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1343 365.60
011363-000 RICHARD L & R M SINGERHOUSE 29-31-22-33-0028 6401 RICE CT 6401 RICE CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1408 365.60
011451-000 CHONGTOUA X & BAO H YANG 29-31-22-33-0057 6466 WARE RD 6466 WARE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1443 365.60
011509-000 KATHERINE E HAEGELE 32-31-22-22-0007 6352 WARE RD 6352 WARE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1416 365.60
016037-000 NATHAN R KOCH 29-31-22-34-0063 502 ARROWHEAD DR 502  ARROWHEAD DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1451 365.60
018399-000 RYAN DOOLEY 31-31-22-14-0003 6289 WARE RD 6289  WARE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1417 365.60
020266-000 CHAD R & CYNTHIA L FISKEWOLD 29-31-22-33-0056 6474 WARE RD 6474  WARE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1443 365.60
021102-000 BENJAMIN WOEHRLE 28-31-22-13-0055 1036 LANTERN LN 1036  LANTERN LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1335 368.26
020501-000 MARK LYKE & JULIE DOGHERTY 13-31-22-34-0018 7280 WATERMARK WAY 7280  WATERMARK WAY LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4694 386.97
012033-000 AMBER L & RONNIE J EMLY 28-31-22-24-0020 6666 E SHADOW LAKE DR 6666 E SHADOW LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1351 393.11
008160-000 DONNA CORDOVA 17-31-22-34-0012 7262 STAGECOACH TRL 7262 STAGECOACH TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1988 406.31
006850-000 JAMES M, JAMES A, & PATRICIA MCGOWAN & SARA DESMIDT 07-31-22-32-0022 13 PALOMINO LN 13 PALOMINO LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2916 407.89
018463-000 DEVON LUND 08-31-22-11-0029 719 VICKY LN 719  VICKY LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1122 411.71
008231-000 SUSAN L & PEGGY LYNN VANHESE 19-31-22-23-0035 7033 SUNRISE DR 7033 SUNRISE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1218 415.13

5



Account Customer Name PIN Property Address Mailing Address Mailing City, State, Zip Total

015291-000 TYANNA T GRANER 27-31-22-32-0009 1263 CHOKECHERRY RD 1263  CHOKECHERRY RD LINO LAKES, MN 55038-9106 419.20
012617-000 BRENT J & MELISSA WILLENBRING 27-31-22-12-0046 6703 MEADOWLARK CT 6703 MEADOWLARK CT LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4618 301.99
012641-000 ANDREW J & LAURA K MOLDENHAUER 27-31-22-14-0029 1556 MERGANSER CT 1556 MERGANSER CT LINO LAKES, MN 55038-9629 425.46
007554-000 BRETT A & JILL C LITTLEFIELD 19-31-22-24-0043 167 GREEN BRIAR DR 167 GREEN BRIAR DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1283 427.89
009825-000  WILLIAM H II & ANGELA K RICE 30-31-22-41-0031 350 SIOUX CT 350 SIOUX CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2429 431.91
017249-000 CHRISTOPHER JON & STACY ANN ORLETT 25-31-22-23-0054 1949 ROSEWOOD ST 1949  ROSEWOOD ST LINO LAKES, MN 55038-2100 432.66
016633-000 JASON ROBERT JOHNSON & CAROLYN MARIE EBERLEY JOHNSON 25-31-22-12-0014 6780 CLEARWATER CRK DR 6780  CLEARWATER CRK DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7706 169.86
006523-000 NICHOLAS A PERRY 08-31-22-13-0177 7805 OAK CT 7805 OAK CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5504 439.56
009394-000 GREGORY J  THOMPSON & LAURIE A MEANS 30-31-22-44-0126 6478 LAKOTA TRL 6478 LAKOTA TRL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7006 442.90
023233-000 KELSEY & CHARITY ALABO 13-31-22-31-0037 2129 ITASCA CIR 2129  ITASCA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-6504 446.40
005979-000 ELISABETH M & YORK C MAGEE 08-31-22-12-0022 7907 HIGHLAND DR 7907 HIGHLAND DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2456 193.70
016232-000 THOMAS DEGLMANN 19-31-22-31-0026 6969 GLENVIEW LN 6969  GLENVIEW LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1296 459.58
011529-000 JEREMIAH D & HANNELORE DAME 29-31-22-33-0053 6498 WARE RD 6498 WARE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1443 464.00
017726-000 KAO LEE VANG & KOU MOUA 17-31-22-12-0089 693 VILLAGE DR 693  VILLAGE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5000 465.60
019738-000 SAMUEL LEVI NYBERG 18-31-22-43-0021 231 ELM ST 231  ELM ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1270 470.26
016077-000 SHANNON J & STEVEN T MUNGER 07-31-22-24-0114 193 MORGAN LN 193  MORGAN LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5513 477.73
014353-000 ANDREA L LEMON 25-31-22-42-0090 2306 DELINA CIR 2306 DELINA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4422 478.99
010994-000 LISA M MAGILL 29-31-22-43-0016 660 HICKORY PL 660 HICKORY PL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1955 486.01
012002-000 ERIC B JOHNSON & DEBORAH J MAXSON 28-31-22-24-0095 6602 E SHADOW LAKE CT 6602 E SHADOW LAKE CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1372 490.12
007079-000 GINA LYNN KAUR & JITENDRAPAL S KUNDAN 07-31-22-24-0106 174 SHETLAND LN 174 SHETLAND LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5516 493.13
018683-000 WILLIAM R VOSS 08-31-22-41-0032 7774 LAKE DR 7774  LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1138 493.49
020956-000 JENNIFER YAMADA & SUSAN YAMADA-HORGREN 21-31-22-23-0009 7033 W SHADOW LK DR 7033  W SHADOW LK DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1930 493.66
014546-000 RYAN J TASCHUK 17-31-22-33-0025 467 POST RD 467  POST RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1997 501.82
020825-000 LLOYD & KIMBERLY ZEPEDA 13-31-22-31-0022 2122 ITASCA CIR 2122  ITASCA CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-6504 513.62
012276-000 BARBARA B RYCHLEY 28-31-22-12-0040 6735 PARTRIDGE PL 6735 PARTRIDGE PL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1324 519.05
020056-000 KATHRYN MONAGHAN & ERIC DOCHNIAK 13-31-22-33-0010 7286 GENEVA CT 7286  GENEVA CT LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4699 520.19
020751-000 MEGAN MOUSER 19-31-22-24-0130 7041 ANTELOPE DR 7041  ANTELOPE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1288 123.62
007420-000 SEAN MURPHY & JANELLE KRUMM 19-31-22-31-0016 6909 GLENVIEW LN 6909 GLENVIEW LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1296 524.56
020028-000 JAMES FREPPERT & ELIZABETH GOWAN 30-31-22-44-0129 353 OJIBWAY PATH 353  OJIBWAY PATH LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7007 526.27
007281-000 JOHN R & MARGARET A RAPHEAL 19-31-22-12-0047 7148 2ND AVE 5275 W BALD EAGLE BLVD ST. PAUL, MN 55110-6531 528.14
018982-000 SHANNON M SHAUGHNESSY 19-31-22-12-0003 210 ELM ST 210  ELM ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1273 537.10
016172-000 JEREMY & KRISTIN SAMPSON 19-31-22-24-0037 123 GREEN BRIAR DR 123  GREEN BRIAR DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1283 537.38
019315-000 AKEEM ABELLA AKWAY 17-31-22-12-0139 676 TOWN CENTER PKWY 676  TOWN CENTER PKWY LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1182 540.17
007881-000 NATALIE L PATRICK 19-31-22-21-0026 7180 MOURNING DOVE RD 7180 MOURNING DOVE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-3203 540.53
006199-000 ROGER D & LEEA K HARRIS 08-31-22-21-0076 533 ARLO LN 533 ARLO LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5509 542.50
007992-000 KRISTEN M CAMPOS 19-31-22-21-0092 185 RED CLOVER LN 185 RED CLOVER LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2313 543.81
007475-000 DAVID E & KATRINA E DICKSON 19-31-22-11-0034 7135 GRAY HERON DR 7135 GRAY HERON DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1949 552.26
017845-000 MARY LOR & TOU B XIONG 28-31-22-13-0113 6633 BLACK DUCK DR 6633  BLACK DUCK DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1320 559.78
007200-000 JEREMY T & JESTINA RAINER 08-31-22-11-0008 790 MAIN ST 790 MAIN ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2150 567.15
015509-000 JUSTON M & BROOKE D ANDERSON 25-31-22-42-0015 6567 CLEARWATER CRK DR 6567  CLEARWATER CRK DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7717 570.15
014251-000 MICHAEL W & SUZANNE J PARIS 25-31-22-42-0032 6587 LACASSE DR 6587 LACASSE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7721 72.17
020959-000 KOR LEE 07-31-22-34-0050 113 MUSTANG CT 113  MUSTANG CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-9401 572.86
022159-000 BLAZINA PROPERTIES LLC 17-31-22-32-0002 7337 LAKE DR 7337 LAKE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014 575.83
015370-000 DAVID F & MELISSA D BORELL 18-31-22-33-0035 7299 TERRA CT 7299 TERRA CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1175 580.67
008488-000 KEVIN T HERTZ 19-31-22-24-0084 163 WILD FLOWER DR 163 WILD FLOWER DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1285 587.81
012015-000 DENISE A MILBRADT & D T PALMER 28-31-22-24-0086 6601 E SHADOW LAKE CT 6601 E SHADOW LAKE CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1372 590.68
014733-000 SEAN SCHILTZ 19-31-22-24-0033 7084 SUNRISE DR 7084  SUNRISE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1291 596.78
016591-000 KRISTIN A & DANIEL PRICE 19-31-22-11-0095 7192 CINNAMON TEAL CT 7192  CINNAMON TEAL CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1943 604.81
020946-000 MAYLA YANG 13-31-22-32-0041 2000 DIAMOND LN 2000  DIAMOND LN LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4702 609.13
005580-000 JENNIFER ANN BRINKWORTH 07-31-22-42-0036 227 PALOMINO LN 227 PALOMINO LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2906 613.15
009936-000 MARTIN LR & TIFFANY LT CAVEGN 30-31-22-41-0041 6534 WARE RD 6534 WARE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1404 632.86
007589-000 WILLIAM & SHANDA KANOWITZ 19-31-22-21-0097 7109 GREY SQUIRREL RD 7109 GREY SQUIRREL RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-3207 650.96
016527-000 PAMELA WATHUM OCAMA-WREH & OWEGIO WREH 25-31-22-43-0010 6414 LANGER LN 6414  LANGER LN LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7734 195.42
010001-000 ROBERT R & C A ANDERSON 31-31-22-31-0053 182 WHITE PINE RD 182 WHITE PINE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5449 654.60
020247-000 NICHOLAS JOHN HERN & REBECCA LYNN HERN HAINLEN 13-31-22-32-0027 7299 GENEVA CT 7299  GENEVA CT LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4699 668.94
020139-000 JOHN M & BRIANNA L MALACHESEN 21-31-22-43-0010 1053 MALLARD LN 1053  MALLARD LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1326 679.39
006010-000 BRIAN RINGLER & LAURA CONLEY 08-31-22-12-0037 7939 HIGHLAND DR 7939 HIGHLAND DR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2453 683.75
007037-000 JAMES HOFFOSS 07-31-22-24-0100 150 SHETLAND LN 150 SHETLAND LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5516 688.45
007687-000 JACOB STROHMAYER 19-31-22-11-0132 7178 IVY RIDGE CT 7178 IVY RIDGE CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2700 703.87
020838-000 HECTOR RANGEL 25-31-22-12-0016 6770 CLEARWATER CRK DR 6770  CLEARWATER CRK DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7706 708.92
017459-000 ANTHONY M & LISA S LANDUCCI 25-31-22-13-0041 6620 TELE LN 6620  TELE LN LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7720 719.77
018664-000 KENNETH S JOHNSON 19-31-22-12-0071 7135 SNOW OWL LN 7135  SNOW OWL LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1989 747.30

6



Account Customer Name PIN Property Address Mailing Address Mailing City, State, Zip Total

005595-000 JOHN R & KELLI A HOFMANN 07-31-22-43-0005 7612 PALOMINO LN 7612 PALOMINO LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2905 761.07
017958-000 BRIAN & SHEREE DANIELSKI 30-31-22-24-0077 6636 PELICAN PL 6636  PELICAN PL LINO LAKES, MN 55014-3336 788.99
011785-000 JON B & JANELLE R WOLFE 21-31-22-43-0032 6833 BLACK DUCK CIR 6833 BLACK DUCK CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1321 763.73
007014-000 DORYNE UHDE & SIMON CLERGET 07-31-22-32-0060 7762 PINTO LN 7762 PINTO LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7000 778.57
019898-000 LEANNE & STEPHEN GARCIA 29-31-22-41-0052 6514 DEERWOOD LN 6514  DEERWOOD LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5487 781.20
010057-000 JAY WILLIAM & JANE ELLEN BARNETT TRUSTEE 31-31-22-31-0049 128 WOODRIDGE LN 128 WOODRIDGE LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-5437 806.13
014335-000 JEFFREY A & KIERAN C SHEA 25-31-22-42-0008 6575 ALBERT CT 6575 ALBERT CT LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7738 822.47
010734-000 ALLURE INVESTMENTS, LLC 29-31-22-44-0020 6450 FAWN LN 11670 FOUNTAINS DR STE 200 MAPLE GROVE, MN 55369 835.23
005388-000 JAMES FRANDSEN 18-31-22-33-0014 7257 MEADOW CT 7257 MEADOW CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1168 866.71
005571-000 NIKKI SHAPIRO KALVIN 07-31-22-31-0011 152 PALOMINO LN 152 PALOMINO LN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2913 877.84
020527-000 JACOB F & KIMBERLY J SULLIVAN 13-31-22-33-0030 2079 BALSAM WAY 2079  BALSAM WAY LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4703 345.56
007934-000 TODD J MEILE 17-31-22-33-0028 449 POST RD 449 POST RD LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1997 988.15
008517-001 HEATHER GREHN 27-31-22-12-0030 1428 SHERMAN LAKE RD 1428 SHERMAN LAKE RD LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4605 1,043.82
013845-000 SHAUNA M & JAMES M GALATZER 25-31-22-13-0030 6637 TELE LN 6637 TELE LN LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7720 1,081.26
020525-000 ERIC S HARRISON 25-31-22-21-0064 6745 REDWOOD AVE 6745  REDWOOD AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55038-3400 1,099.96
005319-000 JOSEPH C & MANDY M DELMEDICO 09-31-22-22-0043 871 KELLY ST 871 KELLY ST LINO LAKES, MN 55014-2478 1,125.76
013957-000 ROBERT A & JEAN M MANSON 25-31-22-12-0026 6740 CLEARWATER CRK DR 6740 CLEARWATER CREEK DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7706 1,178.63
018011-000 JEREMY J & JASMIN MELLA DORZWEILER 25-31-22-21-0018 6750 21ST AVE S 6750  21ST AVE S LINO LAKES, MN 55038-6410 759.80
014190-000 JENNIFER A GARRISON 25-31-22-42-0046 6520 LANGER LN 6520 LANGER LN LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7737 1,269.88
014267-000 ROBERT J KELLY 25-31-22-13-0089 6631 LACASSE DR 6631 LACASSE DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7703 1,365.40
023440-000 AMERITUS PROPERTY FUND LINO LAKES LLC 17-31-22-12-0066 725 TOWN CENTER PKWY 206 S BROADWAY STE 460 ROCHESTER, MN 55904 1,783.90
018005-000 GALLEON LLC 08-31-22-43-0024 617 APOLLO DR 617 APOLLO DR STE 140 LINO LAKES, MN 55014-3020 1,934.53
012302-000 PATRICK & NANCY RODECK 28-31-22-13-0022 6625 PHEASANT RUN 6625 PHEASANT RUN LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1330 2,049.85
020293-000 RICE LAKE INVESTMENT PROPERTY LLC 19-31-22-34-0003 6800 LAKE DR 4914 JAMIE ROSE CT EAGAN, MN 55122 2,306.70
017359-000 RAUL GUERRERO JR & LINDSAY A KRAUPA 33-31-22-12-0014 1082 S TRAPPERS XING 1082  S TRAPPERS XING LINO LAKES, MN 55038-9148 2,396.61
023441-000 AMERITUS PROPERTY FUND LINO LAKES LLC 17-31-22-12-0066 725 TOWN CENTER PKWY 206 S BROADWAY STE 460 ROCHESTER, MN 55904 2,472.52

94,858.39$       

LED WITH NEW OWNERS
023044-000 VICTOR SAIDU & BINTU KOROMA 13-31-22-34-0047 7253 FALL DR 7253  FALL DR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-4693 51.92
019782-000 MICHAEL D & LAURIE J HAHN 25-31-22-24-0015 2119 21ST AVE S 2119 21ST AVE S LINO LAKES, MN 55038-2227 58.97
021146-000 RAHUL KANAKANDATHUSATHEESAN 17-31-22-12-0076 703 EAGLE CT 703  EAGLE CT LINO LAKES, MN 55014-1688 59.14
013801-000 NENICK T VU & MEE XIONG 25-31-22-13-0053 2344 CLEARWATER CRK CI 2344 CLEARWATER CREEK CIR LINO LAKES, MN 55038-7710 90.13
020996-000 TENG ZHANG & LEE VANG 30-31-22-44-0151 395 OJIBWAY PATH 395 OJIBWAY PATH LINO LAKES, MN 55014-7007 231.08
020201-000 ERIC S HARRISON 25-31-22-21-0064 6745 REDWOOD AVE 6745  REDWOOD AVE LINO LAKES, MN 55038-3400 305.26

796.50$            

GRAND TOTAL 95,654.89$       

7



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA ITEM 1I 

 
 
STAFF ORIGINATOR: Meg Sawyer, HR and Communications Manager 
 
MEETING DATE: November 14, 2022 
 

 TOPIC:  Approve the Hiring of Part-Time Staff for The Rookery 
 
VOTE REQUIRED: 3/5 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The Council is being asked to approve the hiring of part-time staff for The Rookery. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Staff is seeking approval to hire part-time personnel to work at The Rookery. 
 
The recruiting process continues with interviewing and background investigations. This process 
has identified candidates that will be a great addition to our staff at The Rookery. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends the Council approve the hiring of the part-time personnel listed below: 
 

First Name Last Name Title 
Catalina Hernandez Custodian 
Tracy Peltier Guest Services Rep 
Iman Barento  Child Watch 
Emery Kiblin Aquatics Lead 
Joy Crohn  Child Care Worker 
Goliath Oboyo Aquatics Lead 
Juru Muluka Custodian 

Start dates vary based on position and training schedule.  
 
 
Please approve the above personnel for the part-time positions at The Rookery Activity Center. 



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA ITEM 1J 

 
 
STAFF ORIGINATOR: Sarah Cotton, City Administrator   
  
MEETING DATE: November 14, 2022 
 
TOPIC:  Consider Resolution No. 22-134, Submitting a List of Eligible 

Nominees to Anoka County for the Open Manager Position on 
the Rice Creek Watershed District Board of Managers 

 
VOTE REQUIRED: 3/5 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The City Council is being asked to consider Resolution No. 22-134, Submitting a List of 
Eligible Nominees to Anoka County for the Open Manager Position on the Rice Creek 
Watershed District Board of Managers. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The City Council reviewed the Rice Creek Watershed District appointment process at the 
November 7th Work Session. 
 
Pursuant to Minnesota Statute §103B.227, Anoka County has published a notice detailing a 
vacancy will occur on the Rice Creek Watershed District Board of Managers due to the 
expiration on January 17, 2023, of the term of Patricia Preiner, City of Columbus.  Persons 
interested in being appointed to serve on the Board of Managers may submit their names for 
consideration to the Anoka County Board of Commissioners, the appointing authority.   
 
In appointing a manager to the Rice Creek Watershed District, Minnesota Statute §103D.311 is 
also applicable. This statute requires a county board, upon the expiration of a term, to appoint 
managers for a watershed district from an aggregate list of three or more persons nominated 
jointly or severally by the towns and municipalities within the district if a list(s) is submitted 60 
days before the mangers term expires. In absence of a valid list of nominees, the Anoka County 
Board may appoint any voting resident of the RCWD who is not a public officer of the county, 
state or federal government and who otherwise complies with the requirements and terms of 
Minnesota Statute §103D.311.  In order for the county to accept nominations for the expiring 
term, they must be received by November 18, 2022. 
 
Lino Lakes resident, Scott Robinson (8179 4th Avenue), has expressed interested in serving on 
the Rice Creek Watershed District Board of Managers and has been informed of the Anoka 
County application process. 
 
Based on discussions with other municipalities who wish to have representation on the Rice 
Creek Watershed Board of Managers, the cities of Circle Pines, Blaine, and Fridley will also be 
nominating an individual. 
 



To help ensure the County considers a Lino Lakes nominee, staff is recommending jointly 
submitting a list with surrounding communities.   
 
At the November 7th Work Session, the Council showed support of the appointment of Scott 
Robinson as a Rice Creek Watershed District Board Manager and their desire to exercise their 
authority under M.S. §103D.311 to jointly submit a list of nominees to fill the vacancy from 
which the County must appoint. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff is recommending approval of Resolution No. 22-134 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Resolution No. 22-134 



 
 

CITY OF LINO LAKES 
RESOLUTION NO. 22-134 

 
RESOLUTION SUBMITTING A LIST OF ELIGIBLE NOMINEES TO ANOKA 

COUNTY FOR THE OPEN MANAGER POSITION ON THE RICE CREEK 
WATERSHED DISTRICT BOARD OF MANAGERS 

 
WHEREAS, the City received notice of an opening on the Rice Creek Watershed District Board 
of Managers; and 
 
WHEREAS, Anoka County notified the City they can submit a list of nominations to the Anoka 
County Board of Commissioners per Minnesota Statute 103D.311; and 
 
WHEREAS, the cities of Blaine, Centerville, Circle Pines, Columbia Heights, Fridley, Lino 
Lakes, Lexington, and Spring Lake Park wish to have representation on the Rice Creek 
Watershed District Board of Managers; and 
 
WHEREAS, listed below the City of Lino Lakes nominates the following individual to the 
Anoka County Board of Commissioners to consider; and 

 
Scott Robinson, 8179 4th Avenue, Lino Lakes, MN 

 
WHEREAS, the nominee shall join the Jointly Submitted List from the cities of Blaine, 
Centerville, Circle Pines, Columbia Heights, Fridley, Lino Lakes, Lexington and Spring Lake 
Park; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Lino Lakes 
does hereby submit a list of names for consideration by the Anoka County Board of 
Commissioners per Minnesota Statute 103D.311 at least 60 days before the expiration of the 
term of the board managers’ term who expires on January 17, 2023. 
 
Adopted by the City Council of the City of Lino Lakes this 14th day of November 2022. 
 
The motion for the adoption of the foregoing resolution was introduced by Councilmember 
_______________and was duly seconded by Councilmember ________________ and upon vote 
being taken thereon, the following voted in favor thereof: 
 
The following voted against same: 
 
 
 

_______________________________          
Rob Rafferty, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________                                     
Julianne Bartell, City Clerk 



 
 

AGENDA ITEM 1K 
 

 
 
STAFF ORIGINATOR: Julie Bartell, City Clerk 
 
MEETING DATE:  November 14, 2022 
 
TOPIC:  Approve Application for Aquinas Roman Catholic Home 

Education Services to Conduct Excluded Bingo Event 
      
VOTE REQUIRED:   Simple Majority (3/5 Vote Required) 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The City has received an application from the Aquinas Roman Catholic Home Education 
Services (ARCHES) organization to conduct an excluded bingo event at St. Joseph’s 
Church, 171 Elm Street, Lino Lakes on December 10, 2022.   
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Under Minnesota Statutes, Section 349.166, excluded bingo may be conducted by an 
organization that conducts four or fewer bingo occasions in a calendar year, or in 
connection with a county fair, the state fair, or a civic celebration if it is not conducted for 
more than 12 consecutive days.  The Aquinas Roman Catholic Home Education Services 
organization meets this requirement.  The organization also meets the requirements of the 
Lino Lakes City Code since the physical site where the organization regularly conducts 
its activities is located within the city (St. Joseph’s Church). 
 
The Application and a certificate of non-profit status from the Internal Revenue Service 
are on file in the city clerk’s office. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve the application for the Aquinas Roman Catholic Home Education Services 
(ARCHES) to conduct an Excluded Bingo Event on December 10, 2022. 



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA ITEM 2A 

 
 
STAFF ORIGINATOR:   Hannah Lynch, Finance Director   
  
MEETING DATE:   November 14, 2022 
 
TOPIC: 2023 City Fee Schedule 
 
VOTE REQUIRED: 3/5 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The City Council is being asked to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 07-22, 
Establishing the 2023 City Fee Schedule and Resolution No. 22-137, Approving Summary 
Publication of Ordinance No. 07-22. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In order to provide for a more efficient and timely method of reviewing and adjusting the various 
fees charged by the City, fees are consolidated into one schedule to be reviewed and adopted on 
an annual basis.  The City’s current fee schedule has been circulated to department directors with 
a request to update or amend the schedule as appropriate for 2023.   Staff has reviewed the fees 
in place to ensure their ongoing equity and cost recovery ability. 
 
Ordinance No. 07-22 (the proposed 2023 Fee Schedule) is attached. Recommended amendments 
to the ordinance are printed in red. Fees with proposed changes include: 
 

• Civic Complex Room Reservations 
• Field Rental 
• Water & Sewer Utility Rates 
• Trunk Utility Connection 
• Lateral Service Connection 
• Surface Water Management 
• Zoning Confirmation Letter 
• Park Dedication 

 
The Council approved the first reading of Ordinance No. 07-22 on October 24, 2022. Staff is 
now recommending approval of the second reading and summary publication of the ordinance. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.  Approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 07-22, Establishing the 2023 City Fee Schedule. 
2. Approve Resolution No. 22-137, Approving Summary Publication of Ordinance No. 07-22. 
 
 
 
 



ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Ordinance No. 07-22 – Red Lined 
2. Ordinance No. 07-22 – Final 
3. Resolution No. 22-137 

 
 
 



1st Reading: Publication:
October 24, 2022 November 22, 2022
2nd Reading: Effective:
November 14, 2022 January 1, 2023

The City of Lino Lakes City Council does ordain the following:

ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES

3.2 Beer Investigation (Initial Application Only) 267.75$        1 or 2

471.75$        3+

3.2 Beer Off-Sale 200.00$        /Year

3.2 Beer On-Sale 300.00$        /Year

3.2 Beer On-Sale Temporary 50.00$          Plus $5.00/Day

Club License 300.00$        /Year

Liquor License Investigation (Initial Application Only) 267.75$        1 or 2

471.75$        3+

Liquor License On-Sale 4,500.00$     /Year

Liquor License Off-Sale 200.00$        /Year

Liquor Temporary Permit 50.00$          

Wine License Investigation (Initial Application Only) 267.75$        1 or 2

471.75$        3+

Wine License 500.00$        /Year

Sunday Liquor 200.00$        /Year

On-Sale Brewer Taproom 500.00$        /Year

Off-Sale Growler 200.00$        /Year

City of Lino Lakes
Ordinance No. 07-22

An Ordinance Adopting the 2023 City of Lino Lakes Fee Schedule and Providing for the Issuance of 
Licenses, Permits and Collection of Fees Thereof; Repeals All Ordinances, Parts of Ordinances and 
Previous Fee Schedules that Conflict Therewith.

Section 1. Findings. Pursuant to Minnesota Law, the Lino Lakes City Charter, and the Lino Lakes City Code, 
and upon a review of a study conducted by City Staff, a fee schedule for City services and licensing is hereby 
adopted as follows:

2023 FEE SCHEDULE



AMUESMENT & COMMERCIAL RECREATION

Cabaret License 35.00$          

Dances 200.00$        /Year

Gambling Permit Application 10.00$          

BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS

Assessment Search Fee 20.00$          /Search

Background Check Fee 35.00$          /Background

Burning Permit 50.00$          

Dog Kennel - Private 20.00$          /Year

Dog Kennel – Commercial 105.00$        /Year

Dog License Male/Female 11.00$          Not Spayed or Neutered

6.00$            Spayed or Neutered

Cannabinoid License Investigation (Initial Application Only) 267.75$        1 or 2

471.75$        3+

Cannabinoid License 200.00$        /Year

Copies: Per Page -$              /Page (1-10 Pages)

0.25$            /Page (11-100 Pages)

Actual Cost 100+ Pages

Copies: New Resident Labels 5.00$            /Month Flat Fee

Copies: Large Scale (>11”x17”) 0.50$            /Square Foot

City Charter -$              First Copy

10.00$          Each Additional Copy

City Code Book 75.00$          

City Map 2.50$            

Comp. Plan 55.00$          

CD or DVD 7.00$            

Election Filing Fee 5.00$            

Fax Charge -$              1-10 Pages

0.25$            /Page 11+ Pages

Garbage Hauler License 100.00$        First Truck

45.00$          Each Additional Truck

Lawn Sprinkling Violation 25.00$          First Violation

50.00$          Each Subsequent Citation

Overweight Permit 50.00$          

Pawn Shop Class A 10,000.00$   

Pawn Shop Class B 7,000.00$     

Class A Secondhand Goods Dealer 720.00$        

Class B Secondhand Goods Dealer 105.00$        

Class C Secondhand Goods Dealer -$              No Fee

Massage Therapist License (Individual) 50.00$          Annually



Therapeutic Massage Business License 200.00$        Annually

Pawn Shop Investigation 15,400.00$   Deposit on Costs

Pawn Shop In-State Investigation 765.00$        

Pawn Shop Out-State Investigation 20,400.00$   

Peddler, Solicitor, Transient Merchant 250.00$        /6 Months

Rental Housing License (Annual) 69.00$          1 or 2 Units plus $15.00/Unit

for 3 or More Units (fee

to be reduced by 50% if 

issued less than six months

from expiration date)

Rental License Re-Inspection Fee 69.00$          

Return Check Charge 30.00$          

Special Event Permit 50.00$          

Tobacco License 50.00$          

Weed & Mowing Violation 150.00$        First Hour

75.00$          Each Additional Hour

Additional Admin Fee 100.00$        2nd Offense in Calendar Yr

200.00$        3rd and Each Additional

Offense in Calendar Yr

Non-Payment Certification Fee 30.00$          

Zoning Maps 5.00$            Large or Colored

Zoning Ordinance 25.00$          

FIRE REGULATIONS

Annual Permit for Sale of Consumer Fireworks 350.00$        Exclusive Retail Seller

100.00$        In Conjunction with Existing

Retail Store

POLICE FEES

Copy of Report -$              To Subject of Data up to 3

Pages

1.00$            4th Page

0.25$            /Page 5-100 Pages

Copy of Report – Mail In 4.00$            Up to 4 Pages 

0.25$            /Page Thereafter

Vehicle Lockouts -$              No Fee

Clearance Letter 15.00$          

Fingerprinting 15.00$          By Appointment

Photographs 25.00$          Plus Developing Costs

Digital Photographs 25.00$          Up to 16gb Flash Drive

Other Digital Documentation/Video 25.00$          Up to 16gb Flash Drive



False Alarms -$              /Alarm (1-3) in Calendar Yr

52.50$          /Alarm (4-10) in Calendar Yr

105.00$        /Alarm (11+) in Calendar Yr

Vehicle Forfeiture Fee 100.00$        /Vehicle

Dangerous Dog Registration 255.00$        /Year

PARK & RECREATION USER FEES RENTALS & RESERVATIONS

Civic Complex Room Reservations

Non-Residents & Businesses - Up to 4 Hours 100.00$        

Non-Residents & Businesses - Up to 8 Hours 200.00$        

Field Rental - Resident Only

Baseball/Softball Drag Only 25.00$          /Evening

20.00$          /Evening

Baseball/Softball Drag & Chalk 50.00$          /Evening

30.00$          /Evening

Soccer (Excluding Youth) 65.00$          /Evening

Picnic Shelter Reservation -$              Residents

25.00$          Non-Resident

BUILDING - CONSTRUCTION UTILITES

Building Permit Fee Schedule

Building Permit Fees shall be based on the Fee Table.
Fire Suppression Permit Fee shall be based on Fee Table.
Minimum fee of $69.00 for all permits. 

Fee Table

Total Valuation Fee
$1.00 to $1,360.00 $69.00

$1,361.00 to $2,000.00

$2,001.00 to $25,000.00

$25,001.00 to $50,000.00

$50,001.00 to $100,000.00

$100,001.00 to $500,000.00

$500,001.00 to $1,000,000.00

$23.50 for the first $500.00 plus $3.05 for each additional $100.00, or fraction 
thereof, to and including $2,000.00. Min. Fee $69.00

$69.25  for  the  first  $2,000.00  plus  $14.00  for  each  additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $25,000.00

$391.25  for  the  first  $25,000.00  plus  $10.10  for  each  additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $50,000.00

$643.75  for  the  first  $50,000.00  plus  $7.00  for  each  additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $100,000.00

$993.75  for  the  first  $100,000.00  plus  $5.60  for  each  additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $500,000.00

$3,233.75  for  the  first  $500,000.00  plus  $4.75  for  each  additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $1,000,000.00



$1,000,001.00 and up

Other Inspections and Fees

Work Commencing Before Permit Issuance Double Permit Fee

Erosion Control Inspection Fee

Single, Two-Family, Townhomes up to 8 Units, 160.00$        

    Multi-Family > 8 Units

Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional Determined by Separate Agreement

Change of Use/Occupancy Inspections 69.00$          /Trip

Inspections Outside of Normal Business Hours 69.00$          /Hour*

Re-Inspection Fee 69.00$          /Trip

Inspections for which no fee is specifically designed 69.00$          /Trip

Additional Plan Review Required by Changes, Additions,

or Revisions 69.00$          /Hour**

For use of outside consultants for plan checking and

inspections, or both Actual Cost***

Plan Review Fee

a. 65% of the Building Permit Fee

b. 25% of the Building Permit Fee for review of similar plans (Master Plan) in a 12

month period

Easement Encroachment Fee County Recording Fee plus $25.00

Antenna, City Owned Property 250.00$        Plus $6,000 Escrow

Antenna, Private Property See Building Fee Table

Accessory Building Permit: 200 sq. ft. or under in size 69.00$          

Accessory Building Permit: over 200 sq. ft. in size See Building Fee Table

Fence Permit: 6 feet or under in height 69.00$          

Fence Permit: over 6 feet in height See Building Fee Table

Grading Permit 160.00$        

Grading Permit Escrow Deposit (if not 

included in Dev. Contract) 300.00$        

Roofing Permit 106.00$        

Siding Permit 106.00$        

Swimming Pool Permit 160.00$        In Ground

106.00$        Above Ground

Window/Door Replacement Permit 79.00$          /Unit (max $158.00)

Retaining Wall Permit 69.00$          

Mechanical (HVAC) permit: Gas Fireplace 69.00$          Plus $34.50 for Each

Additional Fireplace

Mechanical (HVAC) Permit: Residential 69.00$          Except New Construction

Includes AC/Furnace Combined

Mechanical (HVAC) Fee: New Construction Residential 158.00$        Does Not Include Fireplaces

$5,608.75 for the first $1,000,000.00 plus $3.15 for each additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof



Mechanical (HVAC) Permit: Commercial 2% of the Contract Price ($69.00

Minimum Fee)

Manufactured Home Permits 250.00$        

Plumbing Permit 11.00$          /Fixture ($69.00 Min. Fee)

Sewer Connection Inspection Fee 200.00$        

Water Connection Inspection Fee 250.00$        

Contractor License Verification 5.00$            /Permit

Contractor Lead Certification Verification 5.00$            /Permit

Contractor License 50.00$          

Metropolitan Council SAC (Sewer Availability Charge) Per Met Council

Water Meter City Cost plus $50.00

MXU Unit City Cost plus $50.00

Water Meter + MXU Unit City Cost plus $50.00

Touch Pad 18.00$          

Curb Stop Covers 70.00$          

Septic Installation or Repair Permit 250.00$        

Septic Pumping Permit 10.00$          

Demolition Permit 69.00$          

Lawn Sprinkler/Irrigation System Permit 69.00$          

Irrigating or Watering of New Landscaping Permit (Sod

or Seed) -$              No Fee

Driveway Replacement Permit 69.00$          

Sign Permit: Existing Billboard 85.00$          /Year

Sign Permit: Permanent See Building Fee Table

Sign Permit: Sandwich Board 25.00$          

Sign Permit: Temporary (portable/banner) 25.00$          /Term

Storm Pond Aeration Permit 150.00$        

All permits issued are subject to applicable State surcharge fees.

* Inspections made outside of normal business hours is a three-hour minimum charge.
**

*** Actual costs include administrative and overhead costs.

Fee Refund – Per applicant request, City staff may refund permit fees up to 80% for voided permits. Plan review 
fees and state surcharge fees are non-refundable. No refund shall be provided if permit has expired.

Or the total hourly cost to the jurisdiction, whichever is greatest.  This cost shall include supervision, 
overhead, equipment, hourly wages, and fringe benefits of the employees involved.

An escrow may be required, as determined by the City Engineer, to cover all costs incurred by the City for plan 
revision and construction observation.



ESCROW DEPOSITS

a. Driveway - $1,000.00
b. Exterior Concrete - $1,000.00
c. As-built Surveys - $1,000.00
d. Stucco (final coat only) - $1,000.00
e. Garage Floor - $1,000.00
f. Landscaping - $2,500.00 (landscaping may be escrowed year-round per City Staff)
g. Other – Determined by City staff at a rate of 125% of the actual improvement costs 

Escrow deposits will be charged a $100.00 non-refundable administrative fee.

Escrow deposits can be submitted through one of the following procedures:
a.

b.

A partial release, of a multi-item escrow, will be charged a $75.00 non-refundable administrative fee.

RIGHT-OF-WAY MANAGEMENT

Excavation Permit Fees

125.00$        

70.00$          /100 Lineal Feet plus Hole Fee

Obstruction Permit Fee

50.00$          Plus $0.05/ Lineal Foot

Permit Extension Fee 

Includes administration, recording & review 55.00$          

Delay Penalty 

60.00$          

The title company or lending institution can hold the escrow upon execution of an agreement signed 
by both the title company or lending institution and the City.

Hole (includes administration, plan review, 
inspection, testing and mapping)

Trench (includes administration, plan review, 
inspection, testing & mapping)

Includes administration, recording, review & 
inspection

For up to three days of non-completion and non-
prior notice before specified date. After three days 
an additional charge of $10.00 per day will be 
levied.

Escrow can be paid to the City upon execution of an agreement signed by both the payee and the 
City. 

In order to obtain a Certificate of Occupancy, escrow deposits shall be collected if exterior work cannot be 
completed due to inclement weather, as determined by City Staff, whereupon a Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy would be issued subject to the execution of an escrow agreement and payment thereof. Any 
unfinished work must be completed within six months (weather permitting) from the date of issuance. The 
following escrow amounts are hereby established:



Degradation Fee

Degradation Fee Formula:

Degradation Fee:

UTILITY FEES

Water Utility Rates

Residential

Base Fee 15.00$          /Quarter/REU*

10.00$          /Quarter/REU*

Consumption Fee

0 - 20,000 Gallons 2.02$            /Thousand Gallons

1.94$            /Thousand Gallons

20,001 - 40,000 Gallons 2.25$            /Thousand Gallons

2.16$            /Thousand Gallons

40,001 - 80,000 Gallons 2.81$            /Thousand Gallons

2.70$            /Thousand Gallons

80,001 - 120,000 Gallons 3.37$            /Thousand Gallons

3.24$            /Thousand Gallons

Over 120,000 Gallons 3.94$            /Thousand Gallons

3.79$            /Thousand Gallons

Non-Residential

Base Fee 15.00$          /Quarter/REU*

10.00$          /Quarter/REU*

Consumption Fee

0 - 20,000 Gallons 2.02$            /Thousand Gallons

1.94$            /Thousand Gallons

20,001 - 40,000 Gallons 2.25$            /Thousand Gallons

2.16$            /Thousand Gallons

Over 40,000 Gallons 2.54$            /Thousand Gallons

2.44$            /Thousand Gallons

This formula covers degradation for depreciation caused by intrusion into the right-of-
way.  The depreciation applies to the original surface of the right-of-way and to the 
overlays and seal-coats applied to the surface. The formula includes life expectancy 
schedules for each and has an estimated cost per square yard based on the quality of the 
right-of-way surface required for different levels of traffic. This formula creates a 
degradation fee which is determined by the cost per square yard for street, overlay, and 
seal-coat, multiplied by the depreciation schedule, multiplied by the area of the street 
patch.

(cost per square yard for street overlay and seal-coat x depreciation schedule rates) x area 
of street patch = degradation fee



Non-Residential Irrigation**

Consumption Fee

0 - 40,000 Gallons 2.81$            /Thousand Gallons

2.70$            /Thousand Gallons

40,001 - 80,000 Gallons 3.37$            /Thousand Gallons

3.24$            /Thousand Gallons

Over 80,000 Gallons 3.95$            /Thousand Gallons

3.80$            /Thousand Gallons

       *REU = a residential equivalent connection:

1.  Residential - a single housing unit

2.  Non-Residential - per Met Council Service Availability Charge Procedures Manual

       **Non-Residential users with irrigation systems that do not have a separate irrigation meter

           will be charged at residential rates until such time that a separate irrigation meter is installed

           and inspected.

Sewer Utility Rates

Metered Sewer

Base Fee 58.52$          /Quarter/REU*

57.09$          /Quarter/REU*

Consumption Fee

Over 10,000 Gallons (based

on winter average) 1.12$            /Thousand Gallons

1.10$            /Thousand Gallons

Flat Sewer 69.02$          /Quarter/REU*

67.34$          /Quarter/REU*

       *REU = a residential equivalent connection:

1.  Residential - a single housing unit

2.  Non-Residential - per Met Council Service Availability Charge Procedures Manual

Storm Water Utility Rates

Quarterly Base Rate

Residential Fee 12.00$          /Parcel

Non-Residential Fee 175.00$        /Acre of Impervious ($12.00

minimum)

Late Penalty 10% of Unpaid Balance, Assessed per

Billing Cycle

Non-Payment Certification Fee 30.00$          



Meter Testing (Our Cost, Delivered to Minneapolis) 100.00$        5/8" - 3/4" Meter Test

150.00$        1" Meter Test

250.00$        1-1/2" - 2" Meter Test

Water Meter Rental 600.00$        Deposit

25.00$          /Month

Additional Accessories 25.00$          /Month

Water Usage Fee 5.00$            /Thousand Gallons

Water Use Violation 25.00$          1st Violation

50.00$          2nd and Subsequent Violations

Trunk Charge

Sanitary Sewer 1,695.00$     /Unit

1,630.00$     /Unit

Water 2,435.00$     /Unit

2,341.00$     /Unit

Availability Charge

City Sewer (CSAC) 1,586.00$     /SAC Unit

1,525.00$     /SAC Unit

City Water (CWAC) 1,532.00$     /SAC Unit

1,473.00$     /SAC Unit

The Lateral Service Connection Fee shall be in addition to the City Trunk Utility Connection Fees.

Lateral Service Connection Fees

If the lot or tract of land, or portion thereof, to be served by a lateral connection has not been 
assessed for the cost of construction, then the applicant shall pay, upon hook-up, a lateral connection 
in accordance with Resolution No. 02-149 (Bisel Amendment) based on the following front foot 
charges:

City Trunk Utility Connection Fees - the Trunk Utility Connection Fee consists of two components: a Trunk 
Charge and an Availability Charge.

The trunk charge shall be paid at the time of subdivision approval or at the time of hook-up, 
whichever is first.  Residential trunk charges are based on one unit per dwelling unit.  
Commercial/Industrial/Institutional (CII) trunk charges are based on a factor of 2.92 units per acre.

For residential properties, the availability charge shall be paid at the time of subdivision approval or 
at the time of hook-up, whichever is first.  Commercial/Industrial/Institutional availability charges 
shall be paid at the time of building permit.  Fees are based on the number of sanitary access charge 
(SAC) units assigned by Metropolitan Council Environmental Services (MCES).  Residential uses 
shall be assigned one unit per dwelling unit unless otherwise noted by MCES.



Sanitary Sewer 75.30$          /Front Foot
72.40$          /Front Foot

Watermain 71.20$          /Front Foot
68.50$          /Front Foot

REU = a residential equivalent connection:
1. Residential – a single housing unit

2. Non-Residential REU = per Met Council Service Availability Charge Procedures

Manual

Surface Water Management

Fee Charge per Acre

of Development

Fee Charge per Acre

of Development

CULVERT PRICES
All culvert prices are based on market prices and include tax & delivery and 15% administration fee.

LAND USE

Fees
Alternative Urban Area-wide Review (I-35E AUAR) 300.00$        /Acre

$7,731.00 $10,397.00 $11,516.00

Fees are based on developable land in accordance with the policy provisions established in Resolution No. 92-
70.  Credits may be earned for sub-watershed trunk improvements.

To be charged at the time of land use approval for 
projects within the I-35E Corridor AUAR area that 
require preliminary plats; conditional use permits; 
site and building plans; and planned unit 
developments. Once paid, the same land will not be 
charged again.

$7,434.00 $9,997.00 $11,073.00

Vacant Buildings:  Owners of a commercial/industrial building(s) connected to City water and/or sewer utilities 
that are vacant due to business closures or other reasons may apply to have the number of billed REU’s reduced 
to one (1) REU for purposes of calculating utility fees effective from the date the building(s) were vacated for as 
long as the building(s) remain unoccupied. When the building(s) again becomes occupied the owner must inform 
the City of such occupation, at which time the number of REU’s will be determined and utility fees assessed 
according to the current fee structure. (Ordinance No. 06-13, passed 8-26-13)

Single/Two Family 
Lots

 Multi Family 
Lots 

 Commercial/Industrial/ 
Institutional Property 



Administrative Permit 69.00$          

Zoning Confirmation Letter 50.00$          

30.00$          

Escrow Deposits (Application Fee Required With Each Submittal)
Application Fee 200.00$        

Comprehensive Plan Amendment 3,000.00$     40 Acres or Less

5,000.00$     Over 40 Acres

Conditional Use Permit 1,000.00$     Residential/Rural

7,500.00$     Commercial/Industrial/

Institutional

Environmental Assessment Worksheet 10,000.00$   

Interim Use Permit 7,500.00$     

Ordinance Amendment

Map Amendment (Rezone) 1,500.00$     40 Acres or Less

5,000.00$     Over 40 Acres

Text Amendment 1,500.00$     

Planned Unit Development 3,000.00$     General Concept Plan

12,500.00$   Development Stage Plan

7,500.00$     Final Plan

Site Plan Review 7,500.00$     

Subdivision

Concept Plan Review 1,500.00$     

Minor Subdivision 3,000.00$     

Preliminary Plat 5,000.00$     Less than 5 Acres

7,500.00$     5-40 Acres

12,500.00$   Over 40 Acres

Final Plat 1,500.00$     Less than 5 Acres

5,000.00$     5-40 Acres

7,500.00$     Over 40 Acres

Vacation (Street, Utility, Drainage) 1,500.00$     

Variance or appeal 750.00$        

(no fee for Transient Merchant if issued 
by City Clerk)

An escrow account shall be established as indicated above to cover all expenses incurred by the City as part of 
the plan review.  In the case of applications including multiple requests the highest escrow deposit amount will 
be the only one initially required.  The applicant is responsible for all costs incurred by the City during plan 
review.  If the escrow account drops below 10% of the original deposit amount the City will require the 
submittal of an additional escrow deposit sufficient to cover any anticipated expenses. Upon City determination 
that the project is complete or expired, the City will return the remaining escrow deposit to the applicant.



DEVELOPMENT FEES

GIS Mapping Fee 90.00$          /Lot
Park Dedication

2,600.00$     /Acre

2,520.00$     /Acre
Residential 3,300.00$     /Unit

3,160.00$     /Unit
Tree Preservation Mitigation Fee 485.00$        /Tree
Street Lighting Operation Fee (New Development) 120.00$        

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE

Tax Increment Financing or Tax Abatement 10,000.00$   Escrow Deposit
Tax Exempt Financing 2,500.00$     

STAFF TIME

LATE FEE

Adopted by the Lino Lakes City Council this 14th day of November, 2022.

The following voted against same:

Rob Rafferty, Mayor

ATTEST:

The motion for the adoption of the foregoing ordinance was introduced by Council Member_____________and 
was duly seconded by Council Member ___________ and upon vote being taken thereon, the following voted in 
favor thereof:

Staff time for chargeable event/projects shall be charged as the employee’s hourly rate of pay plus benefits plus 
calculated overhead costs (when applicable).  Overtime will be charged at 1.5 times the calculated hourly rate.

Late penalty fee: a late charge of 10% or $25.00, whichever is greater, will be charged for fees not paid when 
due.

Section 2. Effective Date of Ordinance.  This ordinance shall be in force and effect from and after its passage 
and publication according to the Lino Lakes City Charter.

Commercial/Industrial/Assisted-Living/Skilled 
Nursing

/Light ($8/mo/light x 15 
months)

Application Fee, plus 1% 
Administration Fee



Julianne Bartell, City Clerk



1st Reading: Publication:
October 24, 2022 November 22, 2022
2nd Reading: Effective:
November 14, 2022 January 1, 2023

The City of Lino Lakes City Council does ordain the following:

ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES

3.2 Beer Investigation (Initial Application Only) 267.75$        1 or 2
471.75$        3+

3.2 Beer Off-Sale 200.00$        /Year
3.2 Beer On-Sale 300.00$        /Year
3.2 Beer On-Sale Temporary 50.00$          Plus $5.00/Day
Club License 300.00$        /Year
Liquor License Investigation (Initial Application Only) 267.75$        1 or 2

471.75$        3+
Liquor License On-Sale 4,500.00$     /Year
Liquor License Off-Sale 200.00$        /Year
Liquor Temporary Permit 50.00$          
Wine License Investigation (Initial Application Only) 267.75$        1 or 2

471.75$        3+
Wine License 500.00$        /Year
Sunday Liquor 200.00$        /Year
On-Sale Brewer Taproom 500.00$        /Year
Off-Sale Growler 200.00$        /Year

AMUESMENT & COMMERCIAL RECREATION

Cabaret License 35.00$          
Dances 200.00$        /Year
Gambling Permit Application 10.00$          

City of Lino Lakes
Ordinance No. 07-22

An Ordinance Adopting the 2023 City of Lino Lakes Fee Schedule and Providing for the Issuance of 
Licenses, Permits and Collection of Fees Thereof; Repeals All Ordinances, Parts of Ordinances and 
Previous Fee Schedules that Conflict Therewith.

Section 1. Findings. Pursuant to Minnesota Law, the Lino Lakes City Charter, and the Lino Lakes City Code, 
and upon a review of a study conducted by City Staff, a fee schedule for City services and licensing is hereby 
adopted as follows:

2023 FEE SCHEDULE

1



BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS

Assessment Search Fee 20.00$          /Search
Background Check Fee 35.00$          /Background
Burning Permit 50.00$          
Dog Kennel - Private 20.00$          /Year
Dog Kennel – Commercial 105.00$        /Year
Dog License Male/Female 11.00$          Not Spayed or Neutered

6.00$            Spayed or Neutered
Cannabinoid License Investigation (Initial Application Only) 267.75$        1 or 2

471.75$        3+
Cannabinoid License 200.00$        /Year
Copies: Per Page -$              /Page (1-10 Pages)

0.25$            /Page (11-100 Pages)
Actual Cost 100+ Pages

Copies: New Resident Labels 5.00$            /Month Flat Fee
Copies: Large Scale (>11”x17”) 0.50$            /Square Foot
City Charter -$              First Copy

10.00$          Each Additional Copy
City Code Book 75.00$          
City Map 2.50$            
Comp. Plan 55.00$          
CD or DVD 7.00$            
Election Filing Fee 5.00$            
Fax Charge -$              1-10 Pages

0.25$            /Page 11+ Pages
Garbage Hauler License 100.00$        First Truck

45.00$          Each Additional Truck
Lawn Sprinkling Violation 25.00$          First Violation

50.00$          Each Subsequent Citation
Overweight Permit 50.00$          
Pawn Shop Class A 10,000.00$   
Pawn Shop Class B 7,000.00$     
Class A Secondhand Goods Dealer 720.00$        
Class B Secondhand Goods Dealer 105.00$        
Class C Secondhand Goods Dealer -$              No Fee
Massage Therapist License (Individual) 50.00$          Annually
Therapeutic Massage Business License 200.00$        Annually
Pawn Shop Investigation 15,400.00$   Deposit on Costs
Pawn Shop In-State Investigation 765.00$        
Pawn Shop Out-State Investigation 20,400.00$   
Peddler, Solicitor, Transient Merchant 250.00$        /6 Months

2



Rental Housing License (Annual) 69.00$          1 or 2 Units plus $15.00/Unit
for 3 or More Units (fee
to be reduced by 50% if 
issued less than six months
from expiration date)

Rental License Re-Inspection Fee 69.00$          
Return Check Charge 30.00$          
Special Event Permit 50.00$          
Tobacco License 50.00$          
Weed & Mowing Violation 150.00$        First Hour

75.00$          Each Additional Hour
Additional Admin Fee 100.00$        2nd Offense in Calendar Yr

200.00$        3rd and Each Additional
Offense in Calendar Yr

Non-Payment Certification Fee 30.00$          
Zoning Maps 5.00$            Large or Colored
Zoning Ordinance 25.00$          

FIRE REGULATIONS

Annual Permit for Sale of Consumer Fireworks 350.00$        Exclusive Retail Seller
100.00$        In Conjunction with Existing

Retail Store

POLICE FEES

Copy of Report -$              To Subject of Data up to 3
Pages

1.00$            4th Page
0.25$            /Page 5-100 Pages

Copy of Report – Mail In 4.00$            Up to 4 Pages 
0.25$            /Page Thereafter

Vehicle Lockouts -$              No Fee
Clearance Letter 15.00$          
Fingerprinting 15.00$          By Appointment
Photographs 25.00$          Plus Developing Costs
Digital Photographs 25.00$          Up to 16gb Flash Drive
Other Digital Documentation/Video 25.00$          Up to 16gb Flash Drive
False Alarms -$              /Alarm (1-3) in Calendar Yr

52.50$          /Alarm (4-10) in Calendar Yr
105.00$        /Alarm (11+) in Calendar Yr

Vehicle Forfeiture Fee 100.00$        /Vehicle
Dangerous Dog Registration 255.00$        /Year

3



RENTALS & RESERVATIONS

Civic Complex Room Reservations
Non-Residents & Businesses - Up to 4 Hours 100.00$        
Non-Residents & Businesses - Up to 8 Hours 200.00$        

Field Rental
Baseball/Softball Drag Only 25.00$          /Evening
Baseball/Softball Drag & Chalk 50.00$          /Evening

Picnic Shelter Reservation -$              Residents
25.00$          Non-Resident

BUILDING - CONSTRUCTION UTILITES

Building Permit Fee Schedule

Building Permit Fees shall be based on the Fee Table.
Fire Suppression Permit Fee shall be based on Fee Table.
Minimum fee of $69.00 for all permits. 

Fee Table

Total Valuation Fee
$1.00 to $1,360.00 $69.00
$1,361.00 to $2,000.00

$2,001.00 to $25,000.00

$25,001.00 to $50,000.00

$50,001.00 to $100,000.00

$100,001.00 to $500,000.00

$500,001.00 to $1,000,000.00

$1,000,001.00 and up

Other Inspections and Fees

Work Commencing Before Permit Issuance Double Permit Fee
Erosion Control Inspection Fee

Single, Two-Family, Townhomes up to 8 Units, 160.00$        
    Multi-Family > 8 Units
Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional Determined by Separate Agreement

Change of Use/Occupancy Inspections 69.00$          /Trip

$5,608.75 for the first $1,000,000.00 plus $3.15 for each additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof

$23.50 for the first $500.00 plus $3.05 for each additional $100.00, or fraction 
thereof, to and including $2,000.00. Min. Fee $69.00

$69.25  for  the  first  $2,000.00  plus  $14.00  for  each  additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $25,000.00

$391.25  for  the  first  $25,000.00  plus  $10.10  for  each  additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $50,000.00

$643.75  for  the  first  $50,000.00  plus  $7.00  for  each  additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $100,000.00

$993.75  for  the  first  $100,000.00  plus  $5.60  for  each  additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $500,000.00

$3,233.75  for  the  first  $500,000.00  plus  $4.75  for  each  additional
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $1,000,000.00

4



Inspections Outside of Normal Business Hours 69.00$          /Hour*
Re-Inspection Fee 69.00$          /Trip
Inspections for which no fee is specifically designed 69.00$          /Trip
Additional Plan Review Required by Changes, Additions,

or Revisions 69.00$          /Hour**
For use of outside consultants for plan checking and

inspections, or both Actual Cost***
Plan Review Fee

a. 65% of the Building Permit Fee
b. 25% of the Building Permit Fee for review of similar plans (Master Plan) in a 12
month period

Easement Encroachment Fee County Recording Fee plus $25.00
Antenna, City Owned Property 250.00$        Plus $6,000 Escrow
Antenna, Private Property See Building Fee Table
Accessory Building Permit: 200 sq. ft. or under in size 69.00$          
Accessory Building Permit: over 200 sq. ft. in size See Building Fee Table
Fence Permit: 6 feet or under in height 69.00$          
Fence Permit: over 6 feet in height See Building Fee Table
Grading Permit 160.00$        

Grading Permit Escrow Deposit (if not 
included in Dev. Contract) 300.00$        

Roofing Permit 106.00$        
Siding Permit 106.00$        
Swimming Pool Permit 160.00$        In Ground

106.00$        Above Ground
Window/Door Replacement Permit 79.00$          /Unit (max $158.00)
Retaining Wall Permit 69.00$          

Mechanical (HVAC) permit: Gas Fireplace 69.00$          Plus $34.50 for Each
Additional Fireplace

Mechanical (HVAC) Permit: Residential 69.00$          Except New Construction
Includes AC/Furnace Combined

Mechanical (HVAC) Fee: New Construction Residential 158.00$        Does Not Include Fireplaces

Mechanical (HVAC) Permit: Commercial 2% of the Contract Price ($69.00
Minimum Fee)

Manufactured Home Permits 250.00$        

Plumbing Permit 11.00$          /Fixture ($69.00 Min. Fee)

Sewer Connection Inspection Fee 200.00$        

Water Connection Inspection Fee 250.00$        

Contractor License Verification 5.00$            /Permit

Contractor Lead Certification Verification 5.00$            /Permit

Contractor License 50.00$          

Metropolitan Council SAC (Sewer Availability Charge) Per Met Council

Water Meter City Cost plus $50.00

MXU Unit City Cost plus $50.00

Water Meter + MXU Unit City Cost plus $50.00

5



Touch Pad 18.00$          
Curb Stop Covers 70.00$          
Septic Installation or Repair Permit 250.00$        
Septic Pumping Permit 10.00$          
Demolition Permit 69.00$          
Lawn Sprinkler/Irrigation System Permit 69.00$          
Irrigating or Watering of New Landscaping Permit (Sod

or Seed) -$              No Fee
Driveway Replacement Permit 69.00$          
Sign Permit: Existing Billboard 85.00$          /Year
Sign Permit: Permanent See Building Fee Table
Sign Permit: Sandwich Board 25.00$          
Sign Permit: Temporary (portable/banner) 25.00$          /Term
Storm Pond Aeration Permit 150.00$        

All permits issued are subject to applicable State surcharge fees.

* Inspections made outside of normal business hours is a three-hour minimum charge.
**

*** Actual costs include administrative and overhead costs.

ESCROW DEPOSITS

a. Driveway - $1,000.00
b. Exterior Concrete - $1,000.00
c. As-built Surveys - $1,000.00
d. Stucco (final coat only) - $1,000.00
e. Garage Floor - $1,000.00
f. Landscaping - $2,500.00 (landscaping may be escrowed year-round per City Staff)
g. Other – Determined by City staff at a rate of 125% of the actual improvement costs 

Escrow deposits will be charged a $100.00 non-refundable administrative fee.

Fee Refund – Per applicant request, City staff may refund permit fees up to 80% for voided permits. Plan review 
fees and state surcharge fees are non-refundable. No refund shall be provided if permit has expired.

Or the total hourly cost to the jurisdiction, whichever is greatest.  This cost shall include supervision, 
overhead, equipment, hourly wages, and fringe benefits of the employees involved.

An escrow may be required, as determined by the City Engineer, to cover all costs incurred by the City for plan 
revision and construction observation.

In order to obtain a Certificate of Occupancy, escrow deposits shall be collected if exterior work cannot be 
completed due to inclement weather, as determined by City Staff, whereupon a Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy would be issued subject to the execution of an escrow agreement and payment thereof. Any 
unfinished work must be completed within six months (weather permitting) from the date of issuance. The 
following escrow amounts are hereby established:

6



Escrow deposits can be submitted through one of the following procedures:
a.

b.

A partial release, of a multi-item escrow, will be charged a $75.00 non-refundable administrative fee.

RIGHT-OF-WAY MANAGEMENT

Excavation Permit Fees
125.00$        

70.00$          /100 Lineal Feet plus Hole Fee

Obstruction Permit Fee
50.00$          Plus $0.05/ Lineal Foot

Permit Extension Fee 
Includes administration, recording & review 55.00$          

Delay Penalty 
60.00$          

Degradation Fee
Degradation Fee Formula:

Degradation Fee:

Escrow can be paid to the City upon execution of an agreement signed by both the payee and the 
City. 

The title company or lending institution can hold the escrow upon execution of an agreement signed 
by both the title company or lending institution and the City.

Hole (includes administration, plan review, 
inspection, testing and mapping)

Trench (includes administration, plan review, 
inspection, testing & mapping)

Includes administration, recording, review & 
inspection

For up to three days of non-completion and non-
prior notice before specified date. After three days 
an additional charge of $10.00 per day will be 
levied.

This formula covers degradation for depreciation caused by intrusion into the right-of-
way.  The depreciation applies to the original surface of the right-of-way and to the 
overlays and seal-coats applied to the surface. The formula includes life expectancy 
schedules for each and has an estimated cost per square yard based on the quality of the 
right-of-way surface required for different levels of traffic. This formula creates a 
degradation fee which is determined by the cost per square yard for street, overlay, and 
seal-coat, multiplied by the depreciation schedule, multiplied by the area of the street 
patch.

(cost per square yard for street overlay and seal-coat x depreciation schedule rates) x area 
of street patch = degradation fee

7



UTILITY FEES

Water Utility Rates
Residential

Base Fee 15.00$          /Quarter/REU*
Consumption Fee

0 - 20,000 Gallons 2.02$            /Thousand Gallons
20,001 - 40,000 Gallons 2.25$            /Thousand Gallons
40,001 - 80,000 Gallons 2.81$            /Thousand Gallons
80,001 - 120,000 Gallons 3.37$            /Thousand Gallons
Over 120,000 Gallons 3.94$            /Thousand Gallons

Non-Residential
Base Fee 15.00$          /Quarter/REU*
Consumption Fee

0 - 20,000 Gallons 2.02$            /Thousand Gallons
20,001 - 40,000 Gallons 2.25$            /Thousand Gallons
Over 40,000 Gallons 2.54$            /Thousand Gallons

Non-Residential Irrigation**
Consumption Fee

0 - 40,000 Gallons 2.81$            /Thousand Gallons
40,001 - 80,000 Gallons 3.37$            /Thousand Gallons
Over 80,000 Gallons 3.95$            /Thousand Gallons

       *REU = a residential equivalent connection:
1.  Residential - a single housing unit
2.  Non-Residential - per Met Council Service Availability Charge Procedures Manual

       **Non-Residential users with irrigation systems that do not have a separate irrigation meter
           will be charged at residential rates until such time that a separate irrigation meter is installed
           and inspected.

Sewer Utility Rates
Metered Sewer

Base Fee 58.52$          /Quarter/REU*
Consumption Fee

Over 10,000 Gallons (based
on winter average) 1.12$            /Thousand Gallons

Flat Sewer 69.02$          /Quarter/REU*

       *REU = a residential equivalent connection:
1.  Residential - a single housing unit
2.  Non-Residential - per Met Council Service Availability Charge Procedures Manual

8



Storm Water Utility Rates
Quarterly Base Rate

Residential Fee 12.00$          /Parcel
Non-Residential Fee 175.00$        /Acre of Impervious ($12.00

minimum)

Late Penalty 10% of Unpaid Balance, Assessed per
Billing Cycle

Non-Payment Certification Fee 30.00$          
Meter Testing (Our Cost, Delivered to Minneapolis) 100.00$        5/8" - 3/4" Meter Test

150.00$        1" Meter Test
250.00$        1-1/2" - 2" Meter Test

Water Meter Rental 600.00$        Deposit
25.00$          /Month

Additional Accessories 25.00$          /Month
Water Usage Fee 5.00$            /Thousand Gallons

Water Use Violation 25.00$          1st Violation
50.00$          2nd and Subsequent Violations

Trunk Charge

Sanitary Sewer 1,695.00$     /Unit
Water 2,435.00$     /Unit

Availability Charge

City Sewer (CSAC) 1,586.00$     /SAC Unit
City Water (CWAC) 1,532.00$     /SAC Unit

City Trunk Utility Connection Fees - the Trunk Utility Connection Fee consists of two components: a Trunk 
Charge and an Availability Charge.

The trunk charge shall be paid at the time of subdivision approval or at the time of hook-up, 
whichever is first.  Residential trunk charges are based on one unit per dwelling unit.  
Commercial/Industrial/Institutional (CII) trunk charges are based on a factor of 2.92 units per acre.

For residential properties, the availability charge shall be paid at the time of subdivision approval or 
at the time of hook-up, whichever is first.  Commercial/Industrial/Institutional availability charges 
shall be paid at the time of building permit.  Fees are based on the number of sanitary access charge 
(SAC) units assigned by Metropolitan Council Environmental Services (MCES).  Residential uses 
shall be assigned one unit per dwelling unit unless otherwise noted by MCES.

9



The Lateral Service Connection Fee shall be in addition to the City Trunk Utility Connection Fees.

Lateral Service Connection Fees

Sanitary Sewer 75.30$          /Front Foot
Watermain 71.20$          /Front Foot

REU = a residential equivalent connection:
1. Residential – a single housing unit
2. Non-Residential REU = per Met Council Service Availability Charge Procedures

Manual

Surface Water Management

Fee Charge per Acre
of Development

CULVERT PRICES
All culvert prices are based on market prices and include tax & delivery and 15% administration fee.

LAND USE

Fees
Alternative Urban Area-wide Review (I-35E AUAR) 300.00$        /Acre

If the lot or tract of land, or portion thereof, to be served by a lateral connection has not been 
assessed for the cost of construction, then the applicant shall pay, upon hook-up, a lateral connection 
in accordance with Resolution No. 02-149 (Bisel Amendment) based on the following front foot 
charges:

Vacant Buildings:  Owners of a commercial/industrial building(s) connected to City water and/or sewer utilities 
that are vacant due to business closures or other reasons may apply to have the number of billed REU’s reduced 
to one (1) REU for purposes of calculating utility fees effective from the date the building(s) were vacated for as 
long as the building(s) remain unoccupied. When the building(s) again becomes occupied the owner must inform 
the City of such occupation, at which time the number of REU’s will be determined and utility fees assessed 
according to the current fee structure. (Ordinance No. 06-13, passed 8-26-13)

Single/Two Family 
Lots

 Multi Family 
Lots 

 Commercial/Industrial/ 
Institutional Property 

$7,731.00 $10,397.00 $11,516.00

Fees are based on developable land in accordance with the policy provisions established in Resolution No. 92-
70.  Credits may be earned for sub-watershed trunk improvements.

To be charged at the time of land use approval for 
projects within the I-35E Corridor AUAR area that 
require preliminary plats; conditional use permits; 
site and building plans; and planned unit 
developments. Once paid, the same land will not be 
charged again.

10



Administrative Permit 69.00$          

Zoning Confirmation Letter 50.00$          

Escrow Deposits (Application Fee Required With Each Submittal)
Application Fee 200.00$        
Comprehensive Plan Amendment 3,000.00$     40 Acres or Less

5,000.00$     Over 40 Acres
Conditional Use Permit 1,000.00$     Residential/Rural

7,500.00$     Commercial/Industrial/
Institutional

Environmental Assessment Worksheet 10,000.00$   
Interim Use Permit 7,500.00$     
Ordinance Amendment

Map Amendment (Rezone) 1,500.00$     40 Acres or Less
5,000.00$     Over 40 Acres

Text Amendment 1,500.00$     
Planned Unit Development 3,000.00$     General Concept Plan

12,500.00$   Development Stage Plan
7,500.00$     Final Plan

Site Plan Review 7,500.00$     
Subdivision

Concept Plan Review 1,500.00$     
Minor Subdivision 3,000.00$     
Preliminary Plat 5,000.00$     Less than 5 Acres

7,500.00$     5-40 Acres
12,500.00$   Over 40 Acres

Final Plat 1,500.00$     Less than 5 Acres
5,000.00$     5-40 Acres
7,500.00$     Over 40 Acres

Vacation (Street, Utility, Drainage) 1,500.00$     
Variance or appeal 750.00$        

(no fee for Transient Merchant if issued 
by City Clerk)

An escrow account shall be established as indicated above to cover all expenses incurred by the City as part of 
the plan review.  In the case of applications including multiple requests the highest escrow deposit amount will 
be the only one initially required.  The applicant is responsible for all costs incurred by the City during plan 
review.  If the escrow account drops below 10% of the original deposit amount the City will require the 
submittal of an additional escrow deposit sufficient to cover any anticipated expenses. Upon City determination 
that the project is complete or expired, the City will return the remaining escrow deposit to the applicant.

11



DEVELOPMENT FEES

GIS Mapping Fee 90.00$          /Lot
Park Dedication

2,600.00$     /Acre

Residential 3,300.00$     /Unit
Tree Preservation Mitigation Fee 485.00$        /Tree
Street Lighting Operation Fee (New Development) 120.00$        

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE

Tax Increment Financing or Tax Abatement 10,000.00$   Escrow Deposit
Tax Exempt Financing 2,500.00$     

STAFF TIME

LATE FEE

Adopted by the Lino Lakes City Council this 14th day of November, 2022.

The following voted against same:

Rob Rafferty, Mayor

ATTEST:

Julianne Bartell, City Clerk

The motion for the adoption of the foregoing ordinance was introduced by Council Member_____________and 
was duly seconded by Council Member ___________ and upon vote being taken thereon, the following voted in 
favor thereof:

Staff time for chargeable event/projects shall be charged as the employee’s hourly rate of pay plus benefits plus 
calculated overhead costs (when applicable).  Overtime will be charged at 1.5 times the calculated hourly rate.

Late penalty fee: a late charge of 10% or $25.00, whichever is greater, will be charged for fees not paid when 
due.

Section 2. Effective Date of Ordinance.  This ordinance shall be in force and effect from and after its passage 
and publication according to the Lino Lakes City Charter.

Commercial/Industrial/Assisted-Living/Skilled 
Nursing

/Light ($8/mo/light x 15 
months)

Application Fee, plus 1% 
Administration Fee

12



CITY OF LINO LAKES 
RESOLUTION NO. 22-137 

 
APPROVING A SUMMARY OF ORDINANCE NO. 07-22 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council approved Ordinance No. 07-22, Establishing the 2023 Fee 
Schedule, for first reading on October 24, 2022 and second reading and final passage on 
November 14, 2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 07-22 is lengthy and MN statute 412.191 allows the city to 
publish a summary of an ordinance, and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that the summary clearly informs the 
public of the intent and effect of the ordinance, and 
 
WHEREAS, the publication in the official newspaper will include a notice that a full 
printed copy of the ordinance is available at City Hall; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council of the City 
of Lino Lakes: 
 
Approving the summary of Ordinance No. 07-22 in Attachment A for publication 
according to state law and the City Charter. 
 
Adopted by the Council of the City of Lino Lakes this 14th day of November, 2022. 
 
The motion for the adoption of the foregoing resolution was introduced by Council 
Member _____________ and was duly seconded by Council Member _____________   
and upon vote being taken thereon, the following voted in favor thereof: 
 
The following voted against same: 
 
 
 

_____________________          
Rob Rafferty, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________                                     
Julianne Bartell, City Clerk 
 
 

 
 



ATTACHMENT A, RESOLUTION 22-137 
 

 
CITY OF LINO LAKES 

SUMMARY OF ORDINANCE NO. 07-22 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE 2023 CITY OF LINO LAKES FEE 
SCHEDULE; REPEALS ALL ORDINANCES, PARTS OF ORDINANCES AND 

PREVIOUS FEE SCHEDULES THAT CONFLICT THEREWITH. 
 

 The City of Lino Lakes City Council does ordain the following: 
 
 Section 1.  Findings.   Pursuant to Minnesota Law, the Lino Lakes City Charter, 
and the Lino Lakes City Code, and upon a review of a study conducted by City staff, a 
fee schedule for City services and licensing is hereby adopted as follows: 
 
 2023 FEE SCHEDULE 
 A.   Alcoholic Beverages; 
 B.   Amusement and Commercial Recreation; 
 C.   Business and Miscellaneous; 
 D.   Fire Regulations; 
 E.   Police Fees; 
 F. Rentals & Reservations; 
 G.   Building – Construction Utilities; 
 H.  Escrow Deposits; 
 I.    Right-Of-Way Management; 
 J.   Utility Fees; 
 K.  Culvert Prices; 
 L.   Land Use; 
 M. Development Fees; 
 N.   Economic Development Assistance; 
 O. Staff Time; 
 P. Late Fee 
 
 Section 2.  Effective Date of Ordinance.  This ordinance shall be effective on 
January 1, 2023. 
 
Passed by the Lino Lakes City Council on November 14, 2022. 
 
This is a summary of the adopted ordinance.  A full printed copy of the ordinance is 
available at City Hall. 
 



 1  
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA ITEM 6A 

 
 
STAFF ORIGINATOR: Kendra Lindahl and Kevin Shay, Landform  
 
MEETING DATE:  November 14, 2022  
 
TOPIC: Consider 1st Reading of Ordinance No. 08-22 Zoning Ordinance 

Text and Map Amendment 
    

BACKGROUND 
 
The Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map update was started in March of 2021 and has been an 
ongoing effort to review each section of the zoning ordinance and map. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Zoning Map 
 
Minnesota Statutes §473.864 and §473.865 of the Metropolitan Land Planning Act, requires the 
City to review its official controls and amend, as necessary, any that conflict with the 
plan. The statutes require that the zoning map be consistent with the land use map. 
 
Chapter 12 of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan includes the following implementation strategies: 
 

1. “Review and update the zoning map as needed to eliminate any inconsistencies with 
the Comprehensive Plan. 

3. Consider creating new zoning districts: 
a. As “holding zones” for urban development. Holding zones would provide a 

zoning classification appropriate to land planned for future urban development 
but where municipal services are not yet available. The holding zone would apply 
until a landowner/ developer makes application for development, at which time 
the city may rezone the property consistent with its designation on the future land 
use plan map, provided that the development does not result in the premature 
extension of public utilities, facilities or services.” 

 
The zoning map has been revised to be consistent with the future land use of the 2040 
Comprehensive Plan, creates a holding zone for urban development and corrects existing errors 
in the zoning map. There are 1,325 parcels that will be rezoned as part of this effort; however, 
the number of substantive changes is far fewer. The zoning map changes fall into three main 
categories: 
 

1. Planned Unit Development (PUD) District. The City changed Planned Development 
Overlay (PDO) to Planned Unit Development (PUD) with the zoning ordinance update in 
2003.  The City is rezoning all properties previously shown as a PDO to a PUD to reflect 



 2  
 

that change. This change represents 1,225 of the 1,325 properties proposed to be changed 
with the zoning map updates. Other than the name of the zoning district there is no 
regulatory change to these parcels.   

 
2. Land Use Consistency. There are a number of parcels which have been rezoned to be 

consistent with the 2040 future land use for the property. State law required zoning to be 
brought into compliance with the adopted land use designation. This represents 65 of 
1,325 properties being rezoned.  If an existing legally established use is inconsistent with 
the new zoning, the use will become legal non-conforming and may continue, as legally 
established, until such time as the use ceases or the property is redeveloped.   
 

3. Miscellaneous. The remaining 35 properties were identified as mapping errors on the 
existing zoning map. These changes are being completed alongside the zoning map 
update. 

 
A new FUD, Future Urban Development District was proposed in the draft ordinance but was 
not supported by the Planning & Zoning Board or City Council and has been eliminated. 
 
Zoning Ordinance 
 
The changes to the ordinance were done to eliminate unnecessary language and inconsistencies 
in the document, better reflect City goals and makes the ordinance easier to read and understand. 
 
Administration 
 
The changes to the administration sections eliminates unnecessary language and inconsistencies 
in the document. The majority of the text changes are to add language to maintain consistency in 
the purpose, process and requirements for each of the different sections. 
 
The Environmental Review Section 1007.025 is new and outlines the process that the City will 
use when completing the environmental reviews required by Minnesota Statutes and Minnesota 
Rules 4410. It is simply intended to notify developers that they are responsible for the City cost 
to prepare the documents and explains the City review process.  This codifies the process that the 
City has followed in the past.  
 
Zoning Districts 
 
The key changes to the rural, residential, business, industrial, and public and semi-public districts 
(Sections 1007.080 – 1007.130) include: 

 
1. Changes to all districts: 

 
a. Remove Planned Unit Development (PUD) as a conditional use. Currently the 

ordinance provides an option to apply for a PUD by conditional use permit or a 
rezoning to PUD. The new code will require all PUDs to be rezoned to PUD. 

 



 3  
 

b. Add essential service as a use by administrative permit. Essential services consist 
of overhead telephone, gas, electrical, communication, water or sewer 
transmission, distribution, collection, supply or disposal systems including poles, 
wires, mains, drains, sewers, pipes, conduits, cables, fire alarm boxes, police call 
boxes, traffic signals, hydrants and other similar equipment used to serve the 
public. 

 
2. Changes to rural: 

 
a. Remove garage requirement from districts because it is addressed in general 

provisions. The twin home/townhouse requirement for garage has been added to 
the single family standards. 
 

b. Add Agritourism as a conditional use in the R, Rural District. Agritourism would 
include any commercial enterprise that links agricultural production and/or 
processing with tourism in order to attract visitors onto a farm, ranch, or other 
agricultural business for the purposes of entertaining and/or educating. The 
definition was added to Section 1007.001. 

 
c. Remove bicycle racing arenas as a conditional use in the R, Rural District. 

 
d. Include rural cluster developments as a permitted use in R and R-X. Cluster 

development has been added a definition as, “A form of residential development 
that groups buildings or lots to provide common open space.” 

 
3. Changes to residential: 

 
a. Remove garage requirement from districts because it is addressed in general 

provisions as noted in the rural district.  
 

b. Amended the R-2 district day care facilities to be consistent with State Statute. 
 

4. Changes to business: 
 

a. Delete central business and shopping center zoning districts. The zoning districts 
were deleted to reduce the number of individual business districts. 
 

b. Delete drive-through language from restaurants, brewpubs and service businesses. 
The drive-throughs are currently limited to the districts that allow them as an 
accessory use.    

 
5. Changes to industrial: 

 
a. Include indoor self-storage as a permitted use in light and general industrial 

districts. Indoor self-storage is defined as, “A fully enclosed building that is 
climate controlled containing separate, individual and private storage spaces of 



 4  
 

varying sizes, leased or rented on an individual basis for the storage of personal 
property; where individual renters control and access individual storage spaces; 
each unit must be directly accessed from the interior of the building via its own 
access door. Outdoor access to individual units is prohibited. Ancillary retail sales 
of related items, such as moving supplies, and facility offices may also be 
included. Such facilities to be used for storage only” 
 

b. Remove mini self-storage as a conditional use in the general industrial district. It 
is still permitted in the GI district. Mini self-storage is defined as, “An enclosed 
storage facility containing independent, fully enclosed bays that are leased to 
individuals exclusively for the storage of household goods or personal 
belongings.” 

 
6. Changes to public and semi-public: 

 
a. Delete the Rural Business Reserve District. The Rural Business Reserve District 

was intended to be a holding zone for commercial and industrial zoning districts 
and is no longer needed with the rural and future urban development 
accomplishing the same task. 

 
New Zoning Districts 
 
The Business Campus (BC) zoning district is for the land in eastern Lino Lakes that was 
designated Business Campus in the 2040 Comprehensive Plan. The intent is to provide for multi-
use buildings, business offices, wholesale showrooms, and related uses in an environment which 
provides a high level of amenities.  The district will serve primarily as employment centers, with 
office, service, research and development, data centers and light industrial uses. Other uses 
would include those that support the businesses and their employees, such as convenience retail 
or services, hotels, restaurants, daycare facilities, banks or other financial institutions. The 
development standards included in the district are the same as the light industrial district with 
only the list of uses being different. This district is not currently shown on the zoning map but as 
land develops within the commercial, business campus or industrial land use the properties will 
be rezoned. Staff has added the commercial land use option since the P&Z saw the last draft of 
this section. There are areas in the City where land guided commercial may be appropriate for 
this BC zoning designation and staff wants to provide this additional option. The development 
would be required to request a rezoning to BC, which give the City a high level of discretion in 
determining appropriateness of the district.  
 
The High Density Residential and Commercial (R-5) zoning district is intended to provide a 
setting for multiple family housing and commercial in areas that have good thoroughfare access.  
The R-5 district shall correspond to the Planned Residential/Commercial land use category in the 
2040 Comprehensive Plan future land use map. The uses allowed within the district are a 
combination of uses found in the High Density Residential (R-4) district and the General 
Business (GB) district, with the development standards reflecting those district standards as well. 
This district is not currently shown on the zoning map but as land develops within the planned 
residential/commercial land use the properties will be rezoned. 



 5  
 

Agritourism 
 
Agritourism is a new use that has been added as a conditional use to the Rural (R) district. 
Agritourism is defined as “any commercial enterprise that links agricultural production and/or 
processing with tourism in order to attract visitors onto a farm, ranch, or other agricultural 
business for the purposes of entertaining and/or educating.”  By allowing agritourism as a CUP 
we can address the effects of the use to ensure the site’s agriculture and surrounding properties 
are not affected by the operations and activities of the use. An example of the use is Waldoch 
Farm. 
 
The agritourism standards are in located in the general provisions section of the zoning ordinance 
similar to other conditional uses with substantial conditions. 
 
Rural Clusters 
 
Staff has drafted a rural cluster ordinance that will allow cluster developments as a permitted use 
on parcels located in the Rural (R) and Rural Executive (R-X) districts, which are guided Low 
Density Residential on the full build land use map and staged in the post-2040 area on the 
staging plan. The rural cluster ordinance will allow 8 units per 40 acres when utilizing individual 
septic systems and 12 units per 40 acres when utilizing community septic. Staff is recommending 
the density bonuses as a tool to provide landowners with additional development opportunities 
while preserving land for future development with urban services. Performance standards for the 
rural cluster ordinance will be adopted as part of the general provisions section to ensure that the 
rural cluster preserves the higher quality natural resources and can transition effectively to urban 
services when they become available. The performance standards used for the rural cluster 
ordinance are very similar to the existing rural planned unit development language found in the 
Zoning Ordinance, which has now been deleted. Some of the language referenced into the draft 
ordinance is from the conservation subdivision section which is being removed from the 
Subdivision Ordinance as part of the update and the standards are being utilized as part of the 
new rural cluster ordinance. 
 
The standards that have changed from the rural planned unit development include: 
 

• Open space is no longer taken in perpetuity but is instead held until the subject property 
gains access to municipal sanitary sewer and water services. 

• The density has been increased by four units per 40 acres for both the base density and 
bonus density. 

• Standards have been included for maintenance, management and replacement of 
community septic systems. 

• Open space is now required to include a minimum of 25 percent upland area. 
• Residential lots must be large enough to support a primary and secondary septic system. 
• Included cluster development definition and added number of units required to be 

considered a cluster. 
 
Liquor Standards 
 



 6  
 

The current ordinance allows brewer taprooms accessory to a malt liquor beverage production 
and bottling facility in the Light Industrial (LI) and General Industrial (GI). 
 
We have updated the General Business (GB), Light Industrial (LI) and General Industrial (GI) 
districts to include a broader range of uses related to alcoholic beverages such as, brew pub, 
brewer taproom, microbrewery/small brewer, microdistillery/small distillery and winery/cider 
mill (which includes meadery). The uses are defined as: 
 

Brew Pub - A restaurant that conducts the retail sale of malt liquor brewed on the premise 
and licensed under Minnesota Statute section 340A.301, subdivision 6(d).  Areas used 
exclusively for brewing operations shall not exceed 25 percent of the total floor area.  
Included within this use is the off-sale of malt liquor produced on site in refillable 
growlers pursuant to Minnesota Statutes section 340A.301, subdivision 7(b). (No change 
from existing ordinance) 
 
Brewer Taproom - Facility on the premises of, or adjacent to, a malt liquor beverage 
production facility / brewery intended for the on-sale and consumption of malt liquor 
produced by the brewer pursuant to Minnesota Statute section 340A.301, subdivision 6b.   
A brewer taproom may include a restaurant. (No change from existing ordinance) 
 
Microdistilleries - is a distillery operated within the state producing premium, distilled 
spirits in total quantity not to exceed 40,000 proof gallons in a calendar year, which 
distillery is licensed under Minnesota Statutes section 340A. (New definition) 
 
Small Brewer - is a brewer licensed under section Minnesota Statutes section 340A.301, 
Subdivision 6, clause (c), (i), or (j) who also holds a retail license to sell off-sale malt 
liquor at its licensed premises which has been produced and packaged by the brewer. 
(New definition) 
 
Winery – a place that makes wine through the fermentation of grapes. This includes 
sparkling wine, vermouth, cider, mead, perry and sake. (New definition) 
 
Tasting Room - an area used for accessory alcoholic beverage retail consumption on the 
premises where the alcoholic beverages are produced. (New definition) 
 

The ordinance is drafted to allow for the following: 
 
GB District; 

• Permitted use 
o Brew pub (new) 
o Microdistillery (new) 
o Small brewer (new) 
o Winery (new) 

• Accessory Use 
o Tasting room accessory to a distillery 
o Tasting room accessory to a winery 



 7  
 

o Brewer taproom accessory to a small brewer 
 
LI District; 

• Permitted accessory use 
o Brewer taproom accessory to malt liquor beverage production (no change) 
o Tasting room accessory to distilled spirits production (new) 
o Tasting room accessory to wine beverage production (new) 

 
GI District; 

• Permitted accessory use 
o Brewer taproom accessory to malt liquor beverage production (no change) 
o Tasting room accessory to distilled spirits production (new) 
o Tasting room accessory to wine beverage production (new) 

 
General Provisions 
 
City staff prepared a summary of Zoning Ordinance changes to the General Provisions section 
needed to comply with State Law, eliminate inconsistencies in the document, better reflect City 
goals and make the ordinance easier to read and understand. 
 
The changes to the section include: 
 

1. The non-conforming use section has been revised for compliance with the 2009 changes 
to MN Statute §462.357, Subd.1e. 
 

2. The word “quadraminium” is not commonly used and has been replaced with the word 
townhouse. 
 

3. Provided a consistent standard across districts for garage sizes. Garages are intended to 
provide space to store vehicles and other equipment. The intent is to provide enough 
space within the garage and other accessory structures to contain all equipment in 
addition to the vehicles. The existing minimum standard is 20 feet wide with a total size 
of 440 square feet for single family, two family and townhomes. The draft ordinance has 
increased the minimum size to 520 square feet. 
 

4. Accessory buildings.  Added language to note that no building permit is be required for 
detached accessory buildings containing 200 sq. ft. in gross floor area or less to be 
consistent with MN State Building Code.  Such buildings will still require a Zoning 
Permit to ensure compliance with Code standards.  Additionally, we have added a section 
to allow one detached accessory building under 120 square feet by right, which will not 
be counted against the total number of allowed accessory structures in the district. 
 

5. Added standards for carports. 
 

6. Includes revised architecture standards which break down the classes of materials into 
three classes for use on the building. 



 8  
 

 
7. Added definitions to the landscape standards. The landscape section has not been 

updated, but will be updated at a later date by city staff. 
 

8. The Curb Cut/Driveway Width within rural and residential zoning districts was changed 
from 26 feet in width to 28 feet. 
 

9. Reviewed the parking standards and reformatted as a table to make it easier to read. 
Modified some parking calculations to be consistent with current practices. 
 

10. Added standards for private drives as a new Section 1007.046. This provides standards 
for private drives to distinguish them from public streets, provide clear standards and 
ensure that the homeowners association maintains them in perpetuity. 
 

11. Changed the earth moving and land reclamation activities allowed by Section 1007.051 
from a conditional use permit (which runs with the land) to an interim use permit (which 
includes a sunset clause). 
 

12. Added new language for Wind Energy Conversion System (WECS) as Section 1007.060. 
this provides standards to allow WECS as an accessory use. 
 

13. Added standards for solar energy systems as Section 1007.061. 
 

14. Added language for Model Homes and Temporary Real Estate Offices by administrative 
permit as a new Section 1007.062. These are common for large developments and this 
provides consistent standards.  
 

15. Added language for Temporary Structures as a new Section 1007.063 for emergency use.  
This is typically a short term need when a structure is damaged and uninhabitable.  It 
allows a temporary structure while the original structure is being rebuilt. 
 

16. Added performance standards for motor fuel stations as Section 1007.064. 
 
PUD 
 
The following is a list of changes made to the PUD section of the ordinance. 
 

1. Eliminated the PUD by conditional use permit and requires them all to be done as a 
rezoning to the PUD zoning district. The rezoning to PUD creates a negotiated zoning 
district unique to the individual project and gives the City a higher level of discretion 
than a conditional use permit. 

 
2. Modifying the purpose and intent to be clearer and more concise. 

 
3. Expanding the list of desired public benefits to be evaluated with PUDs. 
 



 9  
 

4. Created a table to identify base development guidelines by zoning district along with a 
reference to the base general provision standards. While staff historically has included 
this base zoning reference as part of the analysis and noted this district in the staff report, 
this change will provide more clarity. 

 
5. Deleting unnecessary general requirements covered under other sections of the Zoning or 

Subdivision Ordinance. 
 
6. Moving rural residential PUD requirements to the rural cluster section to allow it by 

right. These subdivisions will allow clustering of homes on smaller lots than would 
typically be allowed in exchange for preservation of at least 50% of the area as open 
space and compliance with additional conservation development standards. 

 
7. Modifying the open space performance standards to clarify how it is calculated and 

designed in urban residential PUDs. 
 
8. Creating a subsection for mixed-use PUD requirements which references the residential, 

commercial and industrial PUD sections. 
 

9. Creating an additional requirement for commercial and industrial PUDs to have 
harmonious and integrated design for all buildings in the development.  

 
10. Added a requirement that the developer hold a neighborhood meeting prior to submittal 

of a PUD concept plan application. 
 

11. Streamlined the submittal requirements to eliminate unnecessary requirements and 
referencing standards from other sections of City Code rather than repeating the 
standards. 

 
12. Updating submittal procedures to match current city process. 
 
13. Creating a process for plan modifications or amendments to a PUD. 

 
14. Created a list of all existing planned development overlays (PDO’s) to become PUDs 

along with all existing PUDs.  The ordinance will be amended with future PUDs to add 
the PUD reference to Section 1007.131. 

 
SUMMARY 
 
This report is intended to provide a comprehensive list of all the changes that been made as part 
of the Zoning Ordinance update. The zoning ordinance will repeal the existing zoning ordinance 
and replace it with this version. The Planning and Zoning Board recommendations are included 
in the Zoning Ordinance and on the zoning map.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 



 10  
 

Staff recommends approval of the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
1. Ordinance No. 08-22 including Zoning Code and Zoning Map 



1 
 

1st Reading: Publication: 

2nd Reading: Effective: 

 

 

 

CITY OF LINO LAKES 

ORDINANCE NO. 08-22 

 

ORDINANCE AMENDING CITY CODE CHAPTER 1007: ZONING CODE 
 

The City Council of Lino Lakes ordains: 

Section 1. Findings.    The City Council finds that the amended zoning code and zoning map 
protects the public health, safety, comfort, convenience and general welfare of the residents of 
the community. 

Section 2. Amendment.  The Lino Lakes City Code Chapter 1007: Zoning Code including the 
zoning map is hereby repealed in its entirety and replaced with the following attached exhibits: 

Exhibit A: Chapter 1007: Zoning Code 

Exhibit B: Zoning Map of Lino Lakes 

Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective from and after its passage and 
publication according to the Lino Lakes City Charter. 

 

Adopted by the Lino Lakes City Council this _____day of ____________, 2022. 

The motion for the adoption of the foregoing ordinance was introduced by Council 
Member_____________and was duly seconded by Council Member ___________ and upon 
vote being taken thereon, the following voted in favor thereof: 

 

The following voted against same: 

____________________________ 

Rob Rafferty, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________                                     

Julianne Bartell, City Clerk 



1 

Contents 
TITLE / APPLICATION / RULES ............................................................................................... 3 

§ 1007.000   TITLE AND APPLICATION................................................................................ 3 

§ 1007.001   RULES AND DEFINITIONS. .............................................................................. 6 

ADMINISTRATION .................................................................................................................... 38 

§ 1007.015   AMENDMENTS: TEXT AND MAP. ................................................................. 38 

§ 1007.016   CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS........................................................................ 40 

§ 1007.017   INTERIM USE PERMITS. ................................................................................. 43 

§ 1007.018   VARIANCES AND APPEALS. .......................................................................... 45 

§ 1007.019   ADMINISTRATION: ADMINISTRATIVE PERMITS AND APPROVALS. .. 48 

§ 1007.020   SITE AND BUILDING PLAN REVIEW. .......................................................... 50 

§ 1007.021   DUTIES OF CITY STAFF. ................................................................................. 59 

§ 1007.022   CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY. ................................................................... 60 

§ 1007.023   ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES. ............................................................... 61 

§ 1007.024    PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD). .................................................... 62 

§ 1007.025    ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW. ........................................................................ 72 

GENERAL PROVISIONS ........................................................................................................... 73 

§ 1007.040   PURPOSE. ........................................................................................................... 73 

§ 1007.041   NON-CONFORMING USES AND STRUCTURES. ......................................... 73 

§ 1007.042   GENERAL PARCEL, LOT AND YARD PROVISIONS. ................................. 74 

§ 1007.043   GENERAL BUILDING AND USE PROVISIONS. ........................................... 80 

§ 1007.044   OFF-STREET PARKING. ................................................................................ 123 

§ 1007.045   OFF-STREET LOADING SPACES. ................................................................ 136 

§ 1007.046   PRIVATE STREETS. ........................................................................................ 138 

§ 1007.047   RELOCATED STRUCTURES. ........................................................................ 140 

§ 1007.048   HOME OCCUPATION PERMITS. .................................................................. 141 

§ 1007.049   ACCESSORY APARTMENTS. ....................................................................... 147 

§ 1007.050   DRAINAGE. ...................................................................................................... 149 

§ 1007.051   EARTH MOVING AND LAND RECLAMATION. ........................................ 150 

§ 1007.052   FARMING OPERATIONS. .............................................................................. 152 

§ 1007.053   ADULT USES. .................................................................................................. 153 

§ 1007.054   ANTENNAS. ..................................................................................................... 155 

§ 1007.055   ACCESSORY OUTDOOR DINING AREAS. ................................................. 162 

§ 1007.056   BATCH PLANTS. ............................................................................................. 164 

§ 1007.057   OPT OUT OF MINN. STAT. 462.3593. ........................................................... 165 



2 

§ 1007.058   COMMERCIAL STABLES. ............................................................................. 166 

§ 1007.059   AGRITOURISM. ............................................................................................... 167 

§ 1007.060   WIND ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEM (WECS) ..................................... 169 

§ 1007.061   SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS. ......................................................................... 172 

§ 1007.062   MODEL HOMES WITH TEMPORARY REAL ESTATE OFFICES. ............ 175 

§ 1007.063  TEMPORARY STRUCTURES. ........................................................................ 176 

§ 1007.064  MOTOR FUEL STATIONS. .............................................................................. 177 

§ 1007.065   AIR PARK HANGAR AND ACCESS PERFORMANCE STANDARDS...... 180 

§ 1007.066  RURAL CLUSTER DEVELOPMENT. ............................................................. 182 

DISTRICT PROVISIONS ......................................................................................................... 186 

§ 1007.070   GENERAL ZONING DISTRICT PROVISIONS. ............................................ 186 

RURAL DISTRICTS.................................................................................................................. 188 

§ 1007.080   R, RURAL DISTRICT. ..................................................................................... 188 

§ 1007.081   R-X, RURAL EXECUTIVE DISTRICT. .......................................................... 194 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS .................................................................................................... 199 

§ 1007.090   R-1, SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. ...................................... 199 

§ 1007.091   R-1X, SINGLE FAMILY EXECUTIVE RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. ............ 204 

§ 1007.092   R-2, TWO FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. ........................................... 208 

§ 1007.093   R-3, MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. .................................. 213 

§ 1007.094   R-4, HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. ........................................ 218 

§ 1007.095   R-5, HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL AND BUSINESS DISTRICT. ........... 223 

§ 1007.096   R-6, MANUFACTURED HOME PARK DISTRICT. ...................................... 228 

BUSINESS DISTRICTS ........................................................................................................... 234 

§ 1007.110   NB, NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS DISTRICT. ............................................ 234 

§ 1007.111   LB, LIMITED BUSINESS DISTRICT. ............................................................ 239 

§ 1007.112   GB, GENERAL BUSINESS DISTRICT. ......................................................... 245 

INDUSTRIAL DISTRICTS ....................................................................................................... 254 

§ 1007.120   LI, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT. ............................................................. 254 

§ 1007.121   GI, GENERAL INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT. ...................................................... 261 

§ 1007.122   BC, BUSINESS CAMPUS DISTRICT. ............................................................ 268 

SPECIAL DISTRICTS .............................................................................................................. 272 

§ 1007.130   PSP, PUBLIC AND SEMI-PUBLIC DISTRICT. ............................................. 272 

§ 1007.131   PUD, PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT. .................................. 276 

 
  



3 

TITLE / APPLICATION / RULES 
 
 
§ 1007.000   TITLE AND APPLICATION. 
 

(1) Title.   This ordinance shall be known, cited and referred to as the “LINO LAKES 
ZONING ORDINANCE” except as referred to herein, where it shall be known as “this ordinance” 
or “City Code Section.” 
 

(2) Intent and Purpose.   This ordinance is adopted for the purpose of: 
 

(a) Protecting the public health, safety, comfort, convenience and general welfare. 
 

(b) Dividing the City of Lino Lakes into zones and districts restricting and regulating 
therein the location and use of structures and land and lot size. 

 
(c)  Promoting orderly development of the residential, business, industrial, recreational 

and public areas. 
 

(d) Providing adequate light, air, and convenience of access to property. 
 
(e) Limiting congestion in the public right-of-way. 

 
(f) Preventing overcrowding of land and undue concentration of structures by regulating 

the use of land and buildings in relation to the land and buildings surrounding. 
 
(g) Providing for the compatibility of different land uses and the most appropriate use of 

land throughout the City of Lino Lakes. 
 

(h) Protecting and guiding the development of the rural area. 
 
(i) Conserving and developing natural resources. 
 
(j) Fostering agriculture and other industries. 
 
(k) Preventing a wasteful scattering of population. 
 
(l) Securing safety from flood. 
 
(m) Reducing waste and municipal maintenance cost from excessive mileage of roads. 

 
(n) Conserving the natural and scenic beauty and attractiveness of road sides and 

lakeshores. 
 

(o) Providing for the administration of this ordinance and amendments to the ordinance. 
 

(p) Defining the powers and duties of the administrative officers and bodies, as provided 
hereinafter. 



4 

 
(3) Application. 

 
(a)  In their interpretation and application, the provisions of this ordinance shall be held 

to be the minimum requirements for the promotion of the public health, safety, and welfare. 
 
(b) Where the conditions imposed by any provisions of this ordinance are either more 

restrictive or less restrictive than comparable conditions imposed by any other law ordinance, 
statute, resolution, or regulation, the regulations which are more restrictive, or which impose 
higher standards or requirements shall prevail. 

 
(c)  Except as in this ordinance specifically provided, no structure shall be constructed, 

converted, enlarged, reconstructed or altered, and no structure or land shall be used for any purpose 
nor in any manner which is not in conformity with this ordinance. 

 
(d) No yard or lot existing at the time of passage of this ordinance shall be reduced in 

dimension or area below the minimum requirements set forth herein. Yards or lots created after 
the effective date of this ordinance shall meet at least the minimum requirements established by 
this ordinance. 
 

(4) Relation to Comprehensive Municipal Plan.   It is the policy of the City of Lino Lakes 
that the enforcement, amendment, and administration of this ordinance be accomplished with due 
consideration of the recommendations contained in the City Comprehensive Plan as developed 
and amended from time to time by the Planning and Zoning Board and City Council.  The Council 
recognizes the Comprehensive Plan as the policy for responsibility to regulate land use and 
development in accordance with the policies and purpose herein set forth. 
 

(5) Uses Not Provided for Within Zoning Districts.   In any zoning district, whenever a 
proposed use is neither specifically allowed nor denied, the City Council shall determine if the 
proposed use is comparable in potential activities and impacts to a use listed within the zoning 
district and is acceptable related to land use compatibility, traffic, and/or nuisance issues and 
established conditions and standards relating to development of the use. Where such a 
determination is made, the requirements established for the listed use shall apply as minimum 
standards for the proposed use.  Additional requirements may be applied to address differences 
between the listed use and the proposed use.   
 

In such cases where, in the judgment of the City Council, there is no comparable use listed, 
the City Council or Planning and Zoning Board, on their own initiative or upon request from the 
property owner, may conduct a study to determine if the proposed use is acceptable and, if so, 
what zoning district would be most appropriate and what conditions and standards should apply to 
the proposed use.  The City Council, Planning and Zoning Board, or property owner, on receipt of 
the staff study, may initiate an amendment to the Zoning Ordinance consistent with City Code 
Section 1007.015 of this ordinance to provide for the particular use under consideration or shall 
find that the proposed use is not compatible for development within the City. 
 

(6) Separability.   It is hereby declared to be the intention that the several provisions of this 
ordinance are separable in accordance with the following: 
 



5 

(a) If any court or competent jurisdiction shall adjudge any provision of this ordinance 
to be invalid, such judgment shall not affect any other provision of this ordinance not specifically 
included in such judgment. 

 
(b) If any court or competent jurisdiction shall adjudge invalid the application of any 

provision of this ordinance to a particular property, building, or structure, such judgment shall not 
affect other property, buildings or structures. 
 

(7) Authority.   This ordinance is enacted pursuant to the authority granted by the Municipal 
Planning Act, M. S. §462.351 to §462.363. 
 

(8) Fees.   No application for a Zoning Ordinance amendment, rezoning, conditional use 
permit, interim use permit, variance, administrative permit, or site and building plan review shall 
be accepted or considered by the City Council or any other body of the City unless such application 
is complete and accompanied by a deposit.  The total fee for processing such application, which 
shall be paid by the petitioner to the City, shall be paid whether or not such application is approved 
or denied.  The deposit shall be used to cover the total out of pocket expenses incurred by the City 
in processing such application, for such necessary items as, but not limited to, attorney’s, planner’s, 
and/or engineer’s fees and costs, and any other costs incident thereto, and shall be in addition to a 
fee for the City staff services, to be paid to the City, which separate fees and deposits shall be 
established by City Council ordinance/resolution. 
 

The deposit shall not be considered as the total amount to be paid.  The total amount shall 
be the actual amount expended plus the fee for the City staff services. 

 
Any unused portion of the required deposits will be returned to the petitioner.  The fees 

established herein may be changed by the City Council from time to time, by resolution or 
ordinance, as appropriate.  A copy of said resolution or ordinance shall be on file in the office of 
the City Clerk and available for inspection during regular City office hours. 

 
 



6 

§ 1007.001   RULES AND DEFINITIONS. 
 

(1) Rules.   The language set forth in the text of this ordinance shall be interpreted in 
accordance with the following rules of construction: 
 

(a) The singular number includes the plural, and the plural the singular. 
 
(b) The present tense includes the past and the future tenses, and the future the present. 
 
(c) The words “shall” and “must” are mandatory while the word “may” is permissive. 
 
(d) The masculine gender includes the feminine and neuter. 
 
(e) Whenever a word or term defined hereinafter appears in the text of this ordinance, its 

meaning shall be construed as set forth in such definition thereof, or its commonly used definition 
by the Merriam-Webster dictionary. 

 
(f) In the event of conflicting provisions, the more restrictive shall apply. 
 
(g) All measured distances expressed in feet shall be to the nearest tenth of a foot. 
 
(h) In their interpretation and application, the provisions of this ordinance shall be held 

to be the minimum requirement for the promotion of health, safety, and welfare. 
 

(2) Definitions.   The following words and terms, wherever they occur in this ordinance, shall 
be interpreted as herein defined: 
 

ACCESSORY APARTMENT. A secondary dwelling unit established in conjunction with and 
clearly subordinate to a primary dwelling unit, whether a part of the same structure as the primary 
dwelling unit or a detached dwelling unit on the same lot. 

 
ACCESSORY BUILDING.   A portion of the principal building or a detached structure on 

the same lot which is used for an accessory use. 
 
ACCESSORY STRUCTURE. A structure detached from a principal building located on the 

same lot and customarily incidental and subordinate to the principal building or use. 
 
ACCESSORY USE.   A use of land or of a building or portion thereof customarily incidental 

and subordinate to the principal use of the land or building and located on the same lot with such 
principal use. 

 
ADDITION.   A physical enlargement of an existing structure. 
 
ADJOINING/ABUTTING LOT OR LAND.   A lot or parcel of land which shares all or part 

of a common lot line with another lot or parcel of land. 
 

ADULT USE RELATED TERMS. 
 



7 

(a) ADULT USES.   Adult uses include adult bookstores, adult motion picture theaters, 
adult massage parlors, adult steam room/boathouse/sauna facilities, adult companionship 
establishments, adult rap/conversation parlors, adult health/sport clubs, adult cabarets, adult 
novelty businesses, adult motion picture arcades, adult modeling studios, adult hotels/motels, adult 
body painting studios, and other premises, enterprises, establishments, businesses or places open 
to some or all members of the public, at or in which there is an emphasis on the presentation, 
display, depiction or description of “specified sexual activities” or “specified anatomical areas” 
which are capable of being seen by members of the public.  Activities classified as obscene as 
defined by M. S. §617.241 are not included. 
 

1. Specified Anatomical Areas: 
 

a. Less than completely opaquely covered human genitals, pubic region, buttock 
anus, or female breast(s) below a point immediately above the top of the areola; and 

 
b. Human male genitals in a discernibly turgid state, even if completely and 

opaquely covered. 
 

2. Specified Sexual Activities: 
 

a. Actual or simulated sexual intercourse, oral copulation, anal intercourse, oral-
anal copulation, bestiality, direct physical stimulation of unclothed genitals, flagellation or torture 
in the context of a sexual relationship, or the use of excretory functions in the context of a sexual 
relationship, and any of the following: sexually-oriented acts or conduct: anilingus, buggery, 
coprophagy, coprophilia, cunnilingus, fellatio, necrophilia, pederasty, pedophilia, piquerism, 
sapphism, zooerasty; or 

 
b. Clearly depicted human genitals in the state of sexual stimulation, arousal or 

tumescence; or 
 
c. Use of human or animal ejaculation, sodomy, oral copulation, coitus, or 

masturbation; or 
 
d. Fondling or touching of nude human genitals, pubic region, buttocks, or female 

breast; or 
 
e. Situations involving a person or persons, any of whom are nude, clad in 

undergarments or in sexually revealing costumes, and who are engaged in activities involving the 
flagellation, torture, fettering, binding or other physical restraint of any such persons; or 

 
f. Erotic or lewd touching, fondling or other sexually-oriented contact with an 

animal by a human being; or 
 

g. Human excretion, urination, menstruation, vaginal or anal irrigation. 
 

(b) ADULT USE - ACCESSORY.   The offering of retail goods for sale which are 
classified as adult uses on a limited scale and which are incidental to the primary activity and goods 



8 

and/or services offered by the establishment.  Examples of such items include the sale of adult 
magazines, the sale and/or rental of adult motion pictures, the sale of adult novelties, and the like. 
 

(c) ADULT USES - PRINCIPAL.   The offering of goods and/or services which are 
classified as adult uses as a primary or sole activity of a business or establishment and include but 
are not limited to the following: 

 
1. Adult Use - Body Painting Studio.   An establishment or business which provides 

the service of applying paint or other substance, whether transparent or non-transparent, to or on 
the body of a patron when such body is wholly or partially nude in terms of “specified anatomical 
areas.” 

 
2. Adult Use - Bookstore.   A building or portion of a building used for barter, rental 

or sale of items consisting of printed matter, pictures, slides, records, audio tape, videotape, 
compact discs, computer software, digital recordings, motion picture film, or other communication 
mediums if such building or portion of a building is not open to the public generally but only to 
one or more classes of the public excluding any minor by reason of age or if a substantial or 
significant portion of such items are distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on the depiction 
or description of “specified sexual activities” or “specified anatomical areas.” 

 
3. Adult Use - Cabaret.   A building or portion of a building used for providing 

dancing or other live entertainment, if such building or portion of a building excludes minors by 
virtue of age or if such dancing or other live entertainment is distinguished or characterized by an 
emphasis on the presentation, display, depiction or description of “specified sexual activities” or 
“specified anatomical areas.” 

 
4. Adult Use - Companionship Establishment.   A companionship establishment 

which excludes minors by reason of age, or which provides the service of engaging in or listening 
to conversation, talk or discussion between an employee of the establishment and a customer, if 
such service is distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on “specified sexual activities” or 
“specified anatomical areas.” 

 
5. Adult Use - Conversation/Rap Parlor.   A conversation/rap parlor which excludes 

minors by reason of age, or which provides the service of engaging in or listening to conversation, 
talk, or discussion, if such service is distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on “specified 
sexual activities” or “specified anatomical areas.” 

 
6. Adult Use - Health/Sport Club.   A health/sport club which excludes minors by 

reason of age, or if such club is distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on “specified sexual 
activities” or “specified anatomical areas.” 

 
7. Adult Use - Hotel or Motel.   Adult hotel or motel means a hotel or motel from 

which minors are specifically excluded from patronage and wherein material is presented which 
is distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on matter depicting, describing or relating to 
“specified sexual activities” or “specified anatomical areas.” 
 

8. Adult Use - Massage Parlor, Health Club.   A massage parlor or health club which 
restricts minors by reason of age, and which provides the services of massage, if such service is 



9 

distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on “specified sexual activities” or “specified 
anatomical areas.” 

 
9. Adult Use - Mini-Motion Picture Theater.   A building or portion of a building 

with a capacity for less than 50 persons used for presenting material if such building or portion of 
a building as a prevailing practice excludes minors by virtue of age, or if such material is 
distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on “specified sexual activities” or “specified 
anatomical areas” for observation by patrons therein. 

 
10. Adult Use - Modeling Studio.   An establishment whose major business is the 

provision, to customers, of figure models who are so provided with the intent of providing sexual 
stimulation or sexual gratification to such customers and who engage in “specified sexual 
activities” or display “specified anatomical areas” while being observed, painted, painted upon, 
sketched, drawn, sculptured, photographed, or otherwise depicted by such customers. 

 
11. Adult Use - Motion Picture Arcade.   Any place to which the public is permitted 

or invited wherein coin or slug-operated or electronically, electrically or mechanically controlled 
or operated still or motor picture machines, projectors or other image-producing devices are 
maintained to show images to five or fewer persons per machine at any one time, and where the 
images so displayed are distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on depicting or describing 
“specified sexual activities” or “specified anatomical areas.” 

 
12. Adult Use - Motion Picture Theater.   A building or portion of a building with a 

capacity of 50 or more persons used for presenting material if such building or portion of a 
building as a prevailing practice excludes minors by virtue of age or if such material is 
distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on “specified anatomical areas” for observation by 
patrons therein. 
 

13. Adult Use - Novelty Business.   A business which has as a principal activity the 
sale of devices which stimulate human genitals or devices which are designed for sexual 
stimulation. 

 
14. Adult Use - Sauna.   A sauna which excludes minors by reason of age, or which 

provides a steam bath or heat bathing room used for the purpose of bathing, relaxation, or reducing, 
utilizing steam or hot air as a cleaning, relaxing or reducing agent, if the service provided by the 
sauna is distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on “specified sexual activities” or 
“specified anatomical areas.” 
 

15. Adult Use - Steam Room/Bathhouse Facility.   A building or a portion of a building 
used for providing a steam bath or heat bathing room used for the purpose of pleasure, bathing, 
relaxation, or reducing, utilizing steam or hot air as a cleaning, relaxing or reducing agent if such 
building or portion of a building restricts minors by reason of age or if the service provided by the 
steam room/bathhouse facility is distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on “specified 
sexual activities” or “specified anatomical areas.” 
 

AGRICULTURAL BUILDING.   An accessory building designed, constructed, or used to 
house farm implements or agriculture products on agricultural lands as defined by M. S. §273.12 
and §273.23, as amended.  A Minnesota Pollution Control Agency Permit may be required. 



10 

 
AGRICULTURE.   The use of land for the production, keeping or maintenance, sale, or 

personal use, of plants and animals useful to man, including but not limited to: forages and sod 
crops; grains and seed crops; dairy animals and dairy products; poultry and poultry products; 
livestock, including beef cattle, sheep, swine, horses, ponies, mules, or goats, or any mutations or 
hybrids thereof, including the breeding and grazing of any or all of such animals; bees and apiary 
products; fruits of all kinds, including grapes, nuts and berries; vegetables; nursery, floral, 
ornamental and greenhouse products; or lands devoted to a soil conservation or forestry 
management program.  Agricultural land uses do not include slaughterhouses or the processing of 
crops, produce, animals for public purchase or consumption as to constitute a commercial or 
industrial land use. 

 
AGRITOURISM. Includes any commercial enterprise that links agricultural production 

and/or processing with tourism in order to attract visitors onto a farm, ranch, or other agricultural 
business for the purposes of entertaining and/or educating. 

 
AIRPORT.   A place where aircraft can land and take off, usually equipped with hangars, 

facilities for refueling and repair, and various accommodations for passengers. 
 
AIRPORT, PRIVATE USE.   Airports which are intended for use by certain individuals or 

associations and not to the public. 
 
ALLEY. A public right-of-way which provides a secondary means of access to abutting 

property. 
 
ANIMAL UNIT.   A unit of measure used to compare differences in the production of animal 

manure that employs as a standard the amount of manure produced on a regular basis by a slaughter 
steer or heifer for an animal feedlot or a manure storage area, calculated by multiplying the number 
of animals of each type by the respective multiplication factor and summing the resulting values 
for the total number of animal units. For purposes of this chapter, the following multiplication 
factors shall apply. For animals not listed, the number of animal units is the average weight of the 
animal in pounds divided by 1,000 pounds. 

 

Animal Animal 
Unit 

Dairy Cattle  
Mature Cow (1,000 pounds or over) 1.4 
Mature Cow (Under 1,000 pounds) 1.0 
Heifer 0.7 
Calf 0.2 

Beef Cattle  
Slaughter Steer or Stock Cow 1.0 
Feeder Cattle or Heifer 0.7 
Cow and Calf Pair 1.2 
Calf 0.2 

Swine  
Over 300 pounds 0.4 



11 

Between 55 and 300 pounds 0.3 
Under 55 pounds 0.05 

Horse 1.0 
Sheep or Lamb 0.1 
Chicken (Liquid Manure System) 0.0333 
Chicken (Dry Manure System)  

5 pounds or over 0.005 
Less than 5 pounds 0.003 

Turkey  
5 pounds or over 0.018 

Less than 5 pounds 0.005 
Duck 0.01 

 
ANIMALS, DOMESTIC.   Any animal commonly accepted as a domesticated household pet.  

Unless otherwise defined, such animals shall include dogs; cats; caged birds including pigeons; 
gerbils; hamsters; guinea pigs; domesticated rabbits; fish; non-poisonous, non-venomous, and non-
constricting reptiles or amphibians; and other similar animals.  

 
ANIMALS, FARM.   Any animal commonly associated with a farm or performing work in 

an agricultural setting.  Unless otherwise defined, such animals shall include members of the 
equestrian family (horses, mules), bovine family (cows, bulls), sheep, poultry (chickens, turkeys), 
fowl (ducks, geese), swine (excluding Vietnamese pot-bellied pigs), goats, bees, and other animals 
associated with a farm, ranch, or stable. 
 

ANTENNA RELATED. 
 

(a) Personal Wireless Service.   A device consisting of a metal, carbon, fiber, or other 
electromagnetically conducive rods or elements on a single supporting pole or other structure, and 
used for the transmission and reception of wireless communications including cellular, personal 
communication services (PCS), enhanced specialized mobilized radio (ESMR), paging and similar 
services. 

 
(b) Public or Commercial Radio and Television, Broadcast Transmitting.   A wire, set 

of wires, metal or carbon fiber rod or other electromagnetic element used to transmit public or 
commercial broadcast radio, or television programming and including the support structure 
thereof. 

 
(c) Public Utility Microwave. A parabolic dish or cornucopia shaped electromagnetically 

reflective or conductive element used for the transmission and/or reception of point to point UHF 
or VHF radio waves in wireless telephone communications, and including the support structure 
thereof. 

 
(d) Radio and Television Receiving.   A wire, set of wires, metal or carbon fiber 

element(s) other than satellite dish antennas, used to receive radio, television, or electromagnetic 
waves, and including the support structure thereof. 

 



12 

(e) Satellite Dish.   A device incorporating a reflective surface that is solid, open mesh, 
or bar configured and is in the shape of a shallow dish, cone, horn, or cornucopia.  Such device 
shall be used to transmit and/or receive radio or electromagnetic waves between terrestrially and/or 
orbitally based uses.  This definition shall include, but not be limited to, what are commonly 
referred to as satellite earth stations, TVROs (television receive only) and satellite microwave 
antennas and support structure thereof. 

 
(f) Satellite Dish Height.   The height of the antenna or dish measured vertically from 

the highest point of the antenna or dish when positioned for operation, to the top of the foundation 
which supports the antenna. 

 
(g) Short-Wave Radio Transmitting and Receiving.   A wire, set of wires or a device, 

consisting of a metal, carbon fiber, or other electromagnetically conductive element used for the 
transmission and reception of radio waves used for short-wave and citizen band radio 
communications, and including the supporting structure thereof. 

 
(h) Secondary Use.   A use of land or of a building or a portion thereof which is 

subordinate to and does not constitute the primary use of the land or building. 
 

(i) Structure, Public.   An edifice or building of any kind, or any piece of work artificially 
built up or composed of parts joined together in some definite manner which is owned or rented, 
and operated by a federal, state, or local government agency. 

 
(j) Support Structure.   Any building or other structure other than a tower which can be 

used for location of antennas. 
 

(k) Tower.   Any ground mounted pole, spire, structure, or combination thereof, including 
supporting lines, cables, wires, braces, masts, intended primarily for the purpose of mounting an 
antenna or similar apparatus above grade. 

 
(l) Tower, Temporary Mobile.   Any mobile tower, pole, or structure located on a trailer, 

vehicle, or temporary platform intended primarily for the purpose of mounting an antenna or 
similar apparatus for personal wireless services, which is commonly referred to as Cellular on 
Wheels (COW).   
 

APARTMENT.   A room or suite of rooms which is designed for, intended for, or used as a 
residence by a single family or an individual, and is equipped with cooking facilities.  Includes 
dwelling unit and efficiency unit. 

 
APPLICANT.   The person(s) whose name(s) are on an application as owner, their agent or 

person having legal control, ownership and/or interest in land for which the provisions of this 
ordinance are being considered or reviewed. 

ASSISTED LIVING FACILITY: A facility that provides sleeping accommodations to one 
or more adult residents, and offering or providing, for a fee, one or more regularly scheduled 
health-related services or two or more regularly scheduled supportive services, whether offered or 
provided directly by the establishment or by another entity arranged for the establishment, as 
defined in M. S. §144G. 

 



13 

AUTOMOBILE REPAIR-MAJOR.   General repair, rebuilding or reconditioning engines, 
motor vehicles or trailers; collision service, including body, frame or fender straightening or repair; 
overall painting or paint job; vehicle steam cleaning. 

 
AUTOMOBILE REPAIR-MINOR.   An establishment providing goods or services related 

to passenger motor vehicles such as car washes; repair businesses limited to minor engine repair, 
fluid changing, tire service and muffler repair; and other uses of similar character, but not including 
uses defined as a major automobile business or automobile sales. 

 
AUTOMOBILE SALES.   The use of any building or land area for the display and sale of 

new or used passenger motor vehicles, motorcycles, trucks, vans, trailers or recreational vehicles 
including any major or minor automobile repair or service uses conducted as an accessory use. 

 
AUTOMOBILE SERVICE STATION.   Any building, land area or other premises, or portion 

thereof, used or intended to be used for the retail dispensing or sales of vehicular fuels; and 
including as an accessory use the sale and installation of lubricants, tires, batteries, and similar 
accessories. 

 
BASE MAP.   A map having sufficient points of reference, such as state, county or municipal 

boundary lines, streets, easements, and other selected physical features to allow the plotting of 
other data. 

 
BASEMENT.   That portion of a building between floor and ceiling, which is partly below 

and partly above grade, but so located that the vertical distance from grade to the floor below is 
more than the vertical distance from grade to ceiling for more than 50 percent of its perimeter. 

 
BATCH PLANT.   A temporary facility/device that produces or processes concrete or 

asphalt for a specified construction project over a defined period of time. 
 

BAY.   A part of a building projecting or cantilevered from the main part. 
 

BEVERAGE PRODUCTION AND BOTTLING.   A facility for the production and bottling 
of beverages including but not limited to soft drinks, milk, beer, wine, spirits, etc., but not including 
hazardous or toxic materials. 

 
BOARDER.   An individual other than a member of the family occupying the dwelling unit 

or a part thereof who, for a consideration, is furnished sleeping accommodations and may be 
furnished meals or other services as part of the consideration. 

 
BOARDING HOUSE.   A building other than a hotel or motel where, for compensation and 

by pre-arrangement for definite periods, meals and/or lodging are provided to three (3) to 10, not 
of the principal family therein, and not to anyone who may apply. 

 
BOATHOUSE.   A structure used solely for the storage of boats or boating equipment. 

 
BREW PUB.   A restaurant that conducts the retail sale of malt liquor brewed on the premise 

and licensed under M. S. §340A.24.  Areas used exclusively for brewing operations shall not 



14 

exceed 25 percent of the total floor area.  Included within this use is the off-sale of malt liquor 
produced on site in refillable growlers pursuant to M. S. §340A.285. 

 
BREWER TAPROOM.   Facility on the premises of, or adjacent to, a malt liquor beverage 

production facility / brewery intended for the on-sale and consumption of malt liquor produced by 
the brewer pursuant to M. S. §340A.26.   A brewer taproom may include a restaurant. 

 
BUFFER.   The use of land, topography, difference in elevation, space, fences or landscape 

plantings to screen or partially screen a use or property from another use or property or to shield 
or mitigate noise, lights or other impacts. 

 
BUFFER YARD.   A strip of land utilized to screen or partially screen a use or property from 

another use or property or to shield or mitigate noise, lights, or other impacts. 
 

BUILDABLE AREA.   The portion of a lot remaining after yards have been provided. 
 

BUILDABLE LAND, CONTIGUOUS.   Land area occurring within the lot lines of a parcel 
or lot excluding wetlands and/or water bodies and not separated by those wetlands and/or 
waterbodies. 

 
BUILDING.   Any structure having a roof supported by columns or walls and intended for 

the shelter, housing or enclosure of any individual, animal, process, equipment, goods or materials 
of any kind or nature. 

 
BUILDING COVERAGE.   The horizontal area measured within the outside of the exterior 

walls and supporting columns of the ground floor of all principal and accessory buildings on a lot. 
 

BUILDING HEIGHT.   The vertical distance above a reference datum measured to the 
highest point of the coping of a flat roof to the deck line of a mansard roof or to the average height 
of the highest gable of a pitched or hipped roof.  The height of a stepped or terraced building is the 
maximum height of any segment of the building. The reference datum shall be selected by either 
of the following, whichever yields a greater height of building: 
 

(a) The elevation of the highest adjoining sidewalk or ground surface within a five (5) 
foot horizontal distance of the exterior wall of the building when such sidewalk or ground surface 
is not more than 10 feet above lowest grade. 

 
(b) An elevation 10 feet higher than the lowest grade when the sidewalk or ground 

surface described in (a) above is more than 10 feet above lowest grade. 
 

BUILDING LINE.   A line parallel to a lot line, street right of way, street easement, or the 
ordinary high water level at the required setback which establishes the area within which the 
principal structure must be constructed or located. 

 
BUILDING, POLE.   Any structure possessing the following characteristics: structural wood 

poles or timbers buried in ground without footings or with individual footings; and metal wall 
coverings hung in a manner that the wall coverings provide structural support for the wood frame.  
Such definition shall not include or apply to decks, sign supports, earth retention structures, 



15 

playground equipment, electric utilities, or any other similar structure not covering or enclosing a 
specific area. 

 
BUILDING, PRINCIPAL.   A building in which is conducted the principal use of the lot on 

which it is located. 
 

BUSINESS.   Any establishment, occupation, employment or enterprise where merchandise 
is manufactured, exhibited or sold or where services are offered for compensation. 

 
CANOPY.   An accessory roof-like structure, which is either attached to or detached from an 

allowable primary building; which is open on all sides, other than where attached; and which is 
located over and designed to provide cover for entrances, exits, walkways, and approved off-street 
motor vehicle service areas. 

 
CARPORT.  A permanently constructed motor vehicle shelter having one (1) or more sides 

open. 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY. A land survey prepared by a land surveyor registered in the 
State of Minnesota with a certification that the information on the land survey is accurate. 

 
CHANNEL.   A natural or artificial depression of perceptible extent, with definite bed and 

banks to confine and conduct water either continuously or periodically. 
 

CHURCH.   A building, together with its accessory buildings and use, where persons 
regularly assemble for religious worship and which building, together with its accessory buildings 
and uses, is maintained and controlled by a religious body organized to sustain public worship. 

 
CITY COUNCIL.   The governing body for the City of Lino Lakes. 

 
CLUB OR LODGE.   A non-profit association of persons who are members paying annual 

dues, use of premises being restricted to members and their guests. 
 
CLUSTER DEVELOPMENT. A form of residential development that groups buildings or 

lots to provide common open space. 
 

COMMERCIAL USE.   The principal use of land or buildings for the sale, lease, rental or 
trade of products, goods and services. 
 

COMMUNITY GARDEN.   A facility on public land for cultivation of fruits, flowers, 
vegetables, or ornamental plants by more than one (1) person or family. 

 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN.   A Comprehensive Plan prepared and approved by the City, 

including a compilation of policy statements, goals, standards, fiscal guidelines, and maps 
indicating the general locations recommended for the various functional classes of land use, places 
and structures, and for the general physical development of the City, including any unit or part of 
such plan separately adopted and any amendment to such plan or parts thereof. 

 



16 

CONDITIONAL USE.   A land use or development that may not be appropriate generally 
within a certain district but may be allowed in that district with appropriate restrictions, conditions 
or limitations as imposed by the City Council. 

 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT.   A permit issued by the City Council in compliance with 

the procedures specified within this ordinance as a device to enable the City Council to assign 
conditions to a proposed use or development after consideration of the adjacent land uses and the 
special characteristics which the proposed use presents. 

 
CONDOMINIUM.   A multiple-family dwelling or development containing individually 

owned dwelling units and jointly owned and shared areas and facilities, which dwelling or 
development is subject to the provisions of the Minnesota Condominium Law, M. S. §515.01 
through §515.29. 

 
CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION.   The community association that administers and 

maintains the common property and common elements of a condominium. 
 
CONFERENCE CENTER. A facility used for service organizations, business and 

professional conferences, and seminars limited to accommodations for conference attendees. The 
accommodations can include sleeping, eating, and recreation. A conference center is not designed 
to be only utilized by the general public for overnight purposes. 

 
CONSTRUCTION.   The erection, alteration or extension of a structure. 

 
COOPERATIVE HOUSING.   A multiple-family dwelling owned and maintained by the 

residents and subject to the provisions of M. S. §515B.  The entire structure and real property is 
under common ownership as contrasted to a condominium dwelling where individual units are 
under separate individual occupant ownership. 
 

CUL-DE-SAC.   (See Street, Cul-de-sac) 
 

DATA CENTER. An establishment primarily involved in the compiling, storage, and 
maintenance of documents, records, and other types of information in digital form utilizing a 
mainframe computer. This term does not include general business offices, computer-related sales 
establishments, and business or personal services. 

 
DAY CARE FACILITY.   Any facility licensed by the State Department of Human Services, 

public or private, which for gain or otherwise regularly provides one or more persons with care, 
training, supervision, habilitation, rehabilitation or developmental guidance on a regular basis, for 
periods of less than 24-hours per day, in a place other than the person’s own home.  Day care 
facilities include, but are not limited to, family day care homes, group family day care homes, day 
care centers, day nurseries, nursery schools, daytime activity centers, day treatment programs and 
day services, as defined by M. S. §245A.02. 

 
DECK.   Horizontal, unenclosed platform with or without attached railings, seats, trellises, or 

other features, attached or functionally related to a principal use or site and at any point extending 
above grade. 

 



17 

DENSITY.   The number dwelling units per unit of land.  In this ordinance, net density shall 
mean number of dwelling units per acre of contiguous buildable land.  Gross density shall mean 
number of units per acre of the total subject property. 

 
DETACHED GARAGE.   A one-story accessory building used or intended for the storage of 

driven passenger motor vehicles and motorcycles. 
 

DETACHED OUTDOOR LIVING AREA.   A flat surfaced seasonal outdoor room intended 
for casual human use which may be screened but may not have permanent structural walls or be 
covered by a permanent roof. 

 
DEVELOPMENT.   The division of a parcel of land into two (2) or more parcels; the 

construction, reconstruction, conversion, structural alteration, relocation or enlargement of any 
structure; any mining, excavation, landfill or land disturbance; and any use or extension of the use 
of land. 

 
DISTRICT.   A section or sections of the City for which the regulations and provisions 

governing the use of buildings and lands are uniform for each class of use permitted therein. 
 

DOCK (BOAT LAUNCH).   A structure accessory to the principal use of the property which 
extends into navigable waters and used for the launching, landing or mooring of watercraft. 

 
DORMITORY.   A building used as group living quarters for a student body or religious order 

as an accessory use for a college, university, boarding school, orphanage, convent, monastery or 
other similar institutional use. 

 
DRAINAGE.   The removal of surface water or groundwater from land by drains, grading or 

other means which include runoff controls to minimize erosion and sedimentation during and after 
construction or development, the means for preserving the water supply and the prevention or 
alleviation of flooding. 

 
DRAINAGE SYSTEM.   Any natural or artificial feature or structure used for the conveyance, 

drainage, or storage of surface and/or underground water, including, but not limited to, streams, 
rivers, creeks, ditches, channels, conduits, gullies, ravines, washes, lakes or ponds and structures 
such as culverts, drainage tile, dams, bridges and water storage basins. 

 
DRAINAGEWAY.   Any natural or artificial watercourse, trench, ditch, swale or similar 

depression into which surface water flows. 
 

DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES.   A physical facility that permits customers to receive 
services or obtain goods while remaining in their motor vehicles.  Examples include but are not 
limited to bank and fast food restaurant drive-through facilities. 

 
DRIVEWAY.   A private roadway providing access for motor vehicles to a parking space, 

garage, dwelling or other structures. 
 

DWELLING.   A building or portion thereof which is used exclusively for human habitation. 
 



18 

DWELLING, EFFICIENCY.   A dwelling unit consisting of not more than one habitable 
room together with kitchen or kitchenette and sanitary facilities. 

 
DWELLING, MULTIPLE-FAMILY.   A building containing more than two dwelling units. 

 
DWELLING, SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED.   A building which is designed for and 

occupied by not more than one family and surrounded by open space or yards and which is not 
attached to any other dwelling by any means. 

 
DWELLING, TOWNHOUSE.   A one-family dwelling in a row of at least three (3) such 

units in which each unit has its own front and rear access to the outside, no unit is located over 
another unit, and each unit is separated from any other unit by one or more common fire resistant 
walls. 

 
DWELLING, TWO FAMILY.   A building containing two dwelling units, each of which is 

totally separated from the other by an unpierced wall extending from ground to roof or an 
unpierced ceiling and floor extending from exterior wall to exterior wall, except for a common 
stairwell exterior to both dwelling units. 

 
DWELLING UNIT.   One or more rooms, designed, occupied or intended for occupancy as 

separate living quarters, with cooking, sleeping and sanitary facilities provided within the dwelling 
unit for the exclusive use of a single family maintaining a household. 

 
EASEMENT.   A grant of one or more of the property rights by the property owner to and/or 

for the use by the public, a corporation or another person or entity. 
 

ELDERLY (SENIOR CITIZEN) HOUSING.   A multiple dwelling building with open 
occupancy limited to senior citizens. 

 
ESSENTIAL SERVICES.   The erection, construction, alteration, or maintenance by public 

utilities or municipal departments of underground or overhead telephone, gas, electrical, 
communication, water or sewer transmission, distribution, collection, supply or disposal systems 
including poles, wires, mains, drains, sewers, pipes, conduits, cables, fire alarm boxes, police call 
boxes, traffic signals, hydrants and other similar equipment and accessories in connection 
therewith for the furnishing of adequate service by such private or public utilities or municipal 
departments.  Personal wireless service and commercial broadcasting antennas and towers shall 
not be considered an essential service. 

 
EVENT CENTER/RECEPTION HALL. A facility located on private property that primarily 

functions to provide a facility for any type of social gathering that is available for use by various 
groups for such activities as public assemblies, meetings, private meetings, retreats, parties, 
weddings, receptions and dances. 

 
EXISTING USE.   The use of a lot or structure at the time of the enactment of a zoning 

ordinance. 
 



19 

EXTRACTIVE USE.   The use of the land for surface or subsurface removal of sand, gravel, 
rock, industrial minerals, other non-metallic minerals and peat not regulated under M. S. §93.44 
to §93.51. 

 
FAMILY.   An individual or two (2) or more persons related by blood or marriage or of not 

more than five (5) persons who need not be related by blood or marriage living together in a 
dwelling unit. 

 
FARM.   Real property used for commercial agriculture or horticulture. 
 

FEEDLOT.   A confined area or structure used for feeding, breeding, or holding livestock for 
eventual sale in which animal waste may accumulate but not including barns, pens or other 
structures used in a dairy farm operation. 
 

FENCE.   Any partition, structure, wall or gate erected as a dividing mark, barrier or 
enclosure. 
 

FILLING.   The act of depositing any rock, soil, gravel, sand or other material on a site. 
 
FINANCIAL INSTITUTION. An establishment where the principal business is the receipt, 

disbursement or exchange of funds and currencies, such as: banks, credit unions or savings and 
loans. 

 
FLOOD.   A temporary rise in a stream flow or stage which results in inundation of the areas 

adjacent to the channel. 
 

FLOODPLAIN.   The areas adjoining a watercourse which have been or hereafter may be 
covered by the regional flood. 

 
FLOOR AREA, GROSS. The sum of the gross horizontal areas of the several floors of a 

building or portion thereof devoted to a particular use, as measured from the exterior face of the 
exterior walls or from the centerline of a common wall of the building or portion thereof devoted 
to a particular use. 

 
FLOOR AREA, NET.   The total of all floor areas of a building from the inside perimeter 

walls, excluding stairwells and elevator shafts, equipment rooms, interior vehicular parking or 
loading; and all floors below the first or ground floor, except when used or intended to be used for 
human habitation or service to the public. 

 
FOOTPRINT.   The horizontal area measured within the outside of the exterior walls and 

supporting columns of the ground floor of a building or structure.   
 

GARAGE.   A building or structure, or part thereof, used or intended to be used for the parking 
and storage of motor vehicles.  

 
GARAGE, PRIVATE. A detached accessory building or an attached accessory portion of the 

principal building which is intended for and used to store the private passenger vehicles of the 



20 

family or families who reside upon the premises and in which no occupation or business for profit 
is carried on, and enclosed on all four sides and pierced only by windows and customary doors. 

 
GARAGE, PUBLIC.   A garage other than a private garage, used for the housing or care of 

motor vehicles, or where such vehicles are equipped for operation repairs, or kept for 
renumeration, hire or sale. 

 
GARAGE SALE. Any display of used goods and/or salesmen samples for sale of said goods 

on a property customarily used as a residence. The persons conducting the sale shall be residents 
of the immediate neighborhood. 
 

GAZEBO.   A freestanding accessory structure or pavilion from which views of surrounding 
scenery are commonly offered.  Such structures are characterized by partly open construction, 
design symmetry, and the use of ornamental architectural features. 

 
GOLF COURSE.   An outdoor facility with at least nine (9) holes for playing golf and that 

may include accessory facilities and uses that serve the golfers such as a clubhouse, driving 
range, pro shop, restaurants or other food and beverage services with or without outdoor dining 
areas, maintenance buildings, cart storage, shelters, lockers and showers.  This definition 
includes outdoor driving ranges but does not include miniature golf courses.  On-sale liquor sales 
may be an accessory use at a golf course provided the license required by City Code Chapter 700 
is obtained and current.  

 
GOLF COURSE, MINIATURE.   A facility for playing a novelty, small version of golf 

played with a putter, typically comprised of miniature putting greens with artificial playing 
surfaces and obstacles such as bridges and tunnels. 

 
GRADE (ADJACENT GROUND ELEVATION).   The lowest point of elevation of the 

finished surface of the ground, paving, or sidewalk within the area between the building and lot 
line, or when the lot line is more than five (5) feet from the building, between the building and a 
line five (5) feet from the building. 

 
GRADING PLAN.   Existing topography and proposed finished grades with a contour interval 

of no greater than two (2) feet clearly indicating the relationship of proposed changes to existing 
topography and remaining features. 

 
GREENHOUSE/NURSERY, COMMERCIAL.   An enterprise that conducts the retail and/or 

wholesale of plants grown on the premises, as well as accessory items (but not power equipment, 
such as gas or electric lawn mowers and farm implements) directly related to their care and 
maintenance.  (A greenhouse/nursery that does not conduct retail or wholesale is considered 
horticulture.) 
 

HAZARDOUS WASTE.   Any refuse, sludge, or other waste material or combination thereof 
in solid, semi-solid, liquid, or contained gaseous form which because of its quantity, concentration, 
or chemical, physical, or infectious characteristics may: 

 
(a) Cause or significantly contribute to an increase in mortality or an increase in serious 

irreversible, or incapacitating reversible illness; or 



21 

 
(b) Pose a substantial present or potential hazard to human health or the environment 

when improperly treated, stored, transported, disposed of, or otherwise managed.  Categories of 
hazardous waste materials include, but are not limited to, explosives, flammable substances, 
oxidizers, poisons, irritants, and corrosives.  Hazardous waste does not include source, special 
nuclear, or by-product material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended. 
 

HISTORIC SITE.   A structure or area of land or water of historic, archaeological, 
paleontological or architectural value which has been designated as a historic site in the Federal 
Register of historical landmarks, the Minnesota Historical Society, or by a local governmental unit. 

 
HOME EXTENDED BUSINESS.   A business conducted as part of a residential use which 

is beyond the limits and scope of activities for home occupations as defined by this subdivision. 
 

HOME OCCUPATION.   Any activity by a resident carried out for business purposes and 
which activity is clearly incidental and secondary to the residential use of the premises, and which 
activity does not change the residential character thereof. 

 
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION.   A community association, other than a condominium 

association, which is organized in a development in which individual owners share common 
interests in open space or facilities. 

 
HORTICULTURE.   The use of land for the growing or production for income of fruits; 

vegetables; flowers; nursery stock, including ornamental plants and trees; and cultured sod.  
Horticulture is a type of agricultural use. 

 
HOSPITALITY BUSINESS.   An establishment offering transient lodging accommodations 

on a daily rate to the general public, leasable events, meeting or conference facilities, exhibition 
halls or other uses of similar character including hotels, motels, convention facilities, and hospices. 
 

HOUSEBOAT.   A watercraft vessel having a super structure resembling a house, usually 
moored and designed and used as a dwelling. 

 
IMPERVIOUS SURFACE.   A compacted surface or a surface covered with material (i.e., 

gravel, asphalt, concrete, Class 5, etc.) that increases the depth of runoff compared to natural soils 
and land cover. This includes but is not limited to roads, driveways, parking areas, sidewalks and 
trails, patios, tennis courts, basketball courts, swimming pools, building roofs, covered decks, and 
other structures. 

 
INDIVIDUAL SEWAGE TREATMENT SYSTEM OR INDIVIDUAL SEWAGE 

DISPOSAL SYSTEM.   A sewage treatment system, or part thereof, serving a dwelling, other 
establishment, or group thereof, and using sewage tanks followed by soil treatment and disposal 
or using advanced treatment devices that discharge below final grade.  Individual sewage treatment 
system includes holding tanks and privies (per Minnesota Rules 7080). 
 

INDUSTRIAL PARK.   A large tract of land that has been planned, developed and operated 
as an integrated facility for a number of individual industrial uses, with special attention to 
circulation, parking, utility needs, aesthetics, and compatibility. 



22 

 
INTERIM USE.   A temporary use of property until a particular date, until the occurrence of 

a particular event, or until zoning regulations no longer allow said use. 
 

IRRIGATION SYSTEM.   Any structure or equipment, mechanized or other, used to supply 
water for landscaping, vegetation, commercial agriculture or horticulture, including, but not 
limited to, wells, pumps, motors, pipes, culverts, gates, dams, ditches, tanks, ponds, and reservoirs. 

 
JUNK YARD.   Any area, lot, land, parcel, building structure or part thereof used for the 

storage, collection, processing, purchase, sale or abandonment of wastepaper, rags, scrap metal or 
other scrap or discarded goods, materials, machinery or two (2) or more unregistered, inoperable 
motor vehicles or other type of junk. 

 
KENNEL, COMMERCIAL.   Any structure or premises on which dogs are kept for the 

business of boarding for a fee, for the business of breeding for sale or other profit-making purpose, 
and not solely for private enjoyment. 

 
KENNEL, PRIVATE.   Any structure or premises on which no more than four (4) dogs, over 

six months of age, are kept for private enjoyment and not for monetary gain. 
 

LAND RECLAMATION.   The process of the re-establishment of, acceptable topography 
(i.e., slopes), vegetative cover, and soil stability, and the establishment of safe conditions 
appropriate to the subsequent use of the land. 
 

LIGHTING RELATED. 
 

(a) Cutoff.   The point at which all light rays emitted by a lamp, light source or luminaire 
are completely eliminated at a specific angle above the ground. 

 
(b) Cutoff Angle.   The angle formed by a line drawn from the direction of light rays at 

the light source and a line perpendicular to the ground from the light source above which no light 
is emitted (see Figure 1). 

 
Figure 1.  Cutoff Angle  
 



23 

 
 

(c) Cutoff Type Luminaire.   A luminaire with elements such as shields, reflectors, or 
refractor panels which direct and cut off the light at a cutoff angle that is less than 90 degrees. 

 
(d) Flashing Light.   A light source which is not constant in intensity or color at all times 

while in use. 
 

(e) Foot candle.   A unit of illumination produced on a surface, all points of which are 
one (1) foot from a uniform point source of one (1) candle. 

 
(f) Light Source.   A single artificial point source of luminescence that emits measurable 

radiant energy in or near the visible spectrum. 
 

(g) Luminaire.   A complete lighting unit consisting of a light source and all necessary 
mechanical, electrical and decorative parts. 

 
(h) Outdoor Lighting.   Any light source or collection of light sources, located outside a 

building, including but not limited to, light sources attached to any part of a structure, located on 
the surface of the ground or located on freestanding poles. 

 
(i) Outdoor Light Fixture.   Outdoor electrically powered illuminating devices;, outdoor 

lighting or reflective surfaces, lamps and similar devices, permanently installed or portable, used 
for illumination or advertisement.  The fixture includes the hardware that houses the illumination 
source and to which the illumination source is attached including, but not limited to, the hardware 
casing.  Such devices shall include, but are not limited to, search, spot, and flood lights for: 

 
1. Buildings and structures. 
 

2. Recreational areas. 
 

3. Parking lot lighting. 
 

4. Landscaping lighting. 
 



24 

5. Signs. 
 

6. Street lighting. 
 

7. Product display area lighting. 
 

8. Building overhangs and open canopies. 
 

(j) Security Lighting.   Outdoor lighting fixtures installed exclusively as a measure to 
reduce the possible occurrence of a crime on the property. 
 

(k) Shielding.   A technique or method of construction permanently covering the top and 
sides of a light source by a material which restricts the light emitted to be projected below an 
imaginary horizontal plane passing through the light fixture (see Figure 2). 

  
Figure 2 – Shielding 
 

 
 

(l) Spillage.   Any reflection, glare or other artificial light that emits onto any adjoining 
property or right-of-way and is above a defined maximum illumination. 

 
LIQUOR SALES, OFF-SALE.   Licensed sale of intoxicating beverages for consumption off 

site. 
 

LIQUOR SALES, ON-SALE.   Licensed sale of intoxicating beverages for consumption at 
the premises where the beverage is purchased. 

 
LOT.   A tract of land, designated by metes and bounds, registered land survey, or plat, and 

separated from other tracts of land by legal description approved by the City of Lino Lakes and 
recorded or to be recorded with Anoka County. Also referred to as a “parcel” or “property”.  

 
LOT AREA.   The total area within the lot lines of a lot measured in a horizontal plane. 
 

LOT, BASE.   Lots meeting all the specifications in the zoning district prior to being 
subdivided into a two family dwelling or townhome subdivision. 

 



25 

LOT, CORNER.   A lot situated at the junction of and abutting on two (2) or more intersecting 
streets; or a lot at the point of deflection in alignment of a single street, the interior angle of which 
is 135 degrees or less. 

 
LOT DEPTH.   The mean horizontal distance between the front lot line and the rear lot line 

measured from a 90-degree angle from the street right-of-way within the lot boundaries. 
 

LOT, DOUBLE FRONTAGE.   A lot which has a pair of opposite lot lines abutting two (2) 
substantially parallel streets, and which is not a corner lot. 
 

LOT FRONTAGE.   The narrowest lot boundary abutting a public street or street easement 
that meets minimum lot width requirements.  If none of the boundaries abutting a public street or 
street easement meet minimum lot width requirements, then the lot frontage is the widest boundary 
abutting a street. 

 
LOT, INTERIOR.   A lot, other than corner lots, including through lots. 
 

LOT LINE.   A property boundary line of any lot held in single or separate ownership except 
that where any position of the lot extends into the abutting street or alley, the lot line shall be 
deemed to be the street or alley right-of-way. 

 
LOT LINE, FRONT.   The lot line separating a lot from the street right-of-way along the lot 

frontage. 
 

LOT LINE, REAR.   The lot line opposite and most distant from the lot frontage which 
connects the side lot lines.  For the purposes of this ordinance, the rear lot line of a triangular lot 
shall be a line entirely within the lot at least 10 feet long and parallel to and most distance point 
from the front lot line.  If the front lot line on such a lot is curved, the rear lot line shall be parallel 
to a line tangent to the front lot line. 

 
LOT LINE, SIDE.   Lot lines extending away from the lot frontage, which connects the front 

and rear lot lines. 
 

LOT OF RECORD. Any lot which is one (1) unit of a plat duly approved and filed, or one 
(1) unit of an auditor’s subdivision or a registered land survey, that has been recorded with Anoka 
County, prior to the effective date of this ordinance. 

 
LOT, THROUGH.   A lot fronting on two parallel streets. 
 

LOT, TRIANGULAR.   A lot in which the side lot lines converge into a single vertex.  The 
vertex shall be deemed to be the rear lot line. 

 
LOT, UNIT.   Lots created from the subdivisions of a two family dwelling or townhome 

having different minimum lot size requirements than the conventional base lots within the zoning 
district. 

 



26 

LOT WIDTH.   The horizontal distance between the side lot line of a lot measured at the front 
building setback line and parallel to the front lot line.  If the front lot line is curved, such as on a 
cul-de-sac, the lot width is measured along a line parallel to a tangent to the front lot line. 

 
MANUFACTURED HOME.   A manufactured home means a structure, transportable in one 

or more sections, which in the traveling mode is eight (8) body feet or more in width, or 40 body 
feet or more in length, or, when erected on side, is 320 or more square feet. It is built on a 
permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling with or without permanent foundation 
when connected to the required utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating, air conditioning, and 
electrical systems contained therein. The term includes any structure which meets all the 
requirements and with respect to which the manufacturer voluntarily files a certificate required by 
the Secretary of the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development and complies 
with the standards established under M. S. §327 including the Manufactured Home Building Code 
adopted therein. 
 

MANUFACTURED HOME SUBDIVISION.   A subdivision designed and/or intended for 
the sale of lots for residential occupancy by manufactured homes. 

 
MANUFACTURED HOME LOT.   A plot of land for placement of a single manufactured 

home within a manufactured home park. 
 
MANUFACTURED HOME PARK.   Any site, lot, field or tract of land upon which two (2) 

or more occupied manufactured homes are located, either free of charge or for compensation, and 
includes any buildings or structures used or intended for use as part of the equipment of the 
manufactured home park. 

 
MANUFACTURING. An establishment engaged in the indoor manufacturing, assembly, 

fabrication, packaging or other industrial processing, primarily from previously prepared 
materials, or the indoor provision of industrial services, where there are few external effects across 
lot lines. This term includes but is not limited to a business engaged in the processing, fabrication, 
assembly, treatment, or packaging of food, textile, leather, wood, paper, chemical, plastic, or metal 
products. 

 
MASS TRANSIT TERMINAL. The property, equipment and improvements owned, used, 

constructed, maintained, controlled, or operated to provide mass transportation for passengers or 
to provide for the movement of people, including park-and-ride stations, transfer stations and 
parking lots. 
 

MICRODISTILLERIES. A distillery operated within the state producing premium, distilled 
spirits in total quantity not to exceed 40,000 proof gallons in a calendar year, which distillery is 
licensed under Minnesota Statutes section 340A. 

 
MOBILE HOME.   A single family detached dwelling unit or other structure designed for 

year-round occupancy constructed at a factory or assembly plant and drawn to the site on a 
permanently attached undercarriage and wheels.  Mobile homes should not include all types of 
manufactured homes as defined herein. 

 



27 

MODEL HOME.   A home which is similar to others in a development and is open to public 
inspection for the purpose of selling said other homes. 

 
MOTOR FUEL STATION.   A place where gasoline is stored only in underground tanks, 

kerosene or motor oil and lubricants or grease, for operation of automobiles, are retailed directly 
to the public on premises, and including minor accessories and services for automobiles, but not 
automobile major repairs and rebuilding. 

 
MOTOR VEHICLE. A self-propelled device licensed as a motor vehicle and used for 

the transportation of people or goods over roads. 
 
MOTOR VEHICLE SALES LOT.   The use of any building, land area, other premises or 

portion thereof, for the display, sale, or lease of automobiles, trucks, vans, trailers, or recreational 
vehicles. 

 
NON-CONFORMING STRUCTURE OR USE.   A structure, use or activity which was 

lawful prior to the adoption, revision or amendment of a zoning ordinance, but which fails, by 
reason of such adoption, revision or amendment, to conform to the present requirements of the 
zoning district. 

 
NUISANCE.   Anything defined as a nuisance by Section 900 of the City Code. 
 

NURSING HOME (REST HOME).   A building having accommodations where care for pay 
is provided for two (2) or more invalids, infirm, aged or convalescent persons who are not of the 
immediate family; but not including hospitals, clinics, sanitariums, or similar institutions. 

 
OFFICE BUSINESS-CLINIC.   An establishment located within a building or portion of a 

building providing out-patient health services to patrons, including general medical clinics, mental 
health providers, chiropractor, dentists, orthodontia, oral surgeons, opticians, and other uses of 
similar character. 

 
OFFICE BUSINESS-GENERAL.   An establishment located within a building or portion of 

a building for the conduct of business activities involving predominantly professional 
administrative or clerical service operations including attorneys, financial advisors, insurance, 
travel, real estate, and other uses of similar character. 

 
OFF-STREET LOADING SPACE.   A space accessible from the street, alley, or way, in a 

building or on the lot, for the use of trucks while loading or unloading merchandise or materials. 
 

ON-STREET PARKING SPACE.   A temporary storage area for a motor vehicle which is 
located on a dedicated street right-of-way. 

 
OPEN AIR MARKET.   An occasional or periodic market held in an open area or structure 

where goods are offered for sale to the general public by individual sellers from open or semi-
open facilities or temporary structures. 

 



28 

OPEN SPACE.   Any parcel or area of land or water essentially unimproved and set aside, 
dedicated, designated or reserved for public or private use or enjoyment, or for the use and 
enjoyment of owners and occupants of land adjoining or neighboring such open space. 

 
OPEN SPACE, PRIVATE.   Common open space held in private ownership, the use of which 

is normally limited to the occupants of a single dwelling or building. 
 

OPEN SPACE, PUBLIC.   Open space owned by a public agency and maintained by it for 
the use and enjoyment of the general public. 

 
ORDINARY HIGH WATER LEVEL (OHWL).   The boundary of public waters and 

wetlands as determined by the Minnesota Dept. of Natural Resources:  an elevation delineating 
the highest water level which has been maintained for a sufficient period of time to leave evidence 
upon the landscape, commonly that point where the natural vegetation changes from 
predominantly aquatic to predominantly terrestrial. 

 
OUTDOOR STORAGE.   The storage of goods, materials, equipment, manufactured products 

and similar items not fully enclosed by a building for a period greater than 24 hours. 
 

PARCEL.   A tract of land, designated by metes and bounds, registered land survey, or plat, 
and separated from other tracts of land by legal description approved by the City of Lino Lakes 
and recorded or to be recorded with Anoka County. Also referred to as a “lot” or “property”. 

 
PARK, PRIVATE.   A tract of land presently owned or controlled and used by private or 

semi-public persons, entities, groups, etc. for active and/or passive recreational purposes. 
 

PARK, PUBLIC.   A tract of land publicly owned and used by the public for active and/or 
passive recreational purposes. 

 
PARKING AREA.  Any public or private area, under or outside of a building or structure, 

designed and used for parking motor vehicles, including parking spaces, parking lots, garages, 
private streets, and legally designated areas of public streets. 

 
PARKING LOT.   An off-street, ground level area, usually surfaced and improved, for the 

temporary storage of motor vehicles. 
 

PARKING SPACE.   A space for the parking of a motor vehicle within a public or private 
parking area. 

 
PARTY WALL.   A common shared wall between two (2) separate structures, buildings, or 

dwelling units. 
 
PASSENGER MOTOR VEHICLE. Any motor vehicle, including pickup trucks and vans, 

designed and used for carrying not more than 15 individuals including the driver.  
 
PATIO. A level, surfaced area directly adjacent to a principal building at or within three (3) 

feet of the finished grade, without a permanent roof which is intended for outdoor lounging, dining 
and the like. 



29 

 
PERMITTED USE.   Any use allowed in a zoning district and subject to the restrictions 

applicable to that zoning district. 
 

PERSONAL SERVICE.   Personal services shall include the following: barber shops, beauty 
salon, electrolysis, manicurist, tanning parlor, physical therapy, therapeutic massage, tattooing, 
and body piercing.  

 
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT.   An area to be planned and developed as a single entity 

containing one or more residential clusters or planned residential developments and/or one or more 
public, quasi-public, commercial or industrial areas in such ranges of ratios of non-residential uses 
to residential uses as shall be specified. 

 
PLAY AND RECREATIONAL FACILITIES.   Equipment customary and incidental to the 

principal use of the site intended for the enjoyment and convenience of the residents of the 
principal use and their occasional guests.  Such facilities include swing sets, play sculptures, sand 
boxes, picnic tables, basketball standards, barbeque grills and the like. 

 
PRINCIPAL USE.   The primary or predominant use of any lot and/or building. 
 
PROPERTY.  A lot, parcel, or tract of land. 
 
PUBLIC, EDUCATIONAL, AND RELIGIOUS BUILDINGS.   Public or semi-public 

recreational buildings and neighborhood or community centers; limited to nursery, elementary, 
junior high and senior high schools; and religious institutions such as churches, chapels, temples, 
mosque, and synagogues 

 
PUBLICATION.   Notice placed in the official City newspaper stating time, location and date 

of meeting and description of the topic. 
 
QUARTER-QUARTER SECTION.   The northeast, northwest, southwest or southeast 

quarter of a quarter section delineated by the United States Government system of land survey and 
which is exactly or nearly 40 acres in size. 

 
RECREATION AREA.   An outdoor area which may include water bodies and incidental 

buildings thereto used or intended for active or passive recreation, including, but not limited to, 
parks, playground, hunting preserves, polo grounds, nature trails, bridle paths, beaches, campsites, 
ski and snowmobile trails, and canoe routes, provided that parcels on which there are located 
stadiums, arenas, bowling alleys, swimming pools, and other recreational activities conducted 
primarily in structures are not recreation areas. 

 
RECREATIONAL BUSINESS.   Arcade, health club, gymnasium, bowling alley, billiard 

(pool) hall, dance hall, dance studio, skating rink, theater, or indoor firearms range. 
 
RECREATIONAL VEHICLE.   A vehicle designed and used for recreational purposes and 

enjoyment including, but not limited to, snowmobiles, motorized all-terrain vehicles, boats, race 
cars, travel trailers, truck campers, camping trailers, and self-propelled motor homes. 
 



30 

RELATIVE.   Father, mother, brother, sister, son, daughter, son-in-law or daughter-in-law. 
 
RESEARCH LABORATORIES.  A use engaged in research and development, testing, 

assembly, repair, and manufacturing.  Examples include research labs in the following industries: 
biotechnology, pharmaceuticals, medical instrumentation or supplies, communications and 
information technology, electronics and instrumentation, and computer hardware and software. 
Office, warehousing, wholesaling, and distribution of the finished products produced at the site 
are allowed as part of this use.   

 
RESIDENTIAL FACILITY, STATE LICENSED.   Any program, defined by M. S.  

§245A.02, subd. 14, that provides 24-hour-a-day care, supervision, food, lodging, rehabilitation, 
training, education, habilitation, or treatment outside a person's own home, including a program in 
an intermediate care facility for four or more persons with developmental disabilities; and chemical 
dependency or chemical abuse programs that are located in a hospital or nursing home and receive 
public funds for providing chemical abuse or chemical dependency treatment services under 
chapter 254B. Residential programs include home and community-based services for persons with 
mental retardation or a related condition that are provided in or outside of a person's own home. 

 
RESTAURANT. An establishment that serves food in individual servings for consumption 

on or off premises, including sit-down restaurants, take out, pick up, or delivery food sales, but not 
including drive-through facilities.  Outdoor dining areas and drive-through facilities may or may 
not be allowed in each zoning district as they are not automatically allowed when a restaurant is 
an allowable use. 

 
RESTRICTIVE COVENANT.   A restriction on the use of land usually set forth in the deed. 

 
RETAIL BUSINESS.  An establishment engaged in the display and sale of products produced 

off-site directly to consumers within a building or portion of a building excluding any exterior 
display and sales. 

 
RETAINING WALL.     A wall not laterally supported at the top that resists lateral soil load 

and other imposed loads. 
 
RIGHT-OF-WAY. A strip of land occupied or intended to be occupied by a street, railroad, 

road, electric transmission line, oil or gas pipeline, water main, sanitary or storm sewer main, or 
for another special use. The usage of the term RIGHT-OF-WAY for land platting purposes shall 
mean that every RIGHT-OF-WAY hereafter established and shown on a final plat is to be separate 
and distinct from the lots or parcels adjoining the RIGHT-OF-WAY and not included within the 
dimensions or areas of the lots or parcels. RIGHT-OF-WAY intended for streets, water mains, 
sanitary sewers, storm drains or any other use involving maintenance by a public agency shall be 
dedicated to public use by the recording of the plat on which the RIGHT-OF-WAY is established. 

 
ROADSIDE STANDS.  A temporary use which is primarily engaged in the sale of fresh 

agricultural products, locally grown on- or off-site, but may include, incidental to fresh produce 
sale, the sale of limited prepackaged food products and non-food items. 

 
SANITARY LAND FILL.   A site used for solid waste disposal. 
 



31 

SCHOOL.   Any building or part thereof which is designed, constructed or used for education 
or instruction in any branch of knowledge. 

 
SCHOOL, PRIVATE.   Any building or group of buildings the use of which meets state 

requirements for primary, secondary, or higher education and which use does not secure the major 
part of its funding of any governmental agency. 

 
SELF-STORAGE, INDOOR. A fully enclosed, climate-controlled building that contains 

separate, individual and private storage spaces of varying sizes, leased or rented on an individual 
basis for the storage of personal property. Individual renters’ control and access individual storage 
spaces and each unit must be directly accessed from the interior of the building via its own access 
door. Outdoor access to individual units is prohibited. Ancillary retail sales of related items, such 
as moving supplies, and facility offices may also be included. Such facilities to be used for storage 
only. 

 
SELF-STORAGE, MINI.  An enclosed storage facility containing independent, fully 

enclosed bays that are leased to individuals exclusively for the storage of household goods or 
personal belongings. 

 
SERVICE BUSINESS OFF-SITE.   A company that provides useful labor, maintenance, 

repair and activities incidental to business production or distribution where the service is provided 
at the customer’s location, including delivery services, catering services, plumbing and sewer 
services, and other uses of similar character. 

 
SERVICE BUSINESS ON-SITE.  An establishment that provides useful labor, maintenance, 

repair and activities incidental to business production or distribution where the customer patronizes 
the location of the operation, such as banks (not including drive-through facilities), copy centers, 
laundromats, dry cleaners, funeral homes and mortuaries, appliance repair, tailor shops, and travel 
bureaus. 

 
SETBACK.   The minimum horizontal distance between a structure, individual sewage 

treatment system, or other facility, and an ordinary high water level, sewage treatment system, top 
of bluff, street, highway, lot line, or other facility. 

 
SETBACK LINE.   That line that is the required minimum distance from the street right-of-

way line or any other lot line that establishes the area within which the principal or accessory 
structure must be constructed or located. 

 
SHOPPING CENTER. A group of commercial establishments planned, constructed, and 

managed as a total entity with customer and employee parking provided on-site, provision for 
goods delivery separated from customer access, aesthetic considerations, and protection from the 
elements. 
 

SIGN.   Any object, device, display or structure, or part thereof, situated outdoors or indoors, 
which is used to advertise, identify, display, direct or attract attention to an object, person, 
institution, organization, business, product, service, event or location by any means, including 
words, letters, figures, design, symbols, fixtures, colors, illumination or projected images. 

 



32 

SIGN AREA.   The entire face of a sign including the advertising surface and any framing, 
trim or molding, but not including the supporting structure. 

 
SIGNIFICANT TREE. – See definition of Tree. 
 

SPECIMEN TREE. – See definition of Tree. 
 

SITE PLAN.   The development plan for one or more lots on which is shown the existing and 
proposed conditions of the lot including: topography, vegetation, drainage, floodplains, marshes 
and waterways, open spaces, walkways, means of ingress and egress, utility services, landscaping, 
structures and signs, lighting and screening device; any other information that reasonably may be 
required in order that an informed decision can be made by the approving authority. 

 
SLOPE.   The degree of deviation of a surface from the horizontal, usually, expressed in 

percent or degrees. 
 

SMALL BREWER. A brewer licensed under section Minnesota Statutes section 340A.301, 
Subdivision 6, clause (c), (i), or (j) who also holds a retail license to sell off-sale malt liquor at its 
licensed premises which has been produced and packaged by the brewer. 

 
SOIL CONSERVATION PLAN.   A description of the soils of the site and information on 

soil suitability.  Also included shall be any remedial steps taken by the developer to render the 
soils suitable and any erosion and sedimentation controls indicating type and location of control 
measures.  The plan should provide for the protection of soils during the construction process 
and/or the long-term occupancy of the site. 

 
SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM. A device or structural design feature intended to provide for 

collection, storage and distribution of solar energy for heating or cooling, electricity generating or 
water heating. 

 
SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM, BUILDING INTEGRATED. A solar energy system that is an 

integral part of a principal or accessory building, rather than a separate mechanical device, 
replacing or substituting for an architectural or structural component of the building. 

 
SOLAR FARM. An area of land designated for the purpose of producing photovoltaic 

electricity, as a principal use of the land, for wholesale production or for a community solar 
production. 

 
SPORT COURT.   An outdoor facility that typically includes a paved playing surface for one 

or more sport activities such as, but not limited to, tennis, basketball, hockey, or volleyball. 
 

STABLE, COMMERCIAL.   The business of boarding horses for fee for persons not residing 
on the premises and may include instruction, exhibition and sale of horses.  This shall include the 
raising and breeding of horses. 
 

STORAGE BUILDING.   A one-story accessory building used or intended for the storage of 
hobby tools, garden equipment, workshop equipment, boats, snowmobiles, etc. 

 



33 

STORAGE, OUTDOOR.   See “outdoor storage.” 
 

STORY.   That portion of a building included between the upper surface of any floor and the 
upper surface of the floor next above, except that the topmost story shall be that upper surface of 
the topmost floor and the ceiling or roof above.  If the finished floor level directly above a basement 
or unused under-floor space is more than six (6) feet above grade as defined herein for more than 
50 percent of the total perimeter or is more than 12 feet above grade as defined herein at any point, 
such basement or unused under-floor space shall be considered as a story. 

 
STORY, FIRST.   The lowest story in a building which qualifies as a story, as defined herein, 

except that a floor level in a building having only one floor level shall be classified as a first story, 
provided such floor level is not more than four (4) feet below grade, as defined herein, for more 
than 50 percent of the total perimeter, or more than eight (8) feet below grade, as defined herein, 
at any point. 
 

STREET, COLLECTOR.   A street which collects traffic from local streets and connects with 
minor and major arterials.  See City’s Functional Classification System for Roadways contained 
in the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
STREET, CUL-DE-SAC.   A local street, one end of which is closed and consists of a circular 

turn around. 
 

STREET, LOCAL.   A street designed to provide vehicular access to abutting property and 
to discourage through traffic.  See City’s Functional Classification System for Roadways contained 
in the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
STREET, MINOR ARTERIAL.   A street with signals at important intersections and stop 

signs on the side streets, and which collects and distributes traffic to and from collector streets.  
See City’s Functional Classification System for Roadways contained in the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
STREET, PRIVATE.  Any street not dedicated to the public and to be maintained by a private 

entity. 
 
STREET, PUBLIC.   A right-of-way affording access by pedestrians and vehicles, whether 

designated as a street, highway, thoroughfare, parkway, throughway, road, avenue, boulevard, 
court, way, trail or however otherwise designated.  Private, ingress and egress easements shall not 
be considered streets. 

 
STRUCTURE.   Anything which is built, constructed or erected, an edifice or building of any 

kind, or any piece of work artificially built up and/or composed of parts joined together in some 
definite manner whether temporary or permanent in character. 

 
STRUCTURE ALTERATION.   Any change in either the supporting members of a building, 

such as bearing walls, columns, beams and girders, or in the dimensions or configurations of the 
roof or exterior walls. 

 
SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT.   Any extension, repair, reconstruction, or other 

improvement of a property, the cost of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of the fair market value 



34 

of a property either before the improvement is started or if the property has been damaged and is 
being restored, before the damage occurred. 

 
SWIMMING POOL.   A water-filled enclosure, permanently constructed or portable, having 

a depth of more than 18 inches below the level of the surrounding land, or an above surface pool 
having a depth of more than 30 inches designed, used and maintained for swimming and bathing. 

 
TASTING ROOM. An area used for accessory alcoholic beverage retail consumption on the 

premises where the alcoholic beverages are produced. 
 
TEMPORARY STRUCTURE.   A structure without any foundation or footings and which is 

removed when the designated time period, activity, or use for which the temporary structure was 
erected has ceased. 

 
TERRACE.   A raised flat area with sloping sides or sides held by retaining walls, unroofed 

and landscaped or surfaced. 
 

TOOL SHED.   A small one-story accessory building used or intended for the storage of 
hobby tools and garden equipment. 

 
TOPOGRAPHY.   The configuration of a surface area showing relative elevations. 

 
TOWNHOUSE.   A single family dwelling unit constructed in a group of three or more 

attached units in which each unit extends from foundation to roof and with open space on at least 
two sides. 

 
TRACT. An area, parcel, site, piece of land, or property. 
 
TRADE OR BUSINESS SCHOOL. A specialized instructional establishment that provides 

on-site training of business, commercial, and/or trade skills such as accounting, data processing, 
and computer repair. This classification excludes establishments providing training in an activity 
that is not otherwise permitted in the zone. Incidental instructional services in conjunction with 
another primary use shall not be considered a business and trade school. 

 
TRAILER.   A vehicle without motive power, designed to be towed by a passenger motor 

vehicle but not designed for human occupancy and which includes but is not limited to a utility 
trailer, boat trailer, horse trailer, or snowmobile trailer. 

 
TRANSIENT MERCHANT.   Any individual person whose business in the city is 

temporary or seasonal and consists of selling and delivering merchandise within the city, and 
who in furtherance of the purpose uses or occupies any structure, vehicle or other place for the 
exhibition and sale of the merchandise. 

 
TREE.   Any of the following type of trees, as each is defined herein: 

 
(a) Coniferous Tree.   A woody plant which, at maturity, is at least 12 feet or more in 

height, having foliage on the outermost portion of the branches year round. 
 



35 

(b) Deciduous Tree.   A woody plant which, at maturity, is at least 15 feet or more in 
height, having a defined crown, and which sheds leaves annually. 

 
(c) Significant Tree.   A healthy tree measuring a minimum of six (6) inches in diameter 

at breast height (DBH) for deciduous trees, or a minimum of 12 feet in height for coniferous trees. 
 

(d) Significant Tree Stand.   A grouping or cluster of coniferous and/or deciduous trees 
with contiguous crown cover, occupying 500 or more square feet of property, which are comprised 
of deciduous trees six (6) inches or larger DBH or coniferous trees 12 feet or higher in height. 

 
(e) Specimen Tree.   A healthy hardwood tree measuring equal to or greater than 30 

inches DBH and/or a coniferous tree measuring 50 feet or greater in height. 
 

TREE CERTIFICATION.   A certified inventory of trees on the site after work is complete 
listing all trees and their final disposition, which is signed by a licensed forester or landscape 
architect. 

 
TREE PRESERVATION PLAN.   A plan and inventory certified by a forester or landscape 

architect indicating all of the significant trees and their locations in the proposed development or 
on the lot.  The tree preservation plan shall include the size, species, tag numbers, and location of 
all significant trees proposed to be saved and removed on the area of development, and the 
measures proposed to protect the significant trees to be saved. 

 
TRUCKING TERMINAL.   Land or buildings used primarily as a relay station for the transfer 

of freight from one vehicle to another or one party to another rather than permanent or long term 
storage.  The terminal facility might include storage areas for trucks and buildings for truck 
maintenance and repair.  

 
VARIANCE.   A modification of the strict provisions of this ordinance as applied to a specific 

piece of property in order to provide relief for a property owner because of undue hardship imposed 
upon the property by this ordinance.  A variance shall normally be limited to height, density and 
yard requirements.  A modification in the allowable uses within a district shall not be considered 
a variance. 

 
VETERINARY HOSPITAL.   A place for the treatment, hospitalization, surgery, care and 

boarding of animals and birds, under the direction of one or more licensed veterinarians. 
 

WAREHOUSE.   A building used for warehousing. 
 

WAREHOUSING AND DISTRIBUTION.   The storage, wholesaling, or distribution of 
manufactured products, supplies, and equipment. 

 
WATERBODY OR WATERCOURSE.   Any natural or man-made passageway on the surface 

of the earth so situated and having such a topographical nature that surface water stands or flows 
through it from other areas.  The term includes ponding areas, drainage channels, swales, 
waterways, creeks, rivers, lakes, streams, wetland areas, and any other open surface water flow 
which is the result of storm water or ground water discharge.  This term does not include man-
made piping systems commonly referred to as storm sewers. 



36 

 
WATERSHED.   The area drained by the natural and artificial drainage system, bounded 

peripherally by a bridge or stretch of high land dividing drainage areas. 
 

WETLANDS.   An area where water stands near, or above the soil surface during a significant 
portion of most years, saturating the soil and supporting a predominantly aquatic form of 
vegetation, and which may have the following characteristics: 

 
(a) Vegetation belonging to the marsh (emergent aquatic), bog, fen, sedge meadow, 

shrub land, southern lowland forest (lowland hardwood), and northern lowland forest (conifer 
swamp) communities.  (These communities correspond roughly to wetland types 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 
and 8 described by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, Circular 39, “Wetlands of the U.S. 
1956".) 

 
(b) Mineral soils with gley horizons or organic soils belonging to the Histosol order (peat 

and mulch). 
 

(c) Soil which is water logged or covered with water at least three (3) months of the year. 
 

(d) Swamps, bogs, marshes, potholes, wet meadows, and sloughs are wetlands, and such 
property, may be shallow water bodies, the waters of which are stagnant or actuated by very feeble 
currents, and may at times be sufficiently dry to permit tillage, but would require drainage to be 
made arable.  The edge of a wetland is commonly that point where the natural vegetation changes 
from predominantly aquatic to preeminently terrestrial. 

 
WINERY. A place that makes wine through the fermentation of grapes. This includes 

sparkling wine, vermouth, cider, mead, perry and sake. 
 

WHOLESALE BUSINESSES/SHOWROOMS.  An establishment or place of business 
primarily engaged in selling and/or distributing merchandise to retailers; to industrial, commercial, 
institutional, or professional business users, or to other wholesalers; or acting as agents or brokers 
and buying merchandise for, or selling merchandise to, such individuals or companies. This is not 
considered a general commercial use. 

 
YARD.   An open space that lies between the principal or accessory building or buildings and 

the nearest lot line.  Such yard is unoccupied and unobstructed from the ground upward except as 
may be specifically provided in the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
YARD, FRONT.   A yard extending across the full width of the lot and lying between the 

front lot line and the nearest principal building. 
 

YARD, REAR.   A yard extending across the full width of the lot and lying between the rear 
lot line and the nearest principal building. 

 
YARD, SIDE.   A yard extending the depth of a lot from the front yard to the rear yard between 

the side lot line and the nearest principal building. 
 



37 

ZERO LOT LINE.   The location of a building on a lot in such a manner that one or more of 
the building’s sides rests directly on a lot line. 

 
ZONING ADMINISTRATOR.   The Community Development Director or as assigned, who 

is charged with the administration and enforcement of this ordinance. 



38 

ADMINISTRATION 
 
 
§ 1007.015   AMENDMENTS: TEXT AND MAP.   
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to prescribe the procedure and requirements for 
any change to the zoning classification, text or zoning boundaries of a property or any amendment 
to any provision of this chapter.   

 
(2) Initiation. Amendments may be initiated by action of the City Council, recommendation 

of the Planning and Zoning Board, or by petition of a property owner.   
 

(3) Submittal Requirements. 
 
(a) Petitions for text amendments shall include detailed written and graphic materials 

fully explaining the proposed change. 
 
(b) Petitions for map amendments shall include, as determined by the Community 

Development Director, either site and building plans consistent with the requirements established 
in City Code Section 1007.020 (Site and Building Plan Review) or information required by City 
Code Chapter 1000 for a plat submittal.   

 
(4) Procedure. An application for zoning (text or map) amendment shall be approved or 

denied within 60 days of the date of its official complete submission pursuant to M. S. §15.99 
unless extended pursuant to Statute or a time waiver is granted by the applicant.  Additional City 
requirements are as follows: 
 

(a) The property owner or their agent shall file with the Zoning Administrator a 
completed application form together with the required submittals and a fee as required in City 
Code Section 1007.000(8). The request for the amendment shall be placed on the agenda of the 
Planning and Zoning Board according to the City’s deadline and meeting schedule. 

 
(b) The City shall set the date for a public hearing and have notice of such hearing 

published in the legal newspaper at least 10 days prior to said hearing in accordance with M. S. 
§462.357, Subd. 3.   

 
(c) The City shall mail notice of the public hearing to all property owners within 600 

feet of any property proposed for zoning text or map amendments.  Said notice shall be mailed at 
least 10 days prior to the day of the public hearing in accordance with M. S. §462.357, Subd. 3. 
Failure of any property owner to receive the mailed notification shall not invalidate the 
proceedings. 

 
(d) The Zoning Administrator shall instruct the appropriate staff persons to prepare 

technical reports where appropriate and provide general assistance in preparing a recommendation 
of the action to the City Council. 

 



39 

(e) The Planning and Zoning Board shall hold the public hearing and consider possible 
adverse effects of the proposed amendment.  Its judgement shall be based upon, but not limited to, 
the following factors: 

 
1. The proposed action is consistent with the official City Comprehensive Plan. 

 
2. The proposed action is or will be compatible with present and future land uses 

of the area. 
 

3. The proposed action conforms with all performance standards contained herein. 
 

4. The proposed action can be accommodated with existing public services and 
will not overburden the City’s service capacity. 

 
5. Traffic generation by the proposed action is within capabilities of streets serving 

the property as described in City Code Section 1007.020(4)(d). 
 

(f) The Planning and Zoning Board shall make findings of fact and recommend 
approval or denial of the request.  Such recommendation shall be accompanied by the report and 
recommendation of the City staff. 

 
(g) Approval of a proposed amendment shall require passage by a majority vote of all 

members of the City Council except that the adoption or amendment of any portion of a zoning 
ordinance which changes all or part of the existing classification of a zoning district from 
residential to either commercial or industrial requires a four-fifths (4/5) majority vote of all 
members of the City Council. If the City Council denies a request, it shall state in writing the 
reasons for the denial at the time it denies the request. 

 
(h) An amendment to this chapter, adopted by the City Council, shall take effect 30 

days after its publication or at such later date as it specifies.   
 

(i)  No application for a zoning text or map amendment which has been denied shall 
be resubmitted for a period of 12 months from the date of said order of denial.  
 
 



40 

§ 1007.016   CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS. 
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section is to allow the City to review uses, which because 
of their unique characteristics, cannot be permitted as of right in a particular zoning district, but 
which may be allowed upon showing that such use in a specified location will comply with all of 
the conditions and standards of this zoning ordinance. When such circumstances exist, a 
conditional use permit may be granted.  Conditions may be applied to issuance of the permit and 
an annual review of the permit may be required.  The permit shall be granted for a particular use 
and not for a particular person or firm.  Conditional use permits may be granted in accordance with 
this subdivision for any use or purpose for which such permits are required or permitted by this 
ordinance or as listed as a conditional use for the zoning districts provided in City Code Section 
1007.080 through Section 1007.131. 

 
(2) Submittal Requirements.  An application for a conditional use permit shall be filed with 

the Zoning Administrator and shall be accompanied with the submittal information as identified 
in City Code Section 1007.020 (Site and Building Plan Review).  

 
(3) Procedure. An application for a conditional use permit shall be approved or denied within 

60 days of the date of its official complete submission pursuant to M. S. §15.99 unless extended 
pursuant to Statute or a time waiver is granted by the applicant. Additional City requirements are 
as follows: 
 

(a) The property owner or their agent shall file with the Zoning Administrator a 
completed application form together with the required submittals and a fee as required in City 
Code Section 1007.000(8).  The request for conditional use permit shall be placed on the agenda 
of the Planning & Zoning Board according to the City’s deadline and meeting schedule.   

 
(b) The City shall set the date for a public hearing and have notice of such hearing 

published in the legal newspaper at least 10 days prior to said hearing in accordance with M. S. 
§462.357, Subd. 3.  

 
(c) The City shall mail notice of the public hearing to all property owners within 350 

feet of the property in question.  Said notice shall be mailed at least 10 days prior to the day of the 
public hearing in accordance with M. S. §462.357, Subd. 3. Failure of any property owner to 
receive the mailed notification shall not invalidate the proceedings. 

 
(d) The Zoning Administrator shall instruct the appropriate staff persons to prepare 

technical reports where appropriate and provide general assistance in preparing a recommendation 
of the action to the City Council. 

 
(e) The Planning and Zoning Board shall hold the public hearing and consider possible 

adverse effects of the proposed conditional use. Its judgement shall be based upon, but not limited 
to, the following factors: 
 

1. The proposed development application has been found to be consistent with the 
design standards listed in City Code Section 1007.020(4). 

 



41 

2. Will not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions 
of operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property, or the general welfare because of 
excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare, or odors. 

 
3. Will not result in the destruction, loss, or damage of a natural, scenic or historic 

feature of major importance. 
 

(f) The Planning and Zoning Board shall make findings of fact and recommend such 
actions or conditions relating to the request as they deem necessary to carry out the intent and 
purpose of this Chapter.  Such recommendation shall be made in writing and accompanied by the 
report and recommendation of City staff. 

 
(g) Upon receiving the report and recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Board 

and the City staff, the City Council shall make a recorded finding of fact and may impose any 
condition they consider necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare.   

 
(h) Following approval of the conditional use permit, the City shall file a certified copy 

thereof including a legal description of the property with the County Recorder and/or Registrar of 
Title. 

 
(4) Expiration. The applicant shall commence the use or construction within one (1) year of 

the date of approval unless a different time is specified in the conditional use permit.  Otherwise, 
the approval shall be null and void, unless an extension is requested in writing, and for good cause, 
is granted by the City Council. A conditional use specified in the permit expires if, for any reason, 
the authorized use ceases for more than one (1) year. 
 

(5) Any change involving structural alteration, enlargement, intensification of use, or similar 
change not specifically permitted by the conditional use permit issued shall require an amended 
conditional use permit and all procedures shall apply as if a new permit were being issued.  An 
amended conditional use permit application and requests for changes in conditions shall be 
administered in a manner similar to that required for a conditional use permit.   

 
(6) All uses existing as of July 14, 1997 that are included in the list of conditional uses for 

the zoning district in which they are located shall be considered as having a conditional use permit 
which contains conditions that permit the land use and structures as they existed on said date.  Any 
enlargement, structural alteration, or intensification of such use shall require an amended 
conditional use permit as provided for above. 

 
(7) No application for a conditional use permit shall be resubmitted for a period of 12 months 

from the date of said order of denial.  
 

(8) Revocation.  If an approved conditional use permit is in violation of this ordinance or the 
conditions of permit approval, the City may initiate a process to revoke the conditional use permit.  
The City shall then conduct a public hearing to consider the revocation of a conditional use permit.  
Notifications shall be distributed and published according to paragraph (3)(b) and (c) The public 
hearing shall be conducted by the Planning & Zoning Board, which shall make a recommendation 
to the City Council.  In considering revocation, the Board and the City Council shall consider 
compliance with the approved conditions of the conditional use permit and the standards listed in 



42 

paragraph (3)(e).  The City may also conduct a public hearing and consider revocation if the time 
requirements of paragraph (4) have not been met. 

 
(9) Following a vote by the City Council to revoke the conditional use permit, the City shall 

file a certified copy thereof including a legal description of the property with Anoka County. 
 
 
 



43 

§ 1007.017   INTERIM USE PERMITS. 
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section regarding interim uses is: 
 

(a) To allow a use for a brief period of time until a permanent location is obtained or 
while the permanent location is under construction. 

 
(b) To allow a use that is presently judged acceptable by the City Council, but that with 

anticipated development or redevelopment, will not be acceptable in the future or will be replaced 
in the future by a permitted or conditional use allowed within the respective district. 

 
(c) To allow a use which is reflective of anticipated long range change to an area and 

which is in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan provided that said use maintains harmony 
and compatibility with surrounding uses and is in keeping with the architectural character and 
design standards of existing uses and development. 

 
(2) Procedure. 
 

(a) Interim uses shall be processed according to the standards and procedures for a 
conditional use permit as established by City Code Section 1007.016. 
 

(b) General Standards.   An interim use shall comply with the following: 
 

1. Meets the standards of a conditional use permit set forth in City Code Section 
1007.016. 

 
2. Conforms to the applicable performance standards of this ordinance. 
 
3. The use is allowed as an interim use in the respective zoning district. 
 
4. The date or event that will terminate the use can be identified with certainty. 
 
5. The use will not impose additional costs on the public if it is necessary for the 

public to take the property in the future. 
 
6. The user agrees to any conditions that the City Council deem appropriate for 

permission of the use. 
 

(3) Termination.   An interim use shall terminate on the happening of any of the following 
events, whichever first occurs: 
 

(a) The date stated in the permit. 
 

(b) Upon violation of conditions under which the permit was issued. 
 

(c) Upon change in the City’s zoning regulations which renders the use non-conforming. 
 



44 

(d) The redevelopment of the use and property upon which it is located to a permitted or 
conditional use as allowed within the respective zoning district. 
 

(4) Revocation.   If an approved interim use permit is in violation of this ordinance or the 
conditions of permit approval, the City may initiate a process to revoke the interim use permit. The 
City shall then conduct a public hearing to consider the revocation of an interim use permit.  
Notifications shall be distributed and published according to paragraph (2).  The public hearing 
shall be conducted by the Planning & Zoning Board, which shall make a recommendation to the 
City Council.  In considering revocation, the Board and the City Council shall consider compliance 
with the approved conditions of the interim use permit and the standards listed in paragraph (2)(b). 



45 

§ 1007.018   VARIANCES AND APPEALS.   
 

(1) Purpose.  The purpose of this section is to provide for deviations from the requirements 
of this Chapter, and to provide for the appeal of an interpretation of legislative intent of the 
provisions of this chapter. 

 
(2) Board Designation.  The City Council shall serve as the Board of Adjustment and 

Appeals. 
 
(3) Variances. Variances from the requirements of this ordinance, including restrictions 

placed on nonconformities, may be granted if the following conditions are met: 
 
(a) Criteria and Findings of Fact.   No variance shall be granted unless it meets all the 

criteria in paragraphs 1. through 6. or unless paragraph 7. applies.  The City shall make findings 
regarding compliance with these criteria. 

 
1. The variance shall be in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the 

ordinance. 
 
2. The variance shall be consistent with the official City Comprehensive Plan. 
 
3. There shall be practical difficulties in complying with the ordinance.  “Practical 

difficulties,” as used in connection with the granting of a variance, means that the property owner 
proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by the ordinance.  Economic 
considerations alone do not constitute practical difficulties.  Practical difficulties include, but are 
not limited to, inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. 

 
4. The plight of the landowner shall be due to circumstances unique to the property 

not created by the landowner. 
 
5. The variance shall not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 
6. A variance shall not be granted for any use that is not allowed under the ordinance 

for property in the zoning district where the subject site is located. 
 
7. In accordance with M. S. §462.357, Subd. 6, variances shall be granted for earth 

sheltered construction as defined in M. S. §216C.06, Subd. 14, when in harmony with the zoning 
ordinance. 
 

(b) Submittal Requirements.   An application for a variance shall be filed with the Zoning 
Administrator and shall be accompanied with the following submittal information: 
 

1. Proof of title and contract/purchase agreement and/or property owner signature on 
the application form when applicable.    

 
2. Certificate of survey prepared by a licensed land surveyor in compliance with the 

requirements in City Code Section 1007.020(2)(b). The Community Development Department 



46 

may waive the certificate of survey when the survey will not provide information relevant to the 
variance necessary to review the application. 

 
3. Graphic information, plans, specifications, or other materials that illustrate the 

requested variance. 
 
4. Narrative description of how the application complies with the variance criteria 

listed below. 
 

(c) Procedures.  An application for a variance shall be approved or denied within 60 days 
of the date of its official complete submission pursuant to M. S. §15.99 unless extended pursuant 
to Statute or a time waiver is granted by the applicant.  Additional City requirements for variances 
are as follows: 
 

1. The property owner or their agent shall file with the Zoning Administrator a 
completed application form together with the required submittals and a fee as required in City 
Code Section 1007.000(8).   

 
2. The request for variance shall be placed on the agenda of the Planning and Zoning 

Board according to the City’s deadline and meeting schedule.   
 

3. The Zoning Administrator shall instruct the appropriate staff persons to prepare 
technical reports where appropriate, and provide general assistance in preparing a recommendation 
of the action to the City Council. 
 

4. The petitioner or representative should appear before the Planning and Zoning 
Board in order to present information or to answer questions. The Board shall make a 
recommendation to the City Council including findings on compliance with required criteria and 
conditions to be imposed. 

 
5. The City Council may grant the variance if it has been established that the 

application complies with all the required criteria. The City shall decide upon requests for variance 
by approving or denying the same in part or in whole.  

 
6. The City may impose conditions in the granting of variances.  Conditions must be 

directly related to and must bear a rough proportionality to the impact created by the variance. 
 
7. The City Council shall, on all variance applications whether granted or denied, 

record findings of fact.  Such findings shall be recorded in writing and shall state the City Council’s 
reasons for such action. If the City Council denies an application, it shall state in writing the 
reasons for the denial at the time it denies the application.  However, when a vote on a resolution 
or properly made motion to approve an application fails for any reason, the failure shall constitute 
a denial of the application provided that those voting against the motion state on the record the 
reasons why they oppose the application. 

 
8. Following approval of the variance, the City shall file a certified copy thereof 

including a legal description of the property with the County Recorder or Registrar of Titles. 
 



47 

(4) Appeal.  An appeal shall only be applicable to an administrative permit, order, 
requirement or interpretation of intent of provisions of this ordinance.  Opinions and evaluations 
as they pertain to the impact or result of a request are not subject to the appeal procedure.   
 

(a) Procedure. An appeal from an administrative action shall be filed by the property 
owner or their agent with the Zoning Administrator within 10 days after the making of the order, 
requirement, or interpretation being appealed. 

 
1. The property owner or their agent shall file with the Zoning Administrator an 

application for appeal stating the specific grounds upon which the appeal is made.  Said application 
shall be accompanied by a fee as established by City Council ordinance.  In cases where the 
application is judged to be incomplete, the Zoning Administrator shall notify the applicant, in 
writing, within 10 days of the date of submission. 

 
2. An appeal stays all proceedings and the furtherance of the action being appealed 

unless it is certified to the Board of Adjustment Appeals, after the notice of appeal is filed, that by 
reason of facts stated in the certificate a stay would cause imminent peril to life and property. 

 
3. The Zoning Administrator shall instruct the appropriate staff persons to prepare 

technical reports when appropriate and shall provide general assistance in preparing a 
recommendation on the action to the Board of Adjustments and Appeals. 

 
4. The Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall consider the application for appeal at 

a public meeting and consider testimony of the property owner and City staff. 
 
5. The Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall make its decision within 60 days of 

the date of its official complete submission pursuant to M. S. §15.99 unless extended pursuant to 
Statute or a time waiver is granted by the applicant.   

 
6. The Zoning Administrator shall serve a copy of the final order of the Board upon 

the applicant by mail. 
 

7. No application for a variance shall be resubmitted for a period of 12 months from 
the date of said order of denial.  

 
(5) Expiration. The applicant shall comply with the conditions of approval or complete 

construction within one (1) year of the date of approval unless a different time is specified in the 
variance approval.  Otherwise, the approval shall be null and void, unless an extension is requested 
in writing, and for good cause, is granted by the City Council. 

 
 



48 

§ 1007.019   ADMINISTRATION: ADMINISTRATIVE PERMITS AND APPROVALS. 
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section is to establish regulations and procedures for the 
processing and consideration of activities allowed by administrative permit, and of matters 
requiring the approvals of the Zoning Administrator with the goal of protecting the health, safety, 
and welfare of the citizens of the City. 

 
(2) Submittal Requirements.   An application for an administrative permit or approval shall 

be filed with the Zoning Administrator and shall be accompanied with the following information:  
 

(a) The applicant shall include as part of the application, the applicable submission 
information as identified in City Code Section 1007.020 Site and Building Plan Review.  The 
Zoning Administrator may waive submission information not deemed necessary for the 
administrative review. 

 
(b) A concise statement describing the proposed use, event or activity, including the 

purpose, type of merchandise involved, dates and times of operation, number of employees 
involved, provisions for on-site security, provisions for on-site parking, and other pertinent 
information required by the Zoning Administrator to fully evaluate the application. 
 

(3) Procedure.   An application for administrative permit shall be approved or denied within 
60 days of the date of its official complete submission pursuant to M. S. §15.99 unless extended 
pursuant to Statute or a time waiver is granted by the applicant.  Additional City requirements are 
as follows: 

 
(a) The property owner or their agent shall file with the Zoning Administrator a 

completed application form together with the required submittals and a fee as required in City 
Code Section 1007.000(8). 

 
(b) The Zoning Administrator shall review the applications and related materials and 

shall determine whether the proposal is in compliance with all applicable evaluation criteria, codes, 
ordinances, and applicable performance standards set forth in this ordinance.   

 
(c) A written report or letter of approval shall be issued to the applicant when a 

determination of compliance has been made.  Specific conditions to assure compliance with 
applicable evaluation criteria, codes, ordinances, and the standards of this ordinance shall be 
attached to the permit or letter. 

 
(d) Determination of non-compliance with applicable codes, ordinances, and the 

standards in this paragraph shall be communicated to the applicant in writing and the application 
for the permit shall be considered denied; unless, within 10 days of the date of such notice, the 
applicant submits revised plans and/or information with which the Zoning Administrator is able to 
determine compliance. 

 
(e) Unresolved disputes as to administrative application of the requirements of this 

paragraph shall be subject to appeal as outlined in City Code Section 1007.018. 
 



49 

(4) Standards.   All uses, events, or activities allowed by administrative permit shall conform 
to the applicable standards outlined in the zoning district in which such use, event or activity is 
proposed. 
 

(5) Administration and Enforcement.     
 

(a) The Zoning Administrator shall keep a record of applications and administrative 
permits or approvals. 

 
(b) A copy of all administrative permits issued shall be forwarded to appropriate staff as 

determined by the Zoning Administrator. 
 
(c) Enforcement of the provisions of this paragraph shall be in accordance with City 

Code Section 1007.023.  Violation of an issued permit or of the provisions of this section also shall 
be grounds for denial of future permit applications. 



50 

§ 1007.020   SITE AND BUILDING PLAN REVIEW. 
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to establish Site Plan Review procedures and 
provides regulations pertaining to the enforcement of site design standards consistent with the 
requirements of this chapter. All site and building plans for multiple family, commercial, industrial 
or public/semi-public uses shall require review and approval by the Community Development 
Department.  Relocated structures shall also require a site and building plan review as required by 
City Code Section 1007.047 
 

(2) Submittal Requirements.   An application for a site and building plan review shall be filed 
with the Zoning Administrator and shall be accompanied with the following information:  
 

(a) Proof of title and contract/purchase agreement and property owner signature on the 
application form when applicable.    
 

(b) Certificate of Survey prepared by a licensed land surveyor identifying the following: 
 

1. Scale (engineering only) of at least one (1) inch equals 100 feet.  
 
2. North point indication. 
 
3. Existing boundaries with lot dimension and lot area. 
 
4. Existing buildings, structures and improvements within 100 feet of the exterior 

boundaries of the subject property. 
 
5. Easements of record. 
 
6. Delineated wetland boundary.  
 
7. OHWL of any lakes or DNR waters within 100 feet of property. 
 
8. FEMA floodplain boundary and Flood Insurance Study (FIS) base flood elevation 

(BFE) determination.  
 
9. All encroachments. 
 
10. Legal description. 

 
(c) Site Plan prepared by a licensed professional using the current Certificate of Survey 

as a base depicting the following: 
 

1. Name of project or development. 
 

2. Name and address of developer and/or owner. 
 

3. Name and address of engineer/architect/designer. 
 



51 

4. Date of plan preparation and dates of any subsequent revisions. 
 

5. All proposed improvements, including: 
 

a. Required and proposed setbacks. 
 
b. Location, setback and dimensions of all proposed buildings and structures. 

 
c. Location of all adjacent buildings and structures within 100 feet of the exterior 

boundaries of the subject property. 
 

d. Location, number, dimensions of all proposed parking spaces, loading areas 
and drive aisles, with curbing shown. 

 
e. Location, width and setbacks of all proposed street accesses and driveways.   
 
f. Location, width and setbacks of all proposed sidewalks, walkways and trails. 
 
g. Location and type of all proposed lighting, including fixture details. 
 
h. Provisions for storage and disposal of waste, garbage and recyclables, 

including details for enclosing and screening exterior containers. 
 

6. Calculations for impervious/pervious surfaces. 
 

(d) Grading Plan prepared by a licensed engineer using the current Certificate of Survey 
as a base depicting the following: 

 
1. Existing contours at two- (2) foot intervals. 

 
2. Proposed grade elevations at two- (2) foot maximum intervals. 

 
3. Drainage plan, including the configuration of drainage areas and calculations. 

 
4. Spot elevations and drainage arrows. 

 
5. Surface water ponding and treatment areas. 

 
6. Erosion control measures. 

 
7. Wetland replacement plan (when applicable). 

 
8. Soil borings. 

 
9. Drainage calculations for two- (2), 10-, & 100-year storm events. 

 
10. Delineated wetland boundary, to include OHWL of any lakes or DNR waters. 

 



52 

11. Date of plan preparation and dates of any subsequent revisions. 
 
(e) Tree Survey in accordance with City Code Section 1007.043(17)(l). 
 
(f) Tree Preservation Plan in accordance with City Code Section 1007.043(17)(m). 
 
(g) Landscaping Plan prepared by a licensed landscape architect or licensed engineer 

using the current Certificate of Survey as a base depicting the following: 
 

1. Planting schedule including: 
 
a. Symbols. 

 
b. Quantities. 

 
c. Common and botanical names. 

 
d. Sizes of plant materials. 

 
e. Root specification (bare root, balled/burlapped, potted, etc.). 

 
f. Special installation instructions. 

 
2. Planting detail (show all species to scale at normal mature crown diameter or 

spread for local hardiness zone). 
 
3. Typical sections with details of fences, tie walls, planter boxes, tot lots, picnic 

areas and the like. 
 
4. Typical sections with details of landscape islands, planter beds, and foundation 

plantings with identification of materials to be used. 
 
5. Delineation of both sodded and seeded areas with respective areas measured in 

square feet.  
 

6. Coverage plan for underground irrigation systems, if any. 
 
7. Other existing or proposed conditions that could be anticipated to affect 

landscaping. 
 

8. Date of plan preparation and dates of any subsequent revisions. 
 

9. Calculations table showing how required landscaping standards have been met as 
follows: 

 
a. Canopy Coverage. 

 
i. Total area of vehicular hardscape. 



53 

 
ii. Required area of coverage. 

 
iii. Quantity and value of all trees proposed. 

 
b. Foundation Landscape. 

 
i. Linear footage of building. 

 
ii. Total number of trees and shrubs required. 

 
iii. Quantity of trees and shrubs proposed. 

 
c. Open Area Landscape. 

  
i. Total square footage of open area. 

 
ii. Total numbers of trees and shrubs required. 

 
iii. Quantity of trees and shrubs proposed. 

 
d. Boulevard Trees. 

 
i. Linear feet of street frontage or number of lot frontages as applicable. 
 
ii. Number of trees required. 

 
(h) Photometric Lighting Plan, to include fixture details/cut sheets/drawings. 

 
1. Date of plan preparation and dates of any subsequent revisions. 

 
(i) Architectural Plans prepared by a licensed architect. 
 

1. Date of plan preparation and dates of any subsequent revisions. 
 

2. Architectural elevations, in color, of all principal and accessory buildings and 
structures (type, color, and materials used in all exterior surfaces). 

 
3. Typical floor plan and typical room plan drawn to scale with a summary of square 

footage by use or activity. 
 
(j) Utility Plan prepared by a licensed engineer. 
 

1. Location of hydrants, valves, and manholes, if any. 
 
2. Location, sizing, and type of water and sewer system mains, and proposed service 

connections, hydrants, valves, and manholes; or, 
 



54 

3. Location and size of proposed primary and secondary on-site treatment systems, 
when allowed. 

 
4. Storm sewer, catch basins, invert elevation, type of castings, and type of materials 

(refer to Engineering Manual for City standards). 
 
5. Date of plan preparations and dates of any subsequent revisions. 

 
(k) Other plans and information as may be required by the Zoning Administrator which 

may include (but not be limited to) the following: 
 

1. Location, type and size (area and height) of all signs to be erected upon the subject 
property. 

 
2. Vicinity map showing the subject property in relation to nearby highways or major 

street intersections. 
 
3. Sound source control plan. 
 
4. Fire protection plan. 
 
5. Proposed protective covenants or private restrictions. 
 
6. Where landscaping or man-made materials are used to provide screening from 

adjacent properties, a cross section shall be provided showing the perspective of the site from 
neighboring properties at the lot line elevation. 

 
7. Written narrative describing proposed development. 

 
8. Cost estimates for all on-site improvements. 
 
9. Copies of RCWD, VLAWMO, FEMA or other applications made to other 

government agencies as applicable. 
 

(l) For applications for new communication towers, the application must include 
information to demonstrate compliance with the provisions of City Code Section 1007.054, 
including but not limited to: 

 
1. Demonstration that a significant gap in coverage exists that would be resolved by 

the proposed location and that adequate service cannot be provided utilizing existing structures 
within a two-(2) mile search radius of the proposed site. 

 
2. Structural design information to ensure compliance with manufacturer 

specifications and to ensure the tower can accommodate additional antennas (co-location). 
 

3. Authorization from the property owner if different from applicant. 
 



55 

4. Lease or agreement requiring removal of the tower and facilities after cessation of 
use. 
 

5. Copies of applicable federal, state, and local licenses, permits, and approvals. 
 

(3) Procedure. An application for site and building plan review shall be approved or denied 
within 60 days of the date of its official complete submission pursuant to M. S. §15.99 unless 
extended pursuant to Statute or a time waiver is granted by the applicant.  Additional City 
requirements for site and building plan review are as follows: 

 
(a) The property owner or their agent shall file with the Zoning Administrator a 

completed application form together with the required submittals and a fee as required in City 
Code Section 1007.000(8). 

 
(b) The Zoning Administrator shall forward copies of the application and site and 

building plans to the appropriate staff, consultants and governmental agencies for review and 
recommendation.  The Community Development Department shall perform a review and approve 
or deny the application.  The Community Development Department may also suggest such 
conditions as they deem necessary to the approval of the site and building plans. 
 

(c) The applicant may appeal any denial or decision by the Department according to City 
Code Section 1007.018. 

 
(d) No application for a site and building plan review shall be resubmitted for a period 

of 12 months from the date of said order of denial. 
 
(e) The Community Development Department shall provide to the City Council reports 

summarizing submitted site and building plan applications and outcomes regarding approval or 
denial as they occur. 
 

(4) Performance Standards.  Plans which fail to meet the following criteria shall not be 
approved. 
 

(a) The proposed development application must be consistent with the policies and 
recommendations of the Lino Lakes Comprehensive Plan. 

 
(b) The proposed development application is compatible with present and future land 

uses of the area. 
 
(c) The proposed development application conforms to performance standards herein 

and other applicable City Codes. 
 
(d) Traffic generated by a proposed development application is within the capabilities of 

the City when: 
 

1. If the existing level of service (LOS) outside of the proposed development is A or 
B, traffic generated by a proposed development will not degrade the level of service more than one 
grade. 



56 

 
2. If the existing LOS outside of the proposed development is C, traffic generated by 

a proposed development will not degrade the level of service below C. 
 
3. If the existing LOS outside of the proposed development is D, traffic generated by 

a proposed development will not degrade the level of service below D. 
 
4. The existing LOS must be D or better for all streets and intersections providing 

access to the proposed development.  If the existing level of service is E or F, the developer must 
provide, as part of the proposed project, improvements needed to ensure a level of service D or 
better. 
 

5. Existing roads and intersections providing access to the proposed development 
must have the structural capacity to accommodate projected traffic from the proposed development 
or the developer will pay to correct any structural deficiencies. 

 
6. The traffic generated from a proposed development shall not require City street 

improvements that are inconsistent with the Lino Lakes Capital Improvement Plan.  However, the 
City may, at its discretion, consider developer-financed improvements to correct any street 
deficiencies. 

 
7. The LOS requirements in paragraphs 1. to 4. above do not apply to the I-35W/Lake 

Drive or I-35E/Main St. interchanges.  At City discretion, interchange impacts must be evaluated 
in conjunction with Anoka County and the Minnesota Dept. of Transportation, and a plan must be 
prepared to determine improvements needed to resolve deficiencies.   This plan must determine 
traffic generated by the proposed development project, how this traffic contributes to the total 
traffic, and the time frame of the improvements.  The plan also must examine financing options, 
including project contribution and cost sharing among other jurisdictions and other properties that 
contribute to traffic at the interchange. 
 

(e) The proposed development shall be served with adequate and safe water supply. 
 

(f) The proposed development shall be served with an adequate or safe sanitary sewer 
system. 

 
(g) The proposed development shall not result in the premature expenditures of City funds 

on capital improvements necessary to accommodate the proposed development. 
 

(h) Fire prevention and fighting equipment acceptable to the Board of Fire Underwriters 
and City Council shall be readily available when any activity involving the handling or storage of 
flammable or explosive materials is carried on. 

 
(5) Expiration. Activities authorized by site and building plan approval shall be initiated 

within six (6) months.  The time limits established in this paragraph may be extended by the Zoning 
Administrator. 

 
(6) Site Improvement Performance Agreement and Financial Guarantee. Following the 

approval of the site plan required by this section where no public improvements are proposed and 



57 

before issuance of a building permit, the applicant, as determined to be necessary by the Zoning 
Administrator, shall guarantee to the City the completion of all improvements as shown on the 
approved site plan and as required by the site plan approval. This guarantee shall be made by 
means of a site improvement performance agreement and a financial guarantee as provided below: 

 
(a)   The applicant shall execute the site improvement performance agreement on forms 

provided by the City.  The agreement shall be approved as to form and content by the City Attorney 
and shall define the required work and reflect the terms of this chapter as to the required guarantee 
for the performance of the work by the applicant. 

 
(b) The required work includes, but is not limited to private exterior amenities such as 

landscaping, private streets, parking areas, recreation fields, drainage systems, stormwater basins, 
sanitary sewer systems, water mains, wetland mitigation, wetland buffers, erosion control, curbing, 
fences and screening, and other similar facilities.  The required work shall also include all aspects 
of a tree preservation plan, if applicable. 

 
(c) A financial guarantee shall be submitted with the executed site performance 

agreement as provided herein: 
 

1. Financial guarantees acceptable to the City include cash escrow; an irrevocable 
letter of credit; or other financial instruments which provide equivalent assurance to the City and 
which are approved by the Zoning Administrator. 

 
2. The term of the financial guarantee shall be for the life of the site improvement 

performance agreement, and it shall be the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that a submitted 
financial guarantee shall continue in full force and effect until the Zoning Administrator shall have 
approved and accepted all of the work undertaken to be done and shall thereby have released the 
guarantee or reduced the amount of the guarantee as provided in this chapter. 

 
3. When any instrument submitted as a financial guarantee contains a provision for an 

automatic expiration date, after which the instrument may not be drawn upon, notwithstanding the 
status of the site performance agreement or of the required work, the expiration date shall be 
October 31; further, it shall be the responsibility of the applicant to notify the City in writing, by 
certified mail, at least 60 days in advance of the expiration date of the intention to renew the 
instrument or to not renew the instrument. If the instrument is to be renewed, a written notice of 
extension shall be provided 30 days prior to the expiration date; if the instrument is not to be 
renewed, and has not been released by the Zoning Administrator, another acceptable financial 
guarantee in the appropriate amount shall be submitted at least 30 days prior to the expiration. The 
term of any extension shall be approved by the Zoning Administrator. Upon receipt of an 
acceptable substitute financial guarantee, the Zoning Administrator may release the original 
guarantee. 

 
4. The amount of the financial guarantee shall be established by the Zoning 

Administrator based upon an itemized estimate of the cost of all required work as provided by the 
applicant. A cash escrow or irrevocable letter of credit shall be in the amount of 35 percent for 
private improvements and 125 percent for public improvements of the approved estimated cost. 
The amount of any other approved financial instrument shall be determined by the Zoning 
Administrator. 



58 

 
5. At the option of the City, the applicant may submit a separate financial guarantee 

for that portion of the required work consisting solely of landscaping improvements with another 
financial guarantee for all other exterior amenities and improvements which comprise the work. 
All trees shall be warranted to be alive, of good quality, and disease free for 12 months from the 
time of planting. Any subsequent replacement shall be warranted for 12 months from the time of 
planting. 

 
(d) The time allowed for completion of the required improvements shall be set out in the 

site improvement performance agreement. The agreement and the financial guarantee shall provide 
for forfeiture to the City to cure a default or reimburse the City the cost of enforcement measures. 
As various portions of such required work are completed by the applicant, are in compliance with 
City requirements, and are approved by the City, the Zoning Administrator may release such 
portion of the financial guarantee as is attributable to such completed work. Landscaping 
improvements shall not be deemed complete until the City has verified survivability of all required 
plantings through one "winter season" which is defined for the purpose of this section as the period 
October 31 through April 30. 

 
(e) The applicant shall notify the Zoning Administrator in writing when all or a portion 

of the required improvements have been completed in accordance with the approved plan and may 
be inspected. Upon receipt of such notice, the Zoning Administrator shall be responsible for the 
inspection of the improvements to determine that the useful life of all work performed meets the 
standards for the particular industry, profession, or material used in the performance of the work. 
Any required work failing to meet such standards shall not be deemed to be complete and the 
applicant shall be notified in writing as to required corrections. Upon determination that the work 
has been completed, including the winter season survivability of all landscape improvements, a 
notice of the date of actual completion shall be given to the applicant and appropriate action, to 
release or to reduce the amount of the financial guarantee shall be taken by the Zoning 
Administrator. 
 
 



59 

§ 1007.021   DUTIES OF CITY STAFF.   
  
The offices of the Zoning Administrator and Building Official are hereby established; official(s) 
shall be appointed by the government body. 
 

(1) Duties of the Zoning Administrator.   The Community Development Director or 
designee shall be the Zoning Administrator.  The Zoning Administrator shall enforce the 
provisions of this ordinance as provided herein; in addition to the duties and powers of the Zoning 
Administrator under this ordinance, express or implied, the Zoning Administrator shall have the 
duty and power to: 
 

(a) Issue permits required by this ordinance. 
 
(b) Maintain all records necessary for the enforcement of this ordinance; including, but 

not limited to, all data, maps, amendments, rezonings, and conditional use permits, variances, 
appeal notices, certificates of occupancy, and applications thereof, nonconforming uses. 

 
(c) Receive, file and forward all appeals, notices, applications for variances, conditional 

use permits, certificates of occupancy, or other matters to the appropriate officials or boards. 
 
(d) Serve as ex-officio, non-voting member of the Planning and Zoning Board. 
 
(e) Perform all duties set forth in job description. 

 
(2) Duties of the Building Official.   The Building Official shall enforce the provisions of this 

ordinance as provided herein; in addition to the duties and powers of the Building Official under 
this ordinance, express or implied, the Building Official shall have the duty and power to: 
 

(a) Conduct inspections of land, buildings or structures at reasonable times, to determine 
compliance with and enforce the provisions of this ordinance. 

 
(b) Perform annual and/or periodic review of all conditional use permits. 
 
(c) Institute in the name of the City any appropriate actions or proceedings to enforce 

this ordinance. 
 
(d) Perform all duties set forth in job description. 



60 

§ 1007.022   CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY.   
 

(1) No person may change the use of any land except for construction of essential services 
and transmission lines or occupy or utilize a new structurally altered building (except single-family 
detached dwellings or their accessory buildings in any district) or change the use of any building 
after the effective date of this ordinance unless he has first obtained a certificate of occupancy. 

 
(2) Application for a certificate of occupancy for a new building or for an existing building 

which has been so altered or the reuse of any land may be filed with the Building Official any time 
after the application for a building permit.  The Certificate of Occupancy shall be issued within 10 
days after the construction or alteration of such building or part thereof or site has been completed 
in conformity with the provisions of this ordinance and building code.  Pending the issuance of 
said certificate, a temporary certificate of occupancy may be issued, subject to the provisions of 
the building code and zoning ordinance for a period not to exceed 12 months during the completion 
of the erection or the alteration of such a building.  The temporary certificate shall not be construed 
as in any way altering the respective rights, duties or obligations of the owners or of the community 
relating to the use or occupancy of the premises or any other matter, except under such restrictions 
and provisions as will adequately ensure the safety of the occupants.  The use of any structure for 
which a building permit is required or the use of any land shall be considered a violation of this 
ordinance unless a certificate of occupancy has been issued. 

 
(3) Application for a certificate of occupancy for a new use of land shall be made to the 

Building Official before any such land shall be so used.  Such certificate of occupancy shall be 
issued within 10 days after this application if the use is in conformity with the provisions of this 
ordinance. 

 
(4) A record of all certificates of occupancy shall be kept on file with the City. 

 
  



61 

§ 1007.023   ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES. 
 

(1) Administration and Enforcement. 
 

(a) This ordinance shall be administered and enforced by the Zoning Administrator who 
is appointed by the City Council.  The Zoning Administrator may institute in the name of the City 
of Lino Lakes any appropriate actions or proceedings against a violator as provided by statute, 
ordinance, or code. 

 
(b) If the provisions of this ordinance are being violated, the City shall notify, in writing, 

the person responsible for such violations, indicating the nature of the violation and ordering the 
action necessary to correct it.  The City shall order discontinuance of illegal use of land, buildings 
or structures; removal of illegal buildings or structures or of additions, alterations or structural 
changes thereto; discontinuance of any illegal work being done; or shall take any other action 
authorized by this Section to ensure compliance with or to prevent violation of its provisions. 
 

(2) Penalties, Violations, and Enforcement.   In addition to the remedies set out in the 
paragraph above, the City may enforce any provisions of this ordinance by mandamus, injunction, 
or any other appropriate remedy in any court of competent jurisdiction. 
 



62 

§ 1007.024    PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD). 
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide a district that grants flexibility from 
certain zoning regulations in order to achieve public benefits that may not otherwise be obtained 
under standard zoning regulations. It is further intended that PUDs are to be characterized by 
central management, integrated planning and architecture, a higher level of urban amenities, 
preservation of natural open space, and more economical efficient use of land.   
 

(2) The PUD, by allowing deviation from the strict provisions of this ordinance related to 
setbacks, heights, lot area, width and depths, yards, etc., may be considered by the City when it 
would result in one or more of the following public benefits: 
 

(a) Implementation of a master plan consistent with the Planning District objectives of 
the Comprehensive Plan.  

 
(b) Innovations in development that address growing demands for all styles of economic 

expansion, greater variety in lot size, configuration, home type, design, enhanced architectural 
standards, and siting of structures through the conservation and more efficient use of land in such 
developments. 

 
(c) Preservation and enhancement of desirable site characteristics such as wildlife 

habitat, unique natural resources, existing vegetation, natural topography, geologic features and 
reduction of negative impacts on the environment. 

 
(d) Creative use of land and related physical development which allows a phased and 

orderly transition of varying land uses in close proximity to each other. 
 
(e) Efficient use of land resulting in smaller networks of utilities and streets thereby 

lowering development costs and public investments. 
 

(f) Mix of land use types. 
 
(g) Provision of a housing type or target housing price that is desirable to the City. 
 
(h) Other public benefits and values as recognized in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 
(3) All permitted uses, permitted accessory uses, conditional uses, and uses allowed by 

administrative permit in all zoning districts shall be potentially allowable uses within a PUD 
district, provided they would be allowable on the site under the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 
(4) The standards outlined in the following City Code Sections serve as development 

guidelines within PUDs: 
 



63 

Table 1 
PUD Land Use Development Standards 

Low-Density Residential R-1, §1007.090 
R-1X, §1007.091 
R-2, §1007.092 

Low-Density Mixed Residential R-1, §1007.090 
R-2, §1007.092 

Medium-Density Residential R-2, §1007.092 
R-3, §1007.093 

High-Density Residential R-4, §1007.094 
R-6, §1007.096 

Planned Residential / Commercial R-5, §1007.096 
Office Residential R-2, §1007.092 

R-3, §1007.093 
NB, §1007.110 
LB, §1007.111 
GB, §1007.112 

Signature Gateway R-3, §1007.093 
R-4, §1007.094 
NB, §1007.110 
GB, §1007.112 

Commercial NB, §1007.110 
LB, §1007.111 
GB, §1007.112 

Town Center R-4, §1007.094 
GB, §1007.112 

Business Campus BC, §1007.122 
Industrial LI, §1007.121 

GI, §1007.122 
 

(a)  The lot and yard standards, impervious surface coverage, building requirements 
and height regulations of the closest conventional zoning district shall be used as the regulations, 
but may be departed from to accomplish the purposes described in City Code Section 1007.024(2). 

 
(b) The standards outlined in the General Provisions section of the Zoning Ordinance 

serve as guidelines, but may be departed from to accomplish the purposes described in City Code 
Section 1007.024(2). 
 

(c) The aforementioned are guidelines only and not development standards. 
 

(5) General Requirements for a Planned Unit Development (PUD). 
 

(a) Public or common open space at least sufficient to meet the minimum requirements 
established in this ordinance and such complementary structures and improvements as are 
necessary and appropriate for the benefit and enjoyment of the residents of the PUD shall be 
provided within the area of the PUD.  

 



64 

(b) If a PUD includes provision of affordable housing, a specific housing type, or target 
housing price, details associated with the housing - including number of units, unit size, and price 
- shall be documented in a legally binding agreement approved by the City and recorded against 
the properties within the PUD. 

 
(c) If a PUD includes preservation of natural habitat, those habitats shall be 

permanently protected through a conservation easement or other legally binding agreement 
approved by the City and recorded against the properties within the PUD. 

 
(d) A common or homeowner’s association shall be established where appropriate to 

ensure on-going maintenance of infrastructure and public spaces, required restoration and 
management of natural areas, or other actions and activities specific to the PUD. 

 
(e) A residential PUD may include a variety of residential dwelling units, including, but 

not limited to single family and multifamily units as long as it complies with the density 
requirements.  A non-residential PUD may include a variety of commercial and/or industrial uses.  
A PUD may also include a mix of residential and non-residential uses. 

 
(f) Recreational open space or trail corridors intended as public parks or public trails 

shall be dedicated to the City or granted through an easement. Management and maintenance of 
the public recreational areas shall be the responsibility of the City. 

 
(g) Street, Private.   

 
1. Private streets within the project shall have an improved surface to 26 feet or more 

in width and shall be so designed as to permit the City emergency vehicles to provide protection 
to each building. 

 
2. No portion of the required private street system shall be used in calculating 

required off-street parking space or be used for parking.  
 
(h) As part of the PUD Final Plan/Final Plat approval, a Development Agreement and 

Planned Unit Development Agreement shall be prepared by the City.  Prior to issuance of permits, 
the applicant, builder, or developer shall execute the Agreement.  The Agreement shall detail all 
use restrictions and required on and off-site improvements conditional to the PUD rezoning.   
 

(6) Urban Residential Planned Unit Development Requirements. 
 

(a) Urban residential PUDs shall be applied only to residential Zoning Districts served 
by municipal sanitary sewer and water.   

 
(b) The maximum allowable density within an urban residential PUD shall be consistent 

with the density directives of the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

(c) Open Space Performance Standards. 
 

1. A minimum of 50 percent of the gross townhome land area shall be reserved as 
common open space for townhomes.  



65 

 
2. Each open space lot or outlot shall be classified as natural habitat, neighborhood 

recreation, or trail corridor open space, and shall conform to the type of use, location criteria, and 
deed restrictions of that classification, as specified in City Code Section 1001.099 of the Lino 
Lakes Subdivision Ordinance. 

 
3. Common open space shall provide a unified landscape for the use and enjoyment 

of the neighborhood community and/or the general public. 
 
4. Open space shall be exclusive of unit lots and driveways.   

 
5. Street rights-of-way, parking lots, and driveways shall be designed to maximize 

tree preservation, natural habitat, and wetland protection. 
 
6. All open space shall be platted as lots or outlots held as open space in perpetuity.  

Outlots designated as public trail corridors shall be conveyed by fee title or by easement. 
 

(d) Neighborhood Performance Standards. 
 

1. To provide an identity and create a cohesive development pattern, residential 
units/buildings shall be oriented toward an identifiable feature which they have in common.   Such 
identity may be accomplished by one or more of the following features: 

 
a. The neighborhood lots may be arranged such that a majority of the principal 

structures take visual advantage of a field, wetland, woods, lake, stream, or other open space which 
could be described as a view shed. 

 
b. The neighborhood lots may be arranged such that a majority of the principal 

structure will take visual advantage of a green, playground, ball field, rock outcropping, stand of 
trees, church, school, or other physical feature unique to that particular neighborhood. 

 
c. The neighborhood lots may be arranged such that the principal structures face 

a street space enhanced with landscaping, street trees, landscaped medians, sidewalks, trails, or 
other landscaping techniques appropriate to the City’s street design standards. 

 
(e) Yards.  

 
1. The front, rear and side yard restrictions at the periphery of the PUD site shall be 

the same as imposed in the respective base districts. 
 

2. Buildings shall maintain a minimum separation of 10 feet. 
 

(7) Commercial or Industrial Planned Unit Development Requirements. 
 

(a) Commercial or Industrial PUDs shall be applied only to commercial or industrial 
zoning districts served by municipal sanitary sewer and water. 
 

(b) Open Space Performance Standards. 



66 

 
1. The PUD design shall result in greater landscaped pervious area than the base 

zoning district standard. 
 
2. The PUD site design shall result in the protection of important natural features 

(e.g., wetlands, significant trees, water courses, slopes over 12 percent). 
 
3. The PUD design shall include extensive landscaping with an emphasis on 

streetscape, site entrances, and the perimeter of the building. 
 

(c) Commercial and industrial buildings shall comply with design standards of City Code 
Section 1007.043(2)(d). A PUD shall consist of a harmonious arrangement and selection of land 
uses in groupings of buildings that are planned and designed as an integrated unit. The integrated 
design shall include elements such as building orientation and materials, utilities, parking areas, 
traffic and pedestrian circulation, and open spaces. 

 
(8) Mixed Residential, Commercial and/or Industrial Planned Unit Development 

Requirements. 
 
(a) PUD’s including a mix of residential, commercial, and/or industrial uses shall follow 

the applicable provisions of (6) and (7) above.   
 

(9) Procedure for Processing a Planned Unit Development.  
 

(a) Prior to submitting a PUD application, the applicant shall meet with the Community 
Development Department to generally describe the proposed PUD.  The primary purpose of the 
conference is to provide the applicant with an opportunity to gather information and obtain 
guidance as to the general suitability of the proposal and its conformity to the provisions of this 
ordinance before incurring substantial expense in the preparation of plans, surveys and other data. 
 

(b) PUD Concept Plan Application. 
 

1. The PUD Concept Plan provides an opportunity for the applicant to submit an 
application and plan to the City showing the basic intent and the general nature of the entire 
development before incurring substantial cost.  The evaluation of the Concept Plan shall include 
but not be limited to the following criteria: 

 
a. Overall maximum PUD density range. 
 
b. General location of major streets and pedestrian ways. 
 
c. General location and extent of public and common open space. 
 
d. General location of residential and non-residential land uses with approximate 

type and intensities of development. 
 
e. A staging and time schedule of development. 
 



67 

f. Other special criteria for development. 
 

2. PUD Concept Plan Submission Information.   
 

a. Information for Concept Plan as specified in City Code Section 1001.026. 
 

b. An aerial photograph at a scale of at least one (1) inch equals 100 feet, 
depicting the proposed development of the subject property and all land within 500 feet and 
showing the precise location of existing streets. 
 

c. Schematic drawing of the proposed PUD including, but not limited to, the 
general location of major street and pedestrian ways, public and common open space, residential 
and other land uses. 

 
d. An estimate of the total number of dwelling and/or other units and a tabulation 

of the following land uses expressed in acres and as a percent of the total project area: 
 

i. Area devoted to residential and non-residential uses. 
 
ii. Area devoted to residential use by building or structure or use type. 
 
iii. Area devoted to common open space. 
 
iv. Area devoted to public open space. 
 
v. Area devoted to streets. 
 
vi. Area, and potential floor area, devoted to commercial uses. 
 
vii. Area, and potential floor area, devoted to industrial or office uses. 

 
e. If the PUD will be developed in different phases, the applicant shall submit a 

phasing plan for construction of the various elements of the entire PUD. 
 
f. If the PUD includes provisions for public or common open space or service 

facilities, a statement describing the provision that is to be made for the care and maintenance of 
such open space or service facilities. 
 

3. The Community Development Department shall forward the PUD Concept Plan 
submission to the City’s advisory boards and City Council for their informal review and comment 
on the project’s consistency with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and development regulations at 
regularly scheduled meetings. 

a. The Planning and Zoning Board shall recommend to the City Council 
whether the applicant shall hold a neighborhood meeting prior to submission of a PUD Preliminary 
Plan. The City Council shall make the final determination if a neighborhood meeting is required. 

 
(c) PUD Preliminary Plan Application 

 



68 

1. The purpose of the PUD Preliminary Plan is to provide a master plan of the entire 
development upon which the Planning and Zoning Board will base its recommendation to the City 
Council.  The PUD Preliminary Plan serves as a complete and permanent public record of the 
entire PUD and the manner in which it is to be developed. 

 
2. Following review of the PUD Concept Plan, the applicant shall file with the 

Community Development Department a PUD Preliminary Plan, rezoning and preliminary plat 
applications. The PUD Preliminary Plan shall refine the PUD Concept Plan. 

 
3. The Community Development Department shall forward the PUD Preliminary 

Plan submission to the City’s advisory boards and City Council for their consideration at regularly 
scheduled meetings where the related rezoning and preliminary plat applications are being 
considered.  

 
4. The evaluation of the proposed PUD Preliminary Plan shall include but not be 

limited to the following criteria: 
 

a. The interior circulation plan plus access from and onto public rights-of-way 
does not create congestion or dangers and is adequate for the safety of the project residents and 
the general public. 

 
b. A sufficient amount of useable open space is provided. 
 
c. The architectural design of the project is compatible with the surrounding area. 

 
d. The development is in compliance with the requirements of the Lino Lakes 

City Code except where modified by the PUD. 
 

5. The PUD Preliminary Plan submission shall include but not be limited to: 
 

a. Summary from the neighborhood meeting if a meeting was required by the 
City Council. 

 
b. Information for Site and Building Review as specified in City Code Section 

1007.020. 
 

c. Information for Preliminary Plat as specified in City Code Section 1001.041. 
 

d. Location, designation and total area of all common open space. 
 
e. Location, designation and total area proposed to be conveyed or dedicated for 

public open space, including parks, playgrounds, school sites and recreational facilities. 
 

f. A tabulation of all land uses expressed in square footage and as a percent of 
the total project area. 
 

g. Identification of existing natural resource areas and the proposed method for 
protection and restoration of these areas. 



69 

 
h. A written statement generally describing the proposed PUD, the market 

which it is intended to serve, its relationship to the City’s Comprehensive Plan and how it is to 
be designed, arranged and operated.  

 
i. Where deemed necessary, a market feasibility study including an analysis of 

the proposals economic impact on the City. 
 
j. A statement summarizing all changes which have been made in any document, 

plan data or information previously submitted, together with revised copies of any such document, 
plan or data. 

 
k. Such other information, either required as part of the Concept Plan review or 

as the Planning and Zoning Board, Community Development Department or City Council shall 
find necessary to a full consideration of the entire proposed PUD or any stage thereof. 
 

6. Zoning Enactment: A rezoning of a parcel of land to PUD shall not become 
effective until such time as specified in City Code Section 1007.015 (h). 

 
7. A complete application for PUD Final Plan shall be submitted no later than one 

(1) year after the date of approval of the PUD Preliminary Plan, or a time as provided in the 
developer’s agreement. Otherwise, the PUD Preliminary Plan approval shall be considered void, 
unless an extension, requested in writing and for good cause, is granted by the City Council. The 
City Council may approve such an extension after the deadline date passes. 

 
(d) PUD Final Plan Application. 

 
1. The PUD Final Plan is to serve as a complete, and permanent public record of a 

specific stage or phase of the PUD Preliminary Plan and the manner in which that stage is to be 
developed.  It shall incorporate all prior approved plans and all approved modifications thereof 
resulting from the PUD process.  It shall serve in conjunction with other provisions of the City 
Code as the land use regulation applicable to the PUD. 

 
2. Upon approval of the PUD Preliminary Plan and within the time established, the 

applicant shall file with the Community Development Department an application and PUD Final 
Plan consisting of the information and submissions required by this Code for the entire PUD or 
for one (1) or more stages.  The PUD Final Plan shall conform to the PUD Preliminary Plan in all 
respects, and shall be integrated as a coherent statement of the entire Plan.  Appropriate 
cross-referencing and incorporation of recorded documents may be utilized.  
 

3. After review of a PUD Concept Plan and approval of a PUD Preliminary Plan, the 
applicant will submit the following material for review by the City staff prior to issuance of a 
building permit: 

 
a. A revised PUD Preliminary Plan and Preliminary Plat of the entire PUD 

incorporating all changes and conditions that were required. This revised preliminary plat will 
provide the historical record of the subdivision approval by which subsequent final plats shall be 
considered. 



 

70 

 
b. Information for Final Plat as specified in City Code Section 1001.056.  
 
c. Final architectural elevations, in color, of all principal and accessory buildings 

and structures (type, color, and materials used in all exterior surfaces). Typical floor plan and 
typical room plan drawn to scale with a summary of square footage by use or activity. 

 
d. Final engineering plans and specifications for streets, drainage, utilities and 

other public improvements 
 

e. Any other plans, agreements, or specifications necessary for the City staff to 
review the proposed construction.   
 

4. The Community Development Department shall forward the PUD Final Plan and 
Final Plat submission to the City Council for their consideration at a regularly scheduled meeting.  

 
5. The terms of the PUD as approved by the City Council shall be embodied in a 

Development Agreement and Planned Unit Development Agreement, and such other documents 
as the City shall deem necessary or desirable.  The Development and PUD Agreement and any 
appropriate resolution of the City Council shall be recorded with Anoka County at the expense of 
the applicant.  At the election of the City, filing of the PUD Preliminary Plan may be delayed until 
the PUD Final Plan is filed. Where the PUD Preliminary Plan is denied, Council action shall be 
by written resolution setting forth its findings and conclusions in support of its action.   

 
a. Within one (1) year after the approval of a PUD Final Plan, construction shall 

commence in accordance with such approved plan.  Failure to commence construction within such 
period shall automatically render void, all approvals of the PUD plan unless an extension, 
requested in writing, is granted by the City Council. The City Council may approve such an 
extension after the deadline date passes. In such case the area encompassed within the PUD shall 
thereafter be subject to those provisions of the Zoning Code, and other Code provisions, applicable 
in the district in which it is located. 
 

(e) Plan Modification/Amendment of a Planned Unit Development. 
 

1. Plan modifications/amendments qualifying as minor may be approved by the 
Community Development Director provided the changes do not involve the following: 

 
a. Increase in floor area of structure or number of dwelling units. 
 
b. Change in exterior building material. 

 
c. Alteration of any condition attached or modification to the PUD Final Plan 

made by the City Council. 
 



 

71 

2. Modifications not qualifying as minor shall be considered a substantial 
departure. Substantial departures from the approved plans will require an amendment to the PUD 
and shall follow the same review procedure as a PUD Preliminary Plan. 
 



 

72 

§ 1007.025    ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW. 
 

(1) When an environmental assessment worksheet (EAW), alternative urban areawide 
review (AUAR), or environmental impact statement (EIS) is required or otherwise ordered or 
submitted, the applicable review procedures shall be as set forth in the Minnesota Environmental 
Quality Board regulations for the Environmental Review Program, as authorized by Minnesota 
Statutes and specified in Minnesota Rules 4410. 
 

(2) An EAW, AUAR, or EIS application, together with the completed data portions of 
the environmental document, shall be accompanied by a fee and cash escrow as set forth in 
ordinance. Costs of City time and materials expended in reviewing and processing the application 
shall be charged against the cash escrow account and credited to the City. If, at any time, the 
balance in the cash escrow account is depleted to less than 10 percent of the originally required 
cash escrow amount, the project proposer shall deposit additional funds in the cash escrow account 
as determined by the Zoning Administrator. Any balance remaining in the cash escrow account 
upon completion of the process shall be returned to the project proposer after all claims and charges 
thereto have been deducted. 
 

(3) Upon completion of the environmental document for distribution and the start of the 
comment period, the Zoning Administrator shall provide mailed notice of the availability of the 
environmental document to all property owners within 600 feet of the boundaries of the property 
that is the subject of the environmental document. Failure of a property owner to receive notice 
shall not invalidate any such proceedings as set forth in this Chapter.  

 
(4) Following the required comment period, the City shall prepare the final document 

with a response to comments. The Environmental Board shall review the final document and 
provide its recommendations to the City Council. The City Council shall act on the document as 
required by Minnesota Rules 4410. 



 

73 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
 
§ 1007.040   PURPOSE.    
 
The purpose of this section of the Zoning Ordinance is to establish general development 
performance standards.  These standards are intended and designed to assure compatibility of 
uses; to prevent urban blight, deterioration and decay; and to enhance the health, safety and 
general welfare of the residents of the community. 
 
§ 1007.041   NON-CONFORMING USES AND STRUCTURES. 
 

(1) Purpose.   It is the purpose of this section to provide for the regulation of non-
conforming buildings, structures and uses and to specify those requirements, circumstances, and 
conditions under which non-conforming buildings, structures and uses will be operated and 
maintained.  The Zoning Ordinance establishes separate districts, each of which is an appropriate 
area for the location of uses which are permitted in that district.  It is necessary and consistent 
with the establishment of these districts that non-conforming buildings, structures and uses not 
be permitted to continue without restriction.  Furthermore, it is the intent of this section that all 
non-conforming uses shall be eventually brought into conformity. 
 

(2) Provisions. 
 

(a) Any nonconformity, including the lawful use or occupation of land or premises 
existing at the time of the adoption of an additional control under this chapter, may be continued, 
including through repair, replacement, restoration, maintenance, or improvement, but not 
including expansion, unless: 
 

1. The nonconformity or occupancy is discontinued for a period of more than one 
(1) year; or 
 

2. Any nonconforming use is destroyed by fire or other peril to the extent of greater 
than 50 percent of its market value, and no building permit has been applied for within 180 days 
of when the property is damaged. In this case, the City may impose reasonable conditions upon a 
building permit in order to mitigate any newly created impact on adjacent property. 
 

(b) Nonconforming principal structures shall not be expanded, enlarged or altered in a 
way which increases their nonconformity, but may be expanded, enlarged or altered, if the 
expansion, enlargement or alteration fully conforms to existing dimension requirements of the 
zoning and other City ordinances and regulations. Nonconforming accessory structures which are 
totally within a required yard setback area shall not be enlarged or expanded in any way. 
Notwithstanding, a nonconforming structure may be reconfigured if, in the discretion of the City, 
such reconfiguration would lessen the nonconformity, abate nuisances, and protect the public 
health, safety and welfare. 



 

74 

(c) All Districts Exception. Where a pre-existing principal or accessory structure, 
including expansion thereof, for which a lot line setback dimension has been made substandard 
by eminent domain or other formal public agency action, such structure shall be considered a 
legally conforming structure. All future additions to the structure or use shall meet the current 
required setback from the revised property or easement line. 

 
(d) Any subsequent use or occupancy of the land or premises shall be a conforming use 

or occupancy. The City may, by ordinance, permit an expansion or impose upon nonconformities 
reasonable regulations to prevent and abate nuisances and to protect the public health, welfare, or 
safety. This subdivision does not prohibit the City from enforcing an ordinance that applies to 
adults-only bookstores, adults-only theaters, or similar adults-only businesses, as defined by the 
ordinance.  

 
(e) A nonconforming use may be changed to lessen the nonconformity of that use. 

Thereafter the use may not be so altered as to increase the nonconformity 
  

(f) Notwithstanding paragraph (a), the City shall regulate the repair, replacement, 
maintenance, improvement, or expansion of nonconforming uses and structures in floodplain 
areas in compliance with City Code Chapter 1103.  

 
(g) Notwithstanding paragraph (a), a nonconforming single lot of record located within 

a shoreland area may be allowed as a building site without variances from lot size requirements 
in compliance with City Code Chapter 1102. 

 
§ 1007.042   GENERAL PARCEL, LOT AND YARD PROVISIONS. 
 

(1) Lot of Record.   Any lot of record existing at the effective date of this ordinance may be 
used for the construction of a structure if it conforms with the use regulations of the district in 
which it is located subject to the following conditions: 

 
(a) The lot satisfies all other appropriate provisions of this ordinance. 
 
(b) The lot has frontage on a full width public right-of-way and an improved street 

which has been accepted for maintenance by the City of Lino Lakes.   
 
(c) Any substandard sewered lot of record existing at the effective date of this 

ordinance and held in separate ownership different from the ownership of adjoining lots may be 
used for the construction of a structure conforming to the use regulations of this ordinance, 
provided its area, width, and depth meet 70 percent of the minimum requirements of the zoning 
district and all required setbacks can be adhered to. 

 
(d) Any substandard unsewered lot of record existing at the effective date of this 

ordinance and held in separate ownership different from the ownership of adjoining lots may be 
used for the construction of a structure conforming to the use regulations of this ordinance 
subject to the following conditions: 



 

75 

 
1. The lot was a separate parcel with its own parcel identification number on the 

date of the adoption of this ordinance. 
 
2. It can be demonstrated that the lot can accommodate the proposed principal 

structure, onsite well if the public water system is not available, and an onsite wastewater 
treatment system including both a primary and secondary drain field area in compliance with 
MN Stat. 7080 and other applicable requirements. 

 
3. All building and site improvements adhere to all required setbacks. 

 
(2) Unsewered Lots. 
 

(a) Except as provided for in City Code Section 1007.042(1)(d), Section 1007.042(2)(b), 
Section 1007.066 and Section 1007.082, the minimum unsewered lot size within any zoning district 
is 10 acres.   

 
(b) A lot with a minimum area of one (1) acre may be created subject to the following 

conditions:  
 

1. A habitable single family home has been constructed prior to July 13, 1992.  
 
2. The new lot that has a minimum area of one (1) acre contains an existing habitable 

home, and  
 

3. The balance of the property meets the minimum lot size requirement of the zoning 
district in which the property lies, and 
 

4. The new lot that has a minimum area of one (1) acre contains one (1) acre of 
contiguous buildable land, not including street right of way, electrical transmission line easements, 
or pipeline easements, and 
 

5. Both the one-acre-minimum lot and lots made from the remaining land shall meet 
all minimum lot, building, and setback requirements, and 
 

6. It can be demonstrated that all unsewered lots can accommodate the proposed 
principal structure, onsite well if the public water system is not available, and an onsite wastewater 
treatment system including both a primary and secondary drain field area in compliance with Minn. 
Stat. 7080 and other applicable requirements. 

 
(c) Two family dwellings and multiple-family dwellings are not allowable uses upon 

unsewered lots. 
 
(d) All development in areas without public sanitary sewer shall be designed such that the 

larger non-sewered lots can be subdivided to provide smaller sewered lots when sewer becomes 



 

76 

available in the future.  Homes and accessory buildings shall be located on these lots so as to allow 
for future subdivisions. 
 

(3) Buildable Area. 
 

1. Within zoning districts with a minimum lot size requirement of less than 10 
acres, the required minimum lot area shall be contiguous buildable land, as defined by this 
ordinance and exclusive of utility transmission easements. 

 
2. Within zoning districts with a minimum lot size requirement of 10 acres or more, 

a minimum of 20 percent of the minimum lot area must be contiguous buildable land, as defined 
by this ordinance. 

 
(4) Building Placement and Multiple Structures. 
 

(a) Street Obstructions.   All buildings shall be so located so that they will not obstruct 
future streets which may be constructed by the City in conformity with existing streets and 
according to the system and standards employed by the City. 

 
(b) Principal Buildings. No more than one (1) principal building shall be located on a 

lot except where approved by Conditional Use Permit or Planned Unit Development.  
 

(c) Outlots. Outlots are deemed unbuildable and no building permit shall be issued for 
such properties, except that permits for fences may be issued. 
 

(5) Yards and Setbacks. 
 

(a) Setbacks. 
 

1. No setback, yard or other open space shall be reduced in area or dimension so as 
to make such setback, yard or other open space less than the minimum required by this 
ordinance. If the existing setback, yard or other open space as existing is less than the minimum 
required, it shall not be further reduced. 

 
2. Front Lot Line Setbacks.   Where principal buildings on adjoining lots existed at 

the time of adoption of this ordinance have a lesser front lot line setback from that required, the 
required front lot line setback of a new structure shall not be less than the average front lot line 
setback of the adjoining buildings on each side lot and in no case shall be less than 20 feet. 

 
3. Corner Lots.    

 
a. On corner lots, the narrowest lot line abutting a public street or street 

easement that meets minimum lot width requirements shall be the front lot line.  If none of the 
boundaries abutting a public street or street easement meet minimum lot width requirements, the 
widest boundary abutting a street shall be the front lot line. The lot line opposite and most distant 



 

77 

from the front lot line shall be the rear lot line. The lot line opposite the other public street or 
street easement shall be the side lot line. Setbacks from street right-of-way, rear lot line and side 
lot line shall then apply. These setbacks shall apply regardless of which street the building faces. 

 
b. On corner lots, nothing shall be located or allowed to grow to impede 

vision between a height of two and a half (2 1/2) and 10 feet above the centerline grades of the 
intersecting streets within 15 feet of the intersecting street right-of-way lines. This restriction 
shall also apply to the planting of crops and to yard grades that result in elevations that impede 
vision within 15 feet of any intersecting street right-of-way lines. 

 
(b) Permitted Yard Encroachments.   The following shall not be considered as 

encroachments on setback requirements subject to other conditions provided herein: 
 

1. All Yards.   
 

a. Flag poles, sidewalks, wheelchair ramps, name plate signs, trees, shrubs, 
plants, yard lights, mailboxes, floodlights, or other sources of light illuminating authorized 
illuminated signs, or light standards for illuminating yards for safety and security reasons, 
provided the direct source of light complies with City Code Section 1007.043(6). 

 
b. Posts, flues, belt course, bay windows, leaders, sills, pilaster, eaves, gutters, 

awnings, open terraces, open canopies, chimneys, ornamental features, and open fire escapes 
extending from the principal structure provided: 

 
i. They do not encroach more than three (3) feet into a required setback. 

 
ii. They do not encroach into a public easement. 

 
c. Uncovered porches, decks, balconies, stoops, patios, or similar features 

provided: 
 

i. The decking shall not extend above the height of the floor of the ground 
floor level of the principal structure though railings may be higher, and 

 
ii. The setback shall be five (5) feet from any side or rear lot line, and 
 
iii. The setback shall be 20 feet from any lot line abutting a street, and 
 
iv. The setback shall be one (1) foot from any existing or proposed driveway, 

and 
 

v. They do not encroach into a public easement.   
 



 

78 

d. In rear yards, the setback for laundry drying equipment, recreational 
equipment (non-vehicular), trellises, open arbors, and detached outdoor living rooms not 
exceeding 500 square feet shall be five (5) feet from any side or rear lot line. 

 
e. Air conditioning or heating equipment setbacks shall be five (5) feet from 

any rear lot line and 10 feet from any side lot line. 
 
(c) Zero Lot Line Subdivision. 
 

1. Townhomes and Apartments.   If existing townhouses or apartment units not on 
separate unit lots are to be subdivided on an individual unit or condominium basis for owner 
occupancy, it shall require a planned unit development according to the provisions of City Code 
Section 1007.024. 

 
2. Subdivision of Two Family or Townhouse Lots.   The subdivision of base lots 

containing two family dwellings or townhouses to permit individual private ownership of a 
single dwelling within such a structure is acceptable subject to City Council approval.  Approval 
is further contingent upon the following requirements: 

 
a. Prior to a two family dwelling or a townhouse subdivision, the base lot must 

meet all the requirements of the zoning district. 
 
b. There shall be no more than one (1) principal structure on a base lot in all 

residential districts. The principal structure on a unit lot created in a two family or townhouse 
subdivision will be the portion of the attached dwelling existing or constructed on the platted 
base lots. 

 
c. Permitted accessory uses as defined by the zoning districts are acceptable 

provided they meet all the zoning requirements. 
 
d. A property maintenance agreement must be arranged by the applicant and 

submitted to the City Attorney for their review and approval.  The agreement shall ensure the 
maintenance and upkeep of the structure including but not limited to siding, roofing (type and 
color), fencing, driveways, maintenance, etc. and the lots to meet minimum City standards.  The 
agreement shall be recorded with Anoka County as a deed restriction against the title of each unit 
lot. 

 
e. Separate public utility service shall be provided to each subdivided unit and 

shall be subject to the review and approval of the City Engineer. 
 
f. The subdivision is to be platted and recorded in compliance to requirements 

of the City Code Chapter 1001. 
 
3. Subdivision of Commercial and Industrial Lots.   The subdivision of base lots 

into two (2) or more commercial or industrial unit lots to permit individual private ownership of 



 

79 

a portion of a single commercial or industrial structure is acceptable subject to the approval of 
the City. A property management and maintenance agreement shall be required in compliance 
with City Code Section 1007.024. 

 



 

80 

 
§ 1007.043   GENERAL BUILDING AND USE PROVISIONS. 
 

(1) Dwelling Unit Restriction.   No cellar, garage, tent, travel trailer, motor home, basement 
with unfinished structure above, or accessory building shall at any time be used as a living 
quarter, temporarily or permanently, except as approved by the City in emergency cases. 

 
(2) Building Type and Construction.    
 

(a) Single Family Detached Dwellings.   All single family detached dwellings shall 
meet the following design criteria: 

 
1. All dwellings shall have permanent concrete, treated wood foundation, or other 

foundation anchoring system approved by the Building Official.  
 
2. All dwellings, including an attached garage, shall have a minimum width of 24 

feet at its narrowest point.  Width measurement shall not take into account overhangs or other 
projections beyond the principal exterior walls. 
   

3. All dwellings shall have a garage that is a minimum of 20 feet in width and has a 
minimum footprint of 520 square feet.  

 
4. All dwellings with a sloped roof shall have a minimum 12 inch roof overhang 

and enclosed soffit.  
 
5. All dwellings and any attached garage, excluding porches, shall have a minimum 

4/12 roof pitch and shall be covered with shingles or tiles or a standing seam metal roof. 
 
6. All dwellings shall be built in compliance with the Minnesota State Building 

Code. 
 
7. The exterior walls of all single family dwellings shall be similar in appearance to 

standard wood or masonry residential construction.  Any metal siding upon single family 
residence structures shall have a vertical dimension no greater than 12 inches.  Sheet metal siding 
shall not be permitted. 

 
(b) Two Family Dwellings and Townhouse Design and Construction Standards. 
 

1. Unit Width.   The minimum width of a two family or townhouse dwelling unit 
shall be 24 feet. The minimum footprint per unit shall be established within the zoning district. 

 
2. Unit Construction. 
 



 

81 

a. Building elevations and floor plans shall be furnished illustrating exterior 
building materials and colors to demonstrate compliance with City Code Section 1007.043 
(2)(b)2.d.  Building floor plans shall identify the interior storage space within each unit. 

 
b. Decks or Porches.   Provisions shall be made for possible decks, porches, or 

additions as part of the initial dwelling unit building plans. 
 
c. Minimum Overhang.   All dwellings with a sloped roof shall have a minimum 

12 inch roof overhang and enclosed soffit. 
 
d. Exterior Building Finish.   The exterior of townhouse dwelling units shall 

include a variation in building materials which are to be distributed throughout the building 
façades on all sides and coordinated into the architectural design of the structure to create an 
architecturally balanced appearance.  In addition, townhouse dwelling structures shall comply 
with the following requirements: 

 
i. A minimum of 25% of the combined area of all building walls shall have 

an exterior finish of brick, natural stone, or artificial stone. 
 
ii. Except for brick, natural stone, or artificial stone, no single building wall 

shall have more than 75% of one type of exterior finish. 
 
iii. For the purpose of this section, the area of the building walls shall not 

include area devoted to windows, entrance doors, garage doors, or roof areas. 
 

e. All dwellings and any attached garage shall have a minimum 4/12 roof 
pitch and shall be covered with shingles or tiles or a standing seam metal roof. 

 
3. Storm Shelter.   In cases where dwelling units are constructed slab on-grade, 

provisions shall be made to provide for storm protection either internally to the unit or in a 
separate storm shelter structure.  Compliance with this requirement shall be based upon Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) guidelines and standards which are on file with the 
City Building Official. 
 

4. Garages.   Each dwelling unit shall have a garage that is a minimum of 20 feet in 
width and has a minimum footprint of 520 square feet. 

 
5. Utilities. 
 

a. Public Utility Service.   Separate public utility services shall be provided to 
each unit unless exempted by the City Engineer. 

 
b. Sewer Connection.   Where more than one (1) unit is served by a sanitary 

sewer service, all maintenance and cleaning shall be the responsibility of the property owners’ 
association or owners. 



 

82 

 
6. Homeowners Association.   A homeowners association shall be established for 

all townhouses, multiple-family and townhouse developments subject to review and approval of 
the City Attorney.  The homeowners’ association shall be responsible for all exterior building 
maintenance, approval of any exterior architectural modifications, landscaping, snow clearing 
and regular maintenance of private streets and other areas owned in common when there is more 
than one (1) individual property owner having interest within the development. 

 
(c) Multiple-Family Dwelling Construction Standards.  All multiple-family dwellings 

shall comply with the following requirements: 
 

1. The exterior of multiple-family dwelling structures shall include a variation in 
building materials which are to be distributed throughout the building walls and coordinated into 
the architectural design of the structure to create an architecturally balanced appearance.   

 
2. A minimum of 33% of all building exterior walls of a structure shall have an 

exterior finish of brick, natural stone, or artificial stone. 
 
3. For the purposes of this section, the area of the building wall shall not include 

area devoted to windows, entrance doors, garage doors, or roof areas. 
 
4. Building elevations shall be articulated to add visual interest. Large blank 

exterior walls shall be prohibited. Variation in elevations can be accomplished with projections 
or recesses, material changes, or other methods of building articulation. 

 
5. Distinct Ground Level(s).  The ground level of any 3-story building and the first 

two (2) stories of a building four (4) stories or taller shall be visually distinct from the upper 
stories.  This distinction shall be articulated by at least one (1) of the following: an intermediate 
cornice line; an awning arcade or portico; a change in building materials, texture, or detailing; a 
change in window shape or treatment; or other elements which meet the objective. 

 
6. Minimum Overhang.   All dwellings with a sloped roof shall have a minimum 

12 inch roof overhang and enclosed soffit. 
 

7. All sloped roofs shall be covered with shingles, tiles or a standing seam metal 
roof. 

 
8. A minimum of one-half (½) of the required parking spaces shall be in an 

underground parking area or in a parking area below the building. 
 

(d) Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional.   All buildings constructed on land 
within commercial, industrial, public and semi-public zoning districts, and all institutional 
buildings (such as public, education, and religious buildings) in residential and rural zoning 
districts shall conform with the following: 

 



 

83 

1. Definitions.  For the purpose of this section, the following definitions shall 
apply: 

ARCHITECTURAL METAL CLADDING.  Refers to decorative, metal cladding 
systems such as copper, zinc, titanium, stainless steel and painted steel components fixed to the 
outside of the primary wall system. 

 
ARCHITECTURAL REVEALS.  A groove or a step in a panel face generally used to 

create a desired architectural effect. 
 

2. All sides of the principal and accessory structures are to have essentially the 
same or a coordinated harmonious finish treatment. 

 
3. Classes of Primary Materials.  For the purpose of this section, primary 

materials shall be divided into class 1, class 2, and class 3 categories as follows: 
 

Classes of Materials 
Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 

Brick Precast concrete panels with at 
least two architectural reveals per 
panel 

Exterior Insulation and 
Finish Systems (EIFS)  

Glass, or other 
glazing materials 

Specialty concrete block 
including textured, burnished 
block or rock faced block  

Fiber Cement Exterior 
Siding  

Natural or cultured 
stone 

Ceramic Tile (masonry, stone or 
clay),  

Glass Block 

Architecturally 
textured concrete 
precast or poured in 
place panels  

Masonry Stucco  
 

 

  Architectural metal cladding Wood 
   
Other materials not listed that are of equal quality to materials in a specific class 
may be approved for use by the Community Development Director 

  
4. Buildings shall incorporate classes of primary material in the following manner: 
 

a. Commercial, public, educational and religious buildings.  At least 50 percent 
of all exterior wall finishes shall be composed of at least three class 1 materials.  Class 3 
materials shall not comprise more than 25 percent exterior wall finishes. 

 
b. Industrial and warehouse buildings, multi-tenant office/industrial/warehouse 

or showroom/warehouse or other combinations. At least 75 percent of all exterior wall finishes 
shall be composed of at least two different class 1 or 2 materials.  Class 3 materials shall not 
comprise more than 25 percent of the building. 

 



 

84 

c. To be counted as a primary material, the product must comprise at least five 
(5) percent of the exterior wall surface. 

 
5. Complete or partial buildings comprised of structural metal wall panel systems 

that act as the primary wall system, or as a complete wall system such as pole barns or similar 
structures common to agricultural or industrial storage uses are prohibited. 

 
6. Commercial, public, educational and religious buildings shall have a well-

defined base, middle and top.  The base should appear visually distinct from the middle and top 
part (cornice) of the building through the use of a change in building materials, color, window 
shape or size, an intermediate cornice line, sign band, an awning, or similar techniques. A cap 
shall include the area from the top floor to the roof of the building and shall include a cornice, 
roof overhang, and change of color or material to differentiate it from the middle section of the 
building.  Flashing shall not be considered a cap. 

 
7. Any wall facing a public right-of-way shall not have an uninterrupted length 

exceeding 100 feet without including at least two of the following: change in plane, change in 
texture or masonry pattern, two (2) class 1 materials, windows in a manner that is impactful to 
the design, or an equivalent element that subdivides the wall into human scale proportions. This 
shall only apply to commercial, public, educational, and religious buildings. 

 
8. Buildings may be constructed of primarily one (1) class 1 material if the design 

meets or exceeds the intent of this section. 
 
9. A distinctively different color of brick may be considered as a second class 1 

material.  However, minor blended color variations shall not be considered as a separate 
material. 

 
10. Earth tone colors of exterior materials shall be required.  “Earth tone colors” 

shall be defined as any various soft colors like those found in nature in soil, vegetation, etc.  
Such colors are limited to various shades or tints of brown, black, gray, tan, beige, brick red, 
green, blue, or white. 

 
11.  The building walls may contain up to 10% contrasting colors.  Contrasting 

colors shall be those colors not defined as earth tones. 
 

12. All buildings with a sloped roof shall have a minimum 12 inch roof overhang 
and enclosed soffit. 

 
13. All buildings with sloped roofs shall be covered with shingles or tiles or a 

standing seam metal roof. 
 
14. All mechanical equipment, such as air handling units located anywhere on the 

property, including rooftop equipment, shall be screened from ground level view from adjacent 
streets, public rights of way, and adjacent properties. 



 

85 

 
15. Where a site abuts a residential property, the location of air handling and other 

equipment must take into account the potential for noise and other impacts on the residential 
property. 

 
16. Building foundations not exceeding two (2) feet need not comply with the 

requirements for the primary water treatments or materials. 
 
17. Garage doors, window trim, and flashing shall not constitute required materials 

that make up exterior finish of a building for purposes of this section. 
 

18. Replacement of non-conforming materials on existing buildings, or expansions of 
less than 50% of the floor area of an existing building may use the same or superior materials as 
existing. 
 

(3) Height.   
 

(a) Exceptions.   The building height limits established herein for districts shall not 
apply to the following: 

 
1. Farm structures. 
 
2. Church spires not exceeding 60 feet in height. 

 
3. Belfries not exceeding 60 feet in height. 

 
4. Cupolas not exceeding 60 feet in height. 

 
5. Chimneys and smokestacks. 

 
6. Flag poles mounted on a building. 

 
7. Non-commercial television and radio antennae, and satellite dishes. 

 
8. Parapet walls extending not more than four (4) feet above the limiting height of 

the building. 
 

9. Elevator penthouses. 
 

10. Cooling towers/water towers. 
 

11. Lighting structures for public outdoor recreational fields not exceeding 80 feet in 
height. 
 

12. Lighting structures for public hockey rinks not exceeding 60 feet in height. 



 

86 

 
(b) Conditional Use Permit.   Building heights in excess of those standards contained in 

the district provisions and any other sections of this Chapter may be allowed by conditional use 
permit if the following conditions are met: 

 
1. Demonstrated need is established for the increase in height and said increase will 

not violate the intent and character of the zoning district in which the structure is located. 
 
2. The site is capable of accommodating the increased structure size. 
 
3. The potential increased intensity and size of use does not cause an increase in 

traffic volumes beyond the capacity of the surrounding streets. 
 
4. Public utilities and services are adequate. 
 
5. For each additional story over the district limitation or for each additional 10 feet 

above the maximum allowed per district, front and side yard setback requirements shall be 
increased by 10 percent. 

 
6. The construction does not limit solar access to abutting and/or neighboring 

properties.  A shadow study shall be required illustrating shadow encroachment on adjoining 
properties. 

 
7. The provisions of City Code Section 1007.016 are considered and satisfactorily 

met. 
 
(c) Obstructions.   In the case of any proposal to construct or alter a structure which 

will exceed a height of 200 feet above ground level of the site, or any proposal to construct or 
alter a structure to a height of greater than an imaginary surface extending upward and outward 
at a slope of 100:1 from the nearest point of the nearest runway of a public airport, the applicant 
shall notify the Commissioner of the Minnesota Department of Transportation in writing of the 
plans at least 30 days in advance of making applicable permit requests to the City.  The applicant 
shall provide the Zoning Administrator with any comments received from the Commission of the 
Minnesota Department of Transportation as part of the required applicable permit request.   This 
local reporting is in addition to any Federal permitting and review processing which may be 
simultaneously required. 

 
(4) Accessory Buildings, Structures, and Uses. 
 

(a) General Provisions. 
 

1. No accessory building, structure, or use shall be constructed or located on a lot 
prior to the time of construction of the principal building to which it is accessory, except in the 
case of agricultural buildings on agriculture land as defined by M. S. §273.13 and §273.23, as 
amended. 



 

87 

 
2. A building or portion thereof used for an accessory use, other than home 

occupation, shall be considered as an accessory building. 
 
3. Unless otherwise allowed by this Chapter, no detached accessory building, 

structure, or use shall be closer to the front lot line than the principal building or its attached 
garage except within the R and R-X zoning districts. The accessory building, use, or structure 
setback shall be at least 100 feet from the front lot line. 

 
4. Setbacks for accessory buildings, structures, and uses in all zoning districts shall 

be determined in accordance with appropriate district provisions.  Location of said accessory 
buildings, structures and uses shall not interfere with the future subdivision of the property. 

 
5. Accessory buildings may, by permit, be located within public easements if the 

following conditions are met: 
 

a. No permanent footings or foundation shall be located within the public 
easement. 

 
b. The building, including any base material, must be designed to be easily 

moved. 
 

c. The building shall not be located within the 100-year high water level of a 
waterbody or watercourse.  

 
d. The drainage shall not be adversely affected by the building. 

 
e. The building footprint shall not exceed 120 square feet. 

 
f. The building shall not interfere in any way with any existing underground or 

over ground utility. 
 

g. The City or any utility company having authority to use such public 
easements, shall not be liable for repair or replacement of such buildings or appurtenance in the 
event they are moved, damaged or destroyed by virtue of the lawful use of said easement. 

 
6. In rural and residential districts, gazebos that are attached to the dwelling by a 

raised deck, porch, or patio shall not be counted towards the maximum area or number of 
accessory buildings allowed on a site, as long as the sides of the gazebo remain at least 50 
percent open, though the open areas may be covered with screens. 

 
7. In rural and residential districts, accessory buildings and structures constructed 

primarily of canvas, plastic, fabric, vinyl or other similar non-permanent construction materials 
are prohibited unless otherwise permitted in this ordinance. 

 



 

88 

8. A building permit is not required for detached accessory buildings that do not 
exceed a footprint of 200 square feet.  A zoning permit is required for such buildings and the 
buildings shall comply with all applicable regulations set forth in this chapter. 

 
(b) Sport Courts.   In all rural and residential districts, the following standards shall 

apply to outdoor sport courts, whether temporary or permanent: 
 

1. A building permit shall be required for all private residential sport courts. 
 
2. An application for a building permit shall include a site plan showing the 

following along with all required information: 
 

a. The size, shape, pavement and sub-pavement materials. 
 
b. The location of the court. 
 
c. The location of the house, garage, fencing, septic systems and any other 

structural improvements on the lot. 
 
d. The location of structures on all adjacent lots. 
 
e. A grading plan showing all revised drainage patterns and finished elevations 

at the four corners of the court. 
 
f. Landscaping and turf protection around the court. 
 
g. Location of existing and proposed wiring and lighting facilities. 

 
3. The sport court setback shall be 10 feet from any side or rear lot line.  Sport 

courts shall not be located in the front yard or the required side setback abutting a street. 
 
4. Sport courts shall not be located in a public easement. 
 
5. Solid sport court practice walls shall not exceed 10 feet in height.  A building 

permit shall be required.  The practice wall setback shall be 30 feet from any lot line. 
 
6. Chain link fencing surrounding the sport court may extend up to 12 feet in height 

above the sport court surface elevation. The fence setback shall be 10 feet from any side or rear 
lot line 

 
7. Lighting for the sport court shall be directed toward the sport court and not 

toward adjacent property. Lighting shall meet the requirements of City Code Section 1007.043 
(6). 
 

(c) Carports. 



 

89 

 
1. Carports shall comply with all regulations for accessory structures as set forth in 

this Chapter and with the regulations set forth in this subsection. 
 

2. Carports shall be used for the parking of motor vehicles and shall not be used for 
the storage of household or personal items, lawn equipment, furniture, parts, and the like. The 
exception is that refuse containers and stacked firewood may also be kept under a carport 
(attached or detached) that is located in a side, rear, or equivalent yard. 
 

3. Carports shall not exceed a footprint of 300 square feet. 
 

4. The eave line (or lowest sloped roof section if there is no eave) for a carport shall 
be at least seven (7) feet in height, but shall not exceed 10 feet in height. Carports with flat roofs 
shall be at least seven (7) feet in height, but shall not exceed 10 feet in height. 

 
(d) Swimming Pools.   
 

1. Single Family and Two Family Dwellings.   The following shall apply to all 
swimming pools which are intended for use accessory to single-family and two family dwellings: 

 
a. A building permit shall be required for any swimming pool with a capacity of 

over 5,000 gallons and with a depth potential of 24 inches. 
 
b. An application for a building permit shall include a site plan showing the 

type and size of pool, location of pool, location of house, garage, fencing and other 
improvements on the lot, location of pool unit, finished elevations and final treatment (decking, 
landscaping, etc.) around pool, location of existing overhead or underground wiring, utility 
easements, trees, similar features, and location of any water heating unit. 

 
c. Pools shall not be located within 10 feet of any septic tank and 20 feet from 

drain field nor within six (6) feet of any principal structure or frost footing.  Pools shall not be 
located in the front yard, or within any accessory structure setback. 

 
d. The filter unit, pump heating unit, and any noise-making mechanical 

equipment setback shall be 20 feet from any lot line. 
 
e. Pools shall not be located in a public easement. 
 
f. The necessary precautions shall be taken during the construction to: 
 

i. Avoid damage, hazards or inconvenience to adjacent or nearby property. 
 
ii. Assure that proper care shall be taken in stockpiling excavated materials 

to avoid erosion, dust or other infringements upon adjacent property. 
 



 

90 

iii. All access for construction shall be over the owner’s land and due care 
shall be taken to avoid damage to public streets and adjacent property. 

 
g. Lighting for the pool shall be directed toward the pool and not toward 

adjacent property. 
 
h. A structure at least four (4) feet in height shall completely enclose the pool.  

This structure can be safety fencing of a non-climbable type.  Pool walls that are at least four (4) 
feet in height above finished grade fulfill this requirement. 

 
i. Water in the pool shall be maintained in a suitable manner to avoid health 

hazard of any type.  Such water shall be subject to periodic inspection by the local health officer. 
 
j. All wiring, installation of heating units, grading, installation of pipes and all 

other installations and construction shall be subject to inspections. 
 

k. All swimming pools that require a building permit shall provide safeguards 
to prevent uncontrolled access.  This can be accomplished with fencing, screening or other 
enclosure, or any combination thereof. These safeguards shall be of sufficient density as to be 
impenetrable.   

 
i. If fences are used, they shall be at least four (4) feet in height.  The 

bottoms of the fences shall not be more than four (4) inches from the ground.  Fences shall be of 
a non-corrosive material and shall be constructed as to be not easily climbable.  All fence 
openings or points of entry into the pool enclosure shall be equipped with gates or doors.  All 
gates or doors to swimming pools shall be equipped with self-closing and self-latching devices 
placed at a sufficient height so as to be inaccessible to all small children.  Prior to filling the 
pool, the approved fence must be completely in place and inspected and approved by the City 
Building Official. 

 
ii. When an above-ground pool has vertical or outward inclined side walls 

that are at least four (4) feet above finished grade, these fencing requirements do not apply. 
However, if no fencing is constructed, the ladder must be removable or there must be a lockable 
access to the ladder. 

 
l. Required structure or safety fencing shall be completely installed within three 

(3) weeks following the installation of the pool and before any water is allowed in the pool. 
 
m. Back flush or pool drainage water shall be directed onto the property on 

which the swimming pool is located and ultimately to public storm sewer, if available. 
 
n. Drainage of pools directly into public streets or other public drainageways 

shall require written permission of the City Engineer. 
 



 

91 

2. Multiple-Family, Commercial and Public Developments.   For private swimming 
pools which are intended for use by the occupants and guests of a multiple-family dwelling, or 
for private and public clubs and organizations, the following regulations shall be met in addition 
to those listed for single and two family dwellings provided in City Code Section 1007.043 
(4)(d)1. above: 

 
a. No part of the water surface of the swimming pool shall be less than 50 feet 

from any lot line. 
 
b. No pumps, filter or other apparatus used in connection with or to service a 

swimming pool shall be located less than 50 feet from any lot line. 
 
c. The pool area shall be adequately fenced to prevent uncontrolled access from 

the street or adjacent property.  Adequate screening, including but not limited to landscaping, 
shall be located between the pool area and adjacent lot lines. 

 
d. All deck areas, adjacent patios, or other similar areas used in conjunction 

with the swimming pool shall be located at least 30 feet from any lot line. 
 
e. To the extent possible, back-flush water or water from pool drainage shall be 

directed onto the owner’s property. 
 
(e) Houseboats.   Houseboats are considered accessory structures for purpose of 

applying this ordinance and shall comply with the following standards:   
 
1. All houseboats which are to be docked or moored within the City limits for a 

period of six (6) days or more shall require an annual permit.  Said permit shall identify the 
owner, owner’s address, boat license number, whether the boat is to be used as a seasonal 
residence and, if so, for what period of time during the year, type of sanitary sewage facility, 
water supply, and plot plan showing method of access to public street.   

 
2. Each houseboat shall have one (1) off-street parking space within 400 feet of the 

access to the docking of such houseboat.   
 
3. No houseboat shall be used as a permanent residence and no utilities including 

sanitary sewer, water, electricity, and phone shall be extended to the houseboat. 
 
(f) Ice Fishing Houses.   Ice fishing houses stored on property during summer months 

shall be considered an accessory building.  All ice fishing houses shall be licensed in compliance 
with State law. 

 
(g) Docks and Boat Launches.   Private docks and boat launches may be stored on 

riparian lots provided such structures lie upon the same lot as the principal building to which 
they serve. 

 



 

92 

(h) Roadside Stands.   Seasonal, temporary roadside stands for the sale of agricultural 
products shall be permitted if: 

 
1. They are located in a zoning district that allows for such use; and  
 
2. They are located on the lot the produce is grown; and 
 
3. They are located at least 60 feet back from the nearest edge of the street surface; 

and 
 
4. Adequate parking space is provided off the street right-of-way and safe vehicular 

access and movements are assured. 
 
(i) Animal Shelters.   Structures dedicated to the housing of animals are considered 

accessory structures for the purpose of applying this section and shall comply with the following 
standards: 

 
1. The keeping of animals is allowed in compliance with the provisions of City 

Code Chapter 503. 
 
2. The animal shelters shall not count towards the maximum number and size of 

accessory buildings subject to the following conditions: 
 

a. The total combined footprint of all animal shelters shall not exceed 64 square 
feet. 
 

b. The maximum height shall not exceed 60 inches. 
 

(j) Rural, Residential and Special Zoning District Accessory Buildings.   The following 
establishes accessory buildings requirements allowed on a property according to lot size and 
zoning district.  For the purposes of this section, lot size for metes and bounds properties shall 
include roadway easements. 

 
1. One (1) tool shed not to exceed a footprint of 120 square feet is allowed. The 

tool shed shall not count towards the total number of allowed accessory buildings, or the total 
allowed building footprint as regulated below.  Tool sheds are not subject to material or roof 
requirements as regulated below. 

 
2. 20 Acres or Greater.    
 

a. No maximum combination of accessory building(s) and garage(s) size 
requirement. 

 
b. Metal buildings and pole barns are allowed . 
 



 

93 

c. Canopy structures made of fabric or vinyl are allowed.    
 
d. Building height shall not exceed base district requirement. 
 
e. One (1) attached garage not to exceed a footprint of 1,200 square feet or 

equal to the size of the house foundation, whichever is greater. 
 
3. 10 to Less than 20 Acres.    
 

a. The combination of accessory building(s) and garage(s) shall not exceed the 
greater of: 

 
i. 10,000 square feet, or 

 
ii. 1.85 percent of the lot area, not to exceed 15,000 square feet. 

 
b. Total allowable accessory building footprint shall be limited to the following: 
 

i. One (1) attached garage and 
 

ii. Three (3) detached accessory buildings. 
 
c. Metal buildings and pole barns are allowed. 
 
d. Canopy structures made of fabric or vinyl are allowed. 

 
e. One (1) attached garage not to exceed a footprint of 1,200 square feet or 

equal to the size of the house foundation, whichever is greater. 
 
f. Building height shall not exceed base district requirement. 

 
4. Five (5) to Less than 10 Acres.    
 

a. The combination of accessory buildings and garages shall not exceed the 
greater of: 

 
i. 5,000 square feet, or 

 
ii. 2.21 percent of the lot area, not to exceed 10,000 square feet. 

 
b. Total allowable accessory building footprint shall be limited to the following: 
 

i. One (1) attached garage and  
 

ii. Three (3) detached accessory buildings. 



 

94 

 
c. Metal buildings and pole barns are allowed. 

 
d. Canopy structures made of fabric or vinyl are allowed . 
 
e. One (1) attached garage not to exceed a footprint of 1,200 square feet or 

equal to the size of the house foundation, whichever is greater. 
 
f. Building height shall not exceed base district requirement. 

 
5. Less than Five (5) Acres.    
 

a. The combination of accessory buildings and garages shall not exceed the 
greater of: 

 
i. 1,200 square feet, or 

 
ii. 3.75 percent of the lot area, not to exceed 5,000 square feet. 

 
b. Total allowable accessory building footprint shall be limited to the following: 
 

i. One (1) attached garage and one (1) detached building, or 
 

ii. Two (2) detached accessory buildings. 
 
c. One (1) attached garage not to exceed a footprint of 1,200 square feet or 

equal to 90 percent of the size of the house foundation, whichever is greater. 
 
d. Building height shall not exceed 20 feet. 
 
e. Metal sheet or metal panel siding with vertical orientation is prohibited.  

Metal horizontal lap siding is allowed. 
 
f. Exterior walls shall be similar in appearance to standard wood or masonry 

residential construction. The accessory building shall be covered with shingles, tiles, or a 
standing seam metal roof. 

 
g. Canopy structures made of fabric or vinyl are allowed.  

 
(k) Business and Industrial Zoning Districts.   The following establishes the maximum 

number, size, and height of accessory buildings allowed in the business and industrial zoning 
districts: 

 



 

95 

1. One (1) accessory building not exceeding a footprint of 400 square feet approved 
by conditional use permit or planned unit development shall be allowed, except when intended 
for storage of buses.  

  
2. Building height shall be limited to 12 feet maximum except when intended for 

storage of buses per City Code Section 1007.043(2)(b)2. 
 
3. Metal buildings and pole barns are prohibited. 
 
4. All sides of the principal and accessory structures are to have essentially the 

same or a coordinated harmonious finish treatment in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(2). 

 
5. Accessory buildings on commercial or industrial sites shall be limited to typical 

accessory storage uses. No additional commercial or industrial use shall be allowed within an 
accessory storage building. 

 
6. Accessory buildings in compliance with this section shall not be subject to the 

site and building plan review requirements of City Code Section 1007.019(2). 
 
7. Accessory buildings shall not be located within a public easement. 

 
8. Building permits shall be required in compliance with the State Building Code. 

 
(5) Refuse and Recyclable Material. 
 

(a) Removal. 
    

1.    Motor vehicles not currently licensed by the state, or that because of 
mechanical deficiency are incapable of movement under their own power, parked or stored 
outside for a period in excess of 30 days, shall be disposed of within 30 days of notification by 
the City.  

   
2.    All materials stored outside in violation of City Code provisions are considered 

refuse or junk and shall be disposed of within 30 days of notification by the City. 
 
(b) Location and Screening. 

 
1. Single Family Detached Dwellings, Two-Family Dwellings, and All Other 

Residential Buildings With Four (4) or Less Units.   Garbage cans, waste containers and 
recycling bins shall be kept in a garage, an accessory building, or rear or side yards. 

 
2. Commercial, Industrial, Institutional, and Residential Buildings With More Than 

Four (4) Units.   
 



 

96 

a. All refuse, recyclable materials, and necessary handling equipment including 
but not limited to garbage cans, recycling bins, and dumpsters shall be stored within the principal 
building, within an accessory building, or within an enclosure. This section shall not apply to 
public parks. 

 
b. Enclosures.   Outdoor storage of refuse and recyclable material shall require 

the following: 
 

i. Exterior wall or fence treatment shall be similar and/or complement the 
principal building. 

 
ii. The enclosure shall be located in the rear or side yard and shall comply 

with all applicable accessory structure setback requirements and easements. 
 
iii. The enclosure shall be in an accessible location for pick up hauling 

vehicles. 
 
iv. The enclosure shall be fully screened by a fence or wall of at least six (6) 

feet in height and has a minimum opaqueness of at least 80 percent. 
 
v. All dumpsters, recycling bins, handling equipment, and enclosures shall 

be approved by the Zoning Administrator and be kept in a good state of repair with lids designed 
to prevent spilling and spread of debris and access by animals.   
 

(6) Outdoor Lighting.    
 

(a) Purpose.   It is the purpose of this section to encourage the use of lighting systems 
that will reduce light pollution and promote energy conservation while increasing night time 
safety, utility, security and productivity. 

 
(b) Exemptions.   The provisions of this section shall not apply to the following: 
 

1. Temporary outdoor lighting used during customary holiday seasons. 
 
2. Temporary outdoor lighting used for civic celebrations and promotions. 
 
3. Lighting required by a government agency for the safe operation of airplanes, or 

security lighting required on government buildings or structures. 
 
4. Emergency lighting by police, fire, and rescue authorities. 

 
(c) Non-Conforming Uses. 
 



 

97 

1. Existing Fixtures.   All outdoor lighting fixtures existing and legally installed 
prior to March 10, 2003 are exempt from regulations of this section but shall comply with the 
following requirements for glare: 

 
a. Any lighting used to illuminate an off-street parking area, sign or other 

structure, shall be arranged as to deflect light away from any adjoining residential zone or from 
the public streets.  Direct or sky-reflected glare, where from flood lights or from high 
temperature processes such as combustion or welding shall not be directed into any adjoining 
property.  The source of lights shall be hooded or controlled in some manner so as not to light 
adjacent property.  Bare incandescent light bulbs shall not be permitted in view of adjacent 
property or public right-of-way.  Any light or combination of lights which cast light on a public 
street shall not exceed one (1) foot candle (meter reading) as measured from the right-of-way 
line of said street.  Any light or combination of lights which cast light on residential property 
shall not exceed four-tenths (0.4) foot candles (meter reading) as measured from said property. 

 
2. New Fixtures.   Whenever a light fixture that was existing prior to March 10, 

2003 is replaced by a new outdoor light fixture, the provisions of this section shall be complied 
with. 

 
(d) Intensity.   No light source or combination thereof which cast light on a public street 

shall exceed one (1) foot candle (meter reading) as measured from the right-of-way line of said 
street nor shall any light source or combination thereof which cast light on adjacent property 
exceed four-tenths (0.4) foot candles (meter reading) as measured at the lot line per the method 
outlined in City Code Section 1007.043(6)(e). 

 
(e) Method of Measuring Light Intensity.   The foot candle level of a light source shall 

be taken after dark with the light meter held six (6) inches above the ground with the meter 
facing the light source.  A reading shall be taken with the light source on, then with the light 
source off.  The different between the two readings will be identified as the light intensity. 

 
(f) Performance Standards. 
 

1. Rural, Residential, Public, and Semi-Public District Standards.   In all 
residential, rural and public/semi-public districts, any lighting used to illuminate a structure, an 
off-street parking area, or other area shall be arranged as to deflect light away from any adjoining 
residential property or from any public right-of-way.  All lighting shall be installed in 
compliance with the following provisions: 

 
a. The light source shall be hooded or controlled so as not to light adjacent 

property in excess of the maximum intensity defined by this ordinance. 
 
b. Bare light bulbs shall not be permitted in view of adjacent property or public 

right-of-way, unless part of a permanent or decorative fixture. 
 



 

98 

2. Business and Industrial District Standards.   Any lighting used to illuminate a 
structure, an off-street parking area, or other area shall be arranged so as to deflect light away 
from any adjoining property or from any public right-of-way.  All lighting shall be installed in 
compliance with the following provisions: 

 
a. The luminaire shall contain a cutoff which directs and cuts off the light at an 

angle of 90 degrees or less. 
 
b. Architectural/historical light fixtures that feature globes that are not shielded, 

or lighting of entire façades or architectural features of a building may be approved by the 
Zoning Administrator.  In no case shall the light affect adjacent property in excess of the 
maximum intensity defined in City Code Section 1007.043(6)(d). 

 
c. The maximum height of the fixture and pole above the ground grade 

permitted for light sources is 30 feet.  A light source mounted on a building shall not exceed the 
height of the building.  In no case shall the height of a light source mounted on a pole or on a 
building exceed the height limits of the zoning district in which the use is located, unless allowed 
by conditional use permit. 

 
d. Location. 
 

i. The outdoor light fixture setback shall be 10 feet from a street right-of-
way and five (5) feet from an interior side or rear lot line. 

 
ii. No light source shall be located on the roof unless said light enhances the 

architectural features of the building and is approved by Zoning Administrator. 
 
e. Hours. 
 

i. The use of outdoor lighting for parking lots serving commercial and 
industrial businesses shall be turned off one (1) hour after closing, except for approved security 
lighting. 

 
ii. All illuminated on-premise signs for advertising purposes shall be turned 

off between 12:00 AM and sunrise except that said signs may be illuminated while the business 
facility on the premise is open for service. 

 
f. Direct or reflected glare from high temperature processes such as combustion 

or welding shall not be visible from any adjoining property. 
 
3. Outdoor Recreation.   Outdoor commercial or public recreational uses such as, 

but not limited to, baseball fields, football fields, hockey rinks, and tennis courts have special 
requirements for night time lighting. Due to these unique circumstances, an administrative permit 
shall be required for commercial and public outdoor recreational use lighting systems which do 
not comply with the regulations of this section. 



 

99 

 
a. No outdoor recreation facility whether public or private shall be illuminated 

after 11:00 PM, except for required security lighting. 
 
b. Off-street parking areas for outdoor recreation uses which are illuminated 

shall meet the requirements stated for business or industrial applications as found in City Code 
Section 1007.043(6)(f)2. 

 
c. The provisions for an administrative use permit per City Code Section 

1007.019 are considered and satisfactorily met. 
 
(g) Submission of Plans.   All applications, except single family residential, that include 

outdoor lighting must include evidence the proposed outdoor lighting will comply with this 
section.  The application shall contain the following information, in addition to other required 
information: 

 
1. Site plans indicating the location on the premises of all illuminating devices, 

fixtures, lamps, supports, reflectors, and other lighting devices. 
 
2. Description of the type of illuminating devices, fixtures, lamps, supports, 

reflectors, and other lighting devices (angle of cutoff).  The description shall include, but is not 
limited to, catalog cuts by manufacturers and drawings (including sections where required). 

 
3. Photometric plans illustrating the light emissions, and illumination field of the 

proposed site lighting. 
 
(7) Smoke.   The emission of smoke by any use shall be in compliance with and regulated 

by the State of Minnesota Pollution Control Standards, Minnesota Regulation APC 7009, as 
amended. 

 
(8) Dust and Other Particulate Matter.   The emission of dust, fly ash or other particulate 

matter by any use shall be in compliance with and regulated by the State of Minnesota Pollution 
Control Standards, Minnesota Regulation APC 7009, as amended. 

 
(9) Odors.   The emission of odor by any use shall be in compliance with and regulated by 

the State of Minnesota Pollution Control Standards, Minnesota Regulation APC 7009, as 
amended. 

 
(10) Noise.   Noises emanating from any use shall be in compliance with and regulated by 

the State of Minnesota Pollution Control Standards, Minnesota Regulations MPC 7030, as 
amended and City Code. 

 
(11) Sewage Disposal.   Where allowed, the installation of on-site sewage treatment systems 

shall be in compliance with the provisions of the State Building Code and applicable State and 
City codes. 



 

100 

 
(12) Waste Material.   Waste material resulting from or used in industrial or commercial 

manufacturing, fabricating, servicing, processing or trimming shall not be washed into the public 
storm sewer system, the sanitary sewer system or any public water body, but shall be disposed of 
in a manner approved by the Minnesota State Fire Marshal, the Pollution Control Agency, the 
Department of Natural Resources and the Zoning Administrator. 

 
(13) Bulk Storage (Liquid).   All uses associated with the bulk storage of all gasoline, liquid 

fertilizer, chemical, flammable and similar liquids shall comply with requirements of the 
Minnesota State Fire Marshal, Minnesota Department of Agricultural Offices, and have 
documents from those offices stating the use is in compliance. 

 
(14)  Radiation Emission.   All activities that emit radioactivity shall comply with the 

minimum requirements of the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency. 
 
(15) Electrical Emission.   All activities which create electrical emissions shall comply with 

the minimum requirements of the Federal Communications Commission. 
 
(16) Outdoor Storage. 
 

(a) Rural and Residential Zoning Districts.   
 

1. All personal property in a rural or residential zoning district shall be stored 
within a building except for the following items which are in use or useable and are in good 
condition: 

 
a. Clothesline in side and rear yards only. 
 
b. Non-vehicular recreational equipment in side and rear yards only. 

 
c. Home heating fuel tanks. 

 
d. Stacked firewood in side and rear yards only. 

 
e. Construction and landscaping materials or equipment currently (within a 

period of 12 months) being used on the premises. 
 

f. Agricultural equipment and materials, if these are used or intended for use on 
the premises. 
 

g. Off-street parking and storage of licensed passenger motor vehicles and 
motorcycles shall be limited to operable vehicles registered and licensed to the occupants of the 
dwelling unit and their guests only. 

 



 

101 

h. Off-street parking of licensed passenger motor vehicles in designated 
driveway or parking area, surfaced in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044(3)(h)16. 
 

i. Licensed motor vehicles per City Code Section 1007.044(11). 
 

j. Refuse and Recyclable Materials per City Code Section 1007.043(5). 
 

k. Storage pods or roll-off dumpsters in compliance with the following: 
 

i. No permit is required. 
 

ii. They shall be located in a driveway. 
 

iii. They shall not block a sidewalk or trail. 
 

iv. They shall be removed after 30 days. 
 

l. Lawn, garden, and holiday ornamentation. 
 

m. Outdoor furniture including grills and similar items. 
 
(b) Business, Industrial and Special Zoning Districts.   
 

1. Outdoor Storage.   Outdoor storage shall be governed by the respective zoning 
district in which such use is located. 

 
2. Screening.   All outdoor storage shall be screened so as not to be visible from 

adjoining properties and public streets except for the following: 
 

a. Merchandise being displayed for sale in compliance with zoning district 
requirements. 

 
b. Materials and equipment currently being used for construction on the 

premises. 
 

3. Semi-Trailers.   
 

a. Semi-trailers backed up to a loading space or dock door shall be exempt 
from these requirements. 

 
b. Semi-trailers connected to semi-tractors waiting to be loaded or unloaded 

shall be considered truck parking and shall be exempt from these requirements. 
 



 

102 

c. Within an industrial zoning district, the outdoor storage of semi-trailers 
accessory to the principal use may be allowed by conditional use permit according to City Code 
Section 1007.120 and Section 1007.121.   
 

(c) All Zoning Districts. 
 

1. Except temporary construction trailers and facilities operated by public service 
agencies (i.e., bookmobile, bloodmobiles, etc.) as allowed by the City, no recreational vehicle 
may be used for habitation, office, business, industrial manufacturing, testing, or storage of items 
in conjunction with a business, commercial or industrial enterprise. 

 
2. The City Council may order the owner of any property to cease or modify 

outdoor storage uses including existing uses, provided it is found that such use constitutes a 
threat to the public health, safety, convenience, or general welfare. 
 

(17) Screening, Landscaping, Buffer Yards and Tree Preservation. 
 

(a) Purpose.   To establish landscaping and tree preservation standards to promote 
high quality site development, compatibility of uses, biodiversity, tree preservation, and to 
enhance the health, safety and general welfare of the residents of the community. 

 
1. Definitions.   For the purpose of the Landscaping, Screening and Tree 

Preservation Standards, the following definitions shall apply: 
 
BASIC USE AREA.   The area necessary for construction of the site’s allowed use in 

accordance with the following: 
 

a.  Commercial, industrial, and institutional uses include the area within the 
footprints of buildings and vehicular hardscape and within 20 feet around those improvements 
 

b. Residential subdivisions include the area within the street right-of-way 
and that portion of a residential lot between the right-of-way and within 100 feet beyond and 
parallel to the street right-of-way.   
 

c. Surface water management ponds are not part of the basic use area.  
 
BIODIVERSITY.   The variety, distribution and abundance of living organisms in an 

ecosystem. 
 

DAMAGE.   Action or inaction which does not follow good arboriculture practices.  
Damage may include damage inflicted upon roots by machinery, changing the natural grade 
above the root system or around the trunk, destruction of the natural shape or any action which 
causes infection, infestation or decay. 

 
DBH.   Diameter at breast height, typically measured at 4'.5”-6’ above the ground. 



 

103 

 
DETENTION AREA.   Area of a detention pond from the normal water level and up 

the side slopes to 10' offset from the high water level. 
 
DISTURBANCE.   Any construction, development, removals, earth movement, 

clearing or other similar activity. 
 
DRIP LINE.   Imaginary line on the ground that is extended straight downward from 

the outermost edge of the canopy. 
 
ENVIRONMENTALLY SENSITIVE AREA (ESA). An area that contains native 

vegetation, natural features and/or natural resources.  These include surface water (rivers, lakes, 
streams and ditches); shoreland and floodplain areas, especially riparian and wildlife corridors; 
wetlands, sensitive groundwater (wellhead) protection areas and sensitive geological features; 
state or federally listed (endangered, threatened or special concern) plant and animal species and 
their habitat; natural plant communities, including forests, woodlands and prairies, particularly 
those of high species diversity and other unique and sensitive features.   ESA’s are categorized as 
Natural Resource Conservation Areas and Natural Resource Enhancement Area. 

 
FOUNDATION LANDSCAPE ZONE.   An area located within 15 feet of the 

building.  
 
LARGE SHRUB.   Large shrubs have a mature height over six (6) feet. 
 
LARGE TREE.   Over story deciduous trees with a mature height of at least 40 feet. 
 
MEDIUM SHRUB.   Medium shrubs have a mature height of three (3) – six (6) feet. 
 
MEDIUM TREE.   Deciduous trees with a mature height over 18 feet and up to 39 

feet. 
 
NATURAL RESOURCE CONSERVATION AREA.  An area within the, Shoreland 

District of DNR Public Waters (lakes and creeks), 50 feet of a creek or public ditches, and areas 
within the Rice Creek Watershed District (RCWD) Wetland Management Corridor (WMC).  

 
NATURAL RESOURCE ENHANCEMENT AREA.  Includes wetland areas non-

contiguous to the RCWD WMC extending outward from wetland boundary 75 feet for 
management class A (Preserve), 50 feet for management class B (Manage 1), 30 feet for 
management class C (Manage 2) and class D (Manage 3); areas located within the 100-year (1 
percent chance) floodplain;  and Woodland Preservations Areas. 
 

REMOVAL.   Actual removal or effective removal through actions resulting in the 
death of a tree. 

 



 

104 

ROOT PROTECTION ZONE.   An imaginary circle surrounding the tree trunk with 
a radius distance of one (1) foot per one (1) inch of tree DBH (e.g., a 20 inch diameter tree has a 
Root Protection Zone with a radius of 20 feet). 

 
SCREEN.   A barrier that hinders sight and, potentially, access.  

 
SMALL SHRUB.   Small shrubs have a mature height of less than three (3) feet.  

Small shrubs are interchangeable with perennials, ornamental grasses and groundcovers to fulfill 
landscape standards. 

 
SMALL TREE.   Understory deciduous trees with a mature height of 18 feet and 

under. 
 

UNDESIRABLE TREE.   Trees that are dead, diseased, structurally weak, invasive 
or trees that are hazardous to people, infrastructure or buildings.   

 
VEHICULAR HARDSCAPE.   Areas covered with hard surface intended for motor 

vehicles, including but not limited to off-street loading spaces, parking lots, driveway, drop-offs, 
and drive through facilities. 

 
WETLAND MANAGEMENT CORRIDOR.  A contiguous corridor encompassing 

high priority wetland resources established by the Rice Creek Watershed District. 
 
WOODLAND PRESERVATION AREA - a remnant woodland ecosystem that is 

generally mapped in the City’s Minnesota Land Cover Classification System, and although it 
may be degraded it generally meets the criteria for one of the following types of ecosystems as 
reasonably determined by the city: alder, aspen, black ash swamp, deciduous forest, floodplain 
forest, lowland forest, maple-basswood, mixed hardwood swamp, northern hardwood, oak forest, 
paper birch, saturated or seasonally flooded deciduous forest, seasonally flooded deciduous 
forest, tamarack swamp, upland deciduous forest or woodland and willow swamp. 

(b) Landscaping Standards.   New residential platted subdivisions, mixed use, 
commercial, institutional and industrial uses shall be subject to the landscaping standards unless 
specifically excepted. The landscape standards have been divided into five categories: Canopy 
Cover, Foundation Landscape, Open Areas Landscape, Buffer and Screen, and Boulevard Trees.  
Projects shall comply with the applicable requirements of all five categories. 

 
(c) Canopy Cover Standards.   The purpose of this requirement is to mitigate the 

effects of vehicular hardscape by establishing tree canopy cover to intercept rainfall, protect 
pavement from sun deterioration, reduce the heat island affect, and improve aesthetics. Canopy 
cover requirements do not apply to single family residential development, multi-family 
residential development without surface parking other than individual unit driveways and 
permitted outdoor storage areas in Industrial Districts. 

 
1. The required minimum canopy coverage for all uses is 40 percent.  
 



 

105 

2. The following equation shall be used to calculate required canopy coverage: 
 

Vehicular Hardscape (Square Feet) x Canopy Cover Percent = Required 
Minimum Canopy Cover (Square Feet) 

 
The total of the assigned canopy coverage values for all the trees in or near the 

vehicular hardscape must be equal or greater than the required minimum. Pervious pavements 
are considered 50 percent hardscape. 

 
3. The assigned canopy coverage value of each tree is based on planting location, 

tree size and anticipated tree canopy size 15 years after planting. The assigned canopy cover 
value to each deciduous tree is described in the following table and illustrations:  
 

Table 1 
Assigned Canopy Cover Value 

 
 
Planting Location 
(for new trees) 

Interior 
parking lot 
islands 

Within less 
than 7’ of 
vehicular 
hardscape 
edge   

7’-12’ from 
vehicular hardscape 
edge 

Assigned Canopy 
Coverage Value 

 

100 percent of 
the canopy 
square footage 

50 percent 
of the 
canopy 
square 
footage  

25 percent of the 
canopy square 
footage  

Square 
feet (SF) of 
canopy 
coverage 
assigned to 
each 
deciduous 
tree 

Large Tree  

950 SF (or 
1200 SF in 
islands of 3 or 
more trees) 

600 SF 300 SF 

Medium 
Tree 500 SF 250 SF 125 SF 

Small Tree  250 SF 125 SF NA 

 Existing 
Tree: 
6 – 12” dbh 

1900 SF 950 SF NA 

 Existing 
Tree: 
12+”dbh 

2850 SF 1425 SF NA 

 



 

106 

  
 
 
4. Existing trees may be used to fulfill canopy coverage, as described in City Code 

Section 1007.043(17)(i), when the drip line has proximity to the edge of the hardscape; therefore, 
existing trees do not need to be within less than seven (7) feet of the vehicular hardscape edge.   

 
(d) Foundation Landscape Standards.   The purpose of these standards is to soften and 

enhance building architecture, define access points, add color and seasonal interest, and to blend 
buildings in with the natural environment.  Foundation Landscaping Standards do not apply to 
single family residential development. 

 
1. The Foundation Landscape Planting Standards are described in the following 

table:  
Table 2  

Foundation Landscape Standards 

 Per 100 linear feet (LF) of Building* 

Location Trees          and        Shrubs 
Front and 
Public/Private Street 2 large 6 large 

 
2. Rounded to the nearest tenth, with a minimum factor of one.  

 
3. Round all calculations to the nearest whole number of plants. 

 
4. The required plant materials shall be planted in the foundation landscape zone 

adjacent to the building face where the requirement applies.  The City may allow flexible 
planting locations where service areas or other constraints make the standards difficult to meet. 

 
5. Existing trees may be used to fulfill the Foundation Landscape Standards as 

described in City Code Section 1007.043(17)(i). 
 



 

107 

6. Smaller landscape materials may be substituted at the following rates: 
  1 Large Tree = 1.5 Medium or 2 Small Trees 
  1 Large Shrub = 1.5 Medium or 3 Small Shrubs 
 
7. One (1) large tree may be substituted for every two (2) large shrubs in lieu of the 

shrub requirement at the discretion of the city. 
 
8. The design of landscaping for ground areas under the building roof overhang 

must take into account the potential effects of runoff from the roof edge. 
 
9. Trees planted within 30’ of the building shall be considered within the 

foundation landscape zone 
 
(e) Open Areas Landscape Standards:   The purpose of these standards is to provide 

general site beautification and high aesthetic quality with a mix of plant materials in open areas. 
Open areas include disturbed site areas, that are not located within the foundation landscape 
zone, vehicular hardscape area or the building footprint and include cul-de-sac islands, boulevard 
medians, storm water management areas, and common areas in multifamily sites that are not for 
recreation facilities.  Open Area Landscaping Standards do not apply to single family residential 
lots.  Open areas landscaping shall meet the following standards. 

 
1. The open areas planting standards are described in the following table: 

Table 3  
Open Areas Landscape Standards 

 
Per 2500 SF* 

          Trees  and        Shrubs 

1 large 2 large 

*Rounded to the nearest tenth, with a minimum factor of one. 
  

2. Round all calculations to the nearest whole number of plants. 
 

3. Only land above the normal water level shall be included in the open area 
calculation for storm water detention areas.  Planting shall be located above the normal water 
level in detention areas. The City may require specific tree species in locations where water 
levels vary. 

 
4. Existing trees may be used to fulfill Open Areas Landscape Standards as 

described in City Code Section 1007.043(17)(i). 
 
5. Smaller landscape materials may be substituted at the following rates: 
  1 Large Tree = 1.5 Medium or 2 Small Trees 
  1 Large Shrub = 1.5 Medium or 3 Small Shrubs 
 



 

108 

6. One (1) large tree may be substituted for every two (2) large shrubs in lieu of the 
shrub requirement at the discretion of the city. 

 
7. Areas that are included in a project-specific natural resource management plan 

that addresses vegetation are not subject to the Open Areas Landscaping Standards. 
 
(f) Buffer and Screen Standards:   The purpose of this requirement is to separate and 

buffer different land use types, screen roads and parking, and screen utility and loading areas.  
The location of buffers and screens are listed below, while the width of the buffer yard can be 
found in the respective zoning districts.  Buffers and screens shall meet the following standards: 

 
1. Required screen location, height, and materials are described in the following 

table: 
 
Table 4                  

Landscape Screen Location, Height and Materials 

 
Location 

Required 
Screen 
Height 

Required Screen Materials 

Between a parking lot and 
public right of way or 
sidewalk where parking 
projects toward the public 
right-of-way or sidewalk 

 
30 inches 

• Planting screen in compliance 
with paragraph (f)2. 
Or 

• A combination of berm and 
screen in compliance with 
paragraph (f)2. 

Between residential uses 
and 
arterial or collector street 

 
 
 
 

6 feet 

• Planting screen in compliance 
with (f)2. 
Or 

• Wall or fence and plantings 
shall provide shrub cover for 
50 percent of the wall or fence 
on the exterior side 
Or 

• A combination of berm and 
screen in compliance with 
paragraph (f)2. 

Between any development 
and 
adjacent, less intense, 
residential land uses  
(this includes across a 
street from residential), 
but not on the side of a use 
considered to be the front 
(as determined by the 
Zoning Administrator) 
Between loading/service 
area 
and 
public view 



 

109 

Landscape Screen Location, Height and Materials 

 
Location 

Required 
Screen 
Height 

Required Screen Materials 

Outdoor Storage Yards 

10 feet 

• A wall or fence of permanent 
materials and planting shall 
provide shrub cover for 50 
percent of the wall or fence on 
the exterior side. At its 
discretion, the City Council 
may approve a modification or 
waiver from these standards 
where the affected lot line 
adjoins another industrial 
property.   

 
2. All planting screens shall require at a minimum a double row 

of plants with triangulated spacing (See illustration).  Planting plans shall 
include species which are sized to appropriately screen visibility within five 
(5) years of planting.  Small shrubs shall be a planted at a maximum interval of 3' on center; 
medium shrubs shall be planted at a maximum interval of 4' on center; and large shrubs shall be 
planted at a maximum interval of 6' on center unless; otherwise authorized by the City. 

 
3. A wall or fence intended to provide a continuous year round screen shall block 

visibility completely. 
 
4. In addition to the shrub cover required in the table above, all screens shall be 

planted with large trees every 50 LF, medium trees every 35 LF, small trees every 25 LF, or 
some combination thereof, along the length of the screen. 

 
5. Existing vegetative screens should be left in place unless composed of invasive 

species or otherwise directed by the City.  Existing screens may be enhanced with new plantings 
to comply with the requirements. 

 
6. Berms shall be irrigated, have maximum side slopes of 3:1, and have no less than 

four (4) inches of topsoil. 
 
7. Permanent walls and fences shall be offset by a 

minimum of 2' at intervals of 75' maximum length for stability 
and visual relief (See illustration).   

 
8. Approved permanent wall/fence materials shall include wood, metal, masonry, 

concrete stone, or other prefabricated and/or sustainable materials.  Non-decorative concrete 



 

110 

block is prohibited for screening walls.  Rock face block or other decorative material is required 
for masonry walls. Chain link fences with slats are prohibited for screening walls. 

 
9. Maintenance of the required buffer strip planting and/or fence shall be the 

responsibility of the individual property owners or, if applicable, the homeowners association. 
 
(g) Boulevard Tree Standards: 
 

1. Boulevard trees shall be required in all new residential subdivisions.   
 
2. Boulevard trees are required at the rate of one (1) tree per lot frontage for single 

family and two family lots.  Townhome and multi-family properties shall provide boulevard trees 
at a rate of 1 tree per 70 linear feet of street frontage where property fronts any public street.   

 
3. Boulevard trees shall be planted within 14 feet of the curb line or as otherwise 

determined by the City Forester. 
 
4. Existing trees may be used to fulfill boulevard tree standards at the City's 

discretion. 
 
5. The City may, at its discretion, purchase and install the required boulevard trees.  

In such case, the City shall collect a standard fee per tree.  Said fee shall be established by the 
City Council and based on the estimated market rate cost to purchase and install trees within the 
development site. 
 

(h) Sod and Ground Cover.   All areas not otherwise improved in compliance with the 
approved site plans shall have a minimum depth of four (4) inches of topsoil and be sodded 
including boulevard areas.  Exceptions to these criteria may be approved by the Zoning 
Administrator as follows: 

 
1. Seed may be provided in lieu of sod in any of the following cases: 
 

a. Where the seed is applied to future expansion areas as shown on the 
approved plans, or 
 

b. Where the seed is applied adjacent to natural areas or wetlands.  Seed 
mixture shall be approved by the City, or 
 

c. For single-family and two family residential properties, proper erosion 
control measures shall be implemented and maintained until vegetation is established. Sod may 
be required in areas subject to erosion as determined by the Building Official or City Engineer. 
 

2. Undisturbed areas containing existing viable natural vegetation which can be 
maintained free of foreign and noxious plant materials. 

 



 

111 

3. Areas designated as open space or future expansion areas properly planted and 
maintained with native grasses or wild flowers indigenous to Minnesota.  Seed mixture shall be 
approved by the City. 
 

4. Use of mulch materials such as bark, wood chips, and decorative rock in support 
of shrubs and foundation plantings. 

 
5. Natural Prairie Restoration Areas.  Native grasses and wild flowers indigenous 

to Minnesota, planted and maintained on any occupied lot or parcel of land, setback a minimum 
of 20 feet from the front lot line and/or side lot line abutting a public street, as part of a garden or 
landscape treatment. 

 
(i) General Landscaping Standards: 
 

1. All lot areas not used for off-street parking, off-street loading, sidewalks, 
driveways, building sites, or other requirements shall be landscaped with grass, shrubs, trees or 
other acceptable vegetation, or treatment as required by this chapter prior to issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy.  Exceptions to this requirement are listed in City Code Section 
1007.043(17)(o). 

 
2. Commercial, industrial, public/semi-public, institutional, and multi-family 

residential uses shall be required to submit a site landscape plan, in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.020, Site and Building Plan Review, for approval by the City prior to issuance of a 
building permit.   

 
3. Desirable existing trees may be used to fulfill Canopy Cover, Foundation 

Landscape, and Open Areas Landscape Standards if applicable by placement.  Desirable existing 
trees are valued according to the following table: 

 
  Table 5   

Existing Tree Value 

Tree Size 

deciduous 
trees under 
6" DBH or 
evergreen 
trees under 
12' tall 

deciduous 
trees between 
6"-12" DBH 
or evergreen 
trees between 
12'-20' tall 

deciduous trees 
over 12" DBH 
or evergreen 
trees over 20' 
tall. 

Tree 
Value 1 large tree 2 large trees  large trees 

 
4. Plantings may be grouped if part of an approved landscape plan. 
 
5. Standards may be met with different sizes of trees and shrubs.   
 



 

112 

6. New trees may fulfill Canopy Coverage, Foundation Landscape, Landscape 
Screen, and Open Space Standards simultaneously if applicable by location.   

 
7. An existing tree is considered to be removed if the tree trunk is damaged or if 

more than 30 percent of the root protection zone area is disturbed during the construction 
process. 

 
8. The City may allow flexibility in landscape standards if there are conflicts with 

solar power, wind power, water harvesting, food production, or other innovative measures 
proposed for the site. 

 
9. The landscape plan shall be compared to all applicable CPTED (Crime 

Prevention Through Environmental Design) standards and reviewed by the police department. 
 
10. Trees and shrubs shall not be planted in the right of way without City 

authorization and shall not be planted in easements without authorization from the holder of the 
easement. 

 
11. Turf slopes in excess of three to one (3:1) are prohibited. 
 
12. Commercial, industrial, multi-family, public/semi-public, and institutional uses 

shall install irrigation systems to ensure survivability of landscape materials. 
 
(j) Tree Preservation and Mitigation Standards.   The purpose of these standards is to 

protect valuable trees and stands of vegetation, while not interfering with landowners’ reasonable 
use and development of property.  The goal is to minimize unnecessary loss of habitat, 
biodiversity and forest resources, and to replace removed trees in areas where tree cover is most 
critical. Unless specifically excepted, tree preservation and mitigation standards apply to all 
plats, site plans, conditional use permits, interim use permits, grading, building, and other 
activity that requires a City permit or approval. 

 
1. Tree preservation and mitigation standards are described in the following table: 

 
  Table 6   

  Tree Preservation and Mitigation Standards 

  Environmentally 
Sensitive Area 
(ESA) Category 

Tree 
Location: 
within Basic 
Use Area 

Tree Location: not within 
Basic Use Area 

  

deciduous 
trees 6" dbh 
and over or 
evergreen 
trees between 
12'-20' tall 

deciduous 
trees 6-12" 
dbh or 
evergreen 
trees 

deciduous 
trees over 
12" dbh or 
evergreen 
trees over 
20' tall 



 

113 

between 
12'-20' tall 

  

Non-ESA 
no mitigation 
required 

provide  
one tree  
per tree 
removed 

provide  
two trees per 
tree removed 

  

Natural Resource 
Conservation Area  

provide 
one tree per 
four trees 
removed 

provide  
two trees  
per tree 
removed 

provide 
three trees 
per tree 
removed 

  

Natural Resource 
Protected Area provide   one 

tree per two 
trees removed 

provide    
two trees per 
tree removed 

provide    
three trees 
per tree 
removed 

 
2. Trees used for mitigation may also fulfill the Open Areas Landscape Standards at 

the discretion of the City.  
 

3. Trees with 30 percent of the roots damaged are considered to be removed and 
must be mitigated for at the applicable rates. 
 

4. Undesirable trees are not subject to the Tree Preservation and Mitigation 
Standards. 

 
5. Areas where trees are being removed for ecological restoration in accordance with 

a City approved restoration plan are not subject to the Tree Preservation and Mitigation. 
 

6. On existing lots with existing buildings where no building or development 
activity that requires a permit or approval from the City is occurring, the removal of trees is not 
subject to tree preservation and mitigation standards. 
 

7. Replacement trees shall be planted on site.   
 

8. The applicant may request to pay a fee per tree in lieu of some or all of the trees 
required for mitigation.  At the City's discretion, the City may accept the fee for planting trees 
within the general area of the development project.  The City shall maintain a standard fee per 
tree based on the estimated market rate cost to purchase and install trees. 

 
(k) Landscaping Guidelines and Technical Specifications.  The selection, installation, 

and maintenance of all planting materials shall be in compliance with the City’s Landscaping 
Guidelines and Technical Specifications Manual. 

 
(l) Tree Survey.   

 
1. A tree survey is required for all property that contains a significant tree.  



 

114 

 
2. The tree survey shall be the basis for the tree preservation plan, tree mitigation 

standards, and the use of existing trees to fulfill landscape standards. 
 

3. The tree survey shall provide the following information: 
 

a. In the basic use area and other areas where tree removal is proposed, for all 
significant trees: 

 
i. tree species 

 
ii. size 

 
iii. location 

 
iv. root protection zone 

 
v. tree condition 

 
b. The location of the combined root protection zones of all tree stands 

designated for preservation on the development property.  
 

c. On adjacent properties, the root protection zone of significant tree where the 
root protection zone is within five (5) feet of the development property.  
 

4. For a new plat or new Planned Unit Development, the tree survey shall be one 
plan sheet and the tree preservation plan shall be a separate plan sheet. 

 
5. For a building permit for a new structure on an existing lot, the tree survey and 

preservation information may be included on the lot survey typically required for a building 
permit instead of on a separate document.  For a building permit for an addition to an existing 
structure, the tree survey information may be provided in an informal medium that sufficiently 
conveys the information. 
 

6. At the City’s discretion, the tree survey requirement may be waived under the 
following circumstances: 
 

a. significant trees will not be removed and are not likely to be impacted by 
construction. 

 
b. significant trees will only be removed within the basic use area and the basic 

use area is not an ESA.   
 
(m) Tree Preservation Plan: 

 



 

115 

1. A tree preservation plan shall be required for all soil disturbance activities where 
Tree Preservation and Mitigation Standards apply. A tree preservation plan shows how the Tree 
Preservation and Mitigation Standards will be met and how preserved trees will be protected 
during construction and other potentially harmful activities. 

 
2. The tree preservation plan shall be based on the tree survey. 

 
3. If a tree survey shows that no significant trees are on the development property 

or adjacent properties are near the construction area, the City may waive the tree preservation 
plan requirement. 
 

4. A tree preservation plan shall identify: 
 

a. The basic use area and environmentally sensitive areas. 
 
b. The disturbance area. 

 
c. Tree size (dbh), species, condition, location, and root protection zone for all 

significant trees to be preserved, or; 
 

d. The combined root protection zone of all stands of trees designated for 
preservation, whichever is applicable.  
 

e. Location and type of tree protection fence. 
 

f. Staging areas.  
 

g. Temporary construction access routes when temporary site access is 
necessary within root protection zone of any tree or tree stand designated for preservation. 

 
i. Temporary access shall be routed in a manner that is least disruptive to 

the tree or tree stand per the approval of the City Forester. 
 
ii. Temporary access roads shall not exceed 25 feet in width and shall be 

delineated by snow fencing or safety fencing. 
 
iii. An eight (8) inch deep cover of wood chip mulch shall be placed over the 

temporary access route to cushion the root protection zones from compaction. 
 

h. Concrete washout areas.   
 
i. Existing and proposed grading. 

 
j. The plan shall show directional felling and trenching to separate root systems 

prior to bulldozing trees or stumps if necessary to avoid damage to adjacent trees. 



 

116 

 
k. The plan shall be coordinated with utility planning so that utilities are 

installed in a manner that protects trees intended to be saved. 
 

5.Trees to be preserved shall be tagged in the field and keyed to the tree preservation 
plan.  The City may inspect the trees to verify compliance with the preservation 
plan at any time during construction.   

 
6.If a natural resource management plan has been approved for the site, the tree 

preservation plan shall be in compliance with said plan. 

7. The following shall occur prior to soil disturbance: 

a. The tree preservation plan shall be approved by the City. 
 
b. Fencing and all tree protection measures shall be installed and inspected by 

the City. 
 

c. Erosion control measures shall be installed and inspected by the City. 
 

d. All required financial securities have been submitted. 
 

e. Any required development agreement has been approved. 
 
(n) Tree Preservation during Construction:   Trees that are to be preserved must be 

protected by the following methods unless otherwise approved by the City.   
 

1. Before land clearing, grading, or construction begins, the City approved tree 
protection fencing or other method shall be installed and maintained around the Root Protection 
Zone of the trees to be protected.  Fencing shall be a minimum of four (4) feet high and of a 
highly visible material, such as snow fence or polyethylene laminar safety netting, and must be 
standing throughout the construction process.  Cut roots with clean, pruning cuts at the fence line 
prior to fence installation to avoid later tearing of the roots. Signage shall be installed to instruct 
workers to stay out of the Root Protection Zone. 

 
2. Areas where development must encroach upon the root protection zone must be 

identified on the tree preservation plan in which case the fencing shall be installed at that edge. 
 
3. No actions that may harm the health of the tree; including but not limited to 

construction, traffic, compaction, storage of equipment or materials including soil, grading, or 
concrete washout areas; may occur in the Root Protection Zone.    

 
4. Trees damaged by construction, or with more than 30 percent of the roots 

disturbed, shall be counted as removed and mitigated at applicable rates. 
 



 

117 

5. Tree protection measures shall remain in place until all grading and construction 
activity is terminated.   

 
(o) Final Inspection:   Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the project 

developer, builder, or representative shall certify in writing to the City that all elements of the 
tree preservation plan and landscaping plan were completed.  These must be confirmed by the 
City.  However, the City may issue a certificate of occupancy prior to completion of landscaping 
in the following situations: 

 
1. If winter weather will prevent healthy planting practices, a security shall be 

posted to ensure the remaining planting is accomplished and all planting must be installed by the 
15th of June the following spring. 

 
2. A certificate of occupancy may be issued by the City on residential lots prior to 

lawn seeding or sod, provided an escrow security is submitted sufficient to ensure that the work 
will be completed and the date of completion is specified. 

 
(p) Non-Compliance:   If the City finds that the property is not in compliance with the 

approved landscaping plan or tree preservation plan, it shall inform the property owner or, if 
applicable, the homeowners association, regarding the non-compliance and describe, in writing, 
the steps needed to bring the property into compliance within a reasonable timeframe, not to 
exceed 60 calendar days. 

 
(q) Performance Security:   The City may require performance security to ensure 

compliance with the requirements of this chapter. 
 

1. The performance security shall extend for two (2) years from the date of 
planting.  The form of the security (cash, letter of credit, or other form) shall be determined by 
the City. 
 

2. If after notification of non-compliance the property owner or, if applicable, the 
homeowners association, fails to achieve the compliance within 60 calendar days, the City may 
exercise its authority to use the performance security to address compliance. 

 
(18) Fences and Retaining Walls.   Fences and retaining walls shall be permitted in all 

required yards subject to the following conditions: 
 
(a) Permit Required.   It is unlawful for any person to construct a fence or retaining 

wall without first making an application for and securing a permit. 
 
(b) Certificate of Survey.   An application for a fence or retaining wall permit shall be 

accompanied by a current certificate of survey providing exact lot dimensions; the location of 
existing buildings, structures, and easements on the lot; and the location of the proposed fence or 
retaining wall.  At the discretion of the City, a final plat detail or aerial map of the lot with the 



 

118 

required information shown may suffice if no certificate of survey is available.  Applicant shall 
be required to physically identify the property corners for City inspection. 

 
(c) Location.   All fences or retaining walls shall be located on the property being 

fenced or walled. 
 

1. No fence or retaining wall shall be located on public right-of-way. 
 
2. Traffic visibility requirements set forth in City Code Section 1007.042(5)(a)3. 

shall be satisfactorily met. 
 
3. No fence or retaining wall shall obstruct drainage. 
 
4. Fences or retaining walls may, by permit, be located within public easements if 

the following conditions are met: 
 

a. The fence or retaining wall shall not be located within the 100-year high 
water level of a waterbody or watercourse, and  

 
b. The drainage shall not be adversely affected by the fence or retaining wall, 

and 
 

c. The fence or retaining wall shall not interfere in any way with any existing 
underground or over ground utility. 

 
d. The City or any utility company having authority to use such public 

easements, shall not be liable for repair or replacement of such fence, retaining wall or 
appurtenance in the event they are moved, damaged, or destroyed by virtue of the lawful use of 
said easement. 

 
(d) Construction and Maintenance. 
 

1. Every fence or retaining wall shall be constructed in a professional and 
substantial manner and of substantial material reasonably suitable for the purpose for which the 
fence or retaining wall is proposed to be used.  The materials and design shall also be compatible 
with other structures in the area in which the fence or retaining wall is located and shall not cause 
blight or a negative impact. Chain link fences shall not include slats or fabric except for use on 
public recreational facilities or private sport courts. 

 
2. Every fence or retaining wall shall be maintained in a condition of reasonable 

repair and shall not be allowed to become and remain in a condition of disrepair or danger, or 
constitute a nuisance, public or private.  Any such fence or retaining wall which is or has become 
dangerous to the public safety, health, or welfare is a public nuisance, and the City shall 
commence proper proceedings for the abatement thereof. 

 



 

119 

3. All posts or similar supporting instruments used in the construction of fences 
shall be faced inward toward the property being fenced.  That side of the fence or retaining wall 
considered to be the face shall be oriented toward abutting property. 

 
4. Fences which are 90 percent open (barb wire, chain link, woven wire, and other 

similar type fences) which are for the sole purpose of agriculture or containing farm animals 
within a rural zoning district are not subject to the provisions of this ordinance but require a 
zoning permit prior to construction.  Chain link fences shall have round steel parts and braces. 

 
5. Retaining walls (such as masonry construction) greater than 48 inches in height, 

including buried portions, shall require a building permit.  When utilized, tiered retaining walls 
shall be separated by a horizontal landing at least three (3) feet in width. 

 
(e) Access.   All fences shall have a gate which allows reasonable and convenient 

access for public safety. 
 
(f) Rural and Residential District Fences.    
 

1. A fence not exceeding four (4) feet in height may be located in any yard. 
 
2. Except as prohibited by City Code Section 1007.043(18)(f)3. below, a fence not 

exceeding six (6) feet in height may be located from a line extended from the front wall of the 
principal building to the side lot lines, and then along the side lot lines and the rear lot line (see 
Diagram 3). 

 
Diagram 3 

 
 



 

120 

3. Should the rear lot line of a lot be common with the side lot line of an abutting 
lot, that portion of the rear or side lot equal to the required front lot line setback of the abutting 
lot shall not be fenced or walled to a height of more than four (4) feet.  For the purpose of this 
section, the front and side yards of the abutting lot shall be as defined in this ordinance rather 
than as related to the orientation of the house (see Diagram 4). 
 

Diagram 4 

 
 
4. Rural and Residential Fences Height Exceptions. 

 
a. A fence for a sport court not exceeding 12 feet in height may be located at 

least 10 foot from side and rear lot lines. 
 

b. Residential and rural boundary line fences not exceeding eight (8) feet in 
height may be located along a lot line abutting a commercial, industrial, or 
semi-public use or zoning district. 

 
5. Wire fence other than chain link shall not be permitted as boundary line fences 

within five (5) feet of the lot line in residential zoning districts. 
 
6. Electrical and barb wire fences shall not be permitted in residential zoning 

districts. 
 

(g) Business and Industrial District Fences.   (See Diagram 5) 
 

Diagram 5 



 

121 

 
 

1. A fence not exceeding four (4) feet in height may be located in any yard. 
 
2. A fence not exceeding eight (8) feet in height may be located parallel to the front 

lot line from a front corner of a principal building to a side lot line that is not adjacent to a street. 
 
3. A fence not exceeding 10 feet in height may be located on a rear lot line or on a 

side lot line that is not adjacent to a street from a point where the front wall of a principal 
building would intersect with a side lot line extending to the rear lot line. 

 
4. Should the rear lot line be common with the side lot line of an abutting lot, that 

portion of the rear lot line equal to the required front lot line setback of the abutting lot shall not 
be fenced to a height of more than four (4) feet. 
 

5. Within commercial and industrial zoning districts, barbed wire may be attached 
to the tops of fences subject to the following conditions: 

 
a. Fences shall be a minimum of eight (8) feet in height exclusive of the 

security arm. 
 
b. The security arm shall be angled in such a manner that it extends only over 

the property of the permit holder. 
 
c. Wire security fencing shall not be located within the front yard or along a lot 

line abutting a residential use. 
 
(h) Public and Semi-Public District Fences. 
    

1.      A fence not exceeding eight (8) feet in height may be located in any yard. 
  



 

122 

2.    Barbed wire fences used for security purposes may be permitted per City Code 
Section 1007.043(18)(g)5. 
 

(19) Submission of Permit and Site Plan. Any person desiring to develop or improve 
property shall submit to the Community Development Department a permit and site plan, 
or certificate of survey in compliance with City Code Section 1007.020(2)(b) as 
determined by the Zoning Administrator, and any other information which may be 
necessary to ensure compliance with City ordinances.



 

123 

§ 1007.044   OFF-STREET PARKING.  
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section is to establish minimum requirements for off-
street parking of motor vehicles in order to alleviate or prevent congestion of the public right-of-
way and to promote the safety and general welfare of the public. 

 
(2) Application of Off-Street Parking Regulations.   These regulations and requirements 

shall apply to all off-street parking areas in all of the zoning districts of the City. 
 
(3) General Provisions.    
 

(a) Space Reduction.   Existing off-street parking spaces upon the effective date of this 
ordinance shall not be reduced in number unless said number exceeds the requirements set forth 
herein for a similar new use. 

 
(b) Existing Uses.   Should a legal, non-conforming building, structure, or use in 

existence upon the effective date of this ordinance be damaged or destroyed by fire or other 
cause, it may be re-established in compliance with City Code Section 1007.041 of this ordinance, 
except that in so doing, any off-street parking or loading which existed must be retained. 

 
(c) Change of Use or Occupancy of Buildings.   Any change of use or occupancy of 

any building or buildings including additions requiring more off-street parking areas shall not be 
permitted until there is furnished such additional off-street parking spaces as required by these 
zoning regulations. 

 
(d) Use of Off-Street Parking Area.   Required off-street parking areas in any district 

shall not be utilized for outdoor storage of goods or for the storage of motor vehicles which are 
inoperable or for sale or for rent. 

 
(e) Accessible Off-Street Parking.   All off-street parking associated with any building, 

structure or use shall be required to conform to the disability accessible parking standards 
pursuant to Minnesota Statutes 169.346, as may be amended. 

 
(f) Use of Off-Street Parking Areas in a Residential District.   Except as allowed under 

City Code Section 1007.044(11), off-street parking areas accessory to a residential use shall be 
utilized solely for the parking of passenger motor vehicles, recreational vehicles, and/or one (1) 
truck not to exceed 12,000 pounds gross weight rating for each dwelling.  

 
(g) Calculating Space.   
 

1. The term “floor area” for the purpose of calculating the number of off-street 
parking spaces required shall be determined on the basis of the exterior floor area dimensions of 
the buildings, structure or use times the number of floors, minus 10 percent, except when floor 
plans are submitted that identify net usable floor area of the building exclusive of ancillary floor 



 

124 

areas that do not generate parking demand (e.g., stair wells, hallways, restrooms, closets, utility 
rooms). 

 
2. When determining the number of off-street parking spaces results in a fraction, 

each fraction of one-half (1/2) or more shall constitute another space. 
 
3. In gymnasiums, churches and other places of public assembly in which patrons 

or spectators occupy benches, pews or other similar seating facilities, each 18 inches of such 
seating facilities shall be counted as one (1) seat for the purpose of determining requirements. 

 
4. Except as provided for under joint parking and shopping centers, should a 

building or structure contain two (2) or more types of use, each use shall be calculated separately 
for determining the total off-street parking spaces required. 

 
5. In hospitals, bassinets shall not be counted as beds. 

 
(h) Parking Space, Aisle and Driveway Design.   
 

1. Off-Street Parking Area Standards.   Off-street parking areas and the aisles shall 
be developed in compliance with the following standards: 
 

 Table 1 
 
Angle of 
Parking 

 
Space 
Width 

 
Space 
Length 

 
Aisle Width 
One Way 

 
Aisle Width 
Two Way 

 
90° 

 
9 feet 

 
18 feet 

 
24 feet 

 
24 feet 

 
75° 

 
9 feet 

 
18 feet 

 
22 feet 

 
23 feet 

 
60° 

 
9 feet 

 
18 feet 

 
18 feet 

 
22 feet 

 
45° 

 
9 feet 

 
18 feet 

 
15 feet 

 
22 feet 

 
0° 

 
9 feet 

 
22 feet 

 
12 feet 

 
24 feet 

2. Within Structures.   The off-street parking requirements may be furnished by 
providing a space so designed within the principal building or one (1) structure attached thereto.   
No building permit shall be issued to convert said parking structure into a dwelling unit or living 
area or other activity until other adequate provisions are made to comply with the required off-
street parking provisions of this ordinance. 

 
3. Collector/Minor Arterial Street Access.   Access to any street shown as a 

collector or arterial roadway on the City’s Transportation Plan shall require review and comment 
by the affected agency (Anoka County Highway Engineer or MnDOT) and City.  This review 
shall be required prior to the issuance of any building permits.  The County or City Engineer 



 

125 

shall determine the appropriate location, size and design of each access drive and may limit the 
number of access drives in the interest of public safety and efficient traffic flow. 

 
4. Street/Alley Access.   Except in the case of single, two family and townhouse 

dwellings, off-street parking areas shall be designed so that circulation between parking spaces 
or aisles occurs within the designated parking lot and does not depend upon a public street or 
alley.  Except in the case of single, two family and townhouse dwellings, off-street parking area 
design which requires backing into the public street is prohibited.  New residential subdivisions 
shall be designed to limit direct lot access onto any street shown as a collector or arterial 
roadway on the City’s Transportation Plan. 

 
5. Tandem Parking.   The required off-street parking spaces serving single family 

and two family dwellings may be designed for parking two (2) motor vehicles in a tandem 
arrangement for each dwelling unit in order to comply with the requirements of this ordinance. 

 
6. Curb Cut/Driveway Access Location. 
 

a. No curb cut/driveway access shall be located less than 30 feet from the 
intersection of two (2) or more local or minor street rights-of-way.  This distance shall be 
measured from the intersection of lot lines.  Curb cut/driveway access setbacks from the 
intersection of streets with higher functional classifications shall be consistent with the 
recommendations of the Comprehensive Plan and require approval by the City Engineer. 

 
i. Street functional classification shall be defined by the Lino Lakes 

Comprehensive Plan. 
 
ii. The setback measurement shall be measured from the edge of the street 

right-of-way to the nearest edge of the curb cut. 
 
iii. Driveways onto arterials and major collectors shall be prohibited where 

alternative street access is available.  For existing lots of record, where alternative access is not 
available, direct access onto arterial and major collectors may be permitted, provided a site plan 
is submitted for review and approval of the City Engineer.  Approval is also subject to the 
conditions of this ordinance. 

 
b. Curb cut/driveway access on a public street shall be located at least 40 feet 

from one another except for single family, two family, and townhouse dwellings. 
 
c. Curb cut/driveway access shall be a minimum of five (5) feet from the side 

lot line in all districts, except shared driveways approved by the City Engineer.  Any shared 
driveway shall include a maintenance and access agreement.  

 
d. A single family detached dwelling in a residential zoning district shall not 

have more than one (1) driveway.   
 



 

126 

e. A single family detached dwelling in a rural zoning district may have one (1) 
or more driveways provided they are at least 40 feet from one another. No second driveway shall 
be allowed onto a major collector or arterial street as defined by the City’s Transportation Plan. 

 
7. Curb Cut/Driveway Width.   No curb cut shall exceed 28 feet in width within a 

rural or residential zoning district, or 36 feet in width if the property is in a commercial, 
industrial, or public/semi-public zoning district, as measured at the street right-of-way line unless 
approved by the City Engineer.  The driveway associated with such curb cut may increase in 
width at an angle not greater than 45 degrees. (See Diagram 6) 
 

Diagram 6 
 

 
 

8. Emergency Vehicle Access.    
 

a. Access drives to principal buildings or structures which traverse wooded, 
steep or open field areas shall be constructed and maintained to a width and base material depth 
sufficient to support access by emergency vehicles.  All access drives (driveways) shall comply 
with the following requirements: 
 
 Table 2 

 
DRIVEWAY/ACCESS STANDARDS 

 
 

 
Rural and Residential 

Districts 

 
Business, Industrial, PSP 

Districts 
 
Maximum  
Slope 

 
10 foot vertical rise in 100 
horizontal feet. 

 
Eight (8) feet vertical rise in 
100 horizontal feet. 



 

127 

 
Minimum  
Width 

 
10 foot wide driveway base.  
Vegetation should be cleared 
to eight (8) feet on each side 
of driveway centerline from 
the roadway to the front lot 
line. 

 
20 feet driveway base or as 
approved by community 
engineer. 

 
b. All property shall have direct, adequate, physical access for emergency 

vehicles along the frontage of the lot from either an existing dedicated public roadway or an 
approved private roadway. 

 
c. In addition to the required direct physical access along the frontage of the 

property to the approved public or private street, a property may have existing private easement 
access drives over adjacent properties. 

 
9. Grade Elevation.   The grade elevation of a parking lot shall not exceed five (5) 

percent. 
 
10. Striping.   All parking spaces shall be marked with white or yellow painted lines 

at least four (4) inches wide except for single, two family, townhouses, and green parking lots. 
 
11. Lighting.   Any lighting used to illuminate an off-street parking area shall be 

arranged as to reflect the light away from the adjoining property.  All exterior lighting shall 
comply with City Code Section 1007.043(6). 

 
12. Curbing and Landscaping.   All open off-street parking shall have a continuous 

concrete perimeter curb barrier around the entire parking lot except for single, two family, and 
townhouses.  Said curb barrier shall not be closer than the required parking setback of the 
respective zoning district.  Grass, plantings, or screening shall be provided in all areas bordering 
the parking area.  Curbed islands or peninsulas shall be installed to promote the safe and efficient 
flow of traffic, regardless of parking lot size. 

 
13. Off-Street Parking Area Landscaping.    
 

a. All open off-street parking areas of six (6) or more required spaces shall be 
landscaped on all sides in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
b. Within off-street parking areas of 50 or more spaces, irrigated landscaped 

islands or peninsulas or rain gardens shall be provided at a rate of 100 square feet per 25 surface 
spaces or fraction thereof.  Such islands or peninsulas shall be contained within raised, curbed 
beds consistent with other applicable parking lot construction requirements of this ordinance. It 
is not the intent of this section to relieve a project of the installation of islands or peninsulas that 
are necessary to promote the safe and efficient flow of traffic, regardless of parking lot size. 

 



 

128 

c. No landscaping or screening shall interfere with drive or pedestrian visibility 
for vehicle entering, circulating or exiting the premises. 

 
14. Cart Storage.   Retail commercial uses that have customer service carts shall be 

required to provide ample space for the storage of carts within off-street parking areas, subject to 
the approval of the Zoning Administrator.  The need and specific amount of required cart storage 
space shall be determined as part of site plan review.  When required, cart storage areas shall not 
occupy required off-street parking space, shall be clearly delineated, and shall include facilities 
for cart confinement. 
 

15. Surfacing.  All driveways, approaches, sales lots, and off-street parking areas 
shall be hard surfaced using concrete, asphalt or equivalent materials as approved by the City 
Engineer except as follows: 

 
a. In business, industrial, and public and semi-public zoning districts the City 

may allow up to 25 percent of the required off-street parking spaces be provided as green parking 
with a turf surface supported by a City approved parking lot sub-base and a turf-guard fabric. 
 

b. In rural and residential zoning districts on lots one (1) acre in size or greater, 
class 5 gravel or other surfacing material may be allowed as approved by the City Engineer. Any 
driveways on a paved street shall be hard surfaced from the edge of the paved street to the lot 
line. 
 

c. A permit is required for the installation of a new driveway or the replacement 
of an existing driveway. 
 

(4) Maintenance.   It shall be the joint responsibility of the operator and owner of the 
principal use, uses and/or buildings to maintain, in a neat and adequate manner, the off-street 
parking space, access ways, landscaping and required screening. 

 
(5) Location.   All off-street parking areas required by this ordinance shall be located and 

restricted as follows: 
 

(a) Required off-street parking areas shall be located on the same lot under the same 
ownership as the principal use being served, except under the provisions of City Code Section 
1007.044(8) and Section 1007.044(9). 

 
(b) Off-street parking spaces for one and two family dwellings shall be located on the 

same lot as the principal use served. 
 
(c) Off-street parking spaces for multiple-family dwellings shall be located on the same 

lot as the principal use served and within 200 feet of the main entrance to the principal building 
served. 

 



 

129 

(d) Off-street parking spaces for uses in a business, industrial, or public and semi-
public district shall be located within 800 feet of a main entrance to the principal building served. 

 
(e) Off-street parking spaces shall not be located within a public right-of-way.  
 
(f) Off-street parking areas shall meet the setback standard of the respective zoning 

district. 
 
(g) Off-street parking spaces for single family dwellings, two family dwellings, and 

townhouse dwellings shall not be located in the front yard except designated driveways leading 
directly into a garage. One (1) off-street parking space may be located on the side of a driveway, 
away from the principal use. This parking space shall be surfaced in a manner consistent with 
City Code Section 1007.044(3)(h)15. 

 
(6) Number of Spaces Required.   The following minimum number of off-street parking 

spaces shall be provided and maintained by ownership, easement and/or lease for and during the 
life of the respective uses hereinafter set forth: 

 
Table 3 

Use Number of Parking Spaces Required 
Single Family and Two Family 
Dwellings 

2 spaces per unit. 

Boarding House/Accessory 
Apartment 

At least 1 space for each person for whom sleeping 
accommodations are provided. 

Townhouses and Manufactured 
Home Parks 

2 rent-free spaces per unit. In projects involving 8 or more 
units, guest parking at a rate of 1 space per 3 units shall be 
provided. 

Multiple-Family Dwellings 2 rent-free spaces per unit. A minimum of one-half (½) of 
the required parking spaces shall be within the building. 

Senior Housing 1.5 spaces per independent living apartment unit other than 
studio apartments. Studio apartments require 1 space per 
unit. Half of the parking spaces for independent living shall 
be underground. 

Rest Home, Nursing Home, 
Convalescent Center, or 
Assisted-Living 

1 space for each 6 beds based upon maximum design 
capacity plus 1 space for each 2 employees. 

Hospitals 2 spaces for each bed. 
Schools, Elementary and Junior 
High 

At least 3 parking spaces per classroom, plus necessary 
spaces for student drop off. Auditoriums and special events 
space shall be calculated separately. 

High School and Colleges 1 space for each classroom plus 1 additional space for each 7 
students based upon maximum design capacity. 

Church, Theater, Auditorium At least 1 parking space for each 3 seats based on the design 
capacity of the main assembly hall.  Facilities as may be 
provided in conjunction with such buildings or uses shall be 



 

130 

Use Number of Parking Spaces Required 
subject to additional requirements which are imposed by this 
ordinance. 

Community Centers, Libraries, 
Private Clubs, Lodges, 
Museums, Art Galleries 

1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area in the principal 
structure. 

Day Care Facilities 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area. 
Office Buildings, Veterinary 
Hospitals, Professional Offices, 
and Medical Clinics 

1 space for each 200 square feet of floor area. 

Financial Institutions, Banks, 
Savings and Loan 

1 space for each 250 square feet of floor area. 

Health Club 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area. 
Retail Store and Service 
Establishment 

1 space for each 200 square feet of floor area. 

Shopping Centers 1 space for each 200 square feet of floor area (exclusive of 
common areas). 

Retail Sales and Service 
Business with 50 percent or 
More of Gross Floor area 
Devoted to Storage, Warehouses 
and/or Industry 

At least 8 spaces or 1 space for each 200 square feet devoted 
to public sales or service, plus 1 space for each 500 square 
feet of storage area. 

Restaurants, Cafes, Private 
Clubs Serving Food and/or 
Drinks, Bars, On-Sale 
Nightclubs 

1 space for each 100 square feet of dining room, plus 1 space 
for each employee of the maximum work shift. 

Fast Food Restaurant 1 space for each 50 square feet of floor area, plus 1 space for 
each employee of the maximum work shift. 

Motels, Motor Hotels, Hotels 1 space per each rental unit plus 1 space for each 8 units, and 
1 space for each employee on any shift. 

Motor Fuel Station 1 space for each 250 square feet of gross floor area. 
Auto Repair 4 spaces plus 2 spaces per service bay. 
Motor Vehicle Sales Lot 1 space for each 250 square feet of floor area of the building 

plus 1 space per each 2,000 square feet of gross land area. 
Commercial Car Wash 1 space per employee plus:  

Drive-through: 10 stacking spaces.   
Self-service: 1 stacking space per wash bay.  
Motor Fuel Stations: None in addition to that required for the 
principal use. 

Garden Supply Store, Building 
Material Sales in Structure 

8 spaces, plus 1 space for 800 square feet of floor area over 
1,000 square feet. 

Private Racquetball, Handball 
and Tennis Courts 

6 spaces per court. 



 

131 

Use Number of Parking Spaces Required 
Indoor Sports Arenas, Private 
Skating Rink, Dance Hall, or 
Public Auction House 

20 spaces, plus 1 space for each 200 square feet of floor 
space over 2,000 square feet. 

Golf Driving Range, Miniature 
Golf, Archery Range 

10 spaces plus 1 space for each 100 square feet of floor 
space of building. 

Golf Courses 4 spaces per hole, plus 50 percent of the requirements for 
any other associated use.  

Bowling Alley 5 spaces for each alley, plus additional spaces for related 
uses. 

Funeral Homes and Mortuaries 20 spaces for each chapel or parlor, plus 1 space for each 
funeral vehicle. 

Contractors’ Offices, Shops and 
Yards 

2 spaces for each employee. 

Light Manufacturing 1 space for each 500 square feet of gross floor area. 
Warehousing, Storage of 
Handling of Bulk Goods 

1 space for each 2,000 square feet of gross floor area.  

Other Uses Any use not in the parking requirements in this section shall 
be assigned a parking requirement by the Community 
Development Director or designee. 

 
(7) Parking Deferment.   The City may reduce the number of required off-street parking 

spaces for business, industrial, and institutional uses by administrative permit provided that: 
 

(a) The applicant must demonstrate that the proposed use will have a peak parking 
demand less than the required off-street parking under City Code Section 1007.044(6).  Factors 
to be considered when reviewing the proposed parking demand shall include, but not be limited 
to: 

 
1. Size of building. 

 
2. Type and use. 

 
3. Number of employees. 

 
4. Projected volume and turnover of customer traffic. 

 
5. Projected frequency and volume of delivery or service vehicles. 

 
6. Number of company-owned vehicles. 

 
7. Storage of vehicles on site. 

 
(b) In no case shall the amount of off-street parking provided be less than one-half (1/2) 

of the amount of parking required by ordinance. 



 

132 

 
(c) The site has sufficient property under the same ownership to accommodate the 

expansion of the parking area to meet the minimum requirements of this ordinance if the parking 
demand exceeds on site supply. 

 
(d) Off-street parking shall only occur in areas designed and constructed for parking in 

compliance with this ordinance. 
 
(e) The applicant and City enter into an agreement, to be recorded against the subject 

property, which includes a clause requiring the owner to install the additional off-street parking 
spaces, upon a finding of the Community Development Director that such additional parking 
spaces are necessary to accommodate the use. 

 
(f) A change of use will necessitate compliance with the applicable Zoning Ordinance 

standard for off-street parking. 
 
(8) Joint Off-Street Parking Areas.   Off-street parking areas for a combination of mixed 

buildings, structures, or uses may be provided collectively in any non-residential zoning district 
in which separate parking areas for each separate building, structure or use would be required, 
provided that the total number of spaces provided shall equal the sum of the separate 
requirements of each use during any peak parking periods.  Shared curb cuts and access drives 
shall be encouraged for lots accessing collector and arterial streets.  Where shared access and 
parking are utilized, easements shall be located on the shared area and recorded with the 
properties and a maintenance agreement required. 

 
(9) Control of Off-Site Parking Areas.   When required off-street parking areas are 

provided on a different property in which the principal use is located, the parking area shall be in 
the same ownership, or controlled either by deed or long term lease as the property occupied by 
such principal use. The owner of the principal use shall file a recordable document with the City 
requiring the owner and their heirs and assigns to maintain the required number of off-street 
spaces during the existence of said principal use. 

 
(10) Traffic Control.   
 

(a) The traffic generated by any use shall be channelized and controlled in a manner 
that it will minimize: 

 
1. Congestion on the public streets. 

 
2. Traffic hazards. 

 
3. Excessive traffic through residential areas, particularly truck traffic.   

 
(b) Internal traffic shall be regulated as to ensure its safe and orderly flow.  Traffic with 

direct access to a collector street or arterial street shall in all cases be forward moving with no 



 

133 

backing into streets.  Direct residential lot access to collector and arterial streets shall be 
prohibited wherever alternative local street access is available.  
 

(11) Motor Vehicle Off-Street Parking in Residential and Rural Zoning Districts. 
 

(a) Passenger motor vehicles and motorcycles may be parked or driven on a residential 
or rural property provided that: 

 
1. They are parked or driven on an appropriate surface leading to the parking area 

in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044(3)(h)15.  
 
2. They are operable and appropriately licensed at all times they are parked outside 

of an accessory building. 
 
3. They are set back a minimum of five (5) feet from side and rear lot lines, except 

in cases where a shared driveway has been approved by the City Engineer. 
 
4. When parked in the front yard or corner side yard of a property, they are parked 

on a designated driveway or parking area. 
 
(b) Recreational Vehicles and Trailers, as defined by City Code Section 1007.001, may 

be parked or stored on a residential or rural property provided that: 
 

1. The vehicles are registered to or rented by a resident of the dwelling on such 
property, provided that: 

 
a. The vehicles have affixed thereto current registration or license plates as 

required by law. 
 
b. The vehicles are stored no closer than five (5) feet from side and rear lot 

lines. 
 
c. The vehicles located within front yard areas are confined to designated 

driveways or parking areas surfaced in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044(3)(h)15. 
 
2. All front yard storage shall comply with the following setbacks from street curb 

and pavement lines: 
 

Table 4 
Street Classification Minimum setback from curb/pavement line 

Arterial 30 feet 
 Major Collector 20 feet 

Minor Collector and Local 15 feet 
 



 

134 

3. No vehicle shall be parked in a manner that blocks a City or County sidewalk, 
park, or trail. 

 
4. The vehicles are not connected to any water or sewage disposal system on the 

residential or rural property where the same is so parked or stored. 
 
5. A recreational vehicle or trailer shall not be utilized for storage of goods, 

materials, or equipment other than those items considered to be part of the unit or essential for its 
immediate use. 

 
6. No recreational vehicle may be used as a living quarter while stored/parked on a 

residential or rural property. 
 
(c) Motor Vehicles exceeding a gross weight rating of 12,000 pounds. 
 

1. No motor vehicle, except recreational vehicle, exceeding a gross weight rating of 
12,000 pounds shall be parked or stored, indoors or outdoors, in a residential zoning district, or 
on a lot of less than two and a half (2 ½) acres in a rural zoning district, except when loading, 
unloading, or rendering a service.  

 
a. An administrative permit may be obtained from the Community Development 

Department for the temporary parking or storage of motor vehicles that 
comply with the following requirements: 

 
i. The motor vehicle is operable and appropriately licensed at all times. 

 
ii. The vehicle shall not be parked or stored for more than 72 hours within a 

seven (7) day period excluding legal holidays. 
 

iii. The vehicle shall be parked or stored behind the front of the dwelling. 
 

iv. No more than one permit shall be granted per residence. 
 

v. Neither the truck engine nor any other motorized component shall be left 
running while the vehicle is parked or stored. 
 

vi. There shall be a minimum of 150 feet from the vehicle to the nearest lot 
line. 
 

vii. The vehicle and trailer shall remain connected. 
 

viii. All parking permits shall be reviewed and renewed on July 1st of each 
year at a fee established by the City Council.  If at any time the conditions 
or requirements of permit approval are violated, the permit may be 
revoked. 



 

135 

 
2. On lots two and a half (2 ½) acres or greater in rural zoning districts, no more 

than two (2) motor vehicles exceeding a gross weight rating of 12,000 pounds shall be parked or 
stored, indoors or outdoors.  Vehicles parked or stored shall meet the following requirements: 

 
a. The motor vehicles are operable and appropriately licensed at all times. 
 
b. Neither the truck engine nor any other motorized component shall be left 

running while the vehicle is parked or stored. 
 
c. There shall be a minimum of 150 feet from the vehicle to the nearest lot line. 
 
d. The vehicle and trailer shall remain connected. 

 



 

136 

§ 1007.045   OFF-STREET LOADING SPACES. 
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section is to establish the minimum requirements for off-
street loading spaces in order to alleviate or prevent congestion of the public right-of-way related 
to the loading and unloading of motor vehicles.  

 
(2) Location.   Off-street loading spaces are subject to the following conditions: 

 
(a) Loading spaces shall be off-street.  

 
(b) Loading spaces shall be located on the same lot as the building or use being served.   

 
(c) Loading spaces shall be at least 50 feet from a residential district.   

 
(d) Loading spaces may be located in the front yard if the lot has more than one (1) 

frontage on a public right-of-way.  
 

1. The loading space shall be located on the frontage that has the least significant 
impact as determined by the Zoning Administrator.  

 
2. Additional landscaping and earth berming shall be required to reduce the visual 

impact of the loading space as determined by the Zoning Administrator.  
 
(3) Size.   Loading spaces shall be of a size determined by the City as necessary to 

accommodate anticipated truck and service vehicles. 
 
(4) Access.   Loading spaces shall be located with appropriate means of vehicular access to 

a street or public alley in a manner which will least interfere with traffic and allow on-site 
maneuvering. 

 
(5) Surfacing.   Loading spaces and access ways shall be surfaced with a bituminous,  

concrete or other material approved by the City Engineer. 
 
(6) Accessory Use.   Any space allocated as a loading space or maneuvering areas shall not 

be used for the storage of goods, inoperable vehicles or to be included as a part of the space 
requirements necessary to meet the off-street parking requirements. 

 
(7) Off-Street Loading Space Required.   In connection with any structure which is to be 

constructed or substantially altered, any which requires the receipt or distribution of materials or 
merchandise by trucks or similar vehicles, there shall be provided off-street loading space. 

 
(8) Noise.   Where noise from loading or unloading activity is determined to be an audible 

nuisance in a residential district per City Code Section 1007.043(10), the City Council may limit 
the hours of operation. 

 



 

137 

(9) Screening.   Except in the case of multiple dwellings, all loading spaces shall be 
screened and landscaped from abutting and surrounding residential uses in compliance with City 
Code Section 1007.043(17). 



 

138 

§ 1007.046   PRIVATE STREETS. 
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section is to establish minimum requirements for private 
streets in order to alleviate or prevent congestion of the public right-of-way and to promote the 
safety and general welfare of the public.  
 

(2) Requirements. In conjunction with the review of two family, townhouse, or multiple-
family residential plats, the City Council may approve private streets that serve more than one 
dwelling unit if the following conditions are met. Private streets serving business, industrial, or 
special district developments shall require a Planned Unit Development (PUD) in compliance 
with City Code Section 1007.024. 
 

(a) The City Council finds that the private street is deemed necessary to allow 
reasonable development of a particular site, and that such private street is not allowed or 
intended to be a substitute for the public street system.  
 

(b) The private street shall not exceed 300 feet in length unless it forms a continuous 
connection or loops back to a public street. A private street over 150 feet in length that does not 
form a continuous connection or loop back to a public street shall provide a turn-around at or 
near its terminus, in compliance with City General Specifications and Standard Detail Plates.  
 

(c) The private street shall gain access only from streets classified as “local” or 
“minor collector” by the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  
 

(d) The private street shall gain access from the public street and shall maintain the 
street drainage with concrete curb and gutter per City Standard Specifications for Construction. 
Private street access on urban and rural streets shall have at a minimum a five (5) foot 
bituminous or concrete apron. The remainder of the private street shall be designed, constructed 
and surfaced as approved by the City Engineer.  
 

(e) The private street shall be a minimum of 26 feet wide. No parking shall be 
allowed on the private street, however, guest parking spaces may be required to be installed 
adjacent to the private street, as determined by the City Council.  
 

(f) Individual unit driveways that gain access from the private street shall be a 
minimum of 25 feet in length.  
 

(g) Approval of the private street shall not be granted if the private street is to be 
located within a separate lot. 
 

(h) Street signs shall be designed and installed in compliance with City General 
Specifications and Standard Detail Plates. 
 

(i) Signage stating “No Parking – Fire Lane” shall be located along the private street 
in locations as approved by the City Fire Inspector. 



 

139 

 
(j) A homeowners association agreement or other instrument acceptable to the City 

shall be required to ensure that the private street remains “private” in perpetuity. Such instrument 
shall require mandatory participation of all homeowners that have access via the private street 
and shall include the requirement for creation of a fund to address maintenance, snow removal, 
and future reconstruction of the private street in accord with City General Specifications and 
Standard Detail Plates. A copy of such instrument shall be filed with the City as a matter of 
public record. 
 
  



 

140 

§ 1007.047   RELOCATED STRUCTURES.    
 
(1) Before any house or other structure is moved onto a lot, a building permit must be 

obtained in compliance with City Code Section 1007.019.  The Community Development 
Department shall conduct a site plan review and determine whether the structure will be 
compatible with other development in the area, and conform to all City codes and ordinances.  
The Community Development Department may withhold issuance of a building permit if it 
determines that the structure does not meet the performance standards of this ordinance. 
  



 

141 

§ 1007.048   HOME OCCUPATION PERMITS. 
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section is to provide a means by which home 
occupations can be conducted as an accessory use to a residential dwelling unit, as a use that is 
clearly incidental and secondary to a residential use on the same premises, without jeopardizing 
the health, safety and general welfare of the surrounding neighborhood or the inhabitants of the 
home occupation property, and without jeopardizing the residential character of the 
neighborhood. 

 
(2) Application.   All occupations conducted in the home shall comply with the provisions 

of this section except as follows: 
 

(a) Permitted agricultural/farm related uses in the R and R-X Districts.  
 
(b) The limited seasonal sale of products grown solely on the site by the residents of the 

homestead. 
 
(c) Day care when licensed by the State and/or County. 
 
(d) Any other use listed as a Permitted, Conditional, or Interim use within the 

corresponding zoning district. 
 
(e) Any use allowed by an existing Conditional or Interim Use Permit. 
 
(f) Garage Sales in compliance with the following: 

 
1.      Each property is limited to four (4) garage sales per year. 
2.      Each sale is limited to three (3) days. 
3.      Signs must be in conformance with City Code Chapter 1010. 

 
(3) Procedure. 
 

(a) Home Occupation Level A does not require an application, review, or permit as 
long as the business complies with the general provisions listed in subsection (6) below, and the 
requirements of the Home Occupation Level A listed in subsection (7) below. 

 
(b) Home Occupation Level B requires the following: 

 
1. Application for a Home Occupation Level B shall be filed by the property owner 

or designated agent on forms to be provided by the City, and shall be accompanied by: 
 

a. A non-refundable fee as established by City Council ordinance; and 
 



 

142 

b. Site and Building Plans as necessary to prove compliance with the general 
provisions of subsection (6) below, and the requirements of the Home Occupation Level B listed 
in subsection (8) below. 

 
2. The Zoning Administrator shall review the application and shall determine 

whether the proposal is in compliance with all applicable evaluation criteria, ordinances, and 
applicable performance standards set forth in the ordinance.  The Zoning Administrator shall 
notify the applicant, in writing, of any incomplete application within 15 business days of the date 
of submission. 

 
(c) Home Occupation Level C requires an Interim Use Permit.  The procedure for an 

Interim Use Permit is described in City Code Section 1007.017. 
 
(4) Violations.   After two (2) founded nuisances, or code violation complaints have been 

made and verified with written notices to the home occupation, a public hearing may be called to 
consider additional conditions, limitations, or revocation of the home occupation within 60 days 
of the last complaint.  Home Occupation Level C, which requires an Interim Use Permit, shall be 
subject to the Revocation clause included in City Code Section 1007.017. 

 
(5) Expiration.    
 

(a) Upon issuance, a Home Occupation Level B permit shall continue to be valid unless 
one or all of the following occur: 

 
1. The business owner relocates to another residential address; permits are not 

transferable to another person or property. 
 
2. The type of businesses occurring on the site changes significantly. 
 
3. The permit is revoked by the City per section (4) above. 

 
(b) A Home Occupation Level C, approved as part of an Interim Use Permit 

application, shall comply with City Code Section 1007.017. 
 
(6) Requirements - General Provisions.   All home occupations shall comply with the 

following requirements: 
 

(a) General Provisions. 
 

1. The home occupation shall be operated by an occupant of the dwelling. 
 
2. The home occupation shall be clearly incidental and secondary to the residential 

use of the premises, and shall not change the residential character thereof. 
 



 

143 

3. The home occupation shall comply with all requirements of the City Code 
Chapter 901 and shall not be incompatible or disturbing to the surrounding residential uses. 

 
4. No home occupation shall require internal or external alterations or involve 

construction features not customarily found in residential dwellings except where required to 
comply with local and state fire and police recommendations. 

 
5. The home occupation shall meet all applicable fire and building codes, and 

applicable permits must be obtained prior to any construction activities. 
 
6. No exterior evidence of the presence of the home occupation on the property, 

except any signage allowed by the sign code and any vehicles allowed by City Code Section 
1007.044(11). 

 
7. Personal motor vehicles not exceeding a gross weight rating of 12,000 pounds 

used in the home occupation may be parked on the property. 
 
8. Any motor vehicle with a gross weight rating in excess of 12,000 pounds is 

subject to City Code Section 1007.044(11)(c).  
 
9. The number of on-site parking spaces shall not be reduced to less than two. 
 
10. In no case shall the permitted home occupation cause the need for an additional 

driveway access to the property. 
 
11. When applicable, all state licensing requirements shall be met. 
 
12. The applicant shall demonstrate the home occupation use is within the 

capabilities of the property’s sewage treatment system or the City’s utility system. 
 
13. There shall be no use or outdoor storage of any toxic chemicals or hazardous 

materials of any type or in any amount not normally found in a residential structure. 
 
14. No motor vehicle repair, paint or body work; commercial preparation of food for 

service on the premise; business related to or involving explosives, ammunition or weapons; or 
ambulance or related emergency services shall be permitted as a Home Occupation. 

 
(7) Requirements – Home Occupation Level A.   All residential dwelling units are eligible 

for a Home Occupation Level A.  In addition to the general provisions outlined in subsection (6) 
above, businesses must also comply with the following requirements specific to the Home 
Occupation Level A. 

 
(a) Requirements. 
 



 

144 

1. Permitted home occupation shall be confined to the dwelling unit, and shall not 
be conducted in any accessory structure on the property, including an attached garage. 

 
2. No customers or employees who do not reside at the dwelling may be permitted 

on the property. 
 
3. If the home occupation will require a delivery service, such as UPS, no more 

than 10 delivery/pickup trips per week shall be permitted. 
 
4. The home occupation may not occupy more than 10 percent of the dwelling. 
 
5. All off-street parking generated by the home occupation shall be confined to the 

driveway.   
 

6. The operation of any wholesale or retail business is prohibited, unless it is 
conducted entirely by mail or by occasional home invitation. 
 

(8) Requirements – Home Occupation Level B.   All residential dwelling units are eligible 
for a Home Occupation Level B.  In addition to the general provisions outlined in subsection (6) 
above, businesses must also comply with the following requirements specific to the Home 
Occupation Level B. 

 
(a) Requirements. 

 
1. Permitted home occupation may be conducted in an accessory structure provided 

that the use can comply with life safety requirements. 
 
2. A limit of two (2) customers or employees who do not reside at the dwelling may 

be permitted on the property at one time. 
 
3. Areas accessible to customers or employees shall comply with all applicable life 

safety codes. 
 
4. Vehicle trips generated by the business shall not exceed 20 in any 24-hour 

period. 
 
5. If the home occupation will require a delivery service, such as UPS, no more 

than 10 delivery/pickup trips per week shall be permitted. 
 
6. If the home occupation is to occupy more than 10 percent of the dwelling, 

additional building and fire code issues may need to be addressed. 
 
7. All off-street parking generated by the home occupation shall be provided on a 

hard surface in or adjacent to the driveway. 
 



 

145 

8. Personal Service Businesses shall be limited to allow the servicing a single 
customer at a time. 

 
9. Between the hours of 7:00 PM and 7:00 AM no customers or employees who do 

not reside on the site may be at the site and no business operations occurring outside of the 
dwelling are permitted.  For the purpose of this section, an attached garage does not count as part 
of the dwelling. 

 
10. The operation of any wholesale or retail business is prohibited, unless: 

 
a. It is conducted entirely by mail or occasional home invitation; 

 
b. It is exclusively the sale of products produced on-site; or 

 
c. It is clearly incidental to a service provided on the site. 

 
(9) Requirements – Home Occupation Level C.   All properties with a dwelling, zoned 

Rural, Rural Executive, or Future Urban Development, and fronting on an arterial or major 
collector roadway are eligible to apply for an Interim Use Permit to allow a Home Occupation 
Level C.  In addition to the general provisions outlined in subsection (6) above, businesses must 
also comply with the following requirements specific to the Home Occupation Level C. 

 
(a) Requirements. 

 
1. The property shall be a minimum of 10 acres in size. 
 
2. Permitted home occupation may be conducted in an accessory structure provided 

that the use can comply with life safety requirements. 
 
3. A limit of five (5) customers or employees who do not reside at the dwelling 

may be permitted on the property at one time. 
 
4. Areas accessible to customers or employees shall comply with all applicable life 

safety codes. 
 
5. Vehicle trips generated by the business shall not exceed 40 in any 24-hour 

period. 
 
6. If the home occupation will require a delivery service, such as UPS, no more 

than 15 delivery/pickup trips per week shall be permitted. 
 
7. If the home occupation is to occupy more than 10 percent of the dwelling, 

additional building and fire code issues may need to be addressed. 
 



 

146 

8. All off-street parking generated by the home occupation shall be provided on a 
hard surface in or adjacent to the driveway. 

 
9. Personal Service Businesses shall be limited to allow the servicing of only two 

customers at a time. 
 
10. Between the hours of 9:00 PM and 7:00 AM no customers or employees who do 

not reside on the site may be at the site and no business operations occurring outside of the main 
dwelling are permitted.  For the purpose of this section, an attached garage does not count as part 
of the main dwelling. 

 
11. The limited operation of any wholesale or retail business is allowed. 

 
(10) Additional Limitations and/or Restrictions. 
 

(a) So as to maintain compatibility with the rural and residential character of the 
neighborhood and to protect the health, safety and general welfare of the public, the City may 
impose additional limitations or requirements as it deems necessary. 

 
(b) The City may impose the posting of a security in order to ensure compliance with 

any condition imposed. 
 
(11) Inspection.   The City of Lino Lakes hereby reserves the right, upon approval of any 

home occupation permit or Interim Use Permit for a Home Occupation Level C, to inspect the 
premises in which the occupation is being conducted to ensure compliance with the provisions of 
this section or any conditions additionally imposed. 

 
(12) Penalty.   Violation of the home occupation performance standards shall be subject to 

the enforcement and penalty provisions of City Code Section 1007.023. 



 

147 

§ 1007.049   ACCESSORY APARTMENTS. 
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section is to provide standards for the establishment and 
use of accessory apartments in owner occupied single family detached dwellings. 

 
(2) Application.   All accessory apartments as defined in City Code Section 1007.001(2) 

established after the effective date of this ordinance shall comply with the requirements of this 
section. 

 
(3) Procedures and Permits.   All accessory apartments shall require an accessory 

apartment permit.  Applicants for such a permit shall be made on forms provided by the City 
which shall include the following: 

 
(a) Legal description of the property location and proof of ownership. 
 
(b) Plans, drawn to scale, indicating existing and proposed floor plans and access to 

both the principal unit and the accessory unit. 
 
(c) Site plan depicting parking availability. 

 
(4) Requirements.   All accessory apartments shall comply with the following 

requirements: 
 

(a) The accessory apartment shall be clearly a subordinate part of the principal 
dwelling.  The accessory apartment shall not exceed 40 percent of the building’s total floor area 
or 960 square feet, whichever is less. Common area shared by the principal dwelling and 
accessory apartment shall be considered part of the principal dwelling and shall not be included 
in the calculation of accessory apartment floor area. 

 
(b) The principal dwelling shall have at least 960 square feet of living space remaining 

after creation of the accessory apartment exclusive of garage area.  Accessory apartments shall 
have at least 500 square feet of living space.  Living space for the accessory apartment shall 
include a kitchen or cooking facilities, a bathroom and a living room. 

 
(c) The accessory apartment shall not have more than two (2) bedrooms.   
 
(d) A separate exterior entrance may be permitted. Any exterior alterations or 

expansion shall be constructed of similar size, color, and type of materials as the principal 
dwelling provided that no unenclosed ramps or enclosed stairways are utilized to access either 
the primary or accessory unit.  Only one (1) exterior stairway may be located on the side or rear 
of the dwelling. 

 
(e) The principal dwelling and accessory apartment shall share an internal doorway 

connection between the dwellings. 
 



 

148 

(f) Both the principal dwelling and accessory apartment shall share a single utility 
hookup. 

 
(g) All parking standards of City Code Section 1007.044 shall be met. 
 
(h) The principal dwelling and accessory apartment shall meet the applicable standards 

and requirements of the Lino Lakes Zoning Code, Building Code, Anoka County Health Codes 
and Fire Codes. 

 
(i) Either the principal dwelling or accessory apartment shall be occupied by the owner 

of the property.  
 
(j) The property shall only have one (1) mailing address. 
 
(k) A maximum of one (1) accessory apartment permit shall be issued per detached 

single family home. 
 
(l) No separate driveway or curb cut shall be permitted for the accessory apartment 

unit. 
 
(5) Revocation.   The City Council may revoke an accessory apartment permit if the 

permittee fails to comply with the conditions attached to the issuance of the permit or otherwise 
fails to comply with the requirements of this section.  Prior to revocation, the City Council shall 
conduct a hearing preceded by 10 days mail notice to the permittee. 
 



 

149 

§ 1007.050   DRAINAGE. 
 

(1) No land shall be developed or altered, and no use shall be permitted that results in 
increasing surface water runoff rates; causes unreasonable flooding; degrades water quality; or 
creates erosion or deposit of minerals on said land, adjacent properties, or water bodies in 
compliance with City Code Chapter 1011 and as required below.   

 
(2) For land disturbance and all construction, erosion control measures must be in place 

prior to the beginning of site work, e.g., grading, topsoil stripping, or construction. 
 

(a) The City may withhold inspections or suspend work on a site that does not have an 
approved grading plan or in-place erosion control measures. 

 
(b) The City may require financial security in the amount equal to the value of the 

project to ensure placement of erosion control measures. 
 
(3) The owner or contractor of any natural drainage improvement or alteration may be 

required by the City Engineer to obtain recommendations from the Minnesota Department of 
Natural Resources, the Soil Conservation District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, affected 
watershed district(s), and/or City Engineer. 

 
(4) On any slope in excess of eight (8) percent where, in the opinion of the City Engineer, 

the natural drainage pattern may be disturbed or altered, the City Engineer may require the 
applicant submit a grading plan and an erosion and sediment control plan prior to permit 
issuance. 

 
(5) Agricultural, residential, commercial, and industrial developments shall be in 

compliance with applicable recommendations of the City’s local water management plan as may 
be amended. 

 
(6) As part of a building permit application in which new structures or building footprint 

expansion of existing structures are proposed, a site survey showing proposed grading, drainage, 
erosion control, and building pad elevation(s) must be submitted to the City along with a 
certification by a registered land surveyor or engineer that they are consistent with the grading 
and drainage plan approved with the final plat or site plan. 

 
(7) Prior to issuance of an occupancy permit, the person or entity who developed, graded 

and constructed improvements upon the property for which the occupancy permit is requested, 
must submit certification by a registered land surveyor or engineer that the final grading, 
drainage and building pad elevations are consistent with the approved grading and drainage plan 
approved with the subdivision or site plan. If no such City approved drainage and grading plan 
for the entire subdivision exists, that such person or entity must represent that the grading, 
drainage and building pad elevations are consistent with the requirements of City Code Section 
1007.050 (1) through Section 1007.050(5). 



 

150 

§ 1007.051   EARTH MOVING AND LAND RECLAMATION. 
 

(1) Exclusions.   This article shall not apply to: 
 

(a) The excavation, removal, storage, or placement of rock, sand, dirt, gravel, clay, or 
other like material for any construction for which a building permit has been issued, site plan 
approval or a development contract signed. 

 
(b) Such excavation, removal, storage, or placement of rock, sand, dirt, gravel, clay, or 

other like material as may be required by the state, county, or City authorities within their 
acquired rights-of-way and easements in connection with the construction or maintenance of 
roads and highways and utilities.  “Rights-of-way” as used herein shall not include isolated 
parcels used exclusively for borrow pits. 

 
(2) Permit Required.   Earth removal, land reclamation, material storage, or filling, shall be 

permitted in all zoning districts, on any lot or parcel except that it shall be unlawful for any 
person to remove, store, excavate, or place as fill any rock, sand, dirt, gravel, clay, or other like 
material within the City, in excess of 50 cubic yards per acre without first having applied for and 
having obtained a permit from the City.  When 5,000 or more cubic yards of material is to be 
removed or deposited on any lot or parcel, an interim use permit shall be required.  The inclusion 
of an earth removal and land reclamation permit process in this ordinance does not automatically 
imply an applicant’s entitlement to issuance of a permit.  The City may refuse to issue a permit if 
in the opinion of the City, the application is not in the best interests of the City. 

 
(3) Application.    
 

(a) The application for the permit shall be made in writing to the City Engineer in such 
form as the City Engineer may designate and shall include such information as may be required 
by the City Engineer. The plan shall contain among other things a to scale map or plat of the 
proposed excavation, or fill area showing the confines or limits thereof together with the existing 
elevations and proposed finished elevations based on sea level readings.  The plan shall also 
include all wetlands, drainageways, tree inventory and preservation plan, erosion control 
measures, final restoration improvements, and other features as required by the City. The plan 
shall also be in compliance with the City Standard Specifications for Construction. 

 
(b) Each application shall be filed with the City Engineer. 
 
(c) Each application for permit shall be accompanied by a fee, the amount of which 

shall be determined by City Council resolution. 
 
(4) Conditions.   The City Engineer or City Council, as a prerequisite to the granting of a 

permit, may require the applicant or the owner of the premises to incorporate and attach any 
conditions or restrictions that it deems necessary for the preservation of health, welfare, and 
safety of the citizens: 

 



 

151 

(a) Properly fence any pit or excavation, and barricade entrances to prevent the general 
public from depositing garbage or refuse. 

 
(b) Slope the banks, and otherwise guard and keep any pit or excavation in such 

condition as not to be dangerous because of sliding or caving banks. 
 
(c) Properly drain, fill, or level off any pit or excavation so as to make the same safe 

and healthful as the City may determine. 
 
(d) Limit the depth of such excavation to an elevation no lower than the minimum floor 

elevation for building construction as established by the City Engineer, so as not to diminish 
development potential of the parcel. 

 
(e) Limit any fill material to clean fill, defined as rock, sand, gravel, clay, or other like 

and similar non-decomposable material.  Concrete, asphalt, metal, wood, and other debris shall 
be prohibited. 

 
(f) Require that all decomposable material, or other unsuitable foundation material, be 

removed from an area before deposition of fill begins. 
 
(g) Prepare a site plan showing existing and proposed grade elevations and effect of 

storm water drainage on adjacent areas. 
 
(h) Specify a time when the excavation or land reclamation project shall be completed. 
 
(i) Place a minimum of four (4) inches of top soil over the completed project and 

establish ground cover in a time period consistent with the City’s stormwater management and 
pollution prevention plan. 

 
(j) Reimburse the City for the cost of periodic inspections by the City for the purpose 

of determining that the terms under which the permit has been issued are being complied with. 
 
(k) Implement the tree preservation plan. 

 
(l) Post a form of security as determined by the City Engineer to cover potential City 

cost of repairing or cleaning any highways, streets, or other public ways within the City made 
necessary by the special burden resulting from transporting thereon by the applicant material to 
or from the site, the amount of such cost to be determined by the Council; and conditioned 
further to comply with all the requirements of this ordinance and the particular permit, and to 
save the City free and harmless from all suits or claims for damages resulting from the negligent 
excavation, removal, storage, or filling of rock, sand, dirt, gravel, clay, or other like material 
within the City. 

 
(m) Other conditions deemed appropriate to the application by the City Engineer. 

 



 

152 

§ 1007.052   FARMING OPERATIONS.   
 
All farms in existence upon the effective date of this ordinance and all farms which are brought 
into the City by annexation shall be a permitted use.  All dwelling units and structures for 
processing of farm goods shall require a zoning permit and conform to all requirements of the 
City Code.  The City Council may require any new farm operation to secure a conditional use 
permit in the event of the following: 
 

(1) The farm is adjacent to or within 400 feet of any dwelling unit and may be detrimental 
to living conditions by emitting noise, odors, vibrations, hazards to safety, and the like. 

 
(2) The farming operations are so intensive as to constitute an industrial type use consisting 

of the compounding, processing, and packaging of products for wholesale or retail trade and 
further that such operations may tend to become permanent industrial type operation that cannot 
be terminated as can a normal farming operation. 
 



 

153 

§ 1007.053   ADULT USES. 
 

(1) General.   Adult uses as defined in the City Code shall be subject to the following 
conditions: 

 
(a) Activities classified as obscene as defined by Minnesota Statute 617.241 are not 

permitted and are prohibited. 
 
(b) Adult uses, either principal or accessory, shall be prohibited from locating in any 

building which is also utilized for residential purposes. 
 
(c) Adult uses, either principal or accessory, shall be prohibited from locating in any 

building which is also used to dispense or consume alcoholic beverages. 
 
(d) An adult use which does not qualify as an accessory use shall be classified as an 

adult use-principal. 
 
(2) Adult Uses - Principal. 
 

(a) Adult use-principal shall be located at least 300 radial feet, as measured in a straight 
line from the closest point of the lot line of the building upon which the adult use-principal is 
located to the lot line of: 

 
1. Residentially zoned property. 
 
2. A licensed day care center. 

 
3. A public or private educational facility classified as a pre-school, elementary, 

junior high or senior high. 
 

4. A public library. 
 

5. A public park. 
 

6. Another adult use-principal. 
 

7. An on-sale liquor establishment. 
 
(b) Adult use-principal activities, as defined by this ordinance, shall be classified as one 

use.  No two adult uses-principal shall be located in the same building or upon the same property 
and each use shall be subject to City Code Section 1007.053(2)(a). 

 
(c) Adult use-principal shall, in addition to other sign requirements established by City 

Code, adhere to the following signing regulations: 
 



 

154 

1. Sign messages shall be generic in nature and shall only identify the type of 
business which is being conducted.  

 
2. Shall not contain material classified as advertising. 
 
3. Shall comply with the requirements of size and number for the district in which 

they are located. 
 
(3) Adult Uses - Accessory. 
 

(a) Adult use-accessory shall: 
 

1. Comprise no more than 10 percent of the floor area of the establishment in which 
it is located. 

 
2. Comprise no more than 20 percent of the gross receipts of the entire business 

operation. 
 
3. Not involve or include any activity except the sale or rental of merchandise. 

 
(b) Adult use-accessory shall be restricted from and prohibit access to minors by the 

physical separation of such items from areas of general public access: 
 

1. Movie Rentals.   Display areas shall be restricted from general view and shall be 
located within a separate room, the access of which is in clear view and under the control of the 
persons responsible for the operation or shall be in catalogs under the direct control and 
distribution of the operator. 

 
2. Magazines.   Publications classified or qualifying as adult uses shall not be 

physically accessible to minors and shall be covered with a wrapper or other means to prevent 
display of any material other than the publication title. 

 
3. Other Use.   Adult uses-accessory not specifically cited shall comply with the 

intent of this section subject to the approval of the Zoning Administrator. 
 
(c) Adult use-accessory shall be prohibited from both internal and external advertising 

and signing of adult materials and products. 
 
(d) Adult use-accessory activities shall be prohibited at any public show, movie, 

caravan, circus, carnival, theatrical or other performance or exhibition presented to the general 
public where minors are admitted. 
 



 

155 

§ 1007.054   ANTENNAS. 
 
(1) Purpose and Intent.   The purpose of this section is to establish predictable and 

balanced regulations for the siting and screening of wireless communications equipment in order 
to accommodate the growth of wireless communication systems within the City of Lino Lakes 
while protecting the public against any adverse impacts on the City’s aesthetic resources and the 
public welfare.  The provisions of the section are intended to maximize the use of existing 
towers, structures, and buildings to accommodate new wireless telecommunication antennas in 
order to minimize the number of towers needed to serve the community. Small wireless facilities 
are regulated under City Code Chapter 305. 

 
(2) General Standards.   The following standards shall apply to all personal wireless 

service telephone, public utility, microwave, radio and television broadcast transmitting, radio 
and television receiving, satellite dish and short-wave radio transmitting and receiving antenna. 

 
(a) All obsolete and unused antennas and towers shall be removed within 12 months of 

cessation of operation at the site by the antenna or tower owner, unless an exemption is granted 
by the Zoning Administrator.  A copy of the relevant portions of a signed lease which requires 
the applicant to remove the tower and associate facilities when they are abandoned, unused or 
become hazardous shall be submitted to the City. 

 
(b) All antennas and towers shall be in compliance with all State Building and 

Electrical Code requirements and shall require related permits as applicable.  Applications to 
construct new antennas and/or towers shall be accompanied by any required federal, state, or 
local agency licenses. 

 
(c) Structural design, mounting and installation of the antenna shall be in compliance 

with manufacturer’s specifications and as may be necessary, as determined by the City Engineer, 
shall be verified and approved by a professional engineer. 

 
(d) When applicable, written authorization for antenna and/or tower construction shall 

be provided by the property owner. 
 
(e) No advertising message shall be affixed to the antenna and/or tower structure. 
 
(f) Antennas and/or towers shall not be artificially illuminated unless required by law 

or by a governmental agency to protect the public’s health and safety. 
 
(g) If a new tower of 75 feet or greater in height is to be constructed, it shall be 

designed structurally, electrically, and in all respects, to accommodate both the applicant’s 
antennas and antennas for at least one (1) additional use, including but not limited to other 
personal wireless service communication companies, local police, fire and ambulance 
companies.  Towers shall be designed to allow for future rearrangement of antennas upon the 
tower and to accept antennas mounted at varying heights. 

 



 

156 

(h) Towers shall be painted a non-contrasting color consistent with the surrounding 
area such as blue, gray, brown, or silver or have a galvanized finish to reduce visual impact, 
unless otherwise required by a governmental agency. 

 
(i) All antennas and towers shall be reasonably posted and secured to protect against 

trespass, including appropriate measures to prevent unauthorized persons from climbing any 
tower. 

 
(j) Towers shall comply with all applicable Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) 

regulations. 
 
(k) Amateur radio towers shall be installed in compliance with the instructions 

furnished by the manufacturer of that tower model.  Because of the experimental nature of the 
amateur radio service, antennas mounted on such a tower may be modified or changed at any 
time so long as the published allowable load on the tower is not exceeded and the structure of the 
tower remains in compliance with the manufacturer’s specifications. 

 
(l) Except as may be applicable in case where a conditional use permit is required, 

antennas and support structures for federally licensed amateur radio stations and used in the 
amateur radio service shall be exempt from the following:  City Code Section 1007.054(2)(c); 
Section 1007.054(2)(h); Section 1007.054(4); and Section 1007.054(5). 

 
(3) Certification, Inspection and Maintenance. 
 

(a) All towers, antenna support structures, and related equipment or structures shall be 
kept and maintained in good condition, order, and repair so as not to menace or endanger the life 
or property of any person. 

 
(b) All towers shall be certified by an engineer to be structurally sound and in 

compliance with the requirements of the State Building Code and federal and state law. 
 
(c) The City shall have authority to enter onto the property upon which a tower is 

located to inspect the tower for the purpose of determining whether it complies with the State 
Building Code and all other construction standards provided by the City’s Code, federal and state 
law.  The City reserves the right to conduct such inspections at any time, upon reasonable notice 
to the owner.  All expenses related to such inspecting by the City shall be borne by the owner. 

 
(4) Tower Design.   Where allowed, wireless communication towers shall be of a monopole 

design unless the City Council determines that an alternative design requested by the applicant 
would better blend into the surrounding environment. 

 
(5) Co-Location Requirement.   An application for a new tower shall not be approved 

unless the applicant demonstrates that the antennas cannot be accompanied on an existing or 
approved tower, building, or structure within a two (2) mile search radius of the proposed tower 
due to one or more of the following reasons: 



 

157 

 
(a) The planned equipment would exceed the structural capacity of the existing or 

approved tower, building, or structure as documented by a qualified and licensed professional 
engineer, and the existing or approved tower cannot be reinforced, modified, or replaced to 
accommodate planned or equivalent equipment at a reasonable cost. 

 
(b) The planned equipment would cause interference materially impacting the usability 

of other existing or planned equipment at the tower or building as documented by a qualified 
engineer and interference cannot be prevented at a reasonable cost. 

 
(c) Other unforeseen reasons that make it unfeasible to locate the antennas upon an 

existing or approved tower or structure. 
 
(d) Existing or approved towers, buildings, or other structures do not exist in the search 

area, or do not meet the needs of the user.  Documentation shall be provided at the time of 
application clearly demonstrating why existing structures do not meet the needs to the users. 

 
(e) The applicant shall demonstrate that a good faith effort to co-locate on existing 

towers or structures was made, but an agreement could not be reached. 
 
(6) Accessory Antennas.   The following standards shall apply to all accessory antennas 

including radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 
less in diameter, short-wave radio dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers. 

 
(a) Accessory antennas shall not be constructed in any required yard (except a rear 

yard) or within public easements. The setback shall be five (5) feet from all lot lines. 
 
(b) Guy wires or guy wire anchors shall not be constructed within public easements. 

The setback shall be one (1) foot from all lot lines. 
 
(c) Accessory antennas and necessary support structures, monopoles or towers may 

extend a maximum of 15 feet above the normal height restriction for the affected zoning district, 
except support structures and antennas used in the amateur radio service may extend a maximum 
of two (2) times the normal height restriction for the affected zoning district. 

 
(d) The installation of more than one (1) accessory structure and support structure per 

property shall require the approval of a conditional use permit. 
 
(7) Personal Wireless Service Antennas. 
 

(a) Rural, Residential, and Business District Standards. 
 



 

158 

1. Antennas Located Upon an Existing Tower or Structure.   Personal wireless 
service antennas as a permitted secondary use may be located upon existing towers or structures 
if the following condition are met: 

 
a. Transmitting, receiving and switching equipment shall be housed within an 

existing structure whenever possible.  If a new equipment building or cabinet is necessary for 
transmitting, receiving and switching equipment, it shall be situated in the side or rear yard of the 
principal use, meet all applicable accessory building setback requirements, and shall be screened 
from view by landscaping where appropriate. 

 
b. An administrative permit is issued by the Zoning Administrator subject to the 

following conditions: 
 

i. Antennas mounted on buildings or structures shall not extend more than 
15 feet above the structural height of the building or structure to which they are attached. 

 
ii. Wall or façade mounted antennas may not extend more than five (5) feet 

above the cornice line and shall be constructed of a material or color which matches the exterior 
of the building. 

 
c. In no case shall a personal wireless service antenna be located upon or 

affixed to a detached single family residential dwelling. 
 
2. New Towers.   The construction of new personal wireless service antenna towers 

within Rural, Residential and Business Zoning Districts of the City is prohibited. 
 
(b) Industrial District Standards. 
 

1. Antennas Located Upon an Existing Structure or Existing Tower.   Personal 
wireless service antennas as a permitted secondary use may be located upon an existing structure 
or co-located on an existing tower subject to the following conditions: 

 
a. An administrative permit is issued by the Zoning Administrator. 
 
b. Antennas mounted on buildings or structures shall not extend more than 15 

feet above the structural height of the building or structure to which they are attached. 
 
c. Wall or façade mounted antennas may not extend more than five (5) feet 

above the cornice line and must be constructed of a material or color which matches the exterior 
of the building. 

 
2. New Towers.   New towers as a permitted secondary use shall require approval of 

an administrative permit and shall comply with the following requirements: 
 



 

159 

a. The applicant shall demonstrate to the satisfaction of the City that location of 
the antennas as proposed is necessary to provide adequate portable personal wireless service 
telephone coverage and capacity to areas which cannot be adequately served by locating the 
antennas on an existing tower or support structure. 

 
b. If no existing structure which meets the height requirements for the antennas 

is available for mounting purposes, the antennas may be mounted on a monopole tower provided 
that: 

 
i. Towers with a maximum capacity to support two (2) antennas shall not 

exceed 140 feet in height.  Towers with a minimum capacity to support three (3) antennas shall 
not exceed 160 feet in height. 

 
ii. The setback of the tower from the nearest lot line is at least the height of 

the antenna.  Exceptions to such setback may be granted in such cases when a qualified structural 
engineer specifies in writing that any failure of the pole will occur within a lesser distance under 
all foreseeable circumstances.  The setback shall not be reduced in cases where the subject site 
abuts a residential zoning district.  The setback requirements shall not be reduced below the 
minimum accessory building setback requirements of the base zoning district or the failure area 
of the tower, whichever is greater. 

 
c. Transmitting, receiving and switching equipment shall be housed within an 

existing structure whenever possible.  If a new equipment building or cabinet is necessary for 
transmitting, receiving and switching equipment, it shall be situated in the side or rear yard of the 
principal use, meet all applicable necessary building setback requirements, and shall be screened 
from view by landscaping where appropriate. 

 
d. At the discretion of the City, a security fence not greater than eight (8) feet in 

height with a maximum opacity of 50 percent shall be provided around the support structure, as 
well as no climb security measures shall be provided on the tower or support structure. 

 
3. Temporary Mobile Towers.   Personal wireless service antennas located upon a 

temporary mobile tower as a permitted secondary use may be used on an interim basis until a 
permanent site is constructed shall require the approval of an administrative permit and shall 
comply with the following requirements: 

 
a. Temporary mobile towers are exempt from co-location and permanent tower 

structure design standards provided for in the following sections:   City Code Section 1007.054 
(2)(h); Section 1007.054(2)(i); Section 1007.054(4); and Section 1007.054(5). 

 
b. The termination date of the permit shall not exceed 120 days.  Temporary 

mobile towers located on a site longer than 120 days shall require the processing of an interim 
use permit subject to the standards contained in City Code Section 1007.017. 

 
c. Guyed towers are prohibited. 



 

160 

 
d. Mobile units shall have a minimum tower design wind load of 80 miles per 

hour, or be set back from all structures a distance equal to the height of the tower. 
 
e. All towers shall be protected against unauthorized climbing. 
 
f. The height of the tower shall not exceed 100 feet. 

 
(c) Public and Semi-Public District Standards. 
 

1. Antennas Located Upon an Existing Tower or Structure.   Personal wireless 
service antennas as a permitted accessory use may be located upon public structures or existing 
towers subject to the following conditions: 

 
a. Transmitting, receiving and switching equipment shall be housed within an 

existing structure whenever possible.  If a new equipment building or cabinet is necessary for 
transmitting, receiving and switching equipment, it shall be situated in the side or rear yard of the 
principal use, meet all applicable accessory building setback requirements, and shall be screened 
from view by landscaping where appropriate. 

 
b. An administrative permit is issued by the Zoning Administrator subject to the 

following conditions: 
 

i. Antennas mounted on buildings or structures shall not extend more than 
15 feet above the structural height of the building or structure to which they are attached. 

 
ii. Wall or façade mounted antennas may not extend more than five (5) feet 

above the cornice line and shall be constructed of a material or color which matches the exterior 
of the building. 

 
2. New Towers.   New towers as a permitted secondary use shall require approval of 

an administrative permit and shall comply with the following requirements: 
 

a. The applicant shall demonstrate to the satisfaction of the City that the 
location of the antennas as proposed is necessary to provide adequate portable personal wireless 
service telephone coverage and capacity to areas which cannot be adequately served by locating 
the antennas on an existing tower or support structure. 

 
b. If no existing structure which meets the height requirements for the antennas 

is available for mounting purposes, the antennas may be mounted on a monopole tower provided 
that: 

 
i. Towers with a maximum capacity to support two (2) antennas shall not 

exceed 140 feet in height.  Towers with a minimum capacity to support three (3) antennas shall 
not exceed 160 feet in height. 



 

161 

 
ii. The setback of the tower from the nearest lot line is at least the height of 

the antenna.  Exceptions to such setback may be granted in such cases when a qualified structural 
engineer specifies in writing that any failure of the pole will occur within a lesser distance under 
all foreseeable circumstances.  The setback shall not be reduced in cases where the subject site 
abuts a residential zoning district.  The setback requirements shall not be reduced below the 
minimum accessory building setback requirements of the base zoning district or the failure area 
of the tower, whichever is greater. 

 
c. Transmitting, receiving and switching equipment shall be housed within an 

existing structure whenever possible.  If a new equipment building or cabinet is necessary for 
transmitting, receiving and switching equipment, it shall be situated in the side or rear yard of the 
principal use, meet all applicable necessary building setback requirements, and shall be screened 
from view by landscaping where appropriate. 

 
d. At the discretion of the City, a security fence not greater than eight (8) feet in 

height with a maximum opacity of 50 percent shall be provided around the support structure and 
no-climb security measures shall be provided on the tower or support structure. 

 
(8) Commercial, Public Radio and Television Transmitting Antennas, and Public Utility 

Microwave Antennas.   Commercial and public radio and television transmitting and public 
utility microwave antennas shall comply with the following requirements: 

 
(a) Such antenna shall be considered an allowed conditional use within all rural and 

industrial districts of the City and shall be subject to the regulations and requirements of City 
Code Section 1007.016. 

 
(b) The antennas, transmitting towers, or array of towers shall be located on a 

continuous parcel having a dimension equal to the height of the antenna, transmitting tower, or 
array of towers measured between the base of the antenna or tower located nearest a lot line and 
said lot line, unless a qualified structural engineer specifies in writing that the collapse of any 
antenna or tower will occur within a lesser distance under all foreseeable circumstances. 

 
(c) Unless the antenna is mounted on an existing structure, at the discretion of the City, 

a fence not greater than eight (8) feet in height with a maximum opacity of 50 percent shall be 
provided around the support structure and other equipment, as well as no climb security 
measures shall be provided on the tower or structure. 
 



 

162 

§ 1007.055   ACCESSORY OUTDOOR DINING AREAS.  
 
(1) Purpose and Intent.   The purpose of this section is to provide standards for the 

establishment and use of accessory outdoor dining areas that are intended for consumption of 
food or beverages purchased at the principal use on the property.   This section is not intended to 
apply to outdoor seating areas such as park benches or picnic tables in parks or other public 
gathering and recreation areas.  When an administrative permit for an outdoor dining area is 
required, it may be incorporated into another approval such as but not limited to a site plan, 
planned unit development, or building permit. 

 
(2) Requirements.   
 

(a) The applicant shall submit a site plan and other pertinent information demonstrating 
the location and type of all tables, chairs, benches, refuse receptacles, wait stations, fencing, 
planters, and other elements of the outdoor area.  This submittal information must sufficiently 
demonstrate that all requirements are met.  The information can be included as part of a 
submittal for another permit or approval. 

 
(b) If alcoholic beverages are served or consumed in the outdoor dining area, the proper 

license required by City Code Chapter 700 must be current. 
 
(c) All lighting be hooded and directed away from adjacent residential uses in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(6). 
 
(d) The site plan shall demonstrate that pedestrian circulation is not disrupted as a result 

of the outdoor dining area by providing the following: 
 

1. The outdoor dining area shall be at least partially segregated from through 
pedestrian circulation by means of temporary or permanent fencing, bollards, ropes, plantings, or 
other methods.  If the outdoor dining area consists of four (4) or fewer tables and there is no 
outdoor service, this requirement may be waived if other requirements are met to sufficiently 
avoid disruption of circulation. 

 
2. The minimum clear passage zone for pedestrians at the perimeter of the outdoor 

dining area shall be at least five (5) feet without interference from tables, chairs, planters, parked 
motor vehicles, bollards, trees, tree gates, curbs, stairways, trash receptacles, street lights, 
parking meters, or the like. 

 
3. Umbrellas or other structures extending into the pedestrian clear passage zone or 

pedestrian aisle shall have a minimum clearance of seven (7) feet above the sidewalk. 
 
(e) The outdoor dining area shall be surfaced with concrete, bituminous or decorative 

pavers or may consist of a deck with wood or other flooring material that provides a clean, 
attractive, and functional surface. 

 



 

163 

(f) A minimum width of 36 inches shall be provided within aisles of the outdoor dining 
area.   

 
(g) Storage of furniture shall not be permitted outdoors between November 1 and 

March 31.  Outdoor furniture that is immovable or permanently fixed or attached to the sidewalk 
shall not be subject to the storage prohibition of this section.  However, any immovable or 
permanently fixed or attached furniture must be reviewed as part of the administrative permit 
application. 

 
(h) Additional Off-Street Parking Spaces: 

 
1. For outdoor dining areas that are 500 square feet or less in size, no additional off-

street parking spaces shall be required. 
  

2. For outdoor dining areas that are greater than 500 square feet in size, one (1) 
additional off-street parking space for every 100 square feet of outdoor dining area in excess of 
the first 500 square feet shall be required.  

 
(i) The outdoor dining area shall be designed to avoid potential conflict with motor 

vehicle parking or circulation. 
 
(j) Refuse containers shall be provided for self-service outdoor dining areas.  Such 

containers shall be placed in a manner which does not disrupt pedestrian circulation, and must be 
designed to prevent spillage and blowing litter. 

 
(k) The outdoor dining area shall be kept clean and otherwise maintained in an orderly, 

sanitary, attractive condition. 
 



 

164 

§ 1007.056   BATCH PLANTS.  
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section is to provide standards for the establishment and 

use of batch plants intended to provide construction materials for a defined project within a 
limited timeframe. 

 
(2) Application.   In order to operate within the City a batch plant shall be located within 

the Light Industrial, General Industrial, Rural, Rural Executive, or Future Urban Development 
zoning districts, and must obtain an Interim Use Permit per City Code Section 1007.017. 

 
(3) Requirements.   Batch plants are allowed subject to the following conditions: 
 

(a) The batch plant shall be located on the site so as to minimize the disturbance of 
surrounding dwelling units or commercial businesses. 

 
(b) The batch plant setback shall be 50 feet from any wetland. 
 
(c) The project intended to be served by the batch plant and a deadline for removal 

shall be clearly defined. 
 
(d) The hours of operation shall be clearly defined. 
 
(e) Access to and from the site shall be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer 

prior to any site disturbance. 
 
(f) A grading, erosion and sediment control plan shall be submitted and approved by 

the City prior to any site disturbance. 
 
(g) A Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan shall be submitted and approved by the 

City prior to any site disturbance. 
 
(h) A restoration plan shall be submitted and approved by the City prior to any site 

disturbance. 
 
(i) All applicable Minnesota Pollution Control Agency requirements are satisfactorily 

met. 
 
(j) All applicable watershed district requirements are satisfactorily met. 
 
(k) So as to maintain compatibility with the surrounding area and to protect the health, 

safety and general welfare of the public, the City Council may impose additional limitations, 
conditions or requirements as it deems necessary.  

 
(l) The operator and property owner shall enter into a Performance Agreement with the 

City, and financial sureties shall be posted prior to any site disturbance. 



 

165 

§ 1007.057   OPT OUT OF MINN. STAT. 462.3593.  
 

Pursuant to authority granted by M. S. §462.3593, subd. 9, the City of Lino Lakes opts-out of the 
requirements of M. S. §462.3593, which defines and regulates Temporary Family Health Care 
Dwellings.  

  



 

166 

§ 1007.058   COMMERCIAL STABLES. 
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section is to provide performance standards for the 
operation of commercial stables. 

 
(2) Definitions.   The following definitions apply to this section: 

 
COMMERCIAL STABLE.   The business of boarding horses for fee for persons not 

residing on the premises and may include instruction, exhibition and sale of horses.  This shall 
include the raising and breeding of horses. 
 

(3) General Standards.   The following standards shall apply to all commercial stables: 
 
(a) Commercial stables offering services to the public, and having the facilities to 

maintain or care for 10 or more horses, shall have their principal entrance located on an arterial 
or collector street.  
 

(b) Commercial stables that offer boarding, training, or other services to the public 
shall provide sanitary facilities for the public’s use. The sanitary facilities must be constructed in 
compliance with the state building code, and connected to an individual sewage treatment system 
or the public sanitary sewer system.  
 

(c) Adjacent parcels of land under common ownership may be used to determine the 
maximum number of animal units allowed, if the parcels are operated as a single enterprise.  
 

1. In instances where a parcel of land consists of a fraction of an acre, the property 
size shall be rounded to the nearest whole number to determine the number of animal units 
allowed. 
 

2. Adjacent parcels of land shall not be separated by public right-of-way.  
 

(d) Up to double the animal unit density may be allowed subject to an approved facility 
management and waste handling plan.  
 

(e) Buildings housing domestic livestock, including barns, stables, sheds, and similar 
facilities shall be located no nearer than 100 feet from any inhabited, neighboring dwelling. 

 
  



 

167 

 
§ 1007.059   AGRITOURISM. 
 

(1) The purpose of this section is to provide standards for agritourism, which consists of 
uses of a commercial/tourism nature that are complementary and accessory to the primary 
agricultural land use. It is also intended to promote and maintain local farming and encourage 
new agriculturally based businesses that contribute to the general economic conditions of the 
City and surrounding region. 

 
(2) The purpose of this designation is to provide a clear understanding of the expectations 

for agricultural commercial/tourism businesses for operators, local residents, other businesses, 
and local officials. 
 

(a) A property’s size must be adequate to accommodate any agritourism use so as not 
to create a nuisance or hazard. Issues affected by farm size include, but are not limited to, 
setbacks for noise abatement, adequate off street space for a farm stand, and adequate parking for 
all farm activities including, but not limited to, daily operation. 

 
(b) Agritourism uses must meet all City zoning ordinances as well as all health, 

building, street, safety and other applicable local, state and federal regulations and codes. 
 
(c) Agricultural operations whose gross revenues are solely or primarily derived from 

alcoholic products are not included under these provisions. Applicable state or local laws will 
apply. 

 
(d) Documentation that an agritourism use as defined in the City ordinance is 

operating within these limits must be made available to the City upon request. 
 

(3) The following agricultural commercial/tourism businesses may be permitted after a 
conditional use review, pursuant to Section 1007.016 provided that the agricultural heritage and 
rural character of the site are respected and maintained: 

 
(a) Cider mills or wineries selling product, in a tasting room, if at least 50 percent of 

the cider or wine offered for sale contains crops or produce grown on-site or in Minnesota, 
Wisconsin, Iowa, North Dakota or South Dakota. 

 
(b) Seasonal outdoor mazes of agricultural origin such as straw bales or corn. 

 
(c) The processing, storage, and retail or wholesale marketing of agricultural products 

into value-added agricultural products containing agricultural products grown on site or in 
Minnesota, Wisconsin, Iowa, North Dakota or South Dakota. 

 
(d) Kitchen facilities, for the processing, cooking, and/or baking of goods featuring 

agricultural products grown on site or in Minnesota. 
 
 



 

168 

(e) The retail sale of agricultural products and agriculturally related products. The 
retail sale of non-agriculturally related products is limited to 25 percent of items offered for sale. 
 

(f) Uses (a) through (e) listed above may include any or all of the following ancillary 
agriculturally related uses and some non-agriculturally related uses so long as the general 
agricultural character of the farm is maintained, and the non-agriculturally related uses comprise 
less than 50 percent of the gross receipts from the farm. 
 

1. Value-added agricultural products or activities such as educational tours of the 
site or processing facilities, educational classes, lectures, seminars, etc. 

 
2. Playgrounds or equipment such as slides, swings, or similar structures (not 

including motorized vehicles or rides). 
 
3. Petting farms, animal display, and pony rides.  
 
4. Wagon, sleigh, and hayrides.  
 
5. Nature trails. 
 
6. Open air or covered picnic area with restrooms. 
 
7. Historical agricultural exhibits. 

 
8. Food trucks, concession stands, or temporary food services to host visitors once 

attracted to the agricultural business for the purposes of entertaining and/or educating. 
 

(4) The site shall comply with the following requirements: 
 

(a) Minimum lot area of 10 acres. 
 

(b) All uses permitted by this section shall have at least one (1) primary access onto a 
collector street as identified on the functional classification map with the condition that the 
increase in traffic shall not create a nuisance, to nearby residents by way of traffic or noise or 
increase the public cost in maintaining the street. 
 

(c) All structure, parking area, and agritourism related activity setbacks shall be 50 
feet from any side or rear lot line. Drive aisle setbacks shall be 20 feet to any side or rear lot line. 
 



 

169 

§ 1007.060   WIND ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEM (WECS)  
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to establish regulations for the installation of 
WECS in locations that are not detrimental to the public health safety and welfare of neighboring 
property owners or occupants. 

 
(2) Applicability. WECS that have a combined nameplate capacity of 5,000 kilowatts or 

more are regulated by the state, and are preempted from the regulations of this Section. This 
Section applies only to WECS that have a combined nameplate capacity of less than 5,000 
kilowatts. 
 

(3) General Requirements. The following requirements shall apply to all WECS: 
 

(a) WECS shall be allowed as an accessory structure in all zoning districts. 
 
(b) WECS shall be mounted to a monopole or building that has the structural integrity 

to carry the weight and wind loads of the WECS and can accommodate its vibration impacts, as 
documented in writing by a licensed structural engineer. 

 
(c) WECS and any related equipment shall comply with the noise regulations 

established in Section 1007.043(10) of the City Code. 
 
(d) WECS shall be equipped with an overspeed control device. 
 
(e) WECS, including the blades or rotors, shall be grounded and shielded in 

compliance with the National Electrical Code. 
 
(f) The compatibility of the blades or rotors with the generator shall be certified by a 

licensed engineer. 
 
(g) WECS shall be filtered, shielded or otherwise designed and constructed so as not 

to cause electrical, radio frequency, television, or other communication signal interference. 
 
(h) WECS and their related support and equipment shall be a non-contrasting color 

such as pale grey or white or shall have a galvanized finish to reduce visual impact, unless 
otherwise required by the Federal Aviation Administration. 

 
(i) Except those devices required by the Federal Aviation Administration, no lights, 

reflectors, flashers or any other type of illumination shall be attached to a WECS or related 
support or equipment. 

 
(j) Except for required safety signage, no other signage, writing, pictures, flags, 

streamers, or decorative items shall be attached to a WECS or related support or equipment, 
 
(k) WECS shall be self-supporting without the use of guy wires or similar features. 
 

https://library.municode.com/mn/plymouth/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CICO_CHXXPE_S2025NO


 

170 

(l) Obsolete WECS and any related support or equipment shall be removed within 12 
months of cessation of operating, unless an exemption is granted by the Zoning Administrator. 
 

(4) Freestanding WECS. In addition to the general requirements specified in this Section, 
freestanding WECS shall comply with the following requirements: 

 
(a) Freestanding WECS shall be constructed using a monopole design of tubular 

steel. 
 

(b) Not more than one (1) freestanding WECS shall be permitted per lot. 
 
(c) Freestanding WECS shall not exceed 50 feet in height, as measured from the 

grade level at the base of the tower to the highest possible extension of the blades, rotors, or 
similar feature of the WECS. 

 
(d) Freestanding WECS shall not be located within a front yard of a residential 

zoning district. 
 
(e) Freestanding WECS setbacks from all lot lines, from any principal building, from 

any recreational facility (e.g., playfield, rink), and from lakes, wetlands, and ponds shall be a 
distance at least equal to the height of the WECS. 

 
(f) Lot line setbacks may be reduced for projects with joint ownership of a 

freestanding WECS between two (2) or more abutting landowners. Prior to issuance of a 
building permit, the applicant shall submit recorded copies of covenants or easements prohibiting 
the construction of habitable buildings within a distance equal to the height of the WECS on all 
affected properties. 
 

(g) Freestanding WECS shall not be located within a required wetland buffer, within 
a bluff or shore impact zone, or on slopes within the shoreland management overlay district that 
are over 12 percent as measured over horizontal distances of 50 feet or more. 
 

(h) No portion of a freestanding WECS including the full arc area created by any 
blade, rotor or other portion of the WECS shall extend over a public easement, over a parking 
lot, over an accessory building, or over or under an overhead utility line. 
 

(i) The lowest extent of any blade or rotor on a freestanding WECS shall be at least 
30 feet above the ground. 
 

(j) Freestanding WECS shall not include tower climbing apparatus within 12 feet of 
the ground. 
 

(k) Freestanding WECS shall display a sign posted at the base of the tower, not to 
exceed two (2) square feet in area, containing the following information. 
 

1. A warning of danger to unauthorized persons. 
 



 

171 

2. The WECS manufacturer's name. 
 

3. Emergency shutdown procedures. 
 

(5) Rooftop WECS. In addition to the general requirements specified in this Section, 
rooftop WECS shall comply with the following requirements: 

 
(a) Not more than one (1) rooftop WECS shall be permitted per single family 

detached dwelling. The number of rooftop WECS shall not be limited for other principal 
buildings. 

 
(b) Rooftop WECS shall not exceed 15 feet in height, as measured from the highest 

element of the roof segment to which the WECS is attached (e.g., peak for pitched roofs, parapet 
for flat roofs) to the highest possible extension of the blades, rotors or similar feature of the 
WECS. 
 

(c) Rooftop WECS setbacks shall be 10 feet from exterior walls of the building. 
 

(6) Submittal Requirements. An applicant for a WECS shall provide the following: 
 
(a) Information that demonstrates compliance with the requirements specified in this 

Section, as applicable. 
 
(b) Application materials required for a building permit of this Chapter, 

 
(c) Technical specifications for the WECS including, but not limited to, height, blade 

or rotor length, operating parameters, lightning protection, anticipated noise levels at the lot 
lines, and other information deemed necessary to review the application. 
 

(d) For freestanding WECS, a certified survey showing lot lines, existing structures, 
easements, above-ground utilities, elevations, wetlands, ponds, lakes, streams, and the proposed 
location for the WECS, including the dimensions between lot lines and the nearest projection of 
WECS blades or rotors. 
 

(e) For freestanding WECS, an inventory of significant trees proposed to be removed 
within the construction area for the WECS shall be provided for all uses except single family 
detached dwellings. 
  



 

172 

§ 1007.061   SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS. 
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to establish regulations for the installation of 
solar energy systems in locations that are not detrimental to the public health safety and welfare 
of neighboring property owners or occupants. 

 
(2) Zoning district. Solar energy systems in compliance with the standards in this section 

are allowed as a permitted accessory use in all zoning districts. This does not include 
solar farms.  

 
(3) Standards.  

 
(a) Exemption. Passive or building integrated solar energy systems are exempt from 

the requirements of this chapter and shall be regulated as any other building element. 
 
(b) Height. 

 
1. Rural and residential roof mounted solar energy systems are allowed subject to 

the following conditions: 
 

a. The system is permitted to exceed the maximum height requirements in the 
applicable zoning district up to 18 inches above the rooftop to which it is 
attached.  
 

b. The system shall be installed parallel to the rooftop to which it is attached. 
 

2. Rural and residential ground mounted solar energy systems shall not exceed 10 
feet in height.  

 
3. Business, Industrial, and Special District roof mounted solar energy systems are 

allowed subject to the following conditions: 
 

a. The system is permitted to project a maximum of four (4) feet from the roof to 
which is it attached.  
 

b. The pitch shall not exceed 40 percent at maximum tilt.  
 

c. The system shall not exceed 15 feet in height at maximum tilt.  
 
4. Ground mounted solar energy systems must be engineered to include three (3) 

feet of clearance from grade to bottom of the solar energy system.  
 

(c) Location. Ground mounted solar energy systems shall not be located in any front 
yard in any zoning district except within rural zoning districts, they shall be located at least 100 
feet from the front lot line.  

 



 

173 

(d) Setbacks. Ground mounted solar energy systems shall comply with all accessory 
structure setbacks in the applicable zoning district. Roof mounted systems shall comply with all 
building setbacks in the applicable zoning district and shall not extend beyond the exterior 
perimeter of the building on which the system is mounted.  

 
(e) Roof mounting. Roof mounted solar collectors may be flush mounted or bracket 

mounted. Bracket mounted collectors shall be permitted only when a determination is made by 
the City Building Official that the underlying roof structure will support apparatus, wind, and 
snow loads and all applicable building standards are satisfied.  

 
(f) Easements. Solar energy systems shall not be located in any public easement.  
 
(g) Screening. Ground mounted systems shall be screened from view and the public 

right of way to the extent practicable without impacting their function. Solar energy systems are 
exempt from screening requirements for rooftop mechanical equipment.  

 
(h) Maximum area.  

 
1. Rural and residential ground mounted solar energy systems shall be limited to 

five (5) percent of the lot area.  
 
2. Business, industrial, and special district ground mounted solar energy systems 

shall not exceed more than 25 percent of the yard in which the solar energy system is located.  
 
3. Ground mounted solar energy systems are exempt from maximum impervious 

surface limitations in each zoning district.  
 
4. All solar energy systems shall minimize glare toward vehicular traffic and 

adjacent properties.  
 

(i) Feeder lines. The electrical collection system shall be located underground within 
the interior of each parcel. The collection system may be located overhead near substations or 
points of interconnection to the electric grid.  

 
(j) Safety.  

 
1. Standards. Solar energy systems shall meet the minimum standards of all 

applicable federal, state, local, or other standards as determined by the City Building Official.  
 
2. Certification. Solar energy systems shall be certified by Underwriters 

Laboratories, Inc., and the National Renewable Energy Laboratory, the Solar Rating and 
Certification Corporation or other body as determined by the City Building Official. The City 
reserves the right to deny a building permit for proposed solar energy systems deemed to have 
inadequate certification.  

 



 

174 

3. Utility connection. All grid connected systems shall have an agreement with the 
local utility prior to the issuance of a building permit. A visible external disconnect shall be 
provided if required by the utility.  
 

(k) Abandonment. If a solar energy system remains nonfunctional or inoperative for a 
continuous period of one (1) year, the system shall be deemed to be abandoned and shall 
constitute a public nuisance. The owner shall remove the abandoned system at their expense after 
a demolition permit has been obtained. Removal includes the entire structure including 
transmission equipment.  

 
(l) Permit. A building permit shall be obtained for any solar energy system prior to 

installation. A building permit submittal shall include the following: to scale site plan, 
manufacturers and installation specifications, a complete structural review worksheet for 
residential roof mounted solar arrays and any additional information requested by City staff 
and/or the Building Official. 
  



 

175 

§ 1007.062   MODEL HOMES WITH TEMPORARY REAL ESTATE OFFICES.  
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide for the construction of model homes 
with temporary real estate offices in new subdivisions without adversely affecting the character 
of surrounding residential neighborhoods or creating a general nuisance. As model homes 
represent a temporary commercial use, special consideration must be given to the unique 
characteristics associated with them and special standards must be applied to ensure reasonable 
compatibility with their surrounding environment.  

 
(2) Procedure. The construction of a model home(s) with temporary real estate office(s) 

shall require a building permit issued by the Building Official.  
 

(3) Special Requirements. 
 

(a) Model homes with temporary real estate offices may be allowed as accessory uses 
in the applicable zoning district in which they are located. The model home with a temporary 
real estate office shall comply with the Minnesota State Building Code.  

 
(b) Temporary parking areas shall be provided on the site and shall include at least two 

(2) off-street parking spaces per model home unit with temporary real estate office. Such 
temporary parking areas shall provide handicap accessible parking and accessible routes as 
required by the Minnesota State Building Code. The overall design, drainage, and surfacing of 
the temporary parking area shall be subject to the approval of the City Engineer. 

 
(c) Access from a temporary parking area onto a local street shall be minimized. Where 

this requirement is physically impractical, access shall be directed away from residential 
neighborhoods to the greatest extent possible.  
 

(d) No model home with temporary real estate office shall incorporate outside lighting 
which creates a nuisance due to glare or intensity.  

 
(e) All signage shall be in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010.  
 
(f) The model home with temporary real estate office shall terminate three (3) years 

from its date of issuance or until 85 percent of the development is completed, whichever occurs 
first.  

 
(g) No residential occupancy permit shall be issued for a model home until such time as 

the structure has been fully converted to a residence. Such conversion shall include but not be 
limited to parking lot restoration and the removal of signage and lighting.  

 
(h) The restoration of all temporary parking areas with appropriate landscaping shall be 

completed by the end of the next growing season.  
 

  



 

176 

§ 1007.063  TEMPORARY STRUCTURES.  
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide for temporary structures including but 
not limited to construction trailers and temporary classroom structures for use by a public or 
private school.  

 
(2) Procedure. The temporary structure shall require an administrative permit, as may be 

issued by the Zoning Administrator, except as otherwise provided by this Chapter. 
  

(3) Special Requirements. 
 

(a) Temporary structures shall be allowed as provided for in the applicable zoning 
district in which they are located.  

 
(b) No administrative permit shall be issued for a temporary structure unless a site plan 

has also been approved if applicable, or unless a building permit has been issued for a new 
structure, addition or remodeling of an existing structure on the property.  

 
(c) The administrative permit shall terminate 12 months from its date of issuance, or 

within 30 days after a certificate of occupancy has been issued by the Building Official for the 
permanent structure. The permit may be extended for an additional 180 days at the discretion of 
the Zoning Administrator.  

 
(d) Temporary structures may be located in a required yard area, provided that no such 

structure may be located within 15 feet of a public right-of-way or obstruct visibility at any 
intersection or driveway.  

 
(e) All applicable requirements of the State Building Code shall be met.  
 
(f) Whenever an administrative permit for construction of a temporary structure has 

been issued, a similar application for an administrative permit for construction of a temporary 
structure shall not be considered again by the Zoning Administrator for at least one (1) year from 
the date of approval. 
  



 

177 

§ 1007.064  MOTOR FUEL STATIONS. 
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to establish standards and procedures under 
which motor fuel stations can be conducted within the City without jeopardizing the health, 
safety and general welfare of the surrounding neighborhood. This section establishes the City’s 
minimum requirements for the establishment and operation of a motor fuel station. 

 
(2) Motor Fuel Stations.   Motor fuel stations shall be constructed in compliance with State 

and City standards.  Additionally, adequate space shall be provided to access fuel pumps and 
allow maneuverability around the pumps.  Underground fuel storage tanks are to be positioned to 
allow adequate access by motor fuel transports and unloading operations which do not conflict 
with circulation, access and other activities on the site.  Fuel pumps shall be installed on pump 
islands. 
 

(3) Architectural Standards.  The architectural appearance, scale, and functional plan of the 
building(s) and canopy shall be complementary and compatible with each other and the existing 
buildings in the neighborhood setting. 
 

(4) Canopy.   A protective canopy structure may be located over the pump island(s), as an 
accessory structure.  The canopy shall meet the following performance standards: 

 
(a) The edge of the canopy shall be at least 30 feet from any lot line, provided that 

adequate visibility both on-site and off-site is maintained. 
 
(b) The canopy shall not exceed 18 feet in height and must provide 14 feet of 

clearance to accommodate a semi-trailer truck passing underneath. 
 
(c) The canopy fascia shall not exceed three (3) feet in vertical height. 
 
(d) The canopy lighting shall consist of canister spotlights recessed into the canopy.  

No portion of the light source of fixture may extend below the ceiling of the canopy.  Total 
canopy illumination may not exceed 115 foot candles below the canopy at ground level.   

 
(e) The architectural design, colors, and character of the canopy shall be consistent 

with the principal building on the site. 
 
(f) The canopies support columns shall be constructed of masonry materials consistent 

with the principal building. 
 
(g) Signage may be allowed on a detached canopy provided that the individual canopy 

sign does not exceed more than 20 percent of the canopy façade facing a public right-of-way.   
 
(h) Canopy posts/sign posts shall not obstruct traffic or the safe operation of the gas 

pumps. 
 

(5) Pump Islands.   Pump islands shall comply with the following requirements: 
 



 

178 

(a) Pump islands shall be elevated six (6) inches above the traveled surface of the site. 
 
(b) Pump island setbacks shall be 30 feet from any lot line.  Additionally, the setback 

between the pump islands curb face must be at least 24 feet. 
 

(6) Drainage.   Drainage from all fueling areas shall be directed to an oil/grit separator.  
Minimum design standards for the oil/grit separator shall include the following: 

 
(a) A minimum of 400 cubic feet of permanent pool storage capacity per acre of 

drainage area. 
 
(b) A minimum pool depth of four (4) feet. 
 
(c) A minimum oil containment capacity of 800 gallons. 
 
(d) Minimum maintenance/inspection of two (2) times per year and/or after 

measurable spill events.  A measurable spill shall be defined by the Minnesota Pollution Control 
Agency (MPCA).  Any measurable spill event must be reported to the MPCA. 

 
(7) Buffer. Where lots abut residentially zoned property, a buffer yard of at least 20 feet 

wide shall be landscaped and screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
(8) Circulation and Loading.   The site design must accommodate adequate turning radius 

and vertical clearance for a semi-trailer truck.  A site plan must be provided to illustrate adequate 
turning radius, using appropriate engineering templates. 

 
(9) Noise.   Public address systems and gas pump displays shall not be audible at any lot 

line.  Play of music or advertisement from the public address system is prohibited.  Noise control 
shall be required as regulated in City Code Section 1007.043(10). 

 
(10) Outdoor Storage, Sales and Service.   No outdoor storage or sales shall be allowed, 

except as follows: 
 

(a) Propane sales of 20-pound capacity tanks may be located outside provided the 
propane tanks are secured in a locker and meets all State Uniform Building and Fire Codes. 

 
(b) Large, bulk sale propane tanks must meet all applicable building and fire code 

requirements. 
 
(c) A compressed air service area may be located on site as long as it does not 

interrupt on-site traffic circulation. 
 
(d) Accessory outdoor services, sales, or rental accessory to the principal use and 

limited in area to 25 percent of the gross floor area of the principal building. 
 



 

179 

(11) Litter Control.   The operation shall be responsible for litter control on the subject 
property, which is to occur on a daily basis.  Trash receptacles shall be provided at a convenient 
location on site to facilitate litter control. 

 
(12) Motor Vehicle Parking. Except for employee passenger motor vehicles and 

motorcycles, no motor vehicle shall be parked on the property for more than two (2) hours. 
 
(13) Additional Stipulations.   All conditions pertaining to a specific site are subject to 

change when the Council, upon investigation in relation to a formal request finds that the general 
welfare and public betterment can be served as well or better by modifying or expanding the 
conditions set forth herein. 
  



 

180 

§ 1007.065   AIR PARK HANGAR AND ACCESS PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 
  

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this section is to provide standards for the size of airplane 
hangars and access to airplane hangars constructed on single family lots that have taxiway access 
to an approved private use airport.   
 

(2) Definitions.   The following definitions apply to this section: 
 

AIR PARK.   A residential subdivision with permitted access to a private use airport.   
 

AIRPLANE HANGAR.   An accessory building constructed on a single family lot 
where aircraft are stored. Such use is considered a residential accessory use incidental to the 
dwelling. 
 

(3) General Standards.   The following standards shall apply to all air park single family 
lots: 

 
(a) Airplane Hangar.   Air Park lots may have one airplane hangar not exceeding 3,200 

square feet, provided that: 
 

1. The airplane hangar location has direct taxiway access to the runway. 
 

2. The airplane hangar be earth tone in color. 
 

(b) Driveways shall not be constructed closer than three (3) feet to the lot line.  
 

1. Exception.  Encroachment into the three-foot setback may be allowed for 
purposes of constructing a shared driveway with the abutting property owner provided that any 
shared driveway shall include a maintenance and access agreement executed by each property 
owner and recorded against each property with Anoka County.  
 

(c) The plans for driveways proposed to be placed within a drainage and utility 
easement must meet drainage requirements and be approved by the City Engineer prior to 
construction. Driveways placed within a drainage and utility easement are placed, by the owner, 
at the owner's risk of removal by the City or other agencies that may have legal use of the 
easement.  Replacement of driveways removed for drainage or utility work shall be at the 
owner’s expense. 

 
(d) All driveways and approaches shall be hard surfaced in accordance with City Code 

Section 1007.044(3)(h)15. 
 

(e) An air park single family lot may have one secondary public street driveway access 
subject to approval of the City Engineer and the following conditions: 

 



 

181 

1. The property owner demonstrates that the principal driveway access serving the 
single family dwelling cannot be extended or expanded to serve an airplane hangar without 
encroaching into required setbacks or abutting property or without violating City Code Section 
1007.044(5)(g).   

 
2. Secondary driveway width shall not exceed 12 feet. 
 
3. No secondary driveway shall be within three (3) feet of the lot line unless a 

shared driveway access and maintenance agreement is executed by each property owner and 
recorded against each property with Anoka County. 
 

(f) Impervious Surface Coverage Area.  The impervious surface of the property shall 
not exceed 65 percent. 

 
(g) All other provisions of Chapter 1007 and the City Code shall be applicable to the 

extent not in conflict with this section. 
  



 

182 

§ 1007.066  RURAL CLUSTER DEVELOPMENT.  
 

(1) Purpose.  The purpose of this section is to establish special requirements for a rural 
cluster development (without City water or sanitary sewer) project to allow limited rural 
residential development while promoting: 

 
(a) Preservation of productive land for agricultural use. 
 
(b) Preservation of wildlife habitat and unique natural resources. 
 
(c) Reduction of negative impacts on the environment. 
 
(d) Creation of common open space that provides a unified landscape for the use and 

enjoyment of the neighborhood community and/or the general public. 
 
(e) A variety of rural residential lot sizes, configurations, and neighborhoods. 
 
(f) Orderly and economically viable transition to eventual development with urban 

services. 
 

(2) Application. A rural cluster development shall only be applied in areas zoned R, Rural 
or R-X, Rural-Executive that are guided Low Density Residential on the Comprehensive Plan 
Full Build Out Land Use Map. 
 

(3) Open Space. A minimum of 50 percent of the gross acreage of the subject property 
shall be preserved as common open space, recreational space or agricultural use.  Of that open 
space, a minimum of 25 percent shall be upland area. 

 
(a) All designated open space shall be platted as outlot parcels.  Public trail corridors 

shall be dedicated as park land.  
 
(b) Habitable Structures. Habitable structures shall not be permitted in any of the 

designated open spaces. Open and recreational structures may be permitted within open spaces. 
 
(c) Public Open Space Accessibility.   Open spaces dedicated to the public shall be 

accessible to pedestrians at no less than 1,200-foot intervals along public roadways.  Where 
necessary, pedestrian access corridor outlots between private lots shall be at least 20 feet in 
width. 
 

(4) Ownership and Management.  Each designated open space shall be owned and 
managed according to the following means, subject to city approval: 
 

(a) Common Ownership.  Open space may be owned in common by the property 
owners created through subdivision of the original tract. Management shall be the responsibility 
of that subdivision's homeowner association. In the case where at least one (1) open space is held 
in common ownership, a homeowner association shall be established for that subdivision. 
Membership in the association by all property owners in the subdivision shall be mandatory. The 



 

183 

homeowners association documents or the declaration of covenants, conditions and restrictions 
shall be submitted as part of the preliminary plat application and shall contain the following 
information: 
 

1. The legal description of the common lands or facilities; 
 

2. The restrictions placed upon the use and enjoyment of the lands or facilities, 
including the persons or entities entitled to enforce the restrictions; 
 

3. A mechanism for resolving disputes among the owners or association members; 
 

4. A mechanism to assess and enforce the common expenses for the land or 
facilities, including upkeep and maintenance expenses, real estate taxes and insurance premiums; 
 

5. The conditions and timing of the transfer of ownership and control of land or 
facilities to the association or to common ownership. 
 

(b) Natural Habitat.  Management shall be the responsibility of the homeowners 
association. 
 

1. Open space may be protected by establishing conservation easements as 
provided in M.S. § 84.64 through 84.65, as they may be amended from time to time. Unless the 
document establishing the restrictions specifically provides to the contrary, the city shall have no 
responsibility for the maintenance or management of the area subject to the restrictions. The 
form and content of the conservation easement or other instrument establishing the restrictions 
must be approved by the City prior to the execution and delivery thereof. 
 

2. Stormwater drainage systems located within open spaces or the residential lots 
shall be covered by utility and drainage easements dedicated on the final plat to the city. 
 

(c) Neighborhood Recreational and Trail Corridor.  Recreational open space or trail 
corridors intended as public parks or public trails shall be dedicated to the City. Management and 
maintenance of the public recreational areas shall be the responsibility of the City. 
 

(5) Neighborhood Configuration. 
 
(a) In order to establish a cohesive neighborhood unit, residential lots shall be located in 

a neighborhood cluster.  A neighborhood cluster shall include a minimum of four (4) lots or 50 
percent of the allowable number of lots on the parcel to be subdivided, whichever is greater.  An 
efficiency of land utilization and community development should be encouraged by maximizing 
the number of lots in any one (1) cluster development, while adhering to the underlying density 
and open space requirements of this Ordinance. 

 
(b) A neighborhood cluster shall be oriented toward an identifiable feature which all 

residential units share in common.  Neighborhood identity may be accomplished by one (1) or 
more of the following features: 

 



 

184 

1. View Shed. The lots of a neighborhood may be arranged such that a majority of 
the principal structures will take visual advantage of a field, wetland, woods, lake, stream, or other 
open space which could be described as a view shed. 

 
2. Physical Amenity. The lots of a neighborhood may be arranged such that a 

majority of the principal structures will face a green, playground, ball field, rock outcropping, 
stand of trees, church, school, or other physical feature unique to that particular neighborhood. 

 
3. Streetscape. The lots may be arranged such that the principal structures will face 

a street space enhanced with landscaping, street trees, boulevards, medians, or other landscaping 
techniques appropriate to the City’s street design standards. 

 
(6) Densities. 

 
(a) Subdivisions served by independent sewage treatment systems shall not exceed 

eight units per 40 acres. 
 
(b) Subdivisions served by a MPCA approved community sewer system shall not 

exceed 12 units per 40 acres. 
 

(7) The applicant must provide a management (maintenance, replacement and repair) plan 
for centralized wastewater treatment system as approved by the City. The management plan must 
be reviewed and approved by the City Council and recorded with the final plat. The plan should 
clearly identify the following: 

 
(a) The ownership of the centralized wastewater treatment system. 
 
(b) An annual schedule for maintenance, inspection and monitoring of the centralized 

wastewater treatment system. 
 
(c) Assignment of responsibility for the management of and payment for the 

centralized wastewater treatment system. 
 
(d) Contingency plan in the event of failure of the centralized wastewater treatment. 
 
(e) Financial guarantees, covering the estimated cost of maintaining and replacing a 

centralized system. 
 
(f) Provisions describing how the sewage treatment portion of the system will be 

protected from vehicles, animals, humans and other sources of risk. 
 
(g) The name and license number of the system's designer. 
 
(h) Provision for cost effective future connection of the wastewater treatment system(s) 

to urban services within one year after such services are provided at the boundary of the 
development, with sufficient financial guarantees to ensure no added cost to the City. 

 



 

185 

(i) If financial guarantees for any of the above provisions are part of an association 
assessment or treasury fund, the City shall be given access to annual audit records, at the expense 
of the association, to ensure proper funding. If such guarantees are the private responsibility of 
the developer, the City shall require guarantees from the responsible individual(s). 

 
(8) Residential Lots. 

 
(a) Lots served by individual sewage treatment systems (ISTS) shall have a minimum 

of one acre of buildable land area capable of accommodating the principal dwelling, accessory 
buildings, and two individual soil treatment systems (drainfields). 

 
(b) Lots served by a MPCA approved community sewage treatment system shall have a 

minimum lot area of 20,000 square feet of buildable land. 
 
(c) No individual single family lot may exceed five (5) acres in size. 
 
(d) Minimum Lot Width. 

 
1. ISTS Lots. 200 feet. 
 
2. Lots Served by a MPCA Approved Community Sewage System. 

 
a. Interior Lot. 100 feet. 
 
b. Corner Lot.  125 feet. 

 
(e) Setbacks.   Setbacks shall be the same as those imposed in the applicable base zoning 

district. 
 

(f) Residential lots shall be sited in a manner that preserves existing significant tree 
cover on the site. 

 
(g) The lots of a neighborhood may be arranged so that a majority of the principal 

structures will take visual advantage of an identifiable feature, building, structure, greenway, 
wetland, woods, lake, stream or other open space which could be described as a view shed. 

 
(h) The lots may be arranged that the principal structures face a local street enhanced 

with landscaping, street trees, boulevards, medians or other landscaping techniques appropriate 
to the city's street design standards. 



 

186 

DISTRICT PROVISIONS 
 
 

§ 1007.070   GENERAL ZONING DISTRICT PROVISIONS. 
 
(1) District Establishment.   The zoning districts are designed to assist in carrying out the 

intents and purposes of the Comprehensive Plan and to control residential densities in such a 
manner as to adequately provide public services and utilities.  The zoning districts are based upon 
the Comprehensive Plan, which has the purpose of protecting the public health, safety, 
convenience, and general welfare by controlling the needs for public utilities, protecting against 
traffic congestion and accident hazards, protecting the public health from adverse influences 
generated by non-residential uses, protecting against the danger of fire conflagration, and other 
purposes of a similar nature.  For purposes of this ordinance, the City of Lino Lakes is divided into 
the following zoning districts: 

 
(a) Rural Districts. 

 
1. R, Rural. 
2. R-X, Rural Executive. 

 
(b) Residential Districts. 

 
1. R-1, Single Family Residential. 
2. R-1X, Single Family Executive Residential. 
3. R-2, Two Family Residential. 
4. R-3, Medium Density Residential. 
5. R-4, High Density Residential. 
6. R-5, High Density Residential and Commercial. 
7. R-6, Manufactured Home Park. 

 
(c) Business Districts. 

 
1. NB, Neighborhood Business. 
2. LB, Limited Business. 
3. GB, General Business. 

 
(d) Industrial Districts. 

 
1. LI, Light Industrial. 
2. GI, General Industrial. 
3. BC, Business Campus. 

 
(e) Special Districts. 

 
1. PSP, Public and Semi-Public. 
2. PUD, Planned Unit Development. 

 



 

187 

(2) Zoning District Boundaries.   Zoning district boundary lines established by this ordinance 
generally follow lot lines, the centerlines of railroad right-of-way lines, street rights-of-way, water 
courses or the corporate limit lines, all as they exist upon the effective date of this ordinance. 

 
(a) Appeals concerning the exact location of a zoning district boundary line shall be 

heard by the Council, serving as the Board of Adjustment and Appeals, pursuant to City Code 
Section 1007.018. 

 
(b) Whenever any street, alley or other public way is vacated by official action of the 

City, the zoning district adjoining each side of such street, alley or public way shall be 
automatically extended to the center of such vacation, and all area included in the vacation shall 
then and henceforth be subject to all appropriate regulations of the extended districts. 

 
(c) All streets, alleys, public ways and railroad rights-of-way, if not otherwise 

specifically designated, shall be deemed to be in the same zone as the property in the most 
restrictive classification immediately abutting upon such alleys, streets, public ways or railroad 
rights-of-way.  Where the centerline of a street, alley, public way or railroad right-of-way serves 
as a district boundary, the zoning of such areas, unless otherwise specifically designated, shall be 
deemed to be the same as that of the abutting property up to such centerline. 

 
(d) All areas within the corporate limits of the City which are under water and which are 

not shown as included within any zone shall be subject to all regulations of the zone which 
immediately adjoins such water area.  If such water area adjoins two (2) or more zones, the 
boundaries of each zone shall be construed to be extended into the water area in a straight line until 
they meet the other district at the half-way point and/or to the corporation limits. 

 
(3) Zoning Map.   The location and boundaries of the districts established by this text are set 

forth on the Zoning Map, entitled “Zoning Map of Lino Lakes”.  The map shall be on file with the 
Zoning Administrator, and may be referred to as the “Zoning Map”.  The map and all the notations, 
references and other information shown on it shall have the same force and effect as if fully set 
forth herein and thereby made a part of this ordinance by reference. 

 
(4) Annexations.   In the event of annexation proceedings becoming final before the 

permanent zoning is determined, the annexed area shall be located in the most restrictive district 
and such classification shall be considered an interim step pending permanent classification. 

 
(5) Exemptions.  The following essential services are permitted in any district: the erection, 

construction, alteration, or maintenance, by public utilities or municipal or other governmental 
agencies of systems, including gas, electrical, steam or water transmission or distribution systems; 
collection, communication systems, including communication equipment facilities, supply or 
disposal systems; elevated and underground water storage tanks; poles, wires, mains, drains, 
sewers, pipes, conduits, cables; fire alarm boxes, police call boxes; traffic signals, hydrants, and 
other similar equipment and accessories in connection therewith, including city buildings and 
parks; reasonably necessary for the furnishing of adequate service of such public utilities or 
municipal or other governmental agencies or for the public health or safety or general welfare.   



 

188 

RURAL DISTRICTS 
 
§ 1007.080   R, RURAL DISTRICT.    
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this district is to aid in guiding development toward fulfillment 
of the Comprehensive Plan and to serve the following functions: 
 

(a) To preserve productive land for agricultural use and maintain open space within and 
near urban areas. 
 

(b) To help guide development of urban and rural areas to preserve continuity and 
efficiency of service. 
 

(c) To provide a method by which the urban farm can be guided to control urban sprawl 
and conserve land economically until such time an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan is 
needed. 
 

(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.   10 gross acres.  Two (2) acres buildable, except as provided for 
in City Code Section 1007.042(2)(b). 

 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.   330 feet, except as provided for in City Code Section 

1007.042(2)(b), which shall require a minimum lot width of 200 feet. 
 
(c) Setbacks.  
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   30 feet, except for properties three (3) acres or less, the 

setback shall be five (5) feet. 
 
3. Side Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 

 
4. Parking Lots for Non-Residential Uses.   15 feet from all lot lines. 



 

189 

 
(d) Rural Lot Subdivision.   Principal and accessory buildings shall be located on a lot 

so as to allow for future subdivision in compliance with City Code Section 1007.042(2)(d). 
 
(3) Building Requirements. 
 

(a) The minimum building footprint, less garage area, for single family dwellings shall 
be as follows: 

 
 Rambler  1,050 square feet 
 Split Level 980 square feet 
 Two Story 850 square feet 

 
(4) Maximum Building Height.   35 feet, except as allowed by City Code Section 

1007.043(3). 
 

(5) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the R District: 
 

(a) Agriculture, gardening, and sod farming. 
 

(b) Commercial greenhouses and nurseries. 
 

(c) Day care facilities serving 14 or fewer persons. 
 

(d) Golf courses and driving ranges. 
 

(e) Keeping of farm animals of up to 300 animal units in compliance with City Code 
Chapter 503.  No more than one (1) animal unit per two (2) acres. 
 

(f) Public parks. 
 
(g) Rural Cluster in compliance with City Code Section 1007.066. 

 
(h) Single family detached dwellings. 

 
(i) State licensed residential care facility serving six (6) or fewer persons. 

 
(j) Roadside stands for the sale of agricultural products produced on the premises in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(4)(h). 
 

(k) Winery and cider mill, without tasting room. 
 

(l) Community gardens operated by the city. 
 

(6) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the R District: 
 

(a) Accessory apartments in compliance with City Code Section 1007.049. 



 

190 

 
(b) Accessory buildings, structures, and uses in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.043(4). 
 
(c) Carports in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(4)(c). 

 
(d) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 

 
(e) Home occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(f) Model homes with temporary real estate offices in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.062. 
 
(g) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044.   

 
(h) Operation, parking, or storage of motor vehicles, equipment and machinery which 

are incidental and customary to permitted or conditional uses allowed in this district. 
 

(i) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 
less in diameter, short-wave radio dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters, and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 

(j) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 

(k) Swimming pools, sport courts and other recreational facilities which are operated for 
the enjoyment and convenience of the residents of the principal use and their guests in compliance 
with City Code Section 1007.043(4). 
 

(7) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 
with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Agritourism in compliance with City Code Section 1007.059. 
 
(b) Cemeteries provided that: 

 
1. The site shall access on a collector or arterial street. 

 
2. Where abutting a rural or residential zoning district, the periphery of the site shall 

be screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17).  
 

(c) Commercial and public radio and television transmitting antennas, and public utility 
microwave antennas less than 200 feet in height in compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 

(d) Commercial kennels and similar uses provided that: 
 

1. The applicable provisions of City Code Chapter 503 are satisfied. 



 

191 

 
2. Property shall be a minimum of five (5) acres in size. 

 
3. Cages, enclosures, and housing facilities shall be a minimum of 100 feet from any 

lot line. 
 

(e) Veterinary hospitals provided that: 
 

1. Property shall be in compliance with minimum lot size requirements of this zoning 
district. 
 

2. All areas in which animals are confined are located indoors and are properly 
soundproofed from adjacent properties. 
 

3. Animal carcasses are properly disposed of in a manner not utilizing on-site 
garbage facilities or incineration and the carcasses are properly refrigerated during periods prior 
to disposal. 
 

4. An animal kennel is permitted as an accessory use to the veterinary hospital 
provided that: 
 

a. The number of animals boarded shall not exceed 40. 
 

b. An enclosed indoor or exterior exercise area shall be provided to accommodate 
the periodic exercising of animals boarded at the kennel.  
 

c. A ventilation system shall be designed so that no odors or organisms will 
spread between wards or to the outside air and will be capable of completely exchanging internal 
air at a rate of at least twice per hour.  Air temperature must be maintained between 60- and 75- 
degrees Fahrenheit. 
 

d. A room separate from the kennel area shall be provided of sufficient size to 
adequately separate animals that are sick or injured from healthy animals. 
 

e. Indoor animal kennel floors and walls shall be made of non-porous materials 
or sealed concrete to make it non-porous. 
 

f. Animal wastes shall be flushed down an existing sanitary sewer system or 
enclosed in a container of sufficient construction to eliminate odors and organisms and shall be 
properly disposed of at least once a day. 
 

g. A commercial kennel license is obtained from the City. 
 

5. The applicable provisions of City Code Chapter 503 are satisfied. 
 

6. All State Health Department and Minnesota Pollution Control Agency 
requirements for such facilities are met. 



 

192 

 
(f) Day care facilities serving more than 14 persons accessory to Public, Educational, 

and Religious Uses provided that: 
 

1. Screening is provided in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 

2. All day care facility operations comply with the minimum requirements of the 
Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services regulations, as may be amended. 
 

(g) Public and private airports provided that: 
 

1. All applicable requirements of the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), 
Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT), and Metropolitan Airports Commission 
(MAC) are satisfactorily met.
 

(h) Public, Educational, and Religious Uses provided that: 
 

1. The building setback shall be 50 feet from any side or rear lot line. 
 
2. The site shall access a collector or arterial street of sufficient capacity to 

accommodate the traffic that will be generated. 
 

(i) Wild game farms and gun clubs provided that: 
 

1. The principal use, function, or activity is open and outdoor in character, and the 
site shall contain a minimum of 100 acres. 
 

2. Not more than five (5) percent of the land area of the site be covered by buildings 
or structures. 
 

3. Any operation involving the discharge of firearms shall comply with City Code 
Chapter 504. 
 

4. When abutting a residential use and a residential district, the property is screened 
and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 

(j) Commercial Stables in compliance with City Code Section 1007.058. 
 

(8) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 
 

(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.054. 
 

(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 

(c) Essential Services. 



 

193 

 
(d) Open Air Market accessory to an institutional use and limited in area to 25 percent 

of the gross floor area of the principal building. 
 

(e) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(f) Transient Merchants. 

 
(9) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Batch plants in compliance with City Code Section 1007.056. 
 
(b) Earth moving and land reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.051. 
 

(c) Home Occupation Level C in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 



 

194 

§ 1007.081   R-X, RURAL EXECUTIVE DISTRICT. 
 

(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this district is to aid in guiding development toward fulfillment 
of the Comprehensive Plan and to serve the following functions: 
 

(a) To preserve productive land for agricultural use and maintain open space within and 
near urban areas. 
 

(b) To help guide development of urban and rural areas to preserve continuity and 
efficiency of service. 
 

(c) To provide a method by which the urban farm can be guided to control urban sprawl 
and conserve land economically until such time an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan is 
needed. 
 

(d) To provide areas for high value, rural residences. 
 

(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.   10 gross acres. Two (2) acres buildable, except as provided for 
in City Code Section 1007.042(2)(b). 

 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.   330 feet, except as provided for in City Code Section 

1007.042(2)(b) which shall require a minimum lot width 200 feet. 
 
(c) Setbacks. 
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 

 
a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   30 feet, except for properties three (3) acres or less, the 

setback shall be 5 feet. 
 

3. Side Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 

 
4. Parking Lots for Non-Residential Uses.   15 feet from all lot lines. 



 

195 

 
(d) Rural Lot Subdivision.   Principal and accessory buildings shall be located on a lot so 

as to allow for future subdivision in compliance with City Code Section 1007.042(2)(d). 
 
(3) Building Requirements. 
 

(a) The minimum building footprint, less garage area, for single family dwellings shall 
be as follows: 

 
  Rambler 1,260 square feet 
  Split Level 1,248 square feet 
  Two Story 1,040 square feet 

 
(4) Maximum Building Height.   35 feet, except as allowed by City Code Section 

1007.043(3). 
 

(5) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the R-X District: 
 

(a) Agriculture, gardening, and sod farming. 
 

(b) Commercial greenhouses and nurseries. 
 

(c) Day care facilities serving 14 or fewer persons. 
 

(d) Golf courses and driving ranges. 
 

(e) Keeping of farm animals of up to 300 animal units in compliance with City Code 
Chapter 503.  No more than one (1) animal unit per two (2) acres. 
 

(f) Public parks. 
 
(g) Rural Cluster in compliance with City Code Section 1007.066. 

 
(h) Single family detached dwellings. 

 
(i) State licensed residential care facility serving six (6) or fewer persons. 

 
(j) Roadside stands for the sale of agricultural products produced on the premises in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(4)(g). 
 

(k) Community gardens operated by the City.
 

(6) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the R-X District: 
 

(a) Accessory apartments in compliance with City Code Section 1007.049. 
 

(b) Accessory buildings, structures, and uses in compliance with City Code Section 



 

196 

1007.043(4). 
 
(c) Carports in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(4)(c). 

 
(d) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 

 
(e) Home occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(f) Model homes with temporary real estate offices in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.062.  
 
(g) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044.  

 
(h) Operation, parking, or storage of motor vehicles, equipment and machinery which 

are incidental and customary to permitted or conditional uses allowed in this district. 
 

(i) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 
less in diameter, short-wave radio dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 

(j) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 

(k) Swimming pools, sport courts and other recreational facilities which are operated for 
the enjoyment and convenience of the residents of the principal use and their guests in compliance 
with City Code Section1007.043(4). 
 

(7) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 
with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Cemeteries provided that: 
 

1. The site shall access on a collector or arterial street. 
 

2. Where abutting a rural or residential zoning district, the periphery of the site shall 
be screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17).  
 

(b) Commercial and public radio and television transmitting antennas, and public utility 
microwave antennas less than 200 feet in height in compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 

(c) Commercial kennels and similar uses provided that: 
 

1. The applicable provisions of City Code Chapter 503 are satisfied. 
 

2. Property shall be a minimum of five (5) acres in size 
 

3. Cages, enclosures, and housing facilities shall be a minimum of 100 feet from any 
lot line. 



 

197 

 
 

(d) Veterinary hospitals provided that: 
 

1. Property shall be in compliance with minimum lot size requirements of this zoning 
district. 
 

2. All areas in which animals are confined are located indoors and are properly 
soundproofed from adjacent properties. 
 

3. Animal carcasses are properly disposed of in a manner not utilizing on-site 
garbage facilities or incineration and the carcasses are properly refrigerated during periods prior 
to disposal. 
 

4. An animal kennel is permitted as an accessory use to the veterinary hospital 
provided that: 
 

a. The number of animals boarded shall not exceed 40. 
 

b. An enclosed indoor or exterior exercise area shall be provided to accommodate 
the periodic exercising of animals boarded at the kennel.  
 

c. A ventilation system shall be designed so that no odors or organisms will 
spread between wards or to the outside air and will be capable of completely exchanging internal 
air at a rate of at least twice per hour.  Air temperature must be maintained between 60 and 75 
degrees Fahrenheit. 
 

d. A room separate from the kennel area shall be provided of sufficient size to 
adequately separate animals that are sick or injured from healthy animals. 
 

e. Indoor animal kennel floors and walls shall be made of non-porous materials 
or sealed concrete to make it non-porous. 
 

f. Animal wastes shall be flushed down an existing sanitary sewer system or 
enclosed in a container of sufficient construction to eliminate odors and organisms and shall be 
properly disposed of at least once a day. 
 

g. A commercial kennel license is obtained from the City. 
 

5. The applicable provisions of City Code Chapter 503 are satisfied. 
 

6. All State Health Department and Minnesota Pollution Control Agency 
requirements for such facilities are met. 
 

(e) Day care facilities serving more than 14 persons accessory to Public, Educational, 
and Religious Uses provided that: 
 

1. Screening is provided in compliance with the applicable provisions of City Code 



 

198 

Section 1007.043(17). 
 

2. All day care facility operations comply with the minimum requirements of the 
Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services regulations, as may be amended. 
 

(f) Public, Educational, and Religious Uses provided that: 
 

1. The building setback shall be 50 feet from any side or rear lot line. 
 

2. The site shall access a collector or arterial street of sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the traffic that will be generated. 
 

(g) Commercial stables in compliance with City Code Section 1007.058. 
  

(8) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 
 

(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.054 of this ordinance. 
 

(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 

(c) Essential Services. 
 

(d) Open Air Market accessory to an institutional use and limited in area to 25 percent 
of the gross floor area of the principal building. 

 
(e) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 

 
(f) Transient Merchants. 

 
(9) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Batch Plants in compliance with City Code Section 1007.056. 
 
(b) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.051. 
 
(c) Home Occupation Level C in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 

 



 

199 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 
 

§ 1007.090   R-1, SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this district is to provide a residential atmosphere for those 

persons desiring a single family neighborhood with a suburban density. This district is intended 
for development of single family detached homes on lots served with public sanitary sewer and 
water.  Land to be zoned R-1 shall be served with public sanitary sewer and water and shall be in 
a Low Density Residential land use category according to the comprehensive plan. The 
development density shall be consistent with that land use category. 

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.   10,800 square feet contiguous buildable land as defined by City 
Code Section 1007.001(2). 

 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.    
 

1. Interior Lots.   80 feet. 
 
2. Corner Lots.   100 feet. 
 
3. Lots of one and one-half (1.5) acres recorded prior to February 22, 1988 may be 

subdivided in compliance with the following: 
 

a. Interior Lots.   75 feet. 
 
b. Corner Lots.   95 feet. 

 
(c) Minimum Lot Depth.   135 feet. 
 

1. Double Frontage Lots.   145 feet. 
 
(d) Setbacks.   
 

1. From Street Right-of Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 
 



 

200 

a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 

 
4. Parking Lots for Non-Residential Uses.   15 feet from all lot lines. 

 
(e) Buffer.   Any property adjacent to a collector or arterial street shall provide a 15-foot-

wide buffer in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
(3) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   65 percent of the lot area. 
 
(4) Building Requirements. 
 

(a) The minimum building footprint, less garage area, for single family dwellings shall 
be as follows: 

 
  Rambler    1,050 square feet 
  Split Level   980 square feet  
  Two Story   850 square feet 
 
(b) All dwellings shall comply with the Design and Construction Standards of 

§1007.043(2). 
 
(5) Maximum Building Height.   35 feet except as allowed by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 

 
(6) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the R-1 District: 
 

(a) Day care facilities serving 14 or fewer persons. 
 
(b) Public parks. 
 
(c) Single family detached dwellings. 
 
(d) State licensed residential care facility serving six (6) or fewer persons. 
 
(e) Community gardens operated by the city. 

 
(7) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the R-1 District : 
 



 

201 

(a) Accessory apartments in compliance with City Code Section 1007.049. 
 
(b) Accessory buildings, structures, and uses in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.043(4). 
 
(c) Carports in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(4)(c). 
 
(d) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(e) Home Occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(f) Model homes with temporary real estate offices in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.062. 
 
(g) Non-commercial greenhouses not to exceed a footprint of 200 square feet. 
 
(h) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(i) Parking spaces and carports for licensed and operable passenger motor vehicles. 
 
(j) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave radio dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters, and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(k) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(l) Swimming pools, sport courts, and other recreational facilities which are operated for 

the use of the residents of the principal use and their guests in compliance with City 
Code Section 1007.043(4).  This does not include racing/riding courses for off-road 
vehicles. 

 
(8) Conditional Uses.    The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Cemeteries provided that: 
 

1. The site shall access on a collector or arterial street. 
 
2. Where abutting a rural or residential zoning district, the periphery of the site shall 

be screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
(b) Commercial outdoor recreational areas including golf courses, country clubs, driving 

ranges, swimming pools, and similar facilities provided that: 
 



 

202 

1. The principal use, function, or activity is open and outdoor in character. 
 
2. Not more than five (5) percent of the land area of the site be covered by buildings 

or structures. 
 
3. When abutting a residential use and a residential use district, the property is 

screened and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
4. The site shall access on a collector or arterial street. 

 
(c) Day care facilities accessory to Public, Educational, and Religious Uses provided 

that:  
 

1. Day care facility shall be connected to public sewer and water. 
 
2. Screening is provided in compliance with the applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. All day care facility operations comply with the minimum requirements of the 

Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services regulations, as may be amended. 
 
(d) Public, Educational, and Religious Uses provided that: 
 

1. Side yards shall not be less than 50 feet. 
 
2. Adequate screening from abutting residential uses and landscaping is provided in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots directly 

abutting directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.044 and that such parking is adequately screened and landscaped from surrounding 
and abutting residential uses in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 

(9) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 

 
(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.054. 
 
(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(c) Essential Services. 
 
(d) Open Air Market accessory to an institutional use and limited in area to 25 percent 

of the gross floor area of the principal building. 



 

203 

 
(e) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(f) Transient Merchants. 

 
(10) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 



 

204 

§ 1007.091   R-1X, SINGLE FAMILY EXECUTIVE RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this district is to provide a residential atmosphere for those 

persons desiring a single family neighborhood with a suburban density. This district is intended 
for development of single family detached homes on lots served with public sewer and water.  
Land to be zoned R-1X shall be served with public sanitary sewer and water and shall be in a Low 
Density Residential land use category according to the comprehensive plan. The development 
density shall be consistent with that land use category. 
 

(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.   12,825 square feet contiguous buildable land as defined by City 
Code Section 1007.001(2). 

 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.    
 

1. Interior Lots.   90 feet. 
 
2. Corner Lots.   115 feet. 

 
(c) Minimum Lot Depth.   135 feet. 
 

1. Double Frontage Lots.   145 feet. 
 
(d) Setbacks.   
 

1. From Street Right-of Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 

 
4. Parking Lots for Non-Residential Uses.   15 feet from all lot lines. 



 

205 

 
(e) Buffer.   Any property adjacent to a collector or arterial street shall provide a 15-foot-

wide buffer in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043 (17). 
 
(3) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   65 percent of the lot area. 
 
(4) Building Requirements. 
 

(a) The minimum building footprint, less garage area, for single family dwellings shall 
be as follows: 

 
 Rambler    1,260 square feet 
 Split Level   1,248 square feet 
 Two Story   1,040 square feet 
 
(b) All dwellings shall comply with the Design and Construction Standards of City Code 

Section 1007.043 (2). 
 
(5) Maximum Building Height.   35 feet except as allowed by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 

 
(6) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the R-1X District: 
 

(a) Day care facilities serving 14 or fewer persons. 
 
(b) Public parks. 
 
(c) Single family detached dwellings. 
 
(d) State licensed residential care facility serving six (6) or fewer persons. 
 
(e) Community gardens operated by the city. 

 
(7) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the R-1X District: 
 

(a) Accessory apartments in compliance with City Code Section 1007.049. 
 
(b) Accessory buildings, structures, and uses in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.043(4). 
 
(c) Carports in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(4)(c). 
 
(d) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(e) Home Occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 



 

206 

(f) Model homes with temporary real estate offices in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.062. 

 
(g) Non-commercial greenhouses provided they do not exceed 200 square feet in area. 
 
(h) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(i) Parking spaces and carports for licensed and operable passenger motor vehicles. 
 
(j) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave radio dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(k) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(l) Swimming pools, sport courts, and other recreational facilities which are operated for 

the use of the residents of the principal use and their guests in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(d).  This does not include racing/riding courses for off-road vehicles. 

 
(8) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Cemeteries provided that: 
 

1. The site shall access on a collector or arterial street. 
 
2. Where abutting a rural or residential zoning district, the periphery of the site shall 

be screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
(b) Commercial outdoor recreational areas including golf courses, country clubs, driving 

ranges, swimming pools, and similar facilities provided that: 
 

1. The principal use, function or activity is open and outdoor in character. 
 
2. Not more than five (5) percent of the land area of the site be covered by buildings 

or structures. 
 
3. When abutting a residential use and a residential use district, the property is 

screened and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
4. The site shall access a collector street or arterial street. 

 
(c) Day care facilities serving more than 14 persons accessory to Public, Educational, 

and Religious Uses provided that: 



 

207 

 
1. Day care facility shall be connected to public sewer and water. 
 
2. Screening is provided in compliance with the applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. All day care facility operations comply with the minimum requirements of the 

Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services regulations, as may be amended. 
 
(d) Public, Educational, and Religious Buildings provided that: 
 

1. Side yards shall not be less than 50 feet. 
 
2. Adequate screening from abutting residential uses and landscaping is provided in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots directly 

abutting directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.044 and that such parking is adequately screened and landscaped from surrounding 
and abutting residential uses in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
(9) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 
 

(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.044. 

 
(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(c) Essential Services. 
 
(d) Open Air Market accessory to an institutional use and limited in area to 25 percent 

of the gross floor area of the principal building. 
 
(e) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(f) Transient Merchants. 

 
(10) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 

  



 

208 

§ 1007.092   R-2, TWO FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   This purpose of this district is to provide for development of single family 

and two family homes.  Land to be zoned R-2 shall be served with public sanitary sewer and 
water and shall be in a Low Density Residential, Low Density Mixed Residential, or Medium 
Density Residential land use category according to the comprehensive plan. The development 
density shall be consistent with the applicable land use category. 
 

(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.   Lot size shall consist of contiguous buildable land as defined by 
City Code Section 1007.001(2). 

 
1. Two Family.     
 

a. Base Lots.   15,000 square feet. 
 
b. Unit Lots.   7,500 square feet. 

 
2. Single Family.   7,500 square feet.  

 
(b) Minimum Lot Width. 
 

1. Two Family.     
 

a. Base Lots.   100 feet. 
 
b. Unit Lots.   50 feet. 

 
2. Single Family.     
 

a. Interior Lots.   60 feet. 
 
b. Corner Lots.   80 feet. 

 
(c) Minimum Lot Depth.   125 feet. 
 

1. Double Frontage Lots.   135 feet. 
 

(d) Setbacks.    
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   25 feet. 
 



 

209 

b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 
 
2. Rear Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   25 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 

 
4. Parking Lots for Non-Residential Uses.   15 feet from all lot lines. 
 
5. Zero Lot Line.   Side yard setback requirements shall not be applied to a common 

wall of a two family dwelling unit. 
 
(e) Buffer.   Where a side or rear lot line abuts a collector or arterial street a 15 foot wide 

buffer shall be provided in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
(3) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   65 percent of the lot area. 
 
(4) Building Requirements.  
 

(a) The minimum building footprint, less garage area, for single and two family 
dwellings shall be as follows: 

 
1. Single Family Dwellings. 
  
 Rambler   1,050 square feet 
 Split Level   980 square feet 
 Two Story   850 square feet 
 
2. Two Family Dwellings.   800 square feet first floor above grade, plus 100 

additional square feet for each bedroom. 
 
(b) Garages. All single family dwellings shall have a garage and shall comply with the 

following:  
 

1. Compliance with the Building Type and Construction Standards of City Code 
Section 1007.043(2); and 

 
2. All garages, except side or rear loaded garages, shall not protrude forward of the 



 

210 

front wall of the house, unless the house includes a front porch that is unenclosed, a minimum of 
six (6) feet in depth, and extends across 100 percent of the front façade of the house.  The garage 
shall then not protrude forward of the front porch, and 

 
3. If the garage door faces the street, the length of the garage wall facing the street 

shall not be greater than 50 percent of the length of the entire front façade of the structure; except 
on houses that comply with all of the following conditions: 

 
a. The second floor living space extends over the two-car portion of the garage; 

and 
 
b. The garage doors are decorative and have a strip of windows; and 
 
c. Garages in excess of two (2) stalls shall be broken up so the additional stalls 

are recessed two (2) feet from the main garage façade; and 
 
d. Garage width does not exceed 32 feet. 

 
(c) All dwellings shall comply with the Design and Construction Standards of City 

Code Section 1007.043(2). 
 
(5) Maximum Building Height.   35 feet except as allowed by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 

 
(6) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the R-2 District: 
 

(a) Day care facilities serving 14 or fewer persons. 
 
(b) Public parks. 
 
(c) Single family detached dwellings. 
 
(d) State licensed residential care facility serving 16 or fewer persons. 
 
(e) Two family dwellings. 
 
(f) Community Gardens operated by the city. 

 
(7) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the R-2 District: 

 
(a) Accessory apartments within single family homes in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.049. 
 
(b) Accessory buildings, structures, and uses in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.043(4). 
 



 

211 

(c) Carports in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(4)(c). 
 
(d) Fences per City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(e) Home Occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(f) Model homes with temporary real estate offices in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.062. 
 
(g) Non-commercial greenhouses provided they do not exceed 200 square feet in area. 
 
(h) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(i) Parking and carports for licensed and operable passenger cars and trucks. 
 
(j) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave radio dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(k) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010 of the City Code. 
 
(l) Swimming pools, sport courts, and other recreational facilities which are operated for 

the use of the residents of the principal use and their guests in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4).  This does not include racing/riding courses for off-road vehicles. 

 
(8) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Commercial outdoor recreational areas including golf courses, country clubs, driving 
ranges, swimming pools, and similar facilities provided that: 

 
1. The principal use, function, or activity is open and outdoor in character. 
 
2. Not more than five (5) percent of the land area of the site be covered by buildings 

or structures. 
 
3. When abutting a residential use and a residential use district, the property is 

screened and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
4. The site shall access a collector street or arterial street. 

 
(b) Day care facilities serving more than 14 persons accessory to Public, Educational, 

and Religious Uses provided that: 
 



 

212 

1. Day care facility shall be connected to public sewer and water. 
 
2. Screening is provided in compliance with the applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. All day care facility operations comply with the minimum requirements of the 

Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services regulations, as may be amended. 
 
(c) Public, Educational, and Religious Uses provided that: 
 

1. The building setback shall be 50 feet from any side lot line. 
 
2. Adequate screening from abutting residential uses and landscaping is provided in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots directly 

abutting directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.044(4) and that such parking is adequately screened and landscaped from 
surrounding and abutting residential uses in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 

(9) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 

 
(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.054. 
 
(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(c) Essential Services. 
 
(d) Open Air Market accessory to an institutional use and limited in area to 25 percent 

of the gross floor area of the principal building. 
 
(e) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(f) Transient Merchants. 

 
(10) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 



 

213 

§ 1007.093   R-3, MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this district is to provide setting for multiple family structures 

of up to eight (8) dwelling units per building. Land to be zoned R-3 shall be served with public 
sanitary sewer and water and shall be in a Medium or High Density Residential land use category 
according to the comprehensive plan. The development density shall be consistent with the 
applicable land use category. 

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.   Lot size shall consist of contiguous buildable land as defined by 
City Code Section 1007.001(2). 

 
1. Base Lots. 
 

a. Two Family Dwellings.   14,000 square feet. 
 

b. Townhomes and Other Multiple-Family Dwellings.   24,000 square feet. 
 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.    
 

1. Base Lots.   100 feet. 
 
(c) Minimum Lot Depth.   There is no minimum lot depth in the R-3 zoning district. 
 
(d) Setbacks.   
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   15 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   5 feet. 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 
 



 

214 

a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   5 feet. 

 
4. Zero Lot Line.   Side yard setback requirements shall not be applied to a common 

wall of multi-family dwelling units. 
 

5. From Low Density Residential. The principal buildings setback shall be 35 feet 
from any land guided for low density residential.  

 
(e) Buffer.   Where a side or rear lot line abuts land guided for low density residential, a 

collector street, or an arterial street, a 20-foot-wide buffer shall be provided in compliance with 
City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
(3) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   65 percent of the lot area. 
 
(4) Building Requirements.  
 

(a) Floor Area.   The minimum livable floor area for each multiple-family dwelling unit 
shall be 700 square feet plus 100 additional square feet for each bedroom.    

 
(b) Utility Area.   Dwellings with dedicated individual access shall be required to provide 

an additional 100 square feet of floor area to house utilities, unless a basement is present.  
Dwellings with shared access shall be required to provide adequate floor area within the building 
to house utilities. 

 
(c) All dwelling units shall have parking provided in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.044(6). 
 
(d) All dwellings shall comply with the Design and Construction Standards of City Code 

Section 1007.043(2). 
 

(5) Maximum Building Height.   The greater of three (3) stories or 40 feet, except as allowed 
by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 
 

(6) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the R-3 District: 
 

(a) Day care facilities serving 14 or fewer persons. 
 
(b) Multiple-family dwellings containing eight (8) units or less. 
 
(c) Public parks. 
 



 

215 

(d) State licensed residential care facility serving 16 or fewer persons. 
 
(e) Townhomes. 
 
(f) Two family dwellings. 
 
(g) Community gardens operated by the city. 

 
(7) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the R-3 District: 
 

(a) Accessory buildings, structures, and uses in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4). 

 
(b) Carports in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(4)(c). 
 
(c) Fences per City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(d) Home Occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(e) Model homes with temporary real estate offices in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.062. 
 
(f) Non-commercial greenhouses provided they do not exceed 200 square feet in area. 
 
(g) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(h) Parking and carports for licensed and operable passenger motor vehicles. 
 
(i) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave radio dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(j) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(k) Swimming pools, sport courts, and other recreational facilities which are operated for 

the use of the residents of the principal use and their guests in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4).  This does not include racing/riding courses for off-road vehicles. 

 
(8) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Commercial outdoor recreational areas including golf courses, country clubs, driving 
ranges, swimming pools, and similar facilities provided that: 

 



 

216 

1. The principal use, function or activity is open and outdoor in character. 
 
2. Not more than five (5) percent of the land area of the site be covered by buildings 

or structures. 
 
3. When abutting a residential use and a residential use district, the property is 

screened and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
4. The site shall access on a collector street or arterial street. 

 
(b) Day care facilities accessory to Public, Educational, and Religious Uses provided 

that: 
 

1. Day care facility shall be connected to public sewer and water. 
 
2. Screening is provided in compliance with the applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. All day care facility operations comply with the minimum requirements of the 

Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services regulations, as may be amended. 
 
(c) Public, Educational, and Religious Uses, provided that: 
 

1. The building setback shall be 50 feet from any side lot line. 
 
2. Adequate screening from abutting residential uses and landscaping is provided in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots directly 

abutting or directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.044 and that such parking is adequately screened and landscaped from surrounding 
and abutting residential uses in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
(9) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 
 

(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.054. 

 
(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(c) Essential Services. 
 
(d) Open Air Market accessory to an institutional use and limited in area to 25 percent 

of the gross floor area of the principal building. 



 

217 

 
(e) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(f) Transient Merchants. 

 
(10) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 

 



 

218 

§ 1007.094   R-4, HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this district is to provide a setting for multiple-family housing 

in areas that have good thoroughfare access. Land to be zoned R-4 shall be served with public 
sanitary sewer and water and shall be in a High Density Residential land use category according 
to the comprehensive plan. The development density shall be consistent with that land use 
category. 

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.   Lot size shall consist of contiguous buildable land as defined by 
City Code Section 1007.001(2). 

 
1. Base Lots. 

 
a. Two Family.   12,000 square feet. 
 
b. Townhome and Other Multiple-Family Dwellings.   20,000 square feet. 

 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.   
 

1. Base Lots.    100 feet. 
 
(c) Minimum Lot Depth.   There is no minimum lot depth in the R-4 zoning district. 
 
(d) Setbacks.   
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   15 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   5 feet. 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 
 



 

219 

a. Principal Building.   20 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   5 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   5 feet. 

 
4. Zero Lot Line.   Side yard setback requirements shall not be applied to a common 

wall of multi-family dwelling units. 
 
5. From Low Density Residential District. The principal buildings setback shall 

be 35 feet from any land guided for low density residential.  
 
(e) Buffer.   Where a side or rear lot line abuts land guided for low density residential, a 

collector street, or an arterial street, a 20 foot wide buffer shall be provided in compliance with 
City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
(3) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   65 percent of the lot area. 
 
(4) Floor Area.   The minimum livable floor area for each multiple-family dwelling unit shall 

be 700 square feet plus 100 additional square feet for each bedroom. 
 
(5) Utility Area.   Dwellings with dedicated individual access shall be required to provide an 

additional 100 square feet of floor area to house utilities, unless a basement is present.  Dwellings 
with shared access shall be required to provide adequate floor area within the building to house 
utilities. 

 
(6) All dwellings shall provide parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044 (11). 
 
(7) All dwellings shall comply with the Design and Construction Standards of City Code 

Section 1007.043(2). 
 
(8) Maximum Building Height.   The greater of three (3) stories or 40 feet, except as allowed 

by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 
 
(9) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the R-4 District: 
 

(a) Day care facilities serving 14 or fewer persons. 
 
(b) Multiple-family dwellings. 
 
(c) Public parks. 
 
(d) State licensed residential care facility serving 16 or fewer persons. 
 
(e) Townhomes. 



 

220 

 
(f) Two family dwellings. 
 
(g) Community Gardens operated by the city. 

 
(10) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the R-4 District: 
 

(a) Accessory buildings, structures, and uses in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4). 

 
(b) Carports in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(4)(c). 
 
(c) Fences per City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(d) Home occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(e) Model homes with temporary real estate offices in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.062. 
 
(f) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 

 
(g) Parking and carports for licensed and operable passenger motor vehicles. 
 
(h) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave radio dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(i) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(j) Swimming pools, sport courts, and other recreational facilities which are operated for 

the use of the residents of the principal use and their guests in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4).  This does not include racing/riding courses for off-road vehicles. 

 
(11) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Assisted living facilities and nursing homes provided that: 
 

1. Side yards are double the minimum requirements established for this district and 
are screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
2. Only the rear yard shall be used for play or recreational areas.  Said area shall be 

fenced and controlled and screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 



 

221 

3. The site shall be served by an arterial or collector street of sufficient capacity to 
accommodate traffic which will be generated. 

 
4. All signing and informational or visual communication devices shall be in 

compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
5. All State Statutes and regulations governing such use are strictly adhered to and 

all required operating permits are secured. 
 
6. Adequate off-street parking is provided in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.044. 
 
7. Adequate off-street loading space is provided in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.045 this ordinance. 
 
(b) Commercial outdoor recreational areas including golf courses, country clubs, driving 

ranges, swimming pools, and similar facilities provided that: 
 

1. The principal use, function or activity is open and outdoor in character. 
 
2. Not more than five (5) percent of the land area of the site be covered by buildings 

or structures. 
 
3. When abutting a residential use and a residential use district, the property is 

screened and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
4. The site shall access on a collector street or arterial street. 

 
(c) Day care facilities serving more than 16 persons provided that: 
 

1. Day care facility shall be connected to public sewer and water. 
 
2. Screening is provided in compliance with the applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. All day care facility operations comply with the minimum requirements of the 

Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services regulations, as may be amended. 
 
(d) Public, Educational, and Religious Uses provided that: 
 

1. The building setback shall be 50 feet from any side lot line. 
 
2. Adequate screening from abutting residential uses and landscaping is provided in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 



 

222 

3. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots directly 
abutting or directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.044 and that such parking is adequately screened and landscaped from surrounding 
and abutting residential uses in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 

(12) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 

 
(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.054. 
 
(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(c) Essential Services. 
 
(d) Open Air Market accessory to an institutional use and limited in area to 25 percent 

of the gross floor area of the principal building. 
 
(e) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(f) Transient Merchants. 

 
(13) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 

 



 

223 

§ 1007.095   R-5, HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL AND BUSINESS DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this district is to provide a setting for multiple-family housing 

and commercial in areas that have good thoroughfare access.  Land to be zoned R-5 shall be served 
with public sanitary sewer and water and shall be in a Planned Residential/Commercial land use 
category according to the comprehensive plan. The development density shall be consistent with 
the land use category. 

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.   Lot size shall consist of contiguous buildable land as defined by 
City Code Section 1007.001(2). 

 
1. Base Lots. 

 
a. Townhomes.   14,000 square feet. 
 
b. Multiple-Family Dwellings.   20,000 square feet. 

 
c. Commercial.  20,000 square feet. 

 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.   
 

1. Base Lots for All Buildings.    100 feet. 
 
(c) Minimum Lot Depth.   There is no minimum lot depth in the R-5 zoning district. 
 
(d) Setbacks for All Buildings.   
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   15 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   10 feet. 

 



 

224 

3. Side Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   20 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   10 feet. 

 
4. Zero Lot Line.   Side yard setback requirements shall not be applied to a common 

wall of multi-family dwelling units. 
 
5. From Low Density Residential District. The principal building setback shall 

be 35 feet from any land guided for low density residential.  
 
(e) Buffer.   Where a side or rear lot line abuts land guided for low density residential, a 

collector street, or an arterial street, a 20 foot wide buffer shall be provided in compliance with 
City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
(3) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   75 percent.  
 
(4) Floor Area.   The minimum livable floor area for each multiple-family dwelling unit shall 

be 700 square feet plus 100 additional square feet for each bedroom. 
 
(5) Utility Area.   Dwellings with dedicated individual access shall be required to provide an 

additional 100 square feet of floor area to house utilities, unless a basement is present.  Dwellings 
with shared access shall be required to provide adequate floor area within the building to house 
utilities. 

 
(6) All dwellings shall provide parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044 (11). 
 
(7) All dwellings shall comply with the Design and Construction Standards of City Code 

Section 1007.043(2). 
 
(8) Maximum Building Height.   The greater of three (3) stories or 40 feet, except as allowed 

by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 
 

(9) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the R-5 District: 
 

(a) Day care facilities serving 14 or fewer persons. 
 
(b) Multiple-family dwellings. 
 
(c) Public parks. 
 
(d) State licensed residential care facilities serving 16 or fewer persons. 



 

225 

 
(e) Townhouse dwellings. 
 
(f) Two family dwellings. 
 
(g) Community gardens operated by the City. 

 
(10) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the R-5 District: 
 

(a) Accessory buildings, structures, and uses in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4). 
 

(b) Fences per City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(c) Home Occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(d) Model homes with temporary real estate offices in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.062. 
 
(e) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 

 
(f) Parking and carports for licensed and operable passenger motor vehicles. 
 
(g) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave radio dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(h) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(i) Swimming pools, sport courts, and other recreational facilities which are operated for 

the use of the residents of the principal use and their guests in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4).  This does not include racing/riding courses for off-road vehicles. 

 
(11) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) All permitted and conditional uses listed in City Code Section 1007.111. 
 
(b) Assisted living facilities, clinics, and nursing homes provided that: 
 

1. Side yards are double the minimum requirements established for this district and 
are screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
2. Only the rear yard shall be used for play or recreational areas.  Said area shall be 



 

226 

fenced and controlled and screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. The site shall be served by an arterial or collector street of sufficient capacity to 

accommodate traffic which will be generated. 
 
4. All State Statutes and regulations governing such use are strictly adhered to and 

all required operating permits are secured. 
 
5. Adequate off-street parking is provided in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.044. 
 
6. Adequate off-street loading space is provided in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.045 this ordinance. 
 
(c) Commercial outdoor recreational areas including golf courses, country clubs, driving 

ranges, swimming pools, and similar facilities provided that: 
 

1. The principal use, function or activity is open and outdoor in character. 
 
2. Not more than five (5) percent of the land area of the site be covered by buildings 

or structures. 
 
3. When abutting a residential use and a residential use district, the property is 

screened and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
4. The site shall access on a collector street or arterial street. 

 
(d) Day care facilities serving more than 14 persons provided that: 
 

1. Day care facility shall be connected to public sewer and water. 
 
2. Screening is provided in compliance with the applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. All day care facility operations comply with the minimum requirements of the 

Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services regulations, as may be amended. 
 
(e) Funeral homes and mortuaries provided that: 
 

1. The site and related parking and service entrances are served by an arterial or 
collector street or sufficient capacity to accommodate the traffic which will be generated. 

 
2. Adequate off-street parking is provided in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.044. 
 



 

227 

3. Adequate off-street loading is provided in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.045. 

 
4. Vehicular entrances to parking or service areas shall create a minimum of conflict 

with through traffic movement. 
 
5. When abutting residential zoning districts, a buffer area with screening and 

landscaping in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17) shall be provided. 
 

(f) Public, Educational, and Religious Uses provided that: 
 

1. The building setback shall be 50 feet from any side lot line. 
 
2. Adequate screening from abutting residential uses and landscaping is provided in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots directly 

abutting or directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.044 and that such parking is adequately screened and landscaped from surrounding 
and abutting residential uses in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 

(12) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 

 
(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.054. 
 
(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 

 
(c) Essential Services. 
 
(d) Open Air Market accessory to an institutional use and limited in area to 25 percent 

of the gross floor area of the principal building. 
 
(e) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(f) Transient Merchants. 

 
(13) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 



 

228 

§ 1007.096   R-6, MANUFACTURED HOME PARK DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of this district is to provide opportunities where manufactured 

housing may be located on a leased or rented site in a planned community.  This district is intended 
to provide opportunities for almost all types of manufactured homes including those which may 
not be able to meet the design standards established in other residential districts.  All manufactured 
home parks are required to conform to the provisions of this section and other appropriate sections 
of this ordinance.  Land to be zoned R-6 and any new manufactured home park shall be served 
with public sanitary sewer and water and the density of the park shall be consistent with the land 
use category according to the comprehensive plan.   

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Park Size.   Five (5) acres. 
 
(b) Minimum Lot or Site Size.   6,000 square feet per unit exclusive of roadways, 

walkways or other property used for park purposes. 
 
(c) Minimum Lot or Site Width.   60 feet. 
 
(d) Setbacks. 
 

1. From Public Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 

 
2. Front Lot Line.    
 

a. Private Street.   20 feet. 
 
b. Common Park Walk.   10 feet. 

 
3. Rear Lot Line.   10 feet. 
 
4. Side Lot Line.   10 feet.   Side yard setback for interior lot lines may be reduced to 

zero, if it is part of an overall park plan to maximize private yard space for each unit.  This zero 
side yard setback allowance will only be permitted if the distance to the manufactured home that 
shares that side lot line is at least 30 feet in distance. 

 
5. There shall not be less than 20 feet of space between manufactured homes in all 

directions.   
 
6. From Low Density Residential.   The principal building setback shall be 35 feet 



 

229 

from any land guided for low density residential.  
 
(e) Buffer.   Where a side or rear lot line abuts land guided for low density residential, a 

collector street, or an arterial street, a 20-foot-wide buffer shall be provided in compliance with 
City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
(3) Park Requirements.   
 

(a) Skirt.   All manufactured homes shall have skirts around the entire unit made of metal, 
plastic, fiberglass or comparable, non-combustible material approved by the Building Official and 
shall be finished to be harmonious with the manufactured home so that it will enhance the general 
appearance thereof. 

 
(b) Parking.   The parking of more than one (1) manufactured home on any single lot 

shall not be permitted. 
 
(c) Fire Protection.   Fire protection shall be in compliance with Minnesota Health 

Department Rule 187 Fire Protection Regulations.  Each occupied manufactured home shall be 
equipped with a Fire Marshal approved type extinguisher in usable condition.  The occupant of a 
manufactured home shall be responsible for providing such extinguisher. 

 
(d) Support and Tie Down Systems.   The Minnesota Department of Administration 

Building Code Division Rules for Manufactured Home Support and Tie Down Systems, authorized 
by M. S. §327.31 to §327.34, are hereby adopted by reference and made a part of this ordinance 
as if fully set forth herein.  All new and relocated manufactured homes shall be equipped with an 
anchoring and support system as defined and approved by state rules. 

 
(e) Construction Material Storage.   All construction materials not currently in use for 

construction shall be stored indoors, or totally screened from the eye level view from public streets 
and adjacent properties. 

 
(f) Drainage.   Every manufactured home park shall be located on a well-drained area 

and the premises shall be properly graded so as to prevent the accumulation of storm or other 
waters. 

 
(g) Common Walks.   Where deemed necessary, common walks shall be provided. Such 

walks shall be a minimum width of three (3) feet. 
 
(h) Individual Walks.   All manufactured homes shall be connected to common walks, to 

paved streets, or to paved driveways or parking spaces connecting to a paved street.  Such 
individual walks shall have a minimum width of two (2) feet. 

 
(i) Patio.   A patio may be constructed on the ground beside each manufactured home 

parking space; this patio shall be not greater than 150 square feet in area and constructed of 
concrete with a minimum thickness of four (4) inches or approved equal. 



 

230 

 
(j) Shade Tree.   At least one (1) shade tree (minimum diameter two (2) inches at time 

of planting) shall be located and maintained on each site or lot. 
 
(k) Landscaping.   Except for the areas used for the manufactured home, patio, walkways 

and off-street parking space, the entire site or lot shall be sodded, seeded, or adequately landscaped. 
 
(l) Street Access.   Each unit shall abut on and have access to a street.  This street shall 

be constructed according to standards approved by the City. 
 
(m) Curbing.   A concrete curb and gutter shall be constructed on each side of the street 

and the face of its curb shall be at least 15 feet from the centerline of said street; the design shall 
be of a type approved by the City. 

 
(n) Speed Limit.   Speed limit signs shall be clearly posted throughout the manufactured 

home park.  10 miles per hour shall be the maximum speed posted. 
 
(o) Parking. 
 

1. Each manufactured home site shall have off-street parking space paved with 
concrete and/or bituminous for two (2) passenger motor vehicles. 

 
2. Each manufactured home park shall maintain a hard surfaced off-street parking lot 

for guests of occupants of at least one (1) space for each five (5) manufactured home lots. 
 
3. Access drives off roads to all parking spaces and manufactured home lots shall be 

surfaced with concrete or bituminous according to specifications established by the City. 
 
4. There shall be a separate area of storage provided for boats, boat trailers, travel 

trailers, etc.  The area shall be located away from any public street and shall be fenced and screened 
from view of public street and adjacent properties. 

 
(p) Utilities. 
 

1. All manufactured homes shall be served by a central water and sanitary sewer 
system. 

 
2. All utilities shall be underground.  There shall be no overhead wires or supporting 

poles except those essential for street or other lighting purposes. 
 
3. Access in the skirting shall be provided to allow the inspection of plumbing, 

electrical facilities and related manufactured home equipment. 
 



 

231 

4. Water facilities, sewage disposal, and street lighting shall be installed and 
maintained by the owner of the manufactured home park and shall meet all appropriate standards 
established by the City. 

 
(q) Street Lighting.   The park shall have a street lighting plan approved by the City. 
 
(r) Accessory Buildings.   Any accessory building for outdoor storage of equipment or 

refuse shall be constructed of weather resistant material and be finished in a manner conforming 
with the appearance of the principal dwelling and shall be consistent in appearance with the other 
accessory buildings in the manufactured home park. 

 
(s) Community Building.   All manufactured home parks may have a central community 

building with laundry drying areas and washing machines. 
 
(t) Emergency Storm Protections.   Manufactured home parks established prior to July 

1, 1993 shall comply with emergency room protections as required by Minnesota Statutes.  A new 
manufactured home park established after July 1, 1993 shall have storm shelters in compliance 
with Minnesota Statutes.  Additionally, all emergency storm protection measures shall be subject 
to the approval of the City Council. 

 
(u) Recreational Space.   All manufactured home parks shall have at least 10 percent of 

the land area developed for recreational use (sport courts, children’s play equipment, swimming 
pool, golf green, etc.) developed and maintained at the owner’s expense. 

 
(v) Refuse Handling.   The handling of refuse shall be in compliance with the applicable 

provisions of City Code Section 1007.043(5).  The refuse handling shall be allowed provided such 
equipment is screened from adjacent uses, and all public and private street rights-of-way. 

 
(4) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the R-6 District: 
 

(a) Community/recreation buildings. 
 
(b) Manufactured homes. 
 
(c) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.054. 
 
(d) Community gardens operated by the City. 
 
(e) Day care facilities serving 14 or fewer persons. 
 
(f) State licensed residential care facility serving six (6) or fewer persons. 

 
(5) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the R-6 District: 
 



 

232 

(a) Accessory buildings, structures, and uses in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4). 

 
(b) Carports in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(4)(c). 
 
(c) Civil defense buildings/storm shelters. 
 
(d) Community laundry facilities, park office, recreational building(s) provided such 

structures are of a permanent nature and comply with the requirements of the State Building Code. 
 
(e) Fences per City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(f) Model homes/temporary real estate offices in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.062. 
 
(g) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(h) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave radio dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(i) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(j) Swimming pools, sport courts, and other recreational facilities which are operated for 

the use of the residents of the principal use and their guests in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4).  This does not include racing/riding courses for off-road vehicles.   

 
(6) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) None. 
 
(7) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 
 

(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City 
Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(b) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 

 
(c) Transient Merchants. 

 
(8) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 



 

233 

 
(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.051. 
 
(9) Review and Approval Procedures.   No person shall establish, develop, extend or enlarge 

a manufactured home park within the City of Lino Lakes without first obtaining approval from the 
City Council with review by the Planning and Zoning Board.  Approval shall be granted only upon 
compliance with all of the following: 

 
(a) Planning and Zoning Board Review.   The Planning and Zoning Board shall review 

all applications for manufactured home parks and shall hold public hearings as deemed necessary 
or proper.  The findings and recommendations of the Planning and Zoning Board shall be 
forwarded to the City Council for action. 

 
(b) Approval or Denial.   The City Council shall consider and act on the application.  

Approval shall be granted only upon compliance with all of the procedures and requirements 
established in this ordinance. 

 
(c) Submission Requirements.   Submission for manufactured home park approval shall 

include the following: 
 

1. All submittal requirements for a zoning amendment and/or conditional use permit, 
as appropriate, required by City Code Section 1007.015 through Section 1007.024 as amended.  If 
the site is to be subdivided, the submittal also must comply with the requirements of City Code 
Chapter 1001. 

 
2. Proof of Agency Review.   The applicant shall provide proof that the plans 

submitted have been approved by the State of Minnesota Department of Health, and have satisfied 
all other federal, state, county, city, and watershed district laws and regulations. 

 
(d) Access.   It shall be the duty of the park owner to give the Building Official free access 

to all lots at reasonable times for the purposes of inspection. 
 



 

234 

BUSINESS DISTRICTS 
 
 

§ 1007.110   NB, NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of the NB, Neighborhood Business District is to provide for the 

establishment of local businesses for convenience, limited office, retail or service outlets which 
deal directly with the daily requirements of the immediate neighborhood and which are located 
along a collector or arterial roadway.  These businesses are not intended to draw customers from 
the entire community.  Land to be zoned NB shall be served with public sanitary sewer and water 
and shall be in a Commercial land use category according to the comprehensive plan. 

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size. 
 

1. Sewered Lot.   11,250 square feet. 
 
2. Unsewered Lot.   10 acres, in compliance with applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.042(2)(b). 
 
(b) Minimum Lot Width. 
 

1. Sewered Lot-Interior.   75 feet. 
 
2. Sewered Lot-Corner.   100 feet. 
 
3. Unsewered Lot.   150 feet. 

 
(c) Setbacks. 
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   15 feet. 

 



 
 

  8-235  
 

2. Rear Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot:   10 feet. 
 

3. Side Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot:   10 feet. 

 
4. From Property Guided by the Comprehensive Plan for Residential Use.   35 feet. 
 
5. Between Principal Buildings.   Not less than one-half (1/2) the sum of the building 

heights of the two (2) buildings. 
 
(3) Maximum Building Height.   36 feet except as allowed by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 
 
(4) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   65 percent of the lot area. 

 
(5) Building Requirements.   All newly constructed commercial buildings shall meet the 

exterior building standards of City Code Section 1007.043(2)(d). 
 
(6) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the NB District:  
 

(a) Adult use – accessory. 
 
(b) Office business – clinic. 
 
(c) Office business – general. 
 
(d) Personal services (subject to any licensing requirements of City Code, County, or 

State). 
 
(e) Restaurants.  
 
(f) Retail business. 
 
(g) Service business – on-site. 
 



 

236 
 

(h) Liquor sales:  on-sale.  
 
(i) Community gardens operated by the City. 

 
(7) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the NB District: 
 

(a) Accessory buildings and structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043 
(4)(k). 

 
(b) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(c) Off-street loading in compliance with City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
(d) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(e) Outside services, sales, and equipment rental accessory to the principal use and 

limited in area to 25 percent of the gross floor area of the principal building. 
 
(f) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(g) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(h) Home Occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 

 
(8) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Commercial day care facilities provided that: 
 

1. All requirements of the Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services, as 
may be amended, are satisfactorily met and the structure and operation are licensed accordingly. 

 
2. Screening is provided in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. Adequate off-street parking is provided in a location separated from any outdoor 

play area(s). 
 

(b) Specialty schools such as music, dance, or business schools provided that: 
 

1. Provisions are made to buffer and screen any adjoining residential uses. 
 
2. The site is served by an arterial or collector street of sufficient capacity to 

accommodate traffic which will be generated. 



 

237 
 

 
(c) Veterinary hospitals provided that: 
 

1. All areas in which animals are confined are located indoors and are properly 
soundproofed from adjacent properties. 

 
2. Animal carcasses are properly disposed of in a manner not utilizing on-site 

garbage facilities or incineration and the carcasses are properly refrigerated during periods prior 
to disposal. 

 
3. An indoor animal kennel is permitted as a use accessory to the veterinary hospital 

provided that: 
 

a. The number of animals boarded shall not exceed 20. 
 
b. An indoor exercise area shall be provided to accommodate the periodic 

exercising of animals boarded at the kennel.  No outdoor exercising of animals shall be permitted. 
 
c. A ventilation system shall be designed so that no odors or organisms will 

spread between wards or to the outside air and will be capable of completely exchanging internal 
air at a rate of at least twice per hour.  Air temperature must be maintained between 60- and 75- 
degrees Fahrenheit. 

 
d. A room separate from the kennel area shall be provided of sufficient size to 

adequately separate animals that are sick or injured from healthy animals. 
 
e. Indoor animal kennel floors and walls shall be made of non-porous materials 

or sealed concrete to make it non-porous. 
 
f. Animal wastes shall be flushed down an existing sanitary sewer system or 

enclosed in a container of sufficient construction to eliminate odors and organisms and shall be 
properly disposed of at least once a day. 

 
4. The appropriate license is obtained from the City and the conditions of City Code 

Chapter 503 relating to the keeping of animals are satisfactorily met. 
 
5. All State Health Department and Minnesota Pollution Control Agency 

requirements for such facilities are met. 
 

(9) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 

 
(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.054. 
 
(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 



 

238 
 

 
(c) Essential Services. 
 
(d) Accessory outdoor dining areas intended for consumption of food or beverages 

purchased on site in compliance with City Code Section 1007.055.  This administrative permit 
may be incorporated into another approval such as but not limited to a site plan, planned unit 
development, or building permit. 

 
(e) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(f) Transient Merchants. 

 
(10) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 

  



 

239 
 

§ 1007.111   LB, LIMITED BUSINESS DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of the LB, Limited Business District is to provide for the 

establishment of commercial uses of a limited (less intense) nature.  This may be due to the close 
proximity of residential uses.  This may include high quality commercial areas such as an office 
park development.  Also, the LB District can be used as a transitional district or buffer between 
non-compatible uses such as intense commercial (GB) and residential uses.  Land to be zoned 
LB shall be served with public sanitary sewer and water and shall be in a Commercial land use 
category according to the comprehensive plan. 

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.     
 

1. Sewered Lots.   15,000 square feet. 
 
2. Unsewered Lots.   10 acres in compliance with applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.042(2)(b). 
 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.    
 

1. Sewered Lots.   100 feet. 
 
2. Unsewered Lots.   150 feet. 

 
(c) Setbacks. 
 

1. From Street Right-of-Ways. 
 
a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   15 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   10 feet. 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 



 

240 
 

 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   10 feet. 

 
4. From Property Guided by the Comprehensive Plan for Residential Use.   35 feet. 
 
5. Between Principal Buildings.   Not less than one-half (1/2) the sum of the building 

heights of the two (2) buildings. 
 
(3) Maximum Building Height.   36 feet except as allowed by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 
 
(4) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   65 percent of the lot area. 
 
(5) Building Requirements.   All newly constructed buildings shall meet the exterior building 

standards of City Code Section 1007.043(2)(d). 
 

(6) Permitted Uses.  The following are permitted uses in the LB District: 
 

(a) Adult use – accessory. 
 
(b) Liquor sales – on and off sale. 
 
(c) Office business – clinic. 
 
(d) Office business – general. 
 
(e) Personal services (subject to any licensing requirements of City Code, County, or 

State). 
 
(f) Residential extended care facilities such as nursing homes. 
 
(g) Restaurants. 
 
(h) Retail business. 
 
(i) Service business – off-site. 
 
(j) Service business – on-site. 
 
(k) Community Gardens operated by the City. 

 
(7) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the LB District: 
 

(a) Accessory buildings and structures in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4)(k). 



 

241 
 

 
(b) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 

 
(c) Off-street loading in compliance with City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
(d) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(e) Outside services, sales, and equipment rental accessory to the principal use and 

limited in area to 25 percent of the gross floor area of the principal building. 
 
(f) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters, and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(g) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(h) Home Occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 

 
(8) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Accessory drive-through facilities provided that: 
 

1. At least 120 feet of segregated passenger motor vehicle stacking must be provided 
for the single service lane.  Where multiple service lanes are provided, the minimum passenger 
motor vehicle stacking may be reduced to 60 feet per lane. 

 
2. The stacking lane and its access must be designed to control traffic in a manner to 

protect the buildings and will not interfere with on-site traffic circulation or access to the required 
parking space. 

 
3. No part of the public street or boulevard may be used for stacking of passenger 

motor vehicles or motorcycles. 
 
4. The stacking lane, order board intercom, and window placement shall be designed 

and located in such a manner as to minimize glare to adjacent premises, particularly residential 
premises, and to maximize maneuverability of vehicles on the site. 

 
5. The drive-through window and its stacking lanes shall be screened from view of 

adjoining residential zoning districts and public street rights-of-way. 
 
6. A lighting and photometric plan will be required that illustrates the drive-through 

service lane lighting and shall comply with City Code Section 1007.043(6). 
 
(b) Commercial day care facilities provided that: 



 

242 
 

 
1. All requirements of the Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services, as 

may be amended, are satisfactorily met and the structure and operation is licensed accordingly. 
 
2. Screening is provided in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. Adequate off-street parking is provided in a location separated from any outdoor 

play area(s). 
 
4. Adequate off-street loading spaces in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.045. 
  
(c) Motor fuel stations provided that: 
 

1. All conditions in City Code Section 1007.064 are met. 
 

(d) Private lodges and clubs provided that: 
 

1. Screening and landscaping from land guided residential per the Comprehensive 
Plan is provided in compliance with requirements for business or industrial uses in City Code 
Section 1007.043(17). 

 
2. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots directly 

abutting directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.044. 

 
3. Parking is screened and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.043(17). 
 

(e) Public, Educational, and Religious Buildings provided that: 
 

1. Screening from residential uses and landscaping is provided in compliance with 
City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
2. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots directly 

abutting directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.044. 

 
3. Parking is screened and landscaped in compliance with requirements for business 

or industrial uses in City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
4. Adequate off-street loading and service entrances are provided and regulated 

where applicable by City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
(f) Specialty schools such as music, dance or business schools provided that: 
 



 

243 
 

1. Provisions are made to buffer and screen any adjoining residential uses. 
 
2. The site is served by an arterial or collector street of sufficient capacity to 

accommodate traffic which will be generated. 
 
(g) Residential apartments accessory to permitted or conditional uses in the LB District 

provided that: 
 

1. The apartment is located in the same building as the principal use. 
 
2. Residential and non-residential use are not contained on the same floor. 
 
3. The residential and non-residential uses do not conflict in any manner. 

 
(h) Veterinary hospitals provided that: 
 

1. All areas in which animals are confined are located indoors and are properly 
soundproofed from adjacent properties. 

 
2. Animal carcasses are properly disposed of in a manner not utilizing on-site 

garbage facilities or incineration and the carcasses are properly refrigerated during periods prior 
to disposal. 

 
3. An indoor animal kennel is permitted as a use accessory to the veterinary hospital 

provided that: 
 

a. The number of animals boarded shall not exceed 20. 
 
b. An indoor exercise area shall be provided to accommodate the periodic 

exercising of animals boarded at the kennel.  No outdoor exercising of animals shall be permitted. 
 
c. A ventilation system shall be designed so that no odors or organisms will 

spread between wards or to the outside air and will be capable of completely exchanging internal 
air at a rate of at least twice per hour.  Air temperature must be maintained between 60- and 75-
degrees Fahrenheit. 

 
d. A room separate from the kennel area shall be provided of sufficient size to 

adequately separate animals that are sick or injured from healthy animals. 
 
e. Indoor animal kennel floors and walls shall be made of non-porous materials 

or sealed concrete to make it non-porous. 
 
f. Animal wastes shall be flushed down an existing sanitary sewer system or 

enclosed in a container of sufficient construction to eliminate odors and organisms and shall be 
properly disposed of at least once a day. 

 



 

244 
 

4. The appropriate license is obtained from the City and the conditions of City Code 
Chapter 503 relating to the keeping of animals are met. 

 
5. All State Health Department and Minnesota Pollution Control Agency 

requirements for such facilities are met. 
 

(9) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 

 
(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.054. 
 
(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(c) Essential Services. 
 
(d) Accessory outdoor dining areas intended for consumption of food or beverages 

purchased on site in compliance with City Code Section 1007.055. This administrative permit may 
be incorporated into another approval such as but not limited to a site plan, planned unit 
development, or building permit. 

 
(e) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(f) Transient Merchants. 

 
(10) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 

 



 

245 
 

§ 1007.112   GB, GENERAL BUSINESS DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of the GB, General Business District is to provide for the 

establishment of a wide variety of business uses including retail, service, and semi-industrial uses.  
The district may contain businesses which tend to serve other business and industry as well as 
those catering to shoppers’ needs.  Land to be zoned GB shall be served with public sanitary sewer 
and water and shall be in a Commercial land use category according to the comprehensive plan. 

 
(2) Lot and Yard Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.     
 

1. Sewered Lot.   20,000 square feet.  
 
2. Unsewered Lot.   10 acres in compliance with applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.042(2)(b). 
 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.   100 feet. 
 
(c) Setbacks. 
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a) Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b) Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 
 
c) Parking Lot.   15 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 
 

a) Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b) Accessory Building.   5 feet. 
 
c) Parking Lot.   10 feet. 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 
 

a) Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b) Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c) Parking Lot.   10 feet. 

 
4. From Property Guided by the Comprehensive Plan for Residential Use.   35 feet. 



 

246 
 

 
5. Between Principal Buildings.   Not less than one-half (1/2) the sum of the building 

heights of the two (2) buildings. 
 
(3) Maximum Building Height.   45 feet except as allowed by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 
 
(4) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   75 percent of the lot area. 

 
(5) Building Requirements.   All newly constructed buildings shall meet the exterior building 

standards of City Code Section 1007.043(2)(d). 
 

(6) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the GB District: 
  

(a) Adult use – principal and accessory. 
 
(b) Commercial greenhouses and nurseries. 
 
(c) Hospitality business. 
 
(d) Liquor sales, on and off sale. 
 
(e) Office business – clinical. 
 
(f) Office business – general. 
 
(g) Personal Services (subject to any licensing requirements of City Code, County or 

State). 
 
(h) Recreational business contained entirely within the principal building. 
 
(i) Restaurants and Brew Pubs. 
 
(j) Microdistilleries. 

 
(k) Small brewer. 
 
(l) Winery. 
 
(m) Retail business. 
 
(n) Service business – off-site. 
 
(o) Service business – on-site. 
 
(p) Specialty schools such as music, dance, gymnastics, or business/trade schools. 
 



 

247 
 

(q) Theaters. 
 
(r) Community Gardens operated by the City. 

 
(7) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the GB District: 
 

(a) Accessory buildings and structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043 
(4)(J). 

(b) Brewer taproom accessory to a small brewer. 
 

(c) Drive-through service facilities: 
 

1. At least 120 feet of segregated passenger motor vehicle stacking must be provided 
for the single service lane.  Where multiple service lanes are provided, the minimum passenger 
motor vehicle stacking may be reduced to 60 feet per lane. 

 
2. The stacking lane and its access must be designed to control traffic in a manner to 

protect the buildings and will not interfere with on-site traffic circulation or access to the required 
parking space. 

 
3. No part of the public street or boulevard may be used for stacking of passenger 

motor vehicles or motorcycles. 
 
4. The stacking lane, order board intercom, and window placement shall be designed 

and located in such a manner as to minimize glare to adjacent premises, particularly residential 
premises, and to maximize maneuverability of vehicles on the site. 

 
5. The drive-through window and its stacking lanes shall be screened from view of 

adjoining residential zoning districts and public street rights-of-way. 
 
6. A lighting and photometric plan will be required that illustrates the drive-through 

service lane lighting and shall comply with City Code Section 1007.043(6). 
 
(d) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(e) Off-street loading in compliance with City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
(f) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(g) Outside services, sales, and equipment rental accessory to the principal use and 

limited in area to 25 percent of the gross floor area of the principal building. 
 
(h) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 



 

248 
 

 
(i) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(j) Tasting room accessory to a distillery. 
 
(k) Tasting room accessory to a winery. 
 
(l) Home Occupation Level A in compliance with City Code Section 1007.047. 

 
(8) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Automobile Repair-Major and Minor provided that: 
 

1. The architectural appearance and functional plan of the building and site shall not 
be so dissimilar to the existing buildings or area as to cause impairment in property values or 
constitute a blighting influence. 
 

2. All repair work shall be conducted within the principal building. 
 

3. All painting must be conducted in an approved paint booth.  All paint booths and 
all other activities of the operation shall thoroughly control the emission of fumes, dust, or other 
particulate matter so that the use shall be in compliance with the State of Minnesota Pollution 
Control Standards, Minnesota Regulation APC 1-15, as amended. 

 
4. The emission of odor by a use shall be in compliance with and regulated by the 

State of Minnesota Pollution Control Standards, Minnesota regulations APC, as amended. 
 
5. All flammable materials, including liquids and rags, shall conform with the 

applicable provisions of the Minnesota Uniform Fire Code. 
 
6. All outdoor storage shall be prohibited except the storage of customer vehicles 

waiting for repair.   
 
(b) Commercial car washes (drive-through, mechanical, and self-service) provided that: 
 

1. The site is serviced by municipal sanitary sewer. 
 
2. The architectural appearance and functional plan of the building and site shall not 

be so dissimilar to the existing buildings or areas as to cause impairment in property values or 
constitute a blighting influence. 

 
3. Stacking space is provided in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044(6). 
 
4. At the boundaries of a residential district, a strip of at least five (5) feet shall be 

landscaped and screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 



 

249 
 

 
5. Parking or car magazine storage space shall be screened from view of abutting 

residential districts in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
6. The entire area other than occupied by the building or plantings shall be surfaced 

with material which will control dust and drainage which is subject to the approval of the City 
Engineer. 

 
7. The entire area shall have a drainage system which is subject to the approval of 

the City. 
 
8. All lighting shall be hooded and so directed that the light source is not visible from 

the public right-of-way or from an abutting residence and shall be in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.043(6). 

 
9. Vehicular access points shall be limited, shall create a minimum of conflict with 

through traffic movement and shall be subject to the approval of the City Engineer. 
 
10. Provisions are made to control and reduce noise. 

 
(c) Commercial day care facilities provided that: 
 

1. All requirements of the Minnesota Department of Health and Human Services, as 
may be amended, are satisfactorily met and the structure and operation are licensed accordingly. 

 
2. Screening is provided in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. Adequate off-street parking is provided in a location separated from any outdoor 

play area(s). 
 
4. Adequate off-street loading spaces in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.045. 
 
(d) Contractor shops and offices provided that: 
 

1. All outdoor storage is prohibited.  The storage of contractor equipment and 
materials must be completely inside. 

 
2. When abutting a residential land use, a buffer area with screening and landscaping 

in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17) is provided. 
 
(e) Hospitals provided that: 
 

1. Side yards are double the minimum requirements established for this district and 
are screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 



 

250 
 

2. The site shall be served by an arterial or collector street of sufficient capacity to 
accommodate traffic which will be generated. 

 
3. All State Statutes and regulations governing such use are strictly adhered to and 

all required operating permits are secured. 
 
4. Adequate off-street loading space is provided in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.045. 
 
(f) Motor fuel stations provided that:  
 

1. All conditions in City Code Section 1007.064 are met.  
 

(g) Outdoor recreation facilities provided that: 
 

1. The facilities are an accessory use to a principal use allowed within the GB 
District. 

 
2. The facilities meet the principal building setbacks. 
 
3. The facilities shall maintain a 50 foot setback from residential districts. 
 
4. The facilities shall be screened from adjoining properties or public rights-

of-way. 
 
5. The City may set limits on the hours of operation to avoid nuisance issues. 

 
(h) Motor Vehicle Sales Lot provided that: 
 

1. Outside sales areas are fenced or screened from view of neighboring 
residential uses or an abutting residential district in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(17). 

 
2. Outside services and sales are associated with a principal building of at least 

1,000 square feet of floor area. 
 
3. The entire sales lot and off-street parking area is paved. 
 
4. Parking for customers and employees must be provided in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.044(6). 
 

5. For passenger motor vehicle sales activities, a minimum of 380 square feet 
of sales area per vehicle is provided exclusive of required parking areas.  Minimum sales area for 
all other motor vehicles will be determined by the City Council during the review of the conditional 
use permit. 

 



 

251 
 

6. A perimeter curb is provided around the sales/parking lot. 
 
7. All lighting shall be hooded and so directed that the light source is not 

visible from the public right-of-way or from an abutting residence and shall be in compliance with 
City Code Section 1007.043(6). 

 
8. Vehicles for sale shall be displayed in an orderly manner. 

 
(i) Private lodges and clubs provided that: 
 

1. Screening from residential uses and landscaping is provided in compliance 
with City Code Section 1007.043(17).  

 
2. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots 

directly abutting directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with City 
Code Section 1007.044.  

 
3. Parking is screened and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 

1007.043(17). 
 
4. Adequate off-street loading and service entrances are provided and 

regulated where applicable by City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
(j) Public, Educational, and Religious Buildings provided that: 
 

1. Screening from residential uses and landscaping is provided in compliance 
with requirements for business or industrial uses in City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
2. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots 

directly abutting directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with 
City Code Section 1007.044. 

 
3. Parking is screened and landscaped in compliance with requirements for 

business or industrial uses in City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
4. Adequate off-street loading and service entrances are provided and 

regulated where applicable by City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
(k) Small engine and boat repair provided that: 
 

1. The lighting shall be accomplished in such a way as to have no direct source 
of light visible from adjacent land in residential use or from the public right-of-way and shall be 
in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(6). 

 
2. At the boundaries of a residential district, a strip of at least five (5) feet shall 

be landscaped and screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 



 

252 
 

 
3. Vehicular access points shall create a minimum of conflict with through 

traffic movement and shall comply with City Code Section 1007.044 and shall be subject to the 
approval of the City Engineer. 

 
4. Provisions are made to control and reduce noise. 
 
5. No outdoor storage, repair or sales except in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.112(7)(f) or Section 1007.112(8)(h) shall be allowed. 
 
6. All conditions pertaining to a specific site are subject to change when the 

Council, upon investigation in relation to a formal request, finds that the general welfare and public 
betterment can be served as well or better by modifying the conditions. 

 
(l) Veterinary hospitals provided that: 
 

1. All areas in which animals are confined are located indoors and are properly 
soundproofed from adjacent properties. 

 
2. Animal carcasses are properly disposed of in a manner not utilizing on-site 

garbage facilities or incineration and the carcasses are properly refrigerated during periods prior 
to disposal. 

 
3. An indoor animal kennel is permitted as a use accessory to the veterinary 

hospital provided that: 
 

a. The number of animals boarded shall not exceed 20. 
 
b. An indoor exercise area shall be provided to accommodate the periodic 

exercising of animals boarded at the kennel.  No outdoor exercising of animals shall be permitted. 
 
c. A ventilation system shall be designed so that no odors or organisms will 

spread between wards or to the outside air and will be capable of completely exchanging internal 
air at a rate of at least twice per hour.  Air temperature must be maintained between 60- and 75- 
degrees Fahrenheit. 

 
d. A room separate from the kennel area shall be provided of sufficient size to 

adequately separate animals that are sick or injured from healthy animals. 
 
e. Indoor animal kennel floors and walls shall be made of non-porous 

materials or sealed concrete to make it non-porous. 
 
f. Animal wastes shall be flushed down an existing sanitary sewer system or 

enclosed in a container of sufficient construction to eliminate odors and organisms and shall be 
properly disposed of at least once a day. 

 



 

253 
 

4. The appropriate license is obtained from the City and the conditions of City 
Code Chapter 503 relating to the keeping of animals are met. 

 
5. All State Health Department and Minnesota Pollution Control Agency 

requirements for such facilities are met. 
 

(m)   Two (2) or more buildings on same lot provided such buildings relate to a permitted 
or conditional use that is operated as a single business or enterprise.  

 
(9) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 
 

(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.054. 

 
(b) Home Occupation Level B in compliance with City Code Section 1007.048. 
 
(c) Essential Services. 
 
(d) Accessory outdoor dining areas intended for consumption of food or beverages 

purchased on site in compliance with City Code Section 1007.055.  This administrative permit 
may be incorporated into another approval such as but not limited to a site plan, planned unit 
development, or building permit. 

 
(e) Open Air Markets. 
 
(f) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(g) Transient Merchants. 

 
(10) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 

  



 

254 
 

 INDUSTRIAL DISTRICTS 
 
 

§ 1007.120   LI, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of the LI, Light Industrial district is to provide for the 

establishment of light industrial, high-tech business and professional services.  These areas have 
the prerequisites for industrial development, but because of proximity to residential areas, the 
visibility from the Interstate, and the need to protect certain areas or uses from adverse influences, 
high development standards will be necessary.  LI uses include service industries and industries 
which manufacture, fabricate, assemble or store, where the process is not likely to create offensive 
noise, vibrations, dust, heat, smoke, odor, glare, or other objectionable influences.  Generally, these 
include wholesale, service and light industries which are dependent upon raw materials refined 
elsewhere.   Land to be zoned LI shall be served with public sanitary sewer and water and shall be 
in an Industrial land use category according to the comprehensive plan 

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.    
 

1. Sewered Lot.   One (1) acre. 
 
2. Unsewered Lot.   10 acres in compliance with applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.042(2)(b). 
 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.   100 feet. 
 
(c) Setbacks. 
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Collector or Arterial Street.   50 feet. 

 
c. Parking Lot.   15 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 
 

a. Principal Building.   15 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   5 feet. 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 



 

255 
 

 
a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   5 feet. 

 
4. From Property Guided by the Comprehensive Plan for Residential Use.   75 feet. 

 
(3) Buffer.   Where a side or rear lot line in an LI District coincides with an adjacent public 

road right-of-way or property guided by the comprehensive plan for residential or commercial 
development, a landscape buffer area shall be provided along such side or rear lot line not less than 
40 feet wide and shall contain landscaping, planting, berming, or other effective screening suitable 
to provide an effective screen in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17)(f). 

 
(4) Maximum Building Height.   45 feet except as allowed by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 
 
(5) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   75 percent. 
 
(6) Building Requirements.   All newly constructed industrial buildings shall meet the 

exterior building standards of City Code Section 1007.043(2)(d). 
 
(7) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the LI District:  
 

(a) Beverage production and bottling, including public tours of the facilities and gift 
shops containing merchandise directly related to the facility.  

 
(b) Building material sales. 
 
(c) Carpet and rug cleaning. 
 
(d) Community gardens operated by the City. 
 
(e) Construction-related businesses, including contractor storage of equipment and 

building materials if enclosed within a building, but not storage yards. 
 
(f) Feed and seed sales. 
 
(g) Greenhouses, nurseries. 
 
(h) Indoor Self-Storage. 
 
(i) Laundry, dry cleaning, or dying plant. 
 



 

256 
 

(j) Manufacturing or assembly of a wide variety of products that produces no exterior 
noise, glare, fumes, noxious products, by-products, or wastes, or creates other objectionable impact 
on the environment, including the generation of large volumes of traffic.   

 
(k) Mass transit terminals. 
 
(l) Office business—clinic and general. 
 
(m) Radio and television stations. 
 
(n) Recreational business contained entirely within the principal building. 
 
(o) Research laboratories 
 
(p) Trade or business schools. 
 
(q) Warehousing and distribution facilities, but not including trucking terminal or mini 

self-storage facilities per City Code Section 1007.001(2). 
 
(r) Wholesale businesses/showrooms. 

 
(8) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the LI District: 
 

(a) Accessory buildings and structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043 
(4)(k). 

 
(b) Accessory indoor retail, rental, or service activities other than that allowed as a 

permitted or conditional use within the Light Industrial zoning district, provided such use is related 
and accessory to a principal use allowed within the Light Industrial zoning district. 

 
(c) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(d) Off-street loading in compliance with City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
(e) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(f) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(g) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(h) Brewer taprooms accessory to a malt liquor beverage production and bottling facility.  
 
(i) Tasting room accessory to a distilled spirits beverage production and bottling facility. 



 

257 
 

 
(j) Tasting Room accessory to a wine beverage production and bottling facility. 
 
(k) Liquor sales, on sale through brewer taprooms and off sale pursuant to M. S. 

§340A.301, subd. 10, all accessory to a malt liquor beverage production and bottling facility. 
 
(9) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Automobile Repair-Major and Minor provided that: 
 

1. All painting must be conducted in an approved paint booth per City Code Section 
1007.043(8).    

 
2. All flammable materials, including liquids and rags, shall conform with the 

applicable provisions of the Minnesota Uniform Fire Code. 
 
3. All outdoor storage shall be prohibited except the storage of customer vehicles 

waiting for repair. 
 
(b) Bus garage provided that: 
 

1. When abutting a residential use or residential district, the property shall be 
screened and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
2. The architectural appearance and functional plan of the building and site shall not 

be so dissimilar to the existing buildings or areas as to cause impairment in property values or 
constitute a blighting influence. 

 
3. The entire area other than occupied by the building or planting shall be surfaced 

with blacktop or concrete which will control dust and drainage which is subject to the approval 
of the City Engineer. 

 
4. The entire area shall have a drainage system which is subject to the approval of 

the City Engineer. 
 
5. Vehicular access points shall be limited, shall create a minimum of conflict with 

through traffic movement and shall be subject to the approval of the City Engineer. 
 
6. Provisions are made to control and reduce noise.    
 
7. An internal site pedestrian circulation system shall be defined and appropriate 

provisions made to protect such areas from encroachments by parked motor vehicles or moving 
vehicles. 

 



 

258 
 

8. Motor fuel activities associated with the bus service shall be installed in 
compliance with State and City standards.  Additionally, adequate space shall be provided to 
access gas pumps and allow maneuverability around the pumps.  Underground fuel storage tanks 
are to be positioned to allow adequate access by motor fuel transports and unloading operations 
do not conflict with circulation, access and other activities on the site.  Fuel pumps shall be 
installed on pump islands. 

 
(c) Commercial and public radio and television transmitting antennas, and public utility 

microwave antennas greater than 45 feet in height and less than 200 feet in height in compliance 
with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(d) Commercial kennels, provided that: 
 

1. The applicable provisions of City Code Chapter 503 are determined to be 
satisfied. 

 
2. Cages, enclosures, and housing facilities shall be at least 500 feet from any 

residential lot line. 
 
3. An enclosed indoor or exterior exercise area shall be provided to accommodate 

the periodic exercising of animals boarded at the kennel.  Exterior exercise areas shall be 
enclosed by an eight (8) foot high solid fence. 

 
4. All animals shall be housed indoors for overnight boarding. 

 
(e) Outdoor storage (not outdoor sales lots) as an accessory use provided that: 
 

1. The designated storage area shall comply with all building setback requirements 
for the district.  Outdoor storage is prohibited between the principal structure and any public right-
of-way.   

 
2. The storage area is landscaped and screened from view of adjacent uses and public 

rights-of-way via a fence and greenbelt planting strip, in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(17)(f).   

 
3. The entire storage area is fenced and secured in an appropriate manner. 
 
4. The storage area is blacktopped or concrete surfaced. 
 
5. The storage area does not take up parking space or loading space as required for 

conformity to this ordinance and is not located in the front yard. 
 
6. The property shall not abut I-35W or I-35E. 
 
7. The ratio of storage area to building footprint shall not exceed 1:1. 
 



 

259 
 

8. All parking, loading and truck staging activities shall occur on site.  On-street 
parking and loading associated with the use is prohibited. 

 
9. Storage shall not include material considered hazardous under Federal or State 

Environmental Law. 
 

10. The outdoor storage items or materials shall be directly related to the principal 
industrial user. No off-site user storage shall be allowed. 

 
(f) Veterinary hospitals provided that: 
 

1. All areas in which animals are confined are located indoors and are properly 
soundproofed from adjacent properties. 

 
2. Animal carcasses are properly disposed of in a manner not utilizing on-site 

garbage facilities or incineration and the carcasses are properly refrigerated during periods prior 
to disposal. 

 
3. An indoor animal kennel is permitted as a use accessory to the veterinary hospital 

provided that: 
 

a. The number of animals boarded shall not exceed 40. 
 
b. An enclosed indoor or exterior exercise area shall be provided to accommodate 

the periodic exercising of animals boarded at the kennel.  Exterior exercise areas shall be limited 
to a maximum of 25 percent of the gross floor area of the principal use. 
 

c. A ventilation system shall be designed so that no odors or organisms will 
spread between wards or to the outside air and will be capable of completely exchanging internal 
air at a rate of at least twice per hour.  Air temperature must be maintained between 60- and 75- 
degrees Fahrenheit. 

 
d. A room separate from the kennel area shall be provided of sufficient size to 

adequately separate animals that are sick or injured from healthy animals. 
 
e. Indoor animal kennel floors and walls shall be made of non-porous materials 

or sealed concrete to make it non-porous. 
 
f. Animal wastes shall be flushed down an existing sanitary sewer system or 

enclosed in a container of sufficient construction to eliminate odors and organisms and shall be 
properly disposed of at least once a day. 

 
4. The appropriate license is obtained from the City and the conditions of City Code 

Chapter 503 relating to the keeping of animals are met. 
 



 

260 
 

5. All State Health Department and Minnesota Pollution Control Agency 
requirements for such facilities are met. 
 

(g) Two (2) or more principal buildings on same lot provided such buildings relate to a 
permitted or conditional use that is operated as a single business or enterprise.   

 
(10) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 
 

(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.054. 

 
(b) Telecommunication towers in compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 
(c) Temporary mobile towers in compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 
(d) Essential Services. 
 
(e) Open Air Markets. 
 
(f) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(g) Transient Merchants. 
 
(h) Accessory outdoor dining areas intended for consumption of food or beverages 

purchased on site in compliance with City Code Section 1007.055. 
 
(11) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 

 
(b) Batch Plants. 



 

  261  

§ 1007.121   GI, GENERAL INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of the GI, General Industrial District is to provide for the 

establishment of general industrial uses and services.  These are areas which, because of access to 
thoroughfares, suitable topography, and isolation, are appropriate for industrial uses of a more 
intense nature and ones which may have certain nuisance characteristics.  Land to be zoned GI 
shall be served with public sanitary sewer and water and shall be in an Industrial land use category 
according to the comprehensive plan. 

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.    
 

1. Sewered Lot.   One (1) acre. 
 
2. Unsewered Lot.   10 acres in compliance with applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 1007.042(2)(b). 
 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.   100 feet. 
 
(c) Setbacks. 
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   50 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   50 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   15 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 

 
a. Principal Building.   15 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   5 feet. 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 

 
a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   10 feet. 

 



 

262 

4. From Property Guided by the Comprehensive Plan for Residential Use.    100 feet. 
 
(3) Buffer.   Where a side or rear lot line in a GI District coincides with an adjacent public 

road right-of-way or property guided by the comprehensive plan for residential or commercial 
development, a landscape buffer area shall be provided along such side or rear lot line not less than 
40 feet wide and shall contain landscaping, planting, berming, or other effective screening suitable 
to provide an effective visual screen in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17)(f). 

 
(4) Maximum Building Height.   45 feet except as allowed by City Code Section 

1007.043(3). 
 
(5) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   75 percent. 

 
(6) Building Requirements.   All newly constructed industrial buildings shall meet the 

exterior building standards of City Code Section 1007.043(2)(d). 
 

(7) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the GI District: 
 

(a) Beverage production and bottling, including public tours of the facilities and gift 
shops containing merchandise directly related to the facility.  

 
(b) Building material sales. 
 
(c) Commercial (production) bakery. 
 
(d) Community gardens operated by the City. 
 
(e) Construction-related businesses, including contractor storage of equipment and 

building materials if enclosed within a building, but not storage yards. 
 
(f) Feed and seed sales. 
 
(g) Greenhouses, nurseries. 
 
(h) Indoor Self Storage. 
 
(i) Laundry, dry cleaning or dying plant. 
 
(j) Manufacturing or assembly of a wide variety of products that produces no exterior 

noise, glare, fumes, noxious products, by-products, or wastes, or creates other objectionable impact 
on the environment, including the generation of large volumes of traffic.   

 
(k) Mass transit terminals. 
 
(l) Office business—clinic and general. 
 



 

263 

(m) Radio and television stations. 
 
(n) Warehousing and distribution facilities, but not including trucking terminal or mini 

self-storage facilities. 
 
(o) Wholesale businesses/showrooms. 

 
(8) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the GI District: 
 

(a) Accessory buildings and structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043 
(4)(l). 

 
(b) Accessory indoor retail, rental, or service activities other than that allowed as a 

permitted or conditional use within the General Industrial zoning district, provided such use is 
related and accessory to an allowed principal use in the district. 

 
(c) Crude oil, gasoline or other liquid storage tanks (not including bulk propane at motor 

fuel stations for providing service to the general public) where related and accessory to an allowed 
principal use in the district. 

 
(d) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(e) Off-street loading in compliance with City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
(f) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(g) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(h) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(i) Brewer taprooms accessory to a malt liquor beverage production and bottling facility.  
 
(j) Tasting room accessory to a distilled spirits beverage production and bottling facility. 
 
(k) Tasting Room accessory to a wine beverage production and bottling facility. 
 
(l) Liquor sales, on sale through brewer taprooms and off sale pursuant to Minnesota 

Statutes section 340A.301, subdivision 10, all accessory to a malt liquor beverage production and 
bottling facility. 

 
(9) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 



 

264 

(a) Automobile Repair-Major and Minor provided that: 
 
1. All painting must be conducted in an approved paint booth per City Code Section 

1007.043(8).    
 
2. All flammable materials, including liquids and rags, shall conform to the 

applicable provisions of the Minnesota Uniform Fire Code. 
 
3. All outdoor storage shall be prohibited except the storage of customer vehicles 

waiting for repair.   
 
(b) Bus garage provided that: 
 

1. When abutting a residential use or residential district, the property shall be 
screened and landscaped in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
2. The architectural appearance and functional plan of the building and site shall not 

be so dissimilar to the existing buildings or areas as to cause impairment in property values or 
constitute a blighting influence. 

 
3. The entire area other than occupied by the building or planting shall be surfaced 

with blacktop or concrete which will control dust and drainage which is subject to the approval of 
the City Engineer. 

 
4. The entire area shall have a drainage system which is subject to the approval of 

the City Engineer. 
 
5. Vehicular access points shall be limited, shall create a minimum of conflict with 

through traffic movement and shall be subject to the approval of the City Engineer. 
 
6. Provisions are made to control and reduce noise.    
 
7. An internal site pedestrian circulation system shall be defined and appropriate 

provisions made to protect such areas from encroachments by parked motor vehicles or moving 
vehicles. 

 
8. Motor fuel activities associated with the bus service shall be installed in 

compliance with State and City standards.  Additionally, adequate space shall be provided to 
access gas pumps and allow maneuverability around the pumps.  Underground fuel storage tanks 
are to be positioned to allow adequate access by motor fuel transports and unloading operations 
do not conflict with circulation, access and other activities on the site.  Fuel pumps shall be 
installed on pump islands. 
 

(c) Commercial and public radio and television transmitting antennas, and public utility 
microwave antennas greater than 45 feet in height and less than 200 feet in height in compliance 
with City Code Section 1007.054. 



 

265 

 
(d) Concrete product plants, building materials production and similar uses provided 

that: 
 

1. Storage areas are landscaped, fenced and screened from view of neighboring uses, 
properties guided by the comprehensive plan for residential or commercial development, and 
public rights-of-way in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17)(f). 

 
(e) Commercial kennels, provided that: 
 

1. The applicable provisions of City Code Chapter 503 are determined to be 
satisfied. 

 
2. Cages, enclosures, and housing facilities shall be at least 500 feet from any 

residential lot line. 
 
3. An enclosed indoor or exterior exercise area shall be provided to accommodate 

the periodic exercising of animals boarded at the kennel.  Exterior exercise areas shall be 
enclosed by an eight (8) foot high solid fence. 

 
4. All animals shall be housed indoors for overnight boarding. 

 
(f) Manufacture of materials, including but not limited to, rubber, corrosive acids, 

petroleum and chemical products, which pose potential health and safety risks and which when 
produced give off potentially noxious odors. 
 

(g) Mini self-storage facilities provided that: 
 

1. No single building shall be greater than 150 feet in length. 
 

2. No retailing, wholesaling, manufacturing, repair, or other such activity other than 
storage is to occur within the mini self-storage facility. 

 
3. No occupancy of the storage units is permitted. 

 
4.  The overhead doors are not allowed on building elevations facing a public street 

or residential property. 
 

(h) Outdoor storage (not outdoor sales lots) as an accessory use provided that: 
 
1. The designated storage area shall comply with all building setback requirements 

for the district.  Outdoor storage is prohibited between the principal structure and any public right-
of-way.   

 



 

266 

2. The storage area is landscaped and screened from view of adjacent uses and public 
rights-of-way via a fence and greenbelt planting strip, in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(17)(f).   

 
3. The entire storage area is fenced and secured in an appropriate manner. 
 
4. The storage area is blacktopped, concrete surfaced or class 5 gravel unless an 

alternative wear-resistant material is determined by the City Engineer to be suitable to control dust 
and drainage and is specifically approved by the City Council. 

 
5. The storage area does not take up parking space or loading space as required for 

conformity to this ordinance and is not located in the front yard. 
 
6. The property shall not abut I-35W or I-35E. 
 
7. All parking, loading and truck staging activities shall occur on site.  On-street 

parking and loading associated with the use is prohibited. 
 
8. Storage shall not include material considered hazardous under Federal or State 

Environmental Law. 
 

9. The outdoor storage items or materials shall be directly related to the principal 
industrial user. No off-site user storage shall be allowed. 
 

(i) Trucking terminals provided that: 
 

1. Vehicular access points shall be located along arterial streets and shall be limited 
and designed and constructed to create a minimum of conflict with through traffic movement. 

 
(j) Two (2) or more buildings on same lot provided such buildings relate to a permitted 

or conditional use that is operated as a single business or enterprise.  
 

(10) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 

 
(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.054. 
 
(b) Telecommunication towers in compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 
(c) Temporary mobile towers in compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 
(d) Essential Services. 
 
(e) Open Air Markets. 
 



 

267 

(f) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(g) Transient Merchants. 
 
(h) Accessory outdoor dining areas intended for consumption of food or beverages 

purchased on site in compliance with City Code Section 1007.055. 
 
(11) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 

 
(b) Batch Plants. 



 

268 

§ 1007.122   BC, BUSINESS CAMPUS DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.  The purpose of BC, Business Campus District is to provide for the 

establishment of multi-use buildings, business offices, wholesale showrooms, and related uses in 
an environment which provides a high level of amenities, including landscaping, preservation of 
natural features, architectural controls, pedestrian trails, and other features.   Land to be zoned BC 
shall be served with public sanitary sewer and water and shall be in a Business Campus, 
Commercial or Industrial land use category according to the comprehensive plan. 

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.   One (1) acre. 
 

(b) Minimum Lot Width.   100 feet. 
 
(c) Setbacks. 
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   30 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   40 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   15 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 

 
a. Principal Building.   15 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   5 feet. 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 

 
a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   10 feet. 

 
4. From Property Guided by the Comprehensive Plan for Residential Use.    100 feet. 

 
(3) Buffer.   Where a side or rear lot line in a BC District coincides with an adjacent public 

road right-of-way or property guided by the comprehensive plan for residential or commercial 
development, a landscape buffer area shall be provided along such side or rear lot line not less than 



 

269 

40 feet wide and shall contain landscaping, planting, berming, or other effective screening suitable 
to provide an effective visual screen in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17)(f). 

 
(4) Maximum Building Height.   45 feet except as allowed by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 
 
(5) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   75 percent. 

 
(6) Building Requirements.   All newly constructed industrial buildings shall meet the 

exterior building standards of City Code Section 1007.043 (2)(d). 
 

(7) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the BC District:  
 

(a) Banks, credit unions and other financial institutions. 
 
(b) Conference centers. 
 
(c) Copy/printing services (excluding printing presses and publishing facilities). 
 
(d) Data centers. 

 
(e) Manufacturing, compounding, assembly, packaging, warehousing (excluding 

explosives and hazardous waste), or treatment of merchandise or commodities. 
 
(f) Offices, administrative/commercial. 
 
(g) Offices/clinics for medical, dental, or chiropractic services. 

 
(h) Radio and television stations. 

 
(i) Reception halls/event centers, with or without catering services.   

 
(j) Sports and fitness clubs. 
 
(k) Research laboratories. 
 
(l) Trade or business schools. 
 
(m) Tutoring/learning centers. 
 
(n) Wholesale businesses/showrooms. 

 
(8) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the BC District: 
 

(a) Accessory buildings and structures in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4)(l). 

 



 

270 

(b) Accessory indoor retail, rental or service activities other than that allowed as a 
permitted or conditional use within the Business Campus zoning district, provided such use is 
related and accessory to a principal use allowed within the Business Campus zoning district. 

 
(c) Entertainment, live; in association with a restaurant 
 
(d) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(e) Off-street loading in compliance with City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
(f) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(g) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 

 
(h) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 

 
(9) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) Commercial and public radio and television transmitting antennas, and public utility 
microwave antennas greater than 45 feet in height and less than 200 feet in height in compliance 
with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 

(b) Two (2) or more principal buildings on same lot provided such buildings relate to a 
permitted or conditional use that is operated as a single business or enterprise.  

 
(c) Dining restaurants not exceeding 15 percent of the gross floor area of the building in 

which it is located, provided that no drive-through window service shall be included.  
 

(d) Extended stay hotels provided that more than 50 percent of the rooms shall have 
cooking facilities.  
 

(e) Hotels with optional restaurant, food service and on-sale liquor.  
 

(f) Retail commercial activities, personal services, and food service (cafeteria, 
delicatessen, coffee house) as an accessory use provided that:  

 
1. Personal services are limited to those uses and activities which are allowed as a 

permitted or permitted accessory use within the BC Zoning District.  
 
2. The activity is located within a structure whose principal use is not commercial 

sales.  
 



 

271 

3. All such activities are conducted in a clearly defined area of the principal building 
reserved exclusively for such use. Said area must be physically segregated from other principal 
activities in the building.  

 
4. The area devoted to such activity shall not occupy more than 15 percent of the 

gross floor area of the building.  
 
5. Hours of operation are limited to 6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. unless specifically 

modified by the City Council.  
 
6. No directly or indirectly illuminated sign or sign in excess of 10 square feet 

identifying the name of the business shall be visible from the outside of the building.  
 
7. No signs or posters of any type advertising products for sale or services shall be 

visible from the outside of the building. 
 

(10) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 

 
(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 

Section 1007.054. 
 
(b) Telecommunication towers in compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 
(c) Temporary mobile towers in compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 
(d) Essential Services. 
 
(e) Open Air Markets. 
 
(f) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(g) Transient Merchants. 
 
(h) Accessory outdoor dining areas intended for consumption of food or beverages 

purchased on site in compliance with City Code Section 1007.055. 
 
(11) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 

 
(b) Batch Plants. 



 

272 

SPECIAL DISTRICTS 
 
 

§ 1007.130   PSP, PUBLIC AND SEMI-PUBLIC DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of the PSP, Public and Semi-Public District is to provide for the 

establishment of a district designed and intended to aid in guiding development towards fulfillment 
of the Comprehensive Plan and to serve the following functions: 

 
(a) To provide the community with properly located schools, colleges, and health 

institutions. 
 
(b) To provide the community with properly located public services, public utilities, and 

public or private communication antennas. 
 
(c) To provide the community with properly located open green space, parks, 

playgrounds, and recreational facilities. 
 
(d) To relate public and semi-public locations with thoroughfare system. 

 
(2) Lot and Setback Requirements. 
 

(a) Minimum Lot Size.    
 

1. Sewered Lot.   One (1) acre. 
 
2. Unsewered Lot.   10 acres in compliance with City Code Section 1007.042(2)(b). 

 
(b) Minimum Lot Width.   100 feet. 
 
(c) Setbacks. 
 

1. From Street Right-of-Way. 
 

a. Local or Minor Collector Street.   50 feet. 
 
b. Major Collector or Arterial Street.   50 feet. 

 
2. Rear Lot Line. 

 
a. Principal Building.   30 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   10 feet. 



 

273 

 
3. Side Lot Line. 

 
a. Principal Building.   10 feet. 
 
b. Accessory Building.   10 feet. 
 
c. Parking Lot.   5 feet. 

 
(3) Maximum Building Height.   45 feet except as allowed by City Code Section 1007.043(3). 
 
(4) Maximum Impervious Surface Coverage.   65 percent of the lot area. 

 
(5) Building Requirements.   All newly constructed industrial buildings shall meet the 

exterior building standards of City Code Section 1007.043(2)(d). 
 
(6) Permitted Uses.   The following are permitted uses in the PSP District:  
 

(a) All public buildings for county and state government. 
 
(b) All public buildings for municipal government, such as City Hall, water works, 

sewage plant, police, fire, etc. 
 

(c) Public parks, recreation facilities, and golf courses. 
 
(d) Community Gardens operated by the City. 

 
(7) Accessory Uses.   The following are permitted accessory uses in the PSP District: 
 

(a) Accessory buildings and structures in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.043(4)(j). 

 
(b) Fences in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(18). 
 
(c) Off-street parking in compliance with City Code Section 1007.044. 
 
(d) Off-street loading in compliance with City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
(e) Outdoor storage accessory to the principal use screened from all lot lines in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
(f) Radio and television receiving antennas, satellite dishes, TVROs three (3) meters or 

less in diameter, short-wave dispatching antennas, or those necessary for the operation of 
electronic equipment including radio receivers, ham radio transmitters and television receivers in 
compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 



 

274 

 
(g) Signs in compliance with City Code Chapter 1010. 
 
(h) Parks, playgrounds, or athletic fields accessory to an allowed principal use. 

 
(8) Conditional Uses.   The following uses require a conditional use permit in compliance 

with City Code Section 1007.016: 
 

(a) All schools (public and private) provided that: 
 

1. Side yards shall be double that required for the district. 
 
2. Adequate screening from abutting residential uses and landscaping is provided in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17) of this ordinance. 
 
3. Adequate off-street parking and access is provided on the site or on lots directly 

abutting or directly across a public street or alley to the principal use in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.044 and that such parking is adequately screened and landscaped from surrounding 
and abutting residential uses in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17) this ordinance. 

 
4. Adequate off-street loading and service entrances are provided and regulated 

where applicable by City Code Section 1007.045. 
 
5. The provisions of City Code Section 1007.016 are considered and determined to 

be satisfied. 
 
(b) Hospitals provided that: 
 

1. Side yards are double the minimum requirements established for this district and 
are screened in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 

 
2. Only the rear yard shall be used for play or recreational areas.  Said area shall be 

fenced and controlled in compliance with City Code Section 1007.043(17). 
 
3. The site shall be served by an arterial or collector street of sufficient capacity to 

accommodate traffic which will be generated. 
 
4. All State Statutes and regulations governing such use are strictly adhered to and 

all required operating permits are secured. 
 
5. The provisions of City Code Section 1007.016 are considered and determined to 

be satisfied. 
 

(c) Two (2) or more buildings on same lot provided such buildings relate to a permitted 
or conditional use that is operated as a single business or enterprise.  



 

275 

 
(9) Uses by Administrative Permit.   The following uses require an administrative permit in 

compliance with City Code Section 1007.019: 
 

(a) Personal wireless service antennas as secondary uses in compliance with City Code 
Section 1007.054. 

 
(b) Telecommunication towers in compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 
(c) Temporary mobile towers in compliance with City Code Section 1007.054. 
 
(d) Essential Services. 
 
(e) Open Air Markets. 
 
(f) Temporary Structures in compliance with City Code Section 1007.063. 
 
(g) Transient Merchants. 

 
(10) Interim Uses.   The following uses require an interim use permit in compliance with City 

Code Section 1007.017: 
 

(a) Earth Moving and Land Reclamation in compliance with City Code Section 
1007.051. 

 
(b) Farms, Farm Dwellings, Horticulture, and Agriculture. 

 
 



 

276 

§ 1007.131   PUD, PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT. 
 
(1) Purpose.   The purpose of the PUD, Planned Unit Development District is to provide for 

the integration and coordination of land parcels, as well as the combination or mixture of varying 
types of residential, commercial, and/or industrial land uses. 

 
(2) Application.   All permitted, permitted accessory or conditional uses contained in all 

zoning districts identified in City Code Section 1007.080 through Section 1007.131 shall be 
directed as potentially permitted uses within the PUD District. 

 
(3) Procedure.   Whether requested as a rezoning or initially established by City action alone, 

a PUD, Planned Unit Development District, shall be established and governed subject to the 
amendment and procedure requirements as outlined in City Code Section 1007.015, plus the 
procedures, conditions, and standards imposed by City Code Section 1007.024. 

 
(4) Reference to Pre-Existing PDO, Planned Development Overlays that pre-date the 

adoption of this Chapter have been rezoned to PUD, Planned Unit Development. 
 

(5) List of PUD, Planned Unit Developments. The following is a list of PUD, Planned Unit 
Developments: 

 
(a) Rice Lake Estates. 

 
1. Ord. No. 09-88, Adopted August 8, 1988. 

 
(b) Pineridge Addition. 

 
1. Ord. No. 08-90, Adopted September 10, 1990. 

 
(c) Wenzel Farms. 

 
1. Ord. No. 04-91, Adopted April 8, 1991. 
2. Ord. No. 06-91, Adopted April 8, 1991. 

 
(d) Park Grove. 

 
1. Ord. No. 15-92, Adopted August 10, 1992. 

 
(e) Quail Ridge. 

 
1. Ord. No. 15-92, Adopted August 10, 1992. 

 
(f) Willow Ponds. 

 
1. Ord. No. 17-92, Adopted September 14, 1992. 
2. Ord. No. 11-95, Adopted July 10, 1995. 



 

277 

 
(g) Country Lake Estates. 

 
1. Ord. No. 93-10, Adopted July 26, 1993. 

 
(h) Trappers Crossing. 

 
1. Ord. No. 14-94, Adopted August 22, 1994. 

 
(i) Behms Century Farm. 

 
1. Ord. No. 08-95, Adopted May 8, 1995. 

 
(j) Apollo Meadows Townhomes (CIC 34). 

 
1. Adopted December 16, 1996. 

 
(k) Surfside Addition. 

 
1. Ord. No. 22-97, Adopted September 8, 1997. 
2. Res. No. 99-47, Adopted June 28, 1999. 

 
(l) Highland Meadows West. 

 
1. Ord. No. 32-97, Adopted November 10, 1997. 
2. Ord. No. 03-00, Adopted February 14, 2000. 

 
(m) Clearwater Creek 3rd-5th Addition. 

 
1. Ord. No. 08-99, Adopted April 26, 1999. 

 
(n) Apollo Business Park (CIC 224 Lino Lakes Condo). 

 
1. Ord. No. 09-99, Adopted April 26, 1999. 
 

(o) Peregrine Pass. 
 
1. Res. No. 99-25, Adopted May 24, 1999. 
2. Ord. No. 14-99, Adopted June 14, 1999. 

 
(p) Spirit Hills Center. 

 
1. Ord. No. 08-02, Adopted December 9, 2002. 

 
(q) Keefe Estates. 

 



 

278 

1. Ord. No. 05-03, Adopted March 10, 2003. 
 

(r) Millers Crossroads. 
 
1. Ord. No. 20-03, Adopted October 13, 2003. 

 
(s) Lino Lakes Market Place. 

 
1. Ord. No. 03-05, Adopted July 11, 2005. 
2. Ord. No. 04-05, Adopted June 27, 2005. 

 
(t) Century Farm North. 

 
1. Ord. No. 03-12, Adopted April 28, 2003. 

 
(u) Raven’s Hollow. 

 
1. Ord. No. 03-17, Adopted August 25, 2003. 

 
(v) Miller’s Crossroads. 

 
1. Ord. No. 03-20, Adopted October 13, 2003. 

 
(w) Legacy at Woods Edge. 

 
1. Ord. No. 04-02, Adopted February 9, 2004. 
2. Ord. No. 08-14, Adopted December 8, 2008. 
3. Ord. No. 09-11, Adopted November 23, 2009. 

 
(x) Rich Creek Covenant Church. 

 
1. Ord. No. 04-04, Adopted March 22, 2004. 

 
(y) Pheasant Hills Preserve Twelfth Addition. 

 
1. Ord. No. 04-22, Adopted October 12, 2004. 

 
(z) Fox Den Acres. 

 
1. Ord. No. 04-26, Adopted January 24, 2005. 

 
(aa) The Preserve. 

 
1. Ord. No. 06-08, Adopted September 11, 2006. 

 
(bb) Vaughn’s First Addition. 



 

279 

 
1. Ord. No. 08-02, Adopted February 25, 2008. 

 
(cc) Southwest Quarter of Section 28, Township 31, Range 22. 

 
1. Ord. No. 14-01, Adopted February 24, 2014. 

 
(dd) Century Farm North. 

 
1. Ord. No. 14-06, Adopted August 11, 2014. 

 
(ee) Watermark. 

 
1. Ord. No. 16-04, Adopted June 27, 2016. 

 
(ff) Clearwater Creek Business Park. 

 
1. Ord. No. 16-07, Adopted August 8, 2016. 

 
(gg) Nature’s Refuge. 

 
1. Ord. No. 18-05, Adopted June 25, 2018. 

 
(hh) Saddle Club Fourth Addition. 

 
1. Ord. No. 18-06, Adopted June 25, 2018. 

 
(ii) Lynblomsten. 

 
1. Ord. No. 19-07, Adopted April 22, 2019. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Lacasse Court

Cedar St W

Laca sse
Circle

K i
lld

ee
rD

r iv
e

Delina

C
irc

le

Pony Court

G
l e

n
C

irc
le

Al
b e

rt
C

o u
rt

R
ed

Haw
k

Trail

Velvetleaf Lane

Lamotte Dr
Shadow Court

AquaCir

Pinto Lane

El
m

c r
es

tA
ve

N

Fox Cove

Be
hm

La

ne

Kelly St

Oakview Court

Mustang Court

Ar
ab

ia
n

C
irc

le

Teckla Court

Black Duck Court

Ev
a

St

Trappers Court

Gray
H

er
on

D
riv

e

Muskrat Run

Jo
se

ph
C

ou
rt

Highla nd
Co

ur
t

Wood Duck Trail

C
oy

o t
e

Co
ur

t

Mallard Lane

Stagecoa ch
Tr

l

TartC
o urt

Carpenter Place

Town Center Park
w

ay

Gladstone Circle

Peregrine C ircle

Flora Court

Sioux Lane

Palomino
Lane

So
ut

h
G

len Trail

C
as

si
op

ei
aC

ou
rt

Lea
C

o
urt

C
ar

ib
ou

C
irc

l e

T er ra
C

ourt

Appaloosa Court

Park Ct

OakCourt

Te le
Lane

20
th

Av
e

S

Snow Owl Circle

Rice Court

Timberwolf TrailBl
ac

k
Du

ck
C

irc
le

81st St W

Pondview Circle

Apollo
Ct

Trappers
Crossing S

James Street

Post Road

Sunflower Lane

Partridg e

Court

Lois Lane

G
or

do
n

Av
en

ue
N

Century
Trl

Shetland Ln

Pa
in

te
d

Tu
rtl

e
R

oa
d

Egret Lane

Bloom Court

Li nda Court

Durango Point

Northern Lights Blvd

Chok
echerry Road

Rohavic Lane

H
eat her C

ourt N

Schlavin Court

4th Ave

2n
d

Av
en

ue

An
te

lo
pe

D
riv

e

S h
el

ia
Av

e

M
ou

rn
in

g
D

ov
e

R
oa

d

O
ak

Hollow Lane

King
fis

he
rC

ou
rt

Sherwood Lane

Glenview Avenue

Buckthorn Lane

Parkview Drive

D
an

ub
e

St
re

et

Elm Street

Su
nr

is
e

R
oa

d

Fox Road

Diane Street

Cherokee
Trail

O
sp

re
y

Co
ur

t

Deer Pass Trail

St
el

la
La

ne

Rice
Lake

C
ourt

BeaverCircle

Ravens Court

R
oy

a l
P i

ne
s Plac

e

To
m

ah
aw

k
Tr

ai
l

Beaver Trail

To
te

m
Tr

ai
l

Barbara Lane

4t
h

Av
e

ArthurCt

MerganserC
ourt

Lantern Lane

W
hi

te
ta

il
Tr

ai
l

Morgan Ln

Canfield Road

O
ak

w
oo

d
D

riv
e

Tamarack Lane

Woodchuck Court

Lois Lane

Prairi e

F lower Road

Greenwood Lane

R
ed

Bi
rc

h
C

ou
rt

W
hi

te
Birch

Court

P raire View Place

La
nt

er
nCircle

Ho
lly

Dr
ive

N
Bl

ac
k

D
uc

k
D

riv
e

S

M
ea d ow

C
o u rt

O
ak

wo
od

La
ne

Pine St

Elm Street

El
m

cr
es

tA
ve

N

Red Clover Lane

Iverson Court

Smoketree Lane

Wildflower Drive

Bradley Street

Century Trl

Fairmont Drive

M
ai

n
St

74th Street

R
uffe

d

Grouse
Road

Tele Drive

2n
d

Av
en

ue

Bl
ue

Hero
n Driv

e

Aspen Lane

Palomino Lane

Gladstone Drive

Te
al

Court

Glenview Drive

P
eltier Lake Drive

Hollow
L ane

Jo
n

Av
en

ue

Connie Lane

Highland Trail

N
or

di
n

St

Hudson Trail

La
ur

en
e

Av
en

ue

Bi
rc

h
C

o u
rt

Ware Road

Rondeau Lake Rd W

Forsham LakeDrive

Bl
ac

k D
uc

k D
riv

e

W
ild

Tu
rke

y Trai
l

64th Street

Pa
rtridge Place

Stella Circle

Holly Drive E

White Ow
l D

ri ve

Cedar St E

Sherm
an

Lake
R

oad

Si
ou

x L
ookout

Coyote Trai

l

77th Street W

Marcia Lane

65th Street

Black bird
Lane

La
ko

ta
Tr

l

Chippew
aT

rail

79th Street W

Lacasse Drive

Myrtle Lane

River B irc
h

Pl
ace

Carl Street

Molitor Dr

Rustic
La

ne

Cripple Creek Pa
ss

Andall Street

Mustang Lane

Tr
ap

p e
rs

Xi
ng

N

W
oodsEdge

B lvd

Fawn Lane

W
ar

e
R

oa
d

Foxtail Court

H
okah

Drive

HighlandDrive

Co
un

try
La

ne

Arlo Lane

W
oodchuck Circle

G
le

nv
ie

w
La

ne

La motte Ci r

G
aag e

La ne

Kelly S t

Oak Lane

Sh
ad

ow
La

ke
D

riv
e

W

White Oak
R

oa
d

Lon esome Pi
ne

Trail

Elbe
Stree t NE

Su
nr

is
e

R
oa

d

Reil ingRoad

Bl
ue

bi
l l

L a
n e

Ba
ld

w
in

La
ke

R
d

Sandhill D
ri ve

Lilac St

Ti mberwolf Trail

Green Briar Drive

Sa
rg

en
t C

ou
rt

N

Tart Lake Road

Maple St

Ulmer Drive

Hokah Driv e

Linda Avenue

Clearwater CreekDr

Marshan Lane

Fo
xta

il
D

ri v
e

Ph
e a

sa
nt

R
u n

S

62nd St

Hunters Ridge

Deer w
oo

d
La

ne

Orange St

Kn
oll

Driv
e

81st St E

Linda Lane

August Circle

OjibwayPa

Red Maple Lan
e

Ae
no

n
Pl

ac
e

Fox Road

Ta
lle

La
ne

Pheasant Hills Drive

Evergreen Trail

Fox Circle

Arrowhead Drive

Ba
ld

Ea
gle

Bo
ul

ev
ard

Nancy Drive

County Rd J

Villiage Drive

12
th

Av
e

S

App
alo

os
a

La
ne

White Pine Road

Karth Road

C
lea r water CreekDr

Deerwood La n e

Je
an

ne
D

riv
e

81st St E

77th Street W

Olive St

Pa
tti

Dr
ive

Marilyn Drive

La
ke

vi
ew

D
riv

e

Ja
ne

Av
e

Su
nr

is
e

D
riv

e

Linden Lane

Phelps Road

N
ot

ti n
gh

am
La

ne

La
ke

vi
ew

D
riv

e

W
hi

pp
oo

rw
i ll

La
ne

HickoryPlace

Crys
tal C

ourt

Vicky Lane

R
on

d e
a u

La
ke

R
d

W

Thomas Street

Otter Lake Driv e

Henry Lane

Stallion Lane

Sn
ow

O
w

l L
an

e

4t
h

Av
e

Woodland Drive

Pelican Place

EllenCourt

Ba
ld

Ea
gl

e
Bo

ul
ev

ar
d

Country Lakes Drive

WoodridgeLane

Ti
m

ot
hy

C
t

2nd
Avenue

W
ar

e
R

oa
d

M
ea

do
w

vi
ew

Tr
ai

l

Ca
ro

le
Driv

e

Lin
da

Circle

Rondeau Lake Rd E

Market PlaceDrive

Red Fox R d

Robinson Dr

Sherman
La

ke
R

oa
d

Shadow
Lake Drive

W

Sto
ne

yb
ro

ok
Driv

e

Pine St

Black Duck Drive

Rolling Hills Drive

R
on

de
au

La
ke

R
d

E

La
ng

er
La

ne

Le
on

ar
d

Av
e n

ue

R
ic e

Lake
Lane

R
ic

e
La

ke
D

riv
e

Diane Court

Holly Court E

Apollo Dr

Se
rvi

ce
Roa

d

Marvy Street

Jo
ye

rL
an

e

Hawthorn Road

Rehbein Street

77th Street E

Sh
ad

ow
La

ke
Dr

ive
E

Oak Lane

Old Birch Street

62nd St N

El
m

cr
es

tA
ve

N

C
o u

nt
y

R
d

53

4t
h

A v
e

Va
ug

ha
n

C
ou

rt

W
ood Duck Trail

Shadow La
ke

Dr
ive

W

H
ol

ly
D

riv
e

N

4t
h

A v
e

Holly Drive E

Aqua Ln

M
eadow

view
C

ourt

M
ead ow

lark
C

our t

Goldenrod Circle

Woodridge Court

Sunfish
C

our t

Q
ua

rte
rH

or
se

C
ou

rt

Broken Oak Court

C
ly

de
sd

al
e

C
ir c

le

Wolf Circle

G
re y

Squ irrel R
oad

Sandpiper Drive

C
rip

pl
e

C
re

ek
C

ou
rt

Sedge Court

Ruffed Grouse Court

Tomahawk Court

Timberwolf Circle

Shad ow
La k e

C
o u rt E

W
hi

te
ta

il
R

id
ge

Mine
ra

l P

oint

County Rd J

Dee
rw

oo
d Circ

le

Highland Circle

Killdeer Court

Hartford Circle

La
ng

er
Ci

rc
le

Clearwater Creek Circl

Arrowhead Court

Ironwood Circle

20
th

Av
e

N

Ash St W

80th St E

Su
ns

et
Av

e

Main St

20
th

Av
e S

G
oi ffon

Rd

Su
ns

et
Av

e

Main St

La
ke

D
r N

E

Ce
nt

er
vil

le
Rd

Lilac St

Main St

Lilac St

Birch St

North Rd

20
th

Av
e

S

Ash St Ash St

Hodgson
R

d

Birch St

H
od

gs
on

R
d

Apollo Dr

La
ke

Dr
NE

La
ke

Dr

C
en

te
rv

ille
R

d

20
th

Av
e N

Apollo Dr

Lake

Dr

County Rd J

Su
ns

et
A v

e

Bi
rch

St

Otte
r L

ak
e Driv

e

Otter Lake
Drive

Main St

Ash St

Main St

Birch St

Sn
ow

 G
oo

se
 T

ra
il

Marshan Ct

Sav. Ct

RICE CREEK CHAIN OF LAKES REGIONAL PARK RESERVE 

City of
Centerville
456721

456749

456754

456723

456721

456749

456714

456754

456723

456714

456721

456721

456714456714

")53

")153

")140

")84

")84

§̈¦35E

§̈¦35W

Ord. 11-95

Ord. 08-95

Ord. 17-03

Ord. 04-04

Ord. 09-88

Ord. 12-03

Ord.
93-10

Ord.
08-90

Ord. 94-14

Ord.
08-02

Ord. 01-14

Ord. 12-04

Ord.
07-16

Ord.
92-15

Ord. 04-16

Ord.
05-18

Ord. 08-99

Ord. 22-97

Ord. 12-18

Ord. 20-03

Ord.
14-99

Ord. 09-99

Ord. 06-14

Ord. 02-14

Ord. 06-91

Ord. 05-03

Ord. 26-04

Ord. 03-00

Ord. 04-05

Ord. 06-18

PSP

PSP

PSP

PSP

PSP

GI

LI

LI

GB

GB

GB

GB

R-6

R-4

R-3

R-3

R-3

R-2

R-1X

R-1X

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-X

R-X

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

OTTER LAKE
OHWL 911.5
100-yr 912.6

AMELIA LAKE
OHWL 908.1
100-yr 910.0

BALDWIN LAKE
OHWL 883.1
100-yr 886.1

RESHANAU LAKE
OHWL 883.5
100-yr 886.0

RICE LAKE
OHWL 883.1
100-yr 886.0

CENTERVILLE LAKE
OHWL 885.0
100-yr 886.3

MARSHAN LAKE
OHWL 883.3
100-yr 886.1

GEORGE WATCH LAKE
100-yr 886.1

PELTIER LAKE
OHWL 884.7
100-yr 887.0

RONDEAU LAKE
100-yr 888.1

CEDAR LAKE
OHWL 892.9

WILKINSON
LAKE

OHWL 895.2

Zoning Map of Lino Lakes

Lino Lakes
Community Development
600 Town Center Parkway
Lino Lakes, Minnesota 55014
Phone (651) 982-2400

City of Shoreview City of North Oaks White Bear Township

City of Columbus
Ci

ty 
of 

Bl
ain

e

Ci
ty 

of 
Hu

go

:

Legend
ZONING

R       Rural

R-X    Rural Executive

R-1    Single Family Residential

R-1X  Single Family Executive

R-2    Two Family Residential

R-3    Medium Density Residential

R-4    High Density Residential

R-5    Planned Commercial/Residential

R-6    Manufactured Home Park

NB     Neighborhood Business

LB      Limited Business

GB     General Business

LI       Light Industrial

GI      General Industrial

BC     Business Campus

PSP   Public Semi-Public

PUD    Planned Unit Development

Maps are for illustrative purposes only.
Recent changes may not be included.

Land Use and Zoning Information
should be verified with City Staff.

0 2,000 4,0001,000

DRAWING SCALE IN FEET

Ci
ty 

of 
Ci

rcl
e P

ine
s

November 14, 2022

katie.larsen
Typewritten Text
Exhibit B: Zoning Map of Lino Lakes



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA ITEM 6B 

 
STAFF ORIGINATOR: Diane Hankee, City Engineer 
 
MEETING DATE: November 14, 2022 
 
TOPIC:  Consider Resolution 22-138, Authorize the Preparation of 

Plans and Specs, Pheasant Run Reconstruction Project 
 
VOTE REQUIRED: 3/5 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
Staff is requesting Council authorization to prepare plans and specifications for the Pheasant Run 
Reconstruction Project.   
 
BACKGROUND 
 
On October 10, 2022, the City Council approved a revision to the 2020-2024 Street Reconstruction 
Plan which added the reconstruction of the Pheasant Run cul-de-sac north of Birch Street (CSAH 
34).  The Overall Condition Index rating of the street is 11 on a scale of 0 – 100 where 0 is a 
deteriorated condition and 100 is good condition.  The utilities is Pheasant Run are the oldest in the 
City and the watermain is undersized compared to current standards for improved service pressure 
and circulation.   
 
The project includes roadway reconstruction, drainage improvements and new curb and gutter on 
Pheasant Run north of Birch Street. The utility work will include replacing or rehabilitating the 
existing sanitary sewer along Pheasant Run and up to Captain’s Place. Upsizing the existing potable 
water main from 6 to 8 inch diameter along Pheasant Run and up to Captain’s Place and looping 
back in at Blackduck Drive. Installing a new 12-inch diameter raw water main from Well No. 5 to 
Birch Street as outlined in the comprehensive plan.  
 
WSB & Associates has submitted a proposal to complete the topographic survey, plans and 
specifications, drainage design, permitting, and provide bid documents for the 2023 Pheasant Run 
Reconstruction Project for a total not to exceed the amount of $67,788.00. 
 
The estimated total project cost including overhead is $1,270,000.00.  Funding for the project is 
expected to be from 2021 Street Reconstruction Bonds, the Water and Sewer Operating Funds, 
the Trunk Water Fund, and the Street Reconstruction Fund. 
 
The project schedule: 
 
Authorize Preparation of Plans and Specifications    November 14, 2022 
Order Improvement, Approve Plans and Specs, Authorize Ad for Bids January 9, 2023 
City Opens Bids        February 21, 2023 



City Council Awards Contract       February 27, 2023 
Construction Begins        April-May, 2023  
Final Completion        September 30, 2023 
  
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff is recommending approval of Resolution No. 22-138, Authorizing the Preparation of Plans 
and Specifications, Pheasant Run Reconstruction Project. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
1. Resolution No. 22-138 
2. Project Location Map 
3. WSB & Associates Proposal 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF LINO LAKES 
RESOLUTION NO. 22-138 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING PREPARATION OF PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR THE PHEASANT RUN RECONSTRUCTION PROJECT 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that it would be in the best interest of the City to proceed with 
the preparation of plans and specifications for the Pheasant Run Reconstruction Project. 

  
WHEREAS, WSB, the City Engineer, has submitted a proposal to prepare plans and 
specifications. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Lino Lakes:  
 

1. Authorizes the Preparation of the Plans and Specifications for the Pheasant Run 
Reconstruction Project. 
 

2. WSB is designated as the engineer for this improvement and directed to prepare plans 
and specifications for the Pheasant Run Reconstruction Project for an amount not to 
exceed $67,788.00. 

 
Adopted by the Council of the City of Lino Lakes this 14th day of November, 2022. 
 
The motion for the adoption of the foregoing resolution was introduced by Council Member 
_______________and was duly seconded by Council Member ________________ and upon 
vote being taken thereon, the following voted in favor thereof: 
 
The following voted against same: 
 
 

_______________________________          
Rob Rafferty, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
________________________                                     
Julianne Bartell, City Clerk 
 

 





 

\\metro-inet\linolakes\Shared\Community Development\Projects\Capital Improvement Projects\Pheasant Run 
Reconstruction\Staff Reports\20221114 CC Authorize Plans & Specs\4. Pheasant Run Recon - Design Proposal.docx 

7
0

1
 X

E
N

IA
 A

V
E

N
U

E
 S

  
| 

 S
U

IT
E

 3
0

0
  

| 
 M

IN
N

E
A

P
O

L
IS

, 
M

N
  

| 
 5

5
4

1
6

  
| 

 7
63

.5
4

1
.4

8
00

  
| 

 W
S

B
E

N
G

.C
O

M
 

November 9, 2022 
 
 
City of Lino Lakes 
Mr. Michael Grochala 
600 Town Center Parkway  
Lino Lakes, MN  55014 
 
Re: Proposal to Complete 2023 Pheasant Run Reconstruction Project 
Construction Plans and Specifications 
 
Dear Mr. Grochala: 
 
WSB and Associates is providing this proposal for the design and bidding services for 
the 2023 Pheasant Run Reconstruction Project. A summary of the project scope is 
described as follows: 

 
Utility Work – Replace and rehabilitate the existing sanitary sewer along Pheasant 
Run and up to Captain’s Place. Upsize the existing potable water main from 6 to 8 
inch diameter along Pheasant Run, up to Captain’s Place and loop back in at 
Blackduck Drive. Install a new 12-inch diameter raw water main from Well No. 5 to 
Birch Street as outlined in the comprehensive plan.  
 
Drainage Improvements – Replace existing storm sewer, evaluate ponding for 
expansion to meet current stormwater standards and evaluate an outlet for the 
landlocked wetland between Captain’s Place and Pheasant Run. 
 
Street Reconstruction – Construct a street section that meets current city standards 
and install new curb and gutter.  
 

Based on the project scope, WSB would perform the following tasks: 
 

I. Prepare Final Project Plans 
Final construction plans will be prepared indicating the project location, 
utility layouts, and street improvements. Surveyed topographic 
information will be used to prepare plan and profile sheets for the street 
profile, sanitary sewer, water main, and storm sewer. Base drawing 
information will include surveyed information, GSOC design locates, city 
parcel map information, and record plans.  
 

II. Final Quantities 
An Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Cost will be completed with the final 
construction plans.  

 
III. Prepare Permits, Specifications and Bidding Documents 

WSB will assist the City in preparing permit application(s) and/or approval 
requests and will assist the City with submitting the applications/approval 
requests to the appropriate regulatory agencies. Permit applications 



\\metro-inet\linolakes\Shared\Community Development\Projects\Capital Improvement Projects\Pheasant Run 
Reconstruction\Staff Reports\20221114 CC Authorize Plans & Specs\4. Pheasant Run Recon - Design Proposal.docx 

and/or agency review submittals are anticipated for: (1) RCWD – erosion 
control, (2) Anoka County – work in right of way, and (3) Minnesota 
Department of Health – Plan Review 
 
WSB will develop the final project plans and specifications based on the 
agency review comments. This task will include an internal QA/QC review 
of the final plans, quantities, and specifications. 
 
Upon completion of permitting, and agency review and approval, a final 
set of construction documents will be prepared for electronic bidding. 
 
WSB will assemble and submit the final contract documents, either paper 
or electronic copies, to the City and request authorization to advertise the 
project for bidding.  WSB will receive and respond to bidder inquiries 
concerning the plans, specifications, and intent of the project.  Logs of all 
inquiries will be kept and maintained to document inquiries.  WSB will 
attend the project bid opening with the City. 

 
The engineering fee to complete the design of the 2023 Pheasant Run 
Reconstruction Project is $67,788 (not to exceed). This letter represents our 
understanding of the 2023 Pheasant Run Reconstruction Project and the proposed 
scope of services.  If you agree with the scope of services and proposed fee, please sign 
in the appropriate space below and return one copy to us. 
 
WSB & Associates, Inc. will provide a separate proposal to the City for construction 
services once the final plans are completed and the project is bid.  
 
If you have any questions about this proposal, please feel free to call me at 612-360-
1278.   
 
Sincerely, 
  
WSB & Associates, Inc. 
 
 

Mark Erichson 
 
Mark Erichson      Brian Bourassa 
Director      Client Representative 
  



\\metro-inet\linolakes\Shared\Community Development\Projects\Capital Improvement Projects\Pheasant Run 
Reconstruction\Staff Reports\20221114 CC Authorize Plans & Specs\4. Pheasant Run Recon - Design Proposal.docx 

 
 
ACCEPTANCE: 
 
The City of Lino Lakes hereby accepts the WSB proposal of $67,788 for all services 
outlined in this letter. 
 
City of Lino Lakes 
 
Name       
 
Title       
 
Date       
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 


	11-14-22 Council Agenda
	Item 1A, Expenditures Report
	Item 1B, 10-24-22 Work Session Minutes
	Item 1C, 10-24-22 Council Minutes
	Item 1D, Joint Council and P&Z Minutes
	Item 1E, 10-3-22 Work Session Minutes
	Item 1F, Resolution 22-135, Centerville Lions Special Event Permit
	Item 1G, 3rd Quarter 2022 Financial Report
	Item 1H, Certification of Delinquent Utilities
	Item 1I, Approve Hiring of PT Rookery Staff
	Item 1J, Resolution 22-134, RCWD Board of Managers Nominee
	Item 1K, Approve Application for St. Joseph's Church Bingo Event
	Item 2A, 2023 City Fee Schedule
	Item 6A, Ordinance 08-22 Zoning Ordinance Text and Map Amendment
	Item 6B, Resolution 22-138, Authorize Prep of Plans and Specs, Pheasant Run Recon Proj



